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Series Foreword

MANY YEARS ago Lord Acton enjoined historians to study
problems, not periods. Certainly students of imperialism, and of the
Imperial Revolution brought by the expansion of European societies into
non-European cultural arenas, are fulfilling this injunction, for there can
be few current problems so historically important as our effort to come to
terms with the meaning and the mechanics of the imperial experience. We
are—or at least many of us are, happily—past the point where it is
nee ry to categorize scholarship as Marxist, antui-Marxist, or other-
wise, for we have come to understand that we simply do not know
enough about how imperialism actually worked, for both European and
non-European, to be able to engage in broad theorizing, unless our
purposc is polemical and tendentious. It is to the principle chat our
primary need of the moment s a scrics of case studies, written by students
of empire with broadly based research backgrounds, that this ser
Contributions in Comparative Colonial Studies is committed.

s of

As the series” title suggests, these contributions, taken collectively, are
meant to illuminate the interaction between societies through a compara-
tive approach. At umes the approach is overtly comparative, as when a
scholar writes of slavery mn a variety of different colonics controlled by
differing European powers. At times the approach is more subtly com-
parative, as when an author explores the impact of a high-technology
culture on a number of cultures possessing materially lesser technologies.
In the case of Professor Robert Heussler's work, the sense of comparison
arises from the diversity of his own background and rescarch, so that even
when he is writing of a specific place and time. onc is aware that his
conclusions are based upon insights derived from having done equally
close research on a different place and time. Few scholars know so much
about the bureaucracy of imperialism. His exploration into “the making
of the British Colonial Service,” Yesterday's Rulers, published by the
Syracuse University Press in 1963, remains one of a small handful of key
mquiries mto how recruitment, placement, and promotion worked
within the largest of colonial offices. Only Anthony H. M. Kirk-Greene,
John W. Cell, and, most recently L. H. Gann and Peter Duignan, in their
Rulers of British Africa (Stanford, Calif: Stanford University Press, 1978),
have provided us with the kind of detail necessary for understanding a
subject—bureaucracy and the functioning of a civil service—that is itselfa
reflection of the burden of detail borne by the actors in the drama of
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administration. But Robert Heussler has also written of Nigeria, of British
Tanganyika at the district-officer level (Durham, N.C.: Duke University
Press, 1971), and in articles of a variety of other subjects. The second of
these books, The British in Northern Nigeria (New York: Oxford Univer-
sity Press, 1968), is particularly uscful a the level of the district officer.
Now, in his British Rule in Malaya, Professor Heussler has written a
detailed, absorbing study of how a burcaucracy worked within Southcast
Asia, where the local response by Malay sultans stands in several ways in
contrast to the local responses of African chicfs. The clement of compari-
son—ta anyone wha has followed Robert Heussler's work—is explicit and
rewarding. To be sure, Malaya has been the object of substantial study of
an administrative nature, often by political scientists (Robert O. Tilman
and James C. Scott come immediately to mind), and our understanding of
the interaction with local collaborators (to use the term now so readily
attributed to Ronald Robinson and John Gallagher) has been morc than
usually sophisticated ever since the path-breaking work of . M. Gullick in
his Indigenous Political Systems of Wester Malaya (London: Athlonc, 1958).
It is precisely because the history of modern Malaya 1s so well developed
that one welcomes the kind of rich fare put before us in this work. Tam

pleased to have played some small role in seeing it nto pring, for [ am sure
that it will give nise to many further probes into the history of Briush rule
in Malaya, especially at the level of the individual sultanates or states.

Robin W. Winks



Preface

THE ADMINISTRATIVE cadres that ran British Malaya had
various names over the years. Shortly after the 1914 war they were joined
together as the Malayan Civil Service. This study focuses on the officers
themselves, on their backgrounds and education, on the work they did in
Malaya, and on the moral and professional precepts that developed in the
coursc of the service's life. Though the study is not a full scale history of
the territories that eventually became West Malaysia and Singapore—that
should be emphasized at the start—it is set in the broad context of their
social and political history.

Beginning with a sketch of government in the Straits Settlements under
India, the book concentrates on the period 1867-1942, from the assump-
tion of control by the Colonial Office to the fall of Singapore, which
brought British rule to an end. Japanese administration lasted only three
and a half years, after which the British came back. But their remaining
time was short and markedly different in outlook and expectation. The
carlier span had an historical integrity and continuity of its own.

Planning for the study began in the 1960s, when the late H. P. Bryson, a
retired MCS officer, was serving as secretary of the British Association of
Malaya in London. In 1960, Hugh Bryson and 1 had a talk at his office,
then housed in the Royal Commonwealth Society, about work on the
colonial services at large. Among the books we discussed was Philip
Mason's incomparable history of the Indian Civil Service. Shortly after-
wards, while Dame Margery Perham, J. J. Tawney, and others were
establishing the Colonial Records Project at Oxford, collecting papers
from all territories including Malaya, Bryson was visited by Kathleen
Clark, who was working on the covenanted services of the Straits Settle-
ments. Their talks naturally got Bryson thinking more specifically abouta
history of the MCS, an idea that was furthered in 1966 by Harry Miller of
the British A ion of Malaya C i who d that retired
officers be urged to jot down their recollections.! When Bryson retired
from the secretaryship and had more time on his hands, T. B. Barlow, a
past president of the association, added his support-and put forward the
thought that the history might cover commercial as well as administrative
activity. The possibility of seeking financial help from London-based
firms with interests in Malaya, including Mr. Barlow's, was mentioned.
In consultation with two colleagues, the late Charles Corry and the late
David Gray, Bryson then formulated an appeal to all retired members of
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the MCS, asking them to send notes of their service, any private papers
that might be of usc to a historian, and memoranda dealing with subjects
that cach was partcularly knowledgeable on, such as the Chinese Pro-
tectorate, the Labor Department, land-office work, and secretariat dutie:
This was put in hand. By the end of 1969, several dozen files had been
assembled, mostly comprising direct responses to the appeal but also
including transcripts of tape-recorded interviews of some of the more
senior men by Bryson.

The value of such material would be hard to exaggerate. Together with
diaries and letters it offers a rich corpus of primary documentation. In
these files we find brother officers talking openly with one another in the
casy shorthand thatinsiders use in the comfortable knowledge that there is
no need to explain or to apologize. For scholars to read published accounts,
of such events as the Kelantan outbreak of 1915 is all to the good, espe-
cially when these can be compared with official reports. How much more
real and immediate it scems when we are told what the British adviser and
his staff were doing as the news arnived, how they reacted, and what they

proceeded to do. Lucky the historian who can read what four or five
officers have to say about serving under Captain Berkeley in Upper Perak
and then correspond with them after hacking about in the district himself.
Sir Cecil Clementi looked rather different to his young private secretaries
and ADCs than he did to Lord Passfield.

It will be obvious to students of colonial history, furthermore, that civil
servants taken as a group were far more important than governors and
other senior officials who received honors and notoricty and can therefore
be looked up in Who Was Who, The Dictionary of National Biography, ot in
the files of Somerset House or the Historical Manuscripts Commission.
The average career officer was in the country much longer, knew lan-
guages, and had close knowledge of institutions and day-to-day events.
Yet, unless he produces an autobiography or becomes the subject of
somcone else’s account, he and his story are likely to remain anonymous.
This being so, working scholars arc all the more indebted to the Hugh
Brysons and the Jack Tawneys of this world who dig out otherwise
unobrtainable memorabilia, rescue valuable papers from ruthless house-
cleaners, and coax old friends into retrospective essays, many of them
grumbling all the way that nobody will be interested in such anachron-
isms.

Some men are not very forthcoming, and occasionally for reasons that
one cannot help respecting. “On retiring in 1946 [ made a resolution to
live exclusively in the present and the future.””? Others are vitally in-
terested and, not only supply memoirs and answer questions, but also
suggest lines of attack for the historian or justifications for his labors. “Ina
subject as wide as an entire service there is room for many shades of
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opinion and the eventual writer of an MCS history will presumably read
everything . . .and then stir the whole lot together and produce a picture
that may not be absolutely correct in any one detail but that is close to the
total truth in all its many facets.” Several have seen the history as a
potential counterweight to public attitudes they deplore: ** . . . the apathy,
ignorance and willingness to think the worst of oursclves ]tha: is| preva-
lent in Britain at this time. "¢

These relatively new raw materials, needless to say, are not read in a
vacuum. Even in the category of evidence produced by administrative
officers—not to mention oth hey i recent additions to lists
that are old and long. Ni h- and carly icth-century officers
had deep familiarity with peoples native to the places they were posted to,
ample time to study further, and, in many cascs, the interest, ability, and
inclination to write. Whatever one thinks of the points of view expressed
in such classics as those of Sir Frank Swettenham, Sir Hugh Clifford,
Major J. F. A. McNair, R. J. Wilkinson, and Sir Richard Winstedt, the
works remain valuable, and they are still used by scholars of widely
varying outlook.* Though conditions chzng,cd and wuh them theamountof
leisure time officers had for eth h logy, and local
history, the MCS is remarkable for the scholarship ithas continued to create
right down to the present,-a generation after Malaysia's independence.

Other materials that have been used are listed at the back of this book.
The most important of all are the files of the Public Record Office. Since
Malaya was invaded and conquered, unlike most African colonies, a
certain amount of official matenial was lost, some of it in 1941-1942 and
some during the reoccupation of the country by the British in 1945.
However, dispatches sent to London in the seventy-five-year period
ending in 1942 included many valuable reports and other documents such
as the journals of district officers and advisers. By the same token, letters
written to families in England often survived, whereas there was a heavy
toll of diaries and other private papers in the last wecks before the fall of
Singapore and in prison camps afterward. In combination, the official and
private papers, weighed in the scales with published material, present a
galaxy of quite separate and often conflicting views of men, institutions,
and events. These have been embellished in the later chapters by talks and
correspondence with retired members of the service. Everything con-
sidered, there has been an embarrassment of riches.

My debts are correspondingly large. For financial help I thank the
Social Science Research Council in London, the American Philosophical
Society, and certain gentlemen in the City o!’Lundun who were members
of the former British A i of Malaysia and Singap and who
prefer to remain unnamed. St. Antony's College, Oxford, helpfully ad-
ministered the SSRC grant. The State University of New York gener-
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ously paid my way to London on one occasion when | made an appeal for
help at the annual dinner of the Malayan Civil servants Association, and
allowed me some released time from teaching in the spring of 1978. The
many alumni of the MCS who have given unscintingly of their time,
hospitality. and ideas, in England since 1944 and in Malaya since 1948, are
offered thanks in the notes. | must record speaial gratitude to R. P.
Bingham, Andrew Gilmour, Sir William Goode, J. M. Gullick, Derck
Headly, H. A. L. Luckham, and H. G. Turner for their criticism of the
first draft and to Tan Sti Mubin Sheppard for assisting with photographs.
E. C. G. Barrett kindly helped with the preparation of a glossary. The
map at the front of this book was made by Vincent J. De Santis 11l with the
advice of Professor Donald Q. Innis.

Dato’ Haji Nik Hassan, then principal private secretary to the prime
minister, was entirely courtcous and helpful, as was the prime minister of
the time, Tun Razak, who kindly responded to a letcer written to him in
my behalf by the late W. C. S. Corry. I thank Cik Zakia Hanum Nor and
her staff ar the National Archives of Malaysia for their helpfulness and H.
S. Barlow for his friendly assistance in Kuala Lumpur. Andrew Gilmour
in Singaporc and Sjovald Cunyngham-Brown in Penang brightened onc's
days in those always pleasant islands, as did R. B, Perkins ac his delightful
house overlooking the strait near Telok Kemang.

In London, Bernard Cheeseman of the Foreign and Commonwealth
Office Library, N. E. Evans of the Public Record Office, and D. H.
Simpson of the Royal Commonwealth Society Library provided every
assistance. Lord Teviot and Mrs. William Wagner gave cheertul, efficient
help with statistical compilations and with photocopying. Lewis Frewer
and F. E. Leese of the Rhodes House Library in Oxford have most
helpfully answered many inquiries over the years.

I thank the trustees of the Liddell Hart Centre for Military Archives at
King's College, University of London, for permission to examine a
paper, “Disaster in the Far East, 1941-1942," by C. A. Vlicland, MCS,
former secretary for defense in Malaya, and Messers Longmans, Green
and Company for allowing me to quote from Sir A. Caldecott's poems in
Not Exactly Ghosts.

Scholars and university staff members who have helped in various
ways, all of them valuable, include: the late Arthur M. Wilson, protessor
emeritus of biography at Dartmouth College: Philip Mason, former
director of the Institute of Race Relations in London; Dr. J. de V. Allen,
formerly of the University of Malaya; Dr. D. S. Gibbons of the Univer-
sity of Penang; Dr. J. H. Drabble, formerly of the University of Malaya;
Dr. Khoo Kay Kim of the University of Malaya; Dr. Paul Kratoska and
Dr. Thomas Willer, fellow researchers at the archives in Petaling Jaya:
Profesor C. D. Cowan, director of the School of Oriental and African
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Studies, University of London: Dr. O. W. Wolters and Mrs. M. C.
Crawford of Cornell University; Dr. William R. Roff and Miss A. L.
Wood of Columbia University; and, at Yale University, Professor Peter
Millard, the late Professor H. J. Benda, and Dr. Christopher Gray.

It is a pleasure to have this opportunity of expressing my gratitude to
Professor Robin W. Winks of Yale University for many kindnesses,
including invaluable advice and support with regard to this and other
rescarch endeavors.

Notes

1. Sce Harry Miller, “History of the Malayan Civil Service to be Written,”
Malaysia (Jan. 1973): 17

2. F. K. Wilson to author, 27 Nov. 1974.

3. J.S. H. Cunyngham-Brown to H. P. Bryson, | July 1969. See also E. C. G.
Barrett to author, 11 Nov. 1974 and 29 Dec. 1974,

4. E. A, P. Helps to H. P. Bryson, 30 Apr. 1969.

5. See W, David Melntyre's essay in C. D. Cowan and O. W. Wolters, eds.,
Southeast Asian History and Historiography (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1976),

_ 262 ff.; and Sir Richard Allen, Malaysia (London: Oxford University Press,
1968). pp. Xi-xii.
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Abbreviations

273—Colonial Office series 273, Public Record Office, London

717—Colonial Office scries 717, Public Record Office, London

CRP—Colonial Records Project, Oxford University

M—Malaysian National Archives

RCS—Royal Commonwealth Socicty

SBRAS and JMBRAS—The Journal of the Straits Branch of the Royal Asiatic
Society is designated SBRAS from 1878 to 1922, after which it becomes
JMBRAS, the Journal of the Malayan (later Malaysian) Branch of the Royal
Asiatic Socicty

AA—assistant adviscr

ADC—Aide-de-camp, junior officer on a governor's staff

BA—British adviser

€.0.—Colonial Office, London

CMG ] Ranks in the Order of St. Michael and St. George:
KCMG p companions, knights, and knights grand cross,
GCMG ) respectively

MBE

OBE | Ranks in the Order of the British Empire: members,
CBE pofficers, companions, knights, and knights grand
KBE | cross, respectively

GBE

DO—district officer

ADO—assistant district officcr

FMS—Federated Malay States

PS—private sccretary to a governor or other senior officer
1CS—Indian Civil Service

MCS—Malayan Civil Service

SR—Secretary to resident

Foreign Words (Malay, unless otherwise noted)

astana (or istana)—royal residence, palace

bendahara—originally chicf minister (in Malacca sultanate). Later royal title, in
Perak, ranking third after sultan and raja muda. Chicf royal figure in
Panang (becomes sultan)
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bukit—nhill

dato’—nonroyal title, lord, grandfather

enche—mister

haji—one who has made the pilgrimage to Mecca

kampong—group of rustic dwellings, village

kuala—estuary, river mouth, harbor

mentri—minister, c.g. mentri-besar (prime minister)

n modern times, an administrative unit within a

mukim—originally, a parish;
district

padang—treeless land, ground. field, sports ground

padi—unhusked rice

penghului—head of mukim or subdistrict

pulau—island

va‘apat (Arabic)—(literally, a herd) common people, citizens

raja—ruler, prince (mamly in Perak and Selangor)

sepoy (Hindustani)—Indian soldier

sultan (Arabic)—ruler, king

sungei (or sungai)—civer

syee (Hindustani)—driver, groom

temenggong—Malay minister, e.g. in Johore, where they became hereduary and
eventually displaced the sultans

tunku (o tengku)—royal tile, prince, princess

tunghu besar—chicf prince

tungleu bendahara—sce bendahara

towkay (Chinese)—emplayer of labor, shopkeep

tuan—master, sir, lord; all white men, saids, hajis

ulu—upper portion of a region, up-country
undang—district chicf, Negri Sembilan
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1 Britain and
Nineteenth-Century
Malaya

WITH SO many of her other imperial dependencies the terri-
tories of the Malacca Strait first came to the notice of Britain not primarily
for their own worth but because acquisitions there were seen to be useful
in the service of a larger aim. Trade between England and China and
between India and China, together with the need to protect India and her
commerce with naval units, accounts for the leasing of the island of
Penang off the coast of Malaya in 1786. Malacca on the mainland was
taken from Dutch vassals of France during the Napolconic Wars, was
briefly handed back to Holland afterwards and returned to Britain in 1825,
Singapore, the third and last of the settlements ruled for Britain by the
East India Company, was taken over, with the grudging approval of the
Dutch, in 1819." The great names in these carly ventures were Sir
Stamford Raffles, the founder of Singapore, and Francis Light, a ship
captain engaged in trade between India and the East Indies, who per-
suaded the government of Bengal that Penang should be acquired and
who carried out the plan himsclf. Both had intimate knowledge of the
Malays and their language; both were vigorous, farsecing pioneers deter-
mined to expand Britain's commercial interests in the area; and both were
bolder than the Indian government liked, to say nothing of London, with
its concern for relationships among the great powers in Europe and its
instinctive abhorrence of adventurers in far-off places.

In the second quarter of the nineteenth century, the prosperity of
Singapore and sccondarily Penang increased apace. By contrast with
Dutch and Spanish stations nearby, Singapore was a frec port. While the
East India Company maintained a monopoly of the China trade—China
teain return for British manufactures paid for mostly by Indian opium—
Singapore did well on transship charges and local Southeast Asian
business. After the end of the monopoly in 1833 her trade quadrupled, the
percentage accounted for by Southeast Asian transactions rising to almost
half of the total. In these circumstances, straits merchants and their
London backers began to regard India as a block to their well-being, while
the Indian government came to look on the straits as a needless expense
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both administratively and militarily. Wishing to keep costs down, Cal-
cutta would not approve the kinds of expansion into the hinterlands that
were increasingly benefiting Dutch, and later French, competitors of
straits businessmen.

For a time the Malayan mainland itself did not figure very largely in
straits trade, at least by contrast with China and the Indies. Viewed from
Pcnang, however, it was of growing importance. Fullerton, governor in
the 1820s, risked Calcutta’s displeasure, as Light and Raffles had done
before him, this time to help the weak Malay states of the west coast resist
aggression from Siam that could have held trade back or ended it en-
tirely.? Kedah, the state from which Penang had been leased, was anatural
trading partner for the island. A stipulation of the lease was that Britain
would protect the state in case of Siamese pressure. Slowly, Penang
capital began to flow to the mainland opposite, in both Kedah and Perak.
By mid-century, British investors based in Penang had close relations
with Malay chiefs and Chinesc tin miners alike. In Johore, across the
narrow strait from Singapore, the situation was similar. Chinese planters
entered underpopulated Johore in large numbers, and mining labor came
from China to all of the west-coast states between Singapore and Penang.
Straits investors loaned money to Malays and Chinese on the mainland.
At the same time, profits on trade with the Dutch and Spanish islands
were drying up due to the restrictive practices of their governments
Straits merchants, both British and Chinese, came to see an expanded
commerce with the Malay states not merely as an opportumty, but as a
condition of survival.

While Calcutta went on looking at the Straits Settlements as a dumping
ground for her convicts, the straits government using them as laborers.
and otherwise as an unwanted stepchild, straits merchants stood small
chance of getting a sympathetic hearing. After the Indian mutiny of 1857
and Britain's assumption of control from the East India Company, how
ever, there was a change. For years, Parliamentand Whitchall had listened
to protests by merchants trading with the East that British commerce in

the straits was suffering because of Caleutta’s neglect and restraints. In
1847, Alexander Guthrie, head of one of the most prominent Singapore
firms, moved to London permanently in order to be in direct and con-
tinuous touch with the government.® In 1858, the leading Singapore
traders petitioned Parhament for a complete separation of the straits from
India.* Discussion among the departments of state in London—the Treas-
ury, the Admiralty, the India. Forcign, and Colonial offices—centered
not on whether a change should be made but on what the new arrange-
ments would be.* Lord Carnarvon, under secretary in the Colonial
Office, wrote to his minister, Sir Edward Lytton, that the Straits Settle-
ments were links in the colonial chain castward, soon to be connected by
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telegraph, and were valuable for trade with England, for a naval base, and
for white colonists.® India had nothing in common with them. The
Colonial Office was the logical department to take responsibility because,
unlike the Indian government, it had long experience in many parts of the
world with setting up administrations designed for specific needs ad hoc.
As the London talks dragged on, Sir Hercules Robinson, governor of
Hong Kong, was sent to the straits and was charged with making a report to
the C.O. on the settlements and their requirements. This was received in
1864. Atlong last the transfer was made by actof Parliament in April 1867,

As its first governor the C.O. appointed Colonel Harry St. J. Ord, an
army engincer who had served in the West Indies and Africa and had
;,ovnrn-.d Bermuda for the past six years. In the army and the colonial
service, Ord had been accustomed to discipline, to regulations, to taking
rcsponslhlllt‘y and being given a reasonable measure of authority with
which to exercise it. By all accounts he was a somewhat crusty character,
morce at home in barracks than in a chamber of commerce.” But even ifhe
had possessed the diplomacy and tact of his successor of the 1880s, Weld,
or the Rotarian amiability of the last governor in the 1930s, Thomas, he
would have faced a difficult task. His London superiors were hesitant,
cautious, close with funds, and determined to keep the new administra-
tion on a ught rein, while all around him in Singapore and Penang were
the powerful businessmen whose pressure in London and in the straits had
had much to do with ending the old regime and who now expected to have
things their own way. They wanted a government that would hold
expenses down and promote their interests in all matters, from low taxes
to strong military defenses, and protection from political instability
within the Straits Scttlements and farther aficld.

Ord ranks as casily the most unpopular governor from the start of C.O.
rule to 1930. Everything scemed to go wrong from the first. Arriving two
weceks before his term officially began—a circumstance for which he was
not to blame—he found himself in the anomalous position of an onlooker
in his own colony. He insisted on being addressed as *Excellency”"—
demand that was promptly refused by Sir Peter Benson Maxwell, re-
corder and chicf justice-designate, the man who was to be his bitterest

pp within the g . By the day of his inauguration, the
governor had managed to offend almost everyone of any importance—
malc and female—in the capital. For the next six years, a critical time in the
history of the straits, the C.O. was bombarded with complaints from the
business community there and in London and with angry denunciations
of his tormentors by Ord. Within months, representatives of the leading
firms met to form the Straits Sl Association.* Its first presid
was John Crawfurd, a contemporary of Raffles and resident (that is,
administrator) of Singapore in the 1820s. Branches were opencd in Singa-
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pore and Penang. Among the many criticisms leveled by the association
against Ord were that the new Government House was too large and
costly. They fought his plan for a supreme court, a common fixture in
crown colonies, realizing that this would be part of the government
apparatus rather than a separate arm independent of the governor. They
protested the governor's projected taxes and suggested that popular elec-
tions be held, putting an end to the system whereby governors appointed
members of the Legislative Council. They accused the governor of in-
sulting native cultures, and they urged that the secretary of state discuss
their complaints with Ord’s own colonial secretary, then in London on
leave. When the C. O. replied backing Ord, saying 1t would no longer
deal directly with the association and noting that business firms had more
than adequate representation on the Legislative Council, a petition went
to the House of Lords, signed by all unofficial (that is, business) members
of the council and by nearly every well-known European, Chinese, and
Indian businessman in the colony. Towards the end of Ord’s term, the
latest in a constant stream of such petitions took issue with the governor

on his plan to downgrade the offices of his subordinates in Penang and
Malacca, terminating the titles of licutenant governor. It was clear to all
that the more decentralized the government'’s power v the easier it
would be for traders to make their influence felt in cach of the three

scettlements.

Sir Peter Benson Maxwell remained a thorn in the governor’s side until
his retirement in 1871, Their disputes reflected the difference between the
way the setdements had been run in company days and the normal
methods of colonics. Calcutta’s system was reminiscent of Spain's in
America, with magistrates reporting directly to the home government
and acting as checks on local exccutives. Ord reminded the C.O. that chis
was asituation* unknown in the colonies . . . " and one that was surc to
be chaotic, especially with businessmen watching for every loophole
through which to snipe at the government.” His batles with subordinate

officers and with private citizens were not surprising, given the nature ot

society and government in the seraits under Indian rule. The transition to
colonial procedures could not have been casy in the best of times. Nor
should Sir Harry Ord, as he became carly in his term, be eniticized overly
for the heat of controversy with businessmen that characterized his ad-
ministration or for his troubles with the C.O. Every one of his successors

would have similar experiences, all growing out of circumstances which
they could try to influence but could never essentially change. Governors
were instructed to do all they could to help British commerce. But they
were not to et matters go so far that the home government might be called
on to sanction political moves that would involve military expense and
trouble with other European powers or native authorities nearby. Al-
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though they were to pursue the aim of prosperity with vigor and imagina-
tion, they were not to do anything of significance without prior approval
from home.

Even in quiet times, governors would be hard put to manage such a
balancing act successfully. In Ord's years, the Straits Settlements and
their neighbors of the Malay Peninsula had closer trade relations than
ever, and this in a time of unprecedented upheaval in the latter. Though
Calcurra, and now London, steadfastly resisted any interference in Malay
affairs by straits officers and wanted intercourse to remain commercial
only, it had always been hard to keep trade and politics separate. Captain
Light, in Kedah, and Sir Stamford Raffles, in Johore, had had to deal
dirccely with Malay chicfs. In taking over Malacca on the mainland, the
British inherited long-standing relationships dating all the way back
through Dutch times to the age of exploration when the Portuguese were
there. British merchants trading with the interior soon found themselves
dealing with river chiefs and with Chinese and Indians, some of whose
countrymen had been in Malaya for generations and who were themselves
intmately involved with the Malays. Administrative arrangements could
be confined to small arcas in accordance with strict instructions from
Singapore. But trade ranged farther inland and brought a degree of
cconomic integration that had hittle reference to boundaries. W. H. Read,
a second-generation Singapore merchant who arrived in 1841, had fallen
into the business of king-making, like it or not, well before Ord came. '
The sultan of Johore and his rival, the temenggong, had been put on annual
stipends as part of the deal whereby the British acquired Singapore. When
gutta-percha was discovered in Johore early in the 1840s, the temenggong,
an cfficient river pirate, was sent by a group of Singapore traders to scout
it out and to keep other pirates from flooding the market with the new
commodity. His success at doing so won him official recognition as well
as considerable wealth. The sultan enlisted Read's help in his cause, giving
up his “*chop,” or instrument of authority, to Read as collateral, thereby
becoming Read’s political as well as financial debtor. The resourceful
trader had similar dealings with chiefs of more importance in Pahang on
the east coast and up the west coast towards Penang.

During the last Company years and into Ord's time, the straits govern-
ment was increasingly irritated by the pin pricks of river and coastal
piracy, Malay and Chinese, that interrupted commerce. When ships
owned by Briush subjects, European or other, were raided or seized in
Malay waters, the government could not be indifferent to the complaints
of straits firms.!! One of Ord’s first moves was to look into the purchase
of ships of the right draft and manocuverability for work against pirates.
W. W. Cairns, licutenant governor of Malacca, reported to London that
Malay authorities over his border were utterly ... unscrupulous. ..
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{and] .. .barbarous . .." their areas secthing with crime,” .. .the will of
the strongest [being] the only recognized law. ™! 2 From Read the C.O. got
the same sort of tale, together with the now-familiar charge thac the straits
government had no policy o consistency of aim and merely drifted from
crisis to crisis.'” The more responsible Malay rulers, he said, would
welcome treaties that would expand trade and provide higher revenues
for themselves.

The logic of Caitns’s and Read’s argument—and most people in the
ame way—was founded

government and the business community felt the s
on close working knowledge of conditions on the mainland, particularly
in Perak, Sclangor, and Sungei Ujong on the west coast. Malay chiefs held
positions of great traditional prestige and importance in an ancient scheme
of ritual and deference dating from the Malacea sultanate of the fifteenth
century. ™ Where political activity was concerned. their power depended
on wealth, which enabled them to enlist the support of local headmen,
penghulus, and to hire men to build stockades, wage war, and levy charges
on river commerce. Loyalty to chiefs was considerable. They were the
only symbols of order in an otherwise fluid situation in which long-term
land tenure was virtually unknown. The hold of religion—Islam in most
of Malay society—was more ceremonial and spirital than social. Units
were atomized, and, being dependent on personal authority, power
tended to be transitory. Literacy was low, even among the governing
groups. Tt was rarc for a chicf to accumulate capital, and moncy was
collected for military campaigns ad hoe, after cach of which the process
started over again. Systems had a certain cohesion. But even when left 1o
themselves, the Malay “‘states”—they were not that in the European
qense—sere endemically unstable, incapable of holding together for long
and dealing with outsiders from positions of strength.

A major source of chiefs’ ncome was Chinese communitics: rough,
hard-working groups engaged in farming and tin mining that had been
growing in size, wealth, and power for gencrations before the British
arrived.'s Upheavals in carly nincteenth-century China, especially after
the Opium War, and the disintegration of provincial government that
followed the opening of treaty ports, resulted m large-scale enugration
southward. Those who came to such places as Malaya were trom the
lowest social classes—landless peasants and wanderers from the armies of

defeated war lords. They came i the rags they stood up in, destitute,
without their womenfolk, helpless gang laborers in the service of the
toughest among them who dragooned them into a work force and were
therefore recognized by local authoritics—tirst the Dutch and then the
Malays and the Briush—as “capitans China." Because of their numbers,
their relative social discipline, and their wealth, the various Chinese

S ———
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groups were able to treat with Malay chiefs as equals, to collect revenue
for them, and, after some had settled down in the Straits Settlements and
prospered along with their British neighbors, to lend money to the im-
provident Malays as the Europeans did. Up-country, capitans China were
petty war lords as well: able to defy Malay chiefs, to defeat them in battle,
and to hold sway as autonomous headmen.

British traders entering Malay states were thus the third component in
an economic amalgam of great potential. They could provide the money
that the Malays and the carly Chinese lacked. Since their base of opera-
tions—the Straits Settlements—were havens of prosperity and peace, they
could offer an atmosphere of stability that soon attracted leading Malays
and Chinese, many of whom maintained homes in the colony and took
advantage of its links to Europe, the fountain of manufactures, risk
capital, skills, and technology.

The missing ingredient in Malaya was order. Rich tin mines, fertile soil,
plenty of land available for settlement, and a yawning market for Euro-
pean goods, well served by coastal and river shipping, were all very well.
But political chaos prevented the develo that had beckoned straits
traders for years at the very time when competition in the neighboring
islands had made Malaya’s ripe resources more tantalizing than ever.
Ord’s officers had no doubts about what should be done and how to do it.
Many with first-hand experience with Malay chiefs, appreciated their
gentlemanly qualities of courtesy and bravery in battle and their pro-
foundly aristocratic outlook, which could nor fail to find an echo in the
consciousness of Victorian soldiers and administrators. Malay royals
were admirable in their way. But their free and casy lives and the fatalism
of Islam as intcrpreted by them made for a lassitude that degenerated all
too often into social anarchy.'® What was needed was a small number of
Briush officers living at the courts of leading chiefs: men who knew their
language and their ways and who could bring stability by a patient, firm
discipline that would put starch into them without seriously damaging
their local authority and influence. Ord was forbidden to meddle. What
he could and did do was report regularly on the chaos in Malay states that
was harming British commerce. He forwarded requests from Chinese and
British merchants, and occasionally from Malays, that the straits govern-
ment help in suppressing piracy and establishing order. In July of 1873, he
told the C.O. that trade was at a standstill on the west coast, with
disastrous effects in Penang and Singapore, yet arms were being shipped
from Penang into Perak mining areas.'” He had agreed to arbitrate
dynastic disputes in Sungei Ujong. In sending to London the latest
Chinese request for help he said frankly that he agreed with the petitioners
and hoped the C.O. would take the situation seriously.
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In London, there had been discussion of the pros and cons of inter-
vention for some time. It would seem that the C.O. might have agreed to
a forward move carlier but for their conviction that the much-battered
Ord was not the man to direct the implementation of a new policy.'® Now
they had decided on his sucessor. R. H. (later Sir Robert) Meade, a future
undersecretary of state, minuted that action was clearly required, that the
Malays would welcome it, that the new governor, Sir Andrew Clarke,
should be fully bricfed on Ord's dispatches and instructed to report on the
necessary course as soon as he arrived.'* The secretary of state, Lord
Kimberley, agreed, directing that Clarke be filled in on the talks between
the C.O. and the Foreign Office in the late sixties, involving the Nether-
lands and Siam.2° Britain's treaties with the Malay states required that she
act to stop disorders that were ruining them. Other European countries
must not be allowed to interfere, which the Malays would call on them to
do, he thought, if Britain did not act. Clarke should advise whether the
restoration of order would be helped ** ... by the appointment of a British
agent, of course with the consent of the native rulers and at the expense of
the Settlements, to reside at the seat of government of any of the states not
under Siam. "

It will be recognized that these instructions, which Clarke was to acton
in such a way as to make the C.O. wonder if he had in fact gone farther
than they had meant him to go and without fully consulting them ahead of
time, represented a marked departure from the policy followed by Cal-
cutta since Light's time and by London over the pastsix years of their rule.
In cffect, the door was now open to British enterprise and administration
on the mainland. Scholars and other observers have debated the reasons
for the change with an intensity appropriate to its importance.** They
have pointed to conditions on the ground, assigned weight to particular
factors variously, pondered changed attitudes in England, and hunted,
apparently in vain, for positive proof s to who made the fateful decision,
influenced by whom, and exactly when. There is no doubt as to the
immediate cause—the subject of Ord’s dispatch—which was the violent
conflict between competing clans and socicties of Chinese miners in the
Larut districe of Perak, just down the coast from Penang. British and
Chinese commercial interests stood to lose heavily if this were not dealt
with, a task which the spli d Perak sul was clearly incapable of
managing on its own. To say that the Malay royals in Perak, Selangor.
and Sungei Ujong all wanted the British to take over would be a gross
exaggeration, although the powerless sultan of Selangor did not like
things as they were in his arca and favored British help. The mentri of
Larut, virtually autonomous, preferred British action to a continuation of
a Chinese civil war that had ruined trade and left him helpless. Business-
men in London and the straits had certainly pushed hard for intervention
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and would play a vital role in the event. The intentions of other European
powers mentioned by Kimberley, and the importance of these in prompt-
ing British action are less clear. German traders were crowding the British
in these years, although no one has maintained that there was any real
possibility of Bismarck’s government trying to compete politically in
Malaya as it would soon do in West Africa, Students of imperial affairs
know that forward moves—cconomic, military, and humanitarian—be-
came more respectable in England during the 1870s than they had been
before. A more active British role in Malaya was part of an Anglo-Dutch
trade-off involving the Caribbean and Africa as well as Southcast Asia.
The impulse to renewed expansion was by no means universally popular,
Doubters in the press, in Parliament, and in the C.O. itself would con-
tinue to question the morality of imperialism straight through to the end
of empire after 1945.2 But the more important members of the perma-
nent staff in the C.O. were increasingly convinced of the imperatives of
trade from the 1870s onwards. The people of Malaya, wrote Meade,
should beled ™. . . to understand that their true interests are best served by
the development of commerce and by the maintenance of peace and
order.”"?* Whereas carlier discussion had centered on the rectitude of
Europeans ruling Asians, C.O. minutes would henceforth focus on how
best to arrange this so as to end disorder and bring the good life, as defined
by Europeans.

. With the arrival in November 1873 of the strong, able, and supremely
self-confident Clarke, matters moved smartly to a conclusion. Though
the new governor had not been given permission to do anything but
inquire, he was determined to go ahead and he was willing to take the
advice of local officers and businessmen of long experience whose bold-
ness matched his own. Colonel (later General Sir Archibald) Anson,
licutenant governor of Penang, had been a fellow cadet with Clarke at
Woolwich. Since 1867 he had wanted to annex Perak or, failing that, to
establish a protectorate there, a scheme he had worked out with the then
sultan.?$ He now did a report for Clarke, advising how to proceed. From
W. H. Read, who was never one to play the wall flower in straits politics,
the governor received up-to-date details of Perak affairs, together with
the draft of a treaty that Read sent to Abdullah, the long-time debtor of
Read, and his friend Tan Kim Cheng. Abdullah, who had been passed
over for the Perak sultanate, now saw a chance to revive his lagging
fortunes. 8 By carly January 1874, the treaty was back with Abdullah’s
acceptance. Anson tried to persuade Clarke that Abdullah was not the
right man, but to no avail. Meanwhile, the all-important question of
Chinese cooperation was placed in the hands of William Pickering, who
had served for the last three years as Chinese interpreter to the straits
government and who had acted as adviser to Ord in Larut four months
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before. Pickering went at once to Penang for talks with the leading
Chinese, finding on arrival that the longer-established and more con-
servative of the two factions in Larut was only too willing to fall in with
the governor's plans for peac Sceing how the land lay, the other side
also went along with Pickering. The final string to the governor’s bow
was T. C. S. Speedy. a soldier of fortune with experience in India, Africa,
and New Zealand who had resigned in July from his job as superintendant
of police at Penang in order to recruit sepoys in India for che mentri of Larut.
Since Speedy's peripatetic activities had had the approval of the govern-
ment, it was clear that he and his force would be more or less at Clarke's
disposal.2®

The so-called Pangkor Engagement was signed January 20, 1874,
aboard Clarke’s stcamer off the Perak island of that name. It recognized
Abdullah as sultan, confirmed the mentri of Larut in his district, provided
for a British officer to reside at the sultan's headquarters at Perak's ex-
pense, bound the sultan to follow this officer’s advice, and stipulated that
an assistant resident would be assigned to Larut with authonty over the
mentri. Speedy was immediately appointed to this post. Though the
engagement was signed by Abdullah, the mentri, and six other Perak
officials, and then by Clarke, and therefore did not directly involve the
Chinese, their representatives were required to sign a bond in conjunction
with it, promising to disarm and accept a commussion empowered to s
that stockades were destroyed, piracy ended, and peace enforced.

Clarke has been criticized for his appointment of Abdullah, under-
standably so in view of subsequent events. The new sultan proved not
only incapable of rallying the major Perak chiefs to his cause but disloyal
to the British as well. Sull, 1t 1s not certain that Clarke could have brought
the de facto sultan, Ismail, to accepta satisfactory agreement or thatif so he
would have proved more viable than Abdullah. Yusuf, the third alterna-
tive, was hardly known to the Briush at the ime. The most pressing
problem was the Chinese fighting. For better or worse, Clarke's principal
adviser, Read, was closely associated with Tan Kim Cheng and Abdullah.
Pangkor's main result was to stop Chinese destructiveness and bring
about a resumption of trade. Sorting out Malay factionalism, a less im-
portant issuc at the time, would now be accomplished through tral and

error and at considerable cost.?*

The role of Clarke as a mover and shaker by contrast with Ord, was a
function not only of the C.O. having given him a latititude denied to Ord
but also of his incomparably better connections and record in London.
Like his successors of 1904 and 1920, he was very much an insider, a
Whitchall habitué wth friends in high places and accustomed for
doing things on a grander scale than regular soldiers or members of the
carcer colonial service were privileged to do. Committing himself and
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London to an instrument as fundamental as Pangkor, and then assigning
an officer to a new post in accordance with it before asking the approval of
headquarters, were acts that the average Victorian governor would not

have thought of. Clarke admitted that he had ded 1 i while
pleading that the pressure of time justified it. And London, instead of
blasting him for impulsi and insubordination as they had done so

often with respect to Ord’s much milder transgressions, let him get away
with it.? Predictably, Lord Stanley, an outspoken critic of imperialism,
remarked in the House of Lords that governors were not sufficiently
controlled by the C.O.*" This only strengthened Clarke by bringing Sir
Robert Herbert, the undersecretary, to his defense. Public opinion in the
straits saw the new governor as a hero. There was virtually universal
approval locally as Clarke and his officers proceeded in the next few
months to make arrangements in Selangor and Sungei Ujong that were
similar to those made in Perak and for comparable reasons. By the end of
1874. residents and subordinate officers had been posted to all three
west-coast states, and an upnising in Sungei Ujong had been dealt with by
armed force from the straits. Clarke's brief governorship ended in May
1875, when he left to accept a scat on the governor general's council in
India, a position of much greater importance in the imperial hierarchy and
an ideal stepping-stonc to the most senior posts in his profession.

His place was taken by General Sir William Jervois, like Clarke an
engincer and a profe 1 with an impressive record. He, too, knew
people in London, though he had spent somewhat more time away from
home than his predecessor had. In vigor, in determination, and in im-
perialist conviction, he was stamped out of much the same mold. His
administration would be like Clarke’s in brevity, in dramatic events, and
in causing the C.O. to consider once again whether it was better to have a
governor on a short rein who was therefore unable to deal effectively with
local turbulence or a strong one who took the bit in his teeth and gave his
distant masters some anxious moments.

In November, Jervois’s government was jolted by the news that J. W,
W. Birch, resident in Perak, had been murdered. Birch's brusque and
tactless approach to his delicate job had bothered Clarke. The meaning of
Pangkor had not been fully understood or accepted by Abdullah, not to
mention the deposed Ismail and his followers who were stronger than
Abdullah and who, after all. had not been consulted. Lacking the military
support needed to enforce an irritating and unfamiliar system, Birch
nonetheless conducted himself in an arbitrary way. A backlash of some
kind was foreseen by Anson, who had warned Clarke that half measures
would not do and that the government must either stay out of the native
states or go in with enough power to impose their will.* Jervois, for his
part, had been sure that his residents ought to administer the country
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directly, though in the name of the Malay chiefs, a policy which he
followed without London’s approval and in fact, against the grain of
specific warnings from Lord Carnarvon, the secretary of state.’. The
ensuing Perak War, which had to be fought with troops called in from
India and Hong Kong, discredited that policy. A system of powerless
residents and unfettered Malay chiefs on the other hand had been shown to
be unworkable. As Meade in the C.O. saw it, there were threc alternatives
as of the end of the war: the residency system could be reestablished on the
lines laid down at Pangkor: British officers could govern in fact, though in
the sultan’s name and with the assistance of a counail; or the states could be
annexed outright, as Jervois wanted. " Meade's colleague, W. R. Malcolm,
studied the legal documents and the correspondence with the straits and
found nothing to justify annexation.* Birch's murder and lesserincidents
elsewhere had resulted in greater British discipline however and a corre-
sponding decline in the ability and inclination of Malay chiefs to make
trouble. There was a heated exchange between the seerctary of state and
the governor: when the smoke clearcd, their personal relationship had

been rescued, and Jervois was able to go on to his next governorship with
an unblemished reputation. The supremacy of London over governors
had been aceepted by all. But policy remamned ambiguous. There would be
no annexation, Residents would stay. On paper, they would continue to
be advisers rather than executives, though, as the Pangkor Engagement
noted, rulers were required to accept their advice, which was now backed
by force and by the fresh memory in Malay minds of what can happen to
those who ignore it.

What followed has a familar ring to students of British colonial admini-
stration in other parts of the world. Having got into difficultics with a
high-spirited governor whose previous experience had been outside the
service with its regulations and established routine, London now sent
someone more in tune with the C.O. and its way of doing things. Sir

William Robinson was the younger brother of the Hong Kong governor
whose report had prepared the way for the takeover of the straits by
London in 1867. Private sccretary to his brother at age twenty, he had
remained in the colonial service from then on, an unbroken span of

thirty-two years. A subordinate of his, who would himself govern the
straits one day, wrote that Robinson ** .. .may have been sent to prevent
further experiments in the Malay states.”® Be this as 1t may, there were
no major explosions in Robinson's time—a year and a half. He did not
interest himself in Malay states affairs to any considerable extent. Apart
from receiving delegations of Chinese miners in Perak and Selangor soon
after arrival, it appears that he confined himsclf to the colony and did not
visit Malay rulers as often as his predecessors had done.?” In matters of
policy, he was the kind of governor who is approved by London because
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he articulates the official line and keeps things quict and liked by the more
sensible of his officers because he leaves them alone as long as they do the
same. In 1878, a Malay royal tried to bribe a British officer in Selangor.
The resident promptly had the sultan remove the offender from the state
council, and Robinson overruled the resident for using an alien standard
so uncompromisingly and for taking the initiative himself rather than
gently leading the sultan to sce what had to be done.?® Despite London’s
mythology, he knew very well what the real situation was: residents were
there to rule. **All the same, " he wrote * . . . the fiction (if such you prefer
to call it) that the residents are merely advisers must be keprup."3® He was
equally frank with Meade in London two years later: **In theory we do not
now interfere . . . except by way of advice, but as a matter of fact we do
interfere considerably and the natives themselves would be exceedingly
surprised if we refrained from doing 50,40

Robinson’s short governorship was a time of settling down and estab-
lishing a tacit concensus. For the remaining years of the century, the C.O.
left the actual implementation of policy to senior officers on the spot,
though it regularly intoned the platitude about ruling by advice. Resi-
dents and their assistants ruled directly because, after the little punitive
campaigns in Perak, Selangor, and Sungei Ujong, there was no alterna-
tive. The Malays were in no position to resist. The Chinese were de-
lighted to cooperate in preserving a peace that allowed their businesses to
prosper.

Sir Frederick Weld, governor from 1880 to 1887, thought that in the
absence of any practical direction from the C.O. it was up to governors to
make policy within the very broad and vague framework of their instruc-
tions. He wanted a gradual process of “assimilation” in which the Straits
Secttlements and the Malay states would draw closer together and pursue
similar courses of development.*' Meade and his colleague Edward
Wingfield saw a dilemma. The C.O."s misty statements were hard on
governors, yet if these were more specific and admitted openly that the
Malay states were ** .. . future British territory," an impulsive governor

might go too far, as Jervois had wanted to do.*? Kimberley, again serving
as sccretary of state, replied that Johore and Pahang would probably be
given residents soon; but Weld should avoid annexation and follow
India’s lead in encouraging native rulers and in interfering only when
misgovernment forced it.** To Weld, this sounded all right on paper. In
practice, it did not work. *'I doubt if Asiatics will ever learn to govern
themselves; it is contrary to the genius of their race, of their history, of
their religiious systems . . . their desirc is a mild, just and firm despotism;
that we can give them."** If good men like Hugh Low in Perak were
picked as residents, then it was only common sense to give them their
heads. The bendahara of Pahang, aware of the stagnation of his state by
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contrast with the thriving condition of his neighbors under British pro-
tection, had come to Singapore to see the governor of his own free will,
something he had declined to do when invited by Ord, Clarke, and
Jervois. Malay royals taken to England where they saw civilization for
themselves, shepherded about by Low and other officers, returned more
convinced than cver that their destiny lay in the direction of development
under the imperial umbrella. When the straies were run by India, their
government had been merely ¢ bulary. Now the administration was
closer to the people and was more concerned with their welfare. Weld was
sure that natives saw the British as “friends and adviscrs” who brought
efficicncy and well-being, without trampling on their habits and fecl-
ings. 4%

In the C.O., there was a growing confidence in the straits government
and much satisfaction over what ithad accomplished. Before Weld's time,
dispatches from Singapore had made the staff nervous and unsure. As his
term neared its end, they felt that he had outstripped all his predecessors,
that there was greater contentment among both the Malays and the
Chinese in the protected states as well as the colony. The extension of
British influence had been good for all concerned.*®

As foreseen, Pahang, the biggest and poorest Malay state, duly entered
the British sphere, in 1888, thereby extending administration to the cast
coast of the peninsula for the first time. Sungei Ujong and several of its
small neighbors moved by successive steps toa closer association with one
another in 1889 and 1895, when they were given the name of Negri
Sembilan (the nine states) presided over by a single resident. In the latter
year the four states now under British protection—Perak, Sclangor.
Negri Sembilan, and Pahang— were joined together as the Federated
Maiay States, stll possessing their respective residents, but more closely
centralized under a resident-general at Kuala Lumpur than they had ever
been under the governor of the Straits Settlements at Singapore. The
governor retamned his over-all authority, but he now had two dtles:
governor in the colony. and high commissioner in the FMS. In 1897, the
governor-high c . and the resident-general met in Kuala Kang-
sar, residence of the sultan of Perak, with the rulers of all four states. This
was the first “session of chiefs” in the British period, a gathering not
unlike Indian durbars. The four residents were also there, as were the
Malay and Chinese members of cach state’s council, the whole group
being spoken of as a “‘federal council."#” The session lasted four days.
Among the topics discussed were interstate loans and indebredness, tin
exports, justice, communications, agriculture, land and immigration
policy, revenues, and the relationship between traditional arrangements
for local government and imported ones. Malay and Chinese members
did speak up: but the agenda and conduct of the meeting were British in all
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essentials including the presidency of the high commissioner, a loyal
message to the Queen, and adoption of a rule that the group would meet
only when called by its president. In many respects, the Straits Settle-
ments and the federated states were a unified British colony, although the
sovereignty of the states remained a legal fact.

As the century drew toa close, the horizon was dominated by economic
development. Inthe C.O., there was no inclination to interfere at first. C.
P. (later Sir Charles) Lucas, a future assistant undersecretary, wrote that
London had no wish to dictate land systems **...to these nominally
independent states,”*® and the governor was right to do everything he
could to attract European settlers and promote cultivation in an under-
populated country of great potential wealth. London did have questions.
Whereas grants of 800 acres were considered large in Ceylon, grants of
10,000 acre allotments were not uncommon in Perak, which sometimes
resulted in wasteful land speculation, with planters eventualy having to
give up grants that they lacked the capital and labor to exploit.*® Not all
members of the C.O. staff were convinced by the glowing reports from
Malaya in the nineties. Though Lucas thought the governor’s report made
*“pleasant reading,” his superior, Edward Fairfield, noted the governor's
private letter in which he admitted that Perak’s prosperity depended on
gambling farms rather than stable agriculturc.%® There was scepticism
about Pahang, for ycars the subject of extravagant claims by straits busi-
nessmen calling at the C.O. Fairfield was reminded of Palmerston's bon
mot: "If you want to be deceived about a country you should consulta man
who has lived there for thirty years and speaks the language.”s! In
Malaya, too, there were difterences of opinion. The governor, Sir Charles
Mitchell, though by no means the foc of business that Ord had been,
remarked that any attempt to enforce sensible land regulations in Pahang
was invariably mct with indignant outcries from concessionnaires and
their friends in Singapore. But this was incidental. Sir Frank Swettenham,
the resident-gencral, always tended to side with developers.$* He stmngly
backed E. W. Birch, resident Perak, in ding liberal
of land to applicants who were raising moncy in England for coffee and
coconut estates and for rice mills. Mitchell himself deferred to unofficials
in the Legislative Council and went out of his way to make clear that he
and the C.O. supported the development aim wholeheartedly. Planters
with good connections in England could count on a sympathetic hearing
and practical help all along the line, from the secretary of state to the
governor and resident-general and on down to the residents in the states
where they held land.*? Assistance given included land concessions on
favorable terms, help with the supply of labor, and cost sharing on the
building of roads and railways. The FMS Annual Reports for 1898-1899
contained unmistakable evidence of a continuing boom in tin. Revenues
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were up. The government aided planters by ending export duties on
coffee. Though Pahang’s chronic debt increased slightly duc to the cost of
a road connecting it to Selangor, Negri Sembilan’s had been completely
retired. Everywhere there were high hopes for rubber—the miracle plant
from South America that seemed ideally suited to Malaya's soil and
climate. “This is a wonderful record,™ wrote Lucas 34

In the summer of 1903, the second gathering of chiefs took place, this
tme in Kuala Lumpur. A major topic of discussion was the competing
claims of Malay and English to be the official language of the federation.
The yang di pertuan besar (paramount chiet) of Negri Sembilan argued that
Malay was more appropriate, being the language of the common people as
well as the ruling classes, and that its use verbally and in documents would
conduce to the general prosperity and comfort of the population.*s W. H.
Treacher, the resident-general, politely disagreed. English was the lan-
guage of the civil service, of large non-Malay portions of the population,
of British India nearby, and of businessmen locally and in the great world
of Europe and Amenica. Office clerks, observed the resident Negn
Sembilan, were not able to write Malay, nor could most Malays read it.
The sultan of Perak agreed that both languages should continue to be used
in their respective spheres. It was clear that English had won the battle and
was on the rise everywhere.

As high commissioner, Swettenham voiced his gratification over
achievements since Pangkor. Circ es had d ded intervention,
he said, and the British had come to the Malay states at the invitaton of the
rulers.

The Malay sultans and chiefs who are here today will bear me out in
saying that we have faithfully and carnestly endeavoured to fulfil the

somewhat difficult task we then undertook. The condition of all the

people of the federated Malay states has improved. step by step. with
the advancement of the country from roadless jungle to railways,
telegraphs. schools, hospitals and the other accompaniments of
scientific administration. The Malays have in all this been great
gainers.5®

How the Malays and the peninsula’s other peoples felt 1s a complex
subject to which attention will be given in the following chapters. That
the royals themsclves had come a long way from the surliness, the igno-
rance of British capacity, and the defiance of the 1870s there can be hede
doubt No onc could gainsay the resident-gencral when he remarked that
.the English are now the predominant power in these parts of the
world.”*” In a single gencration, Malaya had been politically and eco-
nomically transformed.
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Plate 1. Conference of Chicts, Kuala Lumpur, 1903, Seated left to right, beginning with uniformed European in cocked hat: H, C. (later Sir
Henry) Belficld (resident Selangor), ). P. (later Sit John) Rodger (resident Perak), W. H, (later Sir William) Treacher (resident-general), sultan of
Selangor, sultan of Perak, Sir Frank Swettenham (high commissioner), Yang di Pertuan Besar of Negri Sembilan), sultan of Pehang, W. Egerton
(resident Negri Sembilan), D. G. Campbell (resident Pahang). Courtesy of Royal Commonuwealth Society.
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2 The Civil Service
The Early Period

THE ADMINISTRATION established ac Penang by Captain
Light in 1786 was typical of British India in all its essentials. Its purpose
was the fostering and military protection of trade. The leaders, from Light
on down, were merchants or the agents of merchant companies. It is
significant, however, that the year of Penang’s founding was also the year
when Light's friend Warren Hastings went on trial in the House of Lords.
For some time, London and the Indian government had been discussing
the burning isssuc of the relationship between trade and administration
and specifically the need to separate them in order to climmate cor-
ruption. Two means of achicving this were to restrict commercial acuvity
by government officers and to pay them adequately. Light won high
salaries for his subordinates. They were allowed to own land, from which
many derived considerable income, but they could not engage in trade
directly.

Decent pay and hopes of profitable estates in a new and promising
country made for a larger staff than Penang could justify to an Indian

regime that had become acutely conscious of budgets, regulations, and
accountability, In 1803, there was a reorganization. Along with Bombay
and Madras, Penang became a presidency under the governor-general at
Calcutea. In 1826, the three Straits Settlements were unified. This last
step. together with the downgrading of the administering officer’s title
from governor to resident, indicated their diminished importance as
direct trade between England and China increased. The headquarters
moved in 1832 from Penang to Singapore—two years after the ending of
the straits’ status as an Indian presidency. Though the rank of governor
was restored, the scttlements were now a minor appendage of the Bengal
government.

During their quarter century as a presidency. the straits recruited of-
ficers through nomination by directors of the company. Recruits signed
covenants calling for the posting of bonds that would be forfeited if they
left the service before the expiry of an agreed period. The first group in
this so-called covenanted service numbered ten. By 1826, the total was

fourtecen—nine in Penang, three in Singapore, and two in Malacca. Train-
ing was provided from 1806 onwards in the company’s college at Hailey-
bury, an experience that was reckoned to be more valuable for the esprit
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de corps and sense of responsibility bred there than for the worth of
language instruction and other courses.! The experiment ended with
Penang’s presidency in 1830, as did covenants. Hard times brought re-
trenchment of staff. There was a general tightening up, including cancel-
lation in 1840 of the right to own land. Officers of the Indian Civil Service,
the clite corps of Britain’s overseas cadres, were never interested in the
straits, and, from 1830 to the end of company rule in 1867, recruits came
manily from the Indian army, with occasional entrants being nominated
by company directors from business firms or from the clerical ranks in
India. Generally speaking, the straits service in this period stood at the
bottom of the imperial ladder, reflecting the stepchild status of the settle-
ments it worked in. For governors, too, the straits were seen as the end of
the line, a place with no future.? That reputation was to haunt the colony
for the rest of the century.

If London and Calcutta had looked more favorably on the straits, her
officers would still have been faced with the fact that their position was
inferior to that of businessmen throughout the settlements. With higher
incomes and correspondingly superior social standing, the traders were
clearly the raison d’étre of the whole enterprise, the people whose work
administrators were there to facilitate. In addition, there were the court
recorders, sent out from England, knighted, and paid more than gov-
ernors were, filling independent positions and looking down on admini-
strators as amateurs, undistinguished soldiers who were not practicing
their own profession. Duties were anything but onerous. Governors and
subordinate officers could be absent from their posts for lengthy periods
without noticeably deleterious effects on efficiency. Clerks did the paper-
work, had more¢ continuous service than officers had, knew languages
better, and were intimately d with local ies. Officers
functioned mainly as supervisors, oversceing police work, tax farms, and
road maintenance, and dealing with piracy when it got out of hand. They
ran a minimum, constabulary government in a poor colony under the
tight and grudging control of a distant master.

The last governor under company rule was Colonel (later General Sir
Orfeur) Cavenagh. His family had entered his name for Woolwich, but
hearing that opportunities for advancement might be better in India than
in the regular army, they sent him as a gentleman cadet, aged fourteen, to
the company's military college at Addiscombe.? Passing out second in his
class two years later in 1837, he went immediately to India, where he
served without home leave until 1850, returning briefly in that year asa
member of a Nepalese mission. With some of his brother officers in the
Indian Political Service, he saw that interesting and rewarding work was
to be found outside garrison duty. Postings in Indian princely states and
Burma followed. He hoped that a scnior position in Persia could be




26 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

secured after the expected takeover of that country following the Crimean
War, but this did not transpire, and, instead, he continued to serve as fort
major (representative of the governor-general) at Fort William. It was the
mutiny that rescued him from wearying burcaucratic tasks. He was given
the straits governorship in 1857 in recognition of his services in that
conflict, during which he was wounded.

Cavenagh was popular with straits businessmen and with Chinese clan
leaders as well, learning to manage the latter with a mixture of under-
standing and discipline, **...the iron hand with velvet glove,” that
proved effective.* His vigorous dealings with Malay states got him into
trouble with Calcutta however, for bombarding Trengganu on the cast
coast, and for lecturing the sultan of Perak in 1862 on the need to control
both his local chief in Larut and the unruly Chinese miners in that district.
Early in his governorship, he and a number of his officers complained that
the straits service, as then consnituted, and its relationship to India were
unsuited to the requirements of the moment. Contacts with the Malay
states were close and were growing closer. Under the Indian system, it
was impossible to get good men to go to the straits, where career prospects
were dim. The governor-general understoad this. India could not provide
Chincese speakers, for example—a crying need in the straits—and there
was talk of borrowing officers from the Chinese Consular Service.® By
this time, it was evident that all concerned—the governor-general,

Cavenagh and his officers, and the straits business community—wanted
the settlements transferred to the C.O.¢

Sir Hercules Robinson’s report on the status of the straits administra-
tion, submitted 1 1863, listed a total of seventeen European officers
served by a clerical staff of 306.7 The Europeans included the governor
and four subord s in Singapore, resident ¢ in Penang
and Malacca, and a small number of clergymen, legal officers, engineers,
military commanders, and wardens of the Indian convict establishment.
By contrast with crown colonices such as Ceylon, Hong Kong, and even
Mauritius, the settlements were understaffed. 1f the expected transfer
came about, would each of the three units have its own legislauve counal,
as sometimes happened in the West Indies? Would serving officers be

permitted to continue? The latter query was forwarded directly by several
of the officers themselves, impressive evidence that the Bengal govern-
ment was unloved and that men serving in the straits were not confident of
being able to find other employment.® A question to the same effect was
put in the House of Commons, showing. as their successors were to do
rather often, that straits civil servants were not timid about appealing to
higher authority at home.® Robinson thought it would be unfortunate to
dispense with the services of men who knew local languages and customs.
He suggested liberal pension terms for the more talented of these as
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inducements and recommended the setting up of a small number of
cadetships in addition. The resulting service would thus have a blend of
experience and new blood. Cavenagh thought that two of the first cadets
ought to go to Hong Kong to learn Chinese and that one should stay in
Singapore and learn Malay. All should be nominated by the secretary of
state and then examined by the civil service commissioners in such sub-
Jects as handwriting, orthography. mathematics, latin, history, geog-
raphy. science, and law.

As word of the impending transfer got abroad the C.O. began to
receive inquiries about openings. From the British legation in Haiti came a
plea, made by the chargeé there, on behalf of his brother in Labuan. ' The
governor of Natal, who had previously scrved in Southeast Asia, applied
for the governorship of the new colony. ' Cavenagh himself wanted very
much tostay. But the C.O. preferred anew broom. and one wiclded by an
experienced colonial governor of their own choosing. Cavenagh heard
quite late in the day that somcone else was coming, and his successor
actually arnived before he got official advice as to the changeover. The
C.O.'s patronizing view of the straits scrvice was not influenced by the
compl y parts of Rob 's report.

This attitude, which was mild by comparison with their view of Malay
states officers in the 1870s, was not confined to the Eastern colonics.
Public men in mid-nincteenth-century England knew little of the empire
and cared less. The permanent staff of the C.O. from the 1830s to the
1860s, headed by Stephen, Menvale, and Rogers, saw overseas posses-
sions as a nuisance that would fade away in time.'? But as the larger,
European-colomized units such as Canada and Australia began to assert
themselves and as economic competition from Germany and America
increased. London’s outlook changed. Colonics, whether setted by
Europeans or not, were potential markets. As such, they and their peoples
merited study. At the same time, the voices of religion, humanitarianism,
and scholarship that had formerly opposed imperial adventures as ex-
ploitative now spoke of an obligation to protect and guide, especially in
territories whose peoples did not have highly developed social institu-
tions. Furthermore, the bringing of good government to such places
might be expected to lower the costs of running them by helping trade and
shifting more of the responsibility of administration onto natives. Later,
it would be said that Britain had a *‘dual mandate,” whereby improve-
ment would be to the advantage of local peoples as well as the protecting
power and the rest of the world. Whether or not this was a rationalization
of cconomic imperatives, it was genuinely felt by civil servants in London
who had no thought of personal gain. Imperialism had become respect-
able in an age that put a higher premium on respectability than on any
other quality.
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Dispatches from Singapore to London were addressed to the secretary
of state, and replics were signed by him. But even Lords Kimberley and
Carnarvon, who had more experience in the C.O. than most and who
took a profound interest in the department’s work, relied heavily on their
permanent under secretaries and a few trusted subordinates. Carnarvon
said frankly that Herman Merivale, permancent undersecretary from 1847
to 1860, virtally ran the office and dictated policy. [ **.. .could if |
pleased modify or change his instructions [sic|"; but in fact this was not
done. ' In the rare instances when he disagreed with Merivale, there was
friendly discussion, and Carnarvon invariably came to sce things Meri-
vale's way. By the 1860s, the C.O. had been separated from the War
Office. It became a much sought after place of carcer employment by
university graduates of high caliber who had to pass stiff examinations.
The aristocratic bias was unchanged from carlicr days when patronage
held undisputed sway. Sir Robert Herbert, permanent undersecretary
from 1871 to 1892, was Carnarvon's cousin and closest friend at Eton and
Oxford. His successor, the Honorable Sir Robert Meade, was, like
Herbert, the son of a peer. But they and their C.O. colleagues were gifted,
hard-working professionals, devoted to their jobs, and trusted by prime
Idom interfered

ministers and cabinct members who, as 1t happened, s
with daily business. If the C.O. was, as Carnarvon said, a “‘happy famil
whose principal figures came from the charmed circle of the Victorian
clect, this did not resultin the kinds of nepotism and frivolity that plagued
the army in the same period.'* When colonial civil servants complained
later on about their superiors in London, they referred to a lack of speafic
knowledge of conditions on the ground in far-off places and to insutticient
imagination and perspective. The C.O.'s scrupulous attention to detail
and constant, responsible supervision were all the more galling to gover-

nors in fact because they were exercised by talented., serious, and authon-
tative men. With the arrival of the telegraph in the 1870s, that supervision
became closer and more immediate.

The governors in the last third of the century were a mixed group in
background, in character, and in personal relations with the C.O. Before
1850, most had made their names in other fields and, at the ume of
appointment, had had little or no previous expenience of colonial ad-
ministration. John Bright's famous remark, made in 1858, that the col-
onies were . . .a gigantic system of outdoor relief for the aristocracy of
Great Britain. . ."" would not have been impossible to substantiate.'* In
1865, only cleven of the thirty-three governors were professionals.'®
Selection was not made by members of the C.O. staff., as happened later
on, but by the prime minister and his cabinet. Important posts such as
Canada were reserved for anstocrats. Others, however, went to army
officers, high-ranking members of the Indian Civil Service, and occa-
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sionally to members of Parliament. The grandson of an M.P., who was
given a minor governorship after suffering defeat in his attempt at re-
clection, speaks of the appointment frankly as a **consolation prize™ and
dryly observes that **...imperial outposts did not then offer desirable
carcers and tended to attract civilian counterparts of Kipling's gentlemen
troopers rather than the finer flower of Queen Victoria's island race.™!?
We have seen that the first rhrc: straits governors were soldiers, Clarke

and Jervois being distinguished in their p ion and well dat
home. By the seventies both the posts and the candidates were |mpwvmg
As the C.O. staff was by no means P for being 50

it would be indulging in caricature to suggest that governors were useless
because they knew people in official London. Sir Frederick Weld came
from an old, established Catholic family. His mother was the daughter of
a peer. Like so many younger sons he went out to the colonies because
there was more opportunity there than in England. He started as a sheep
farmer in New Zealand, entered local politics, and became a governor in
Australia before moving on to the straits. His successor, Sir Cecil Clementi
Smith, like his predecessor, Sir William Robinson, was a carcer colonial
civil servant, but of a newer kind. Whereas Robinson had begun as a
patronage appointee, Clementi Smith, a university man, rose through the
ranks, starting as aninterpreter in Hong Kong. He differed from all carlier
straits governors in having had considerable previous service there—
sceven years as colonial secretary. The last nineteenth-century governor,
Licutenant Colonel Sir Charles Mitchell, on the other hand, was some-
thing of a throwback to former times, having entered colonial service
after many years of soldicring.

The C.O."s treatment of governors depended on circumstances of the
moment, on cach man’s skill, and on London’s appraisal of his per-
formance. Ord, with all his faults, was the prisoner of an impossible
situation, forced to sit by helplessly while the politics and economy of the
Malay states deteriorated. The €.O. lectured him, gave him less than full
support in his struggles with the business community, and finally re-
placed him with a man to whom they gave the authority they had con-
sistently denied to Ord. Clarke had good relations with both London and
the merchants, alarmed the C.O. by exceeding his instructions and left his
successor to face the consequences of half measures and bad staffing.
Jervois realized, as the C.O. did not, that order on the mainland de-
manded more than powerless advisers. But he, too, went beyond his
authority, and when he reaped the whirlwind, London blamed him for
provoking the Perak War and sent out a governor whose main qualifica-
tions in their eyes were caution, tact, and an instinct for prior consulta-
tion. Robinson and his successors were lucky in that the die had been cast
before they arrived. the Malays had been cowed, and officers serving on
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the mainland knew better than to proceed as the hapless Birch had done.
By now, the C.O. understood that direct rule was unavoidable.'® The
method was the thing.

Well before they took over the straits, the C.O. gave thought to the
building of a civil service of higher quality than the old one, a corps that
would be able to manage the new colony more or less as other Eastern

ons were ged. Sir Hercules Rob: an old hand at crown-
Lulnn) government, naturally suggested procedures that were tried and
truc. The straits should follow Ceylon and Hong Kong in recruiting
cadets (hroubh nomination by the secretary of state and examinations by
the civil-service commisioners, thus combining patronage with the ob-
jective testing that was increasingly demanded in mincteenth-century
England and which, along with training courses, had actually been used in
overscas territories carlier than in the home country. Shortly before the
formal takcover of the straits by the C.O.. two cadets were appointed: the
first being R. Godwin-Austen, son of a Guilford squire who was required
to post a bond for his son. But Godwin-Austen died just before his ship
was to have sailed, and the honor of being the first straits cadet to take up
an appointment went to D. F. A. Hervey, an old Marburian.'* The C.O.
explamed to the civil-service commission that the aim was to recruit
.an cfficient staff of interpreters. "2 It was necessary to add later that
straits cadets were not part of the imperial civil services and that, in taking
part in their selection, the commissioncrs were simply doing an ad froc job
for the C.O., which retained full discretion in giving weight to marks
supplied to them ! Applicants were examined in exther Malay or Chinese
and in English composition, precis writing, geography and history. and
in two languages which they could choose from among Latn, Greek,
French, and German.* Unlike company recruits, the new cadets were
appointed to the straits service at large, not to a particular unic. Hervey
arrived in 1867, followed in 1868 by A. M. Skinner and in 1870 by E. H.
Watts and F. A_ Swettenham.

The C.O. was deluged with applications from the start. Requests for
nominations were so numerous that the office had its choice of four or five
university men competing for a single n which allowed them
to consider other factors n addition to academic standing. Testimonials
from hopeful parents and from dons spoke of family background, morals,
leadership qualiues, athletic ability, and experience in the tropics.** Not
surprisingly, one or two scrving officers applied on behalf of their sons—
Major McNair, a senior engineer in the straits, and Colonel Anson,
licutenant governor of Penang—and won promises from a staff that was
only too glad to see a name they recognized. More often than not, they
had had to make the standard reply that the minister could not entertain
applications from *...persons of whom he has no direct or indirect
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Plate 2. Three Civil Service Cadets, Straits Settlements, 18705, Cartoon. Courtesy of
Malaysian National Archives

knowledge unless they be ied by d: from per-
sons known to his lordship or by satsfactory testimonials of recent
date. "¢ Swettenham’s way was paved by his brother, 2 Cambridge man
who entered the Ceylon service two years before.?S E. W. Birch, son of
the murdered resident of Perak, was taken into the C.O. itself straight
trom Harrow at age nincteen and worked therc until old enough to assume
a cadetship. This was part of the arrangements for the care of Birch's
children made by the Queen on Disracli's advice at the time of the
murder.** Application forms asked for educational details and for father's
occupation. A majority of the cadets came from public schools and/or
Oxford and Cambridge colleges or Trinity College Dublin. As time went
on a university cducation became the expected norm, if not a stated
requirement. There were many sons of clergymen, army officers, and
schoolmasters, with businessmen, lawyers, and doctors appearing some-
what less often. One father was in the Ceylon service, one was an M.P.,
one was a clerk in holy orders, and anather is listed as a landowner.?”
The C.O. could enforce its own standards. They wanted good physical
specimens who were I hat is, men of ch and honor—
and they looked for reasonable intelligence rather than brilliance of the
academic kind.?® They could be severe in rejecting applications of the
traditional type from men in middle age, such as onc from a former ADC
to the governor of the Leewards who was recommended by ** . . .such old
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supporters in Parliament of the Conservative interest as Mr. Walpole.”**

Meanwhile they had to deal with the service they had inherited from the
India Office. On the day Ord took over, all serving officers were assured
that they could keep their positions until further notice.>® The resident
councillor at Singapore, Colonel R. Macpherson, who had come from the
Madras artillery, was appointed colonial sccretary—simply a change in
title. When he died three years later,J. W. W. Birch was brought in from
Ceylon. He had started as a midshipman in the navy and had risen through
the ranks of the Ceylon service since 1847] Ceylon, the mother hen of the
Eastern colonies, also supplied the first licutenant governor of Malacca,
W. W. Cairns. But in the case of Penang, a much more important post,
Victorian patronage was found to be flourishing still. Colonel Anson,
who received the licutenant governorship there, was a Woolwich man
with colonial service in Mauritius behind him and with relatives and
friends in high places. His brother, Sir John, had been helpful before.
When Anson called at the C.O. n 1867, he talked with Sir Frederick
Rogers and with Carnarvon's private sceretary and was offered the post.*!
Cairns remained in Malacea only a year and reured shortly after. Buc
Anson stayed fifteen years, was acting governor several umes, and gave
the C.O. professionals no cause to abandon their faith in examination
recruitment.??

Cairns was succeeded at Malacca by Captain E. W. Shaw, a navy man
who had been private secretary to the governor of Antigua, thus represent-
ing, like Anson, the old military-cum-civil stream in colomal adminis-
tration. He was well liked by Malay and Chinese residents in Malacca and
performed cfficiently during the Sungei Ujong troubles of 1874, The
C.0O. got the impression, however, that he did not understand the require-
ments of modern government and tended to regard his small satrapy as a

petty governorship that called for nothing more than the casy going,
benign paternalism of the West Indies.>* He was never promoted and died
ac his post in 1879. More typical of those whom the C.O. had high hopes
for was C. J. Irving, the first auditor-gencral of the straits. He had started
in the land and emigration office of the C.O. and had worked as an auditor
in Somerset House and in Mauritius. Though he had not consorted with
the mighty at home or attended famous schools, he had Ord’s confidence.
He opposed intervention in the Malay states, thereby breasung a ndal
wave in the seventies, but he was sent to Malacca as Shaw’s successor,
acted in the governor's absence occasionally, won a CMG, and ended his
career as resident councillor Penang. ™

Below these men, but above the several hundred office clerks, were the
warrant officers, one might call them, of the straits establishment—the
Jjunior magistrates, interpreters, and assistant auditors—who were locally
recruited for the most part, poorly paid, though often pensionable, and
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ettectively blocked from the better career posts. Though the C.O. had
allowed such people to advance in the stronger colonies, they tried 10
build up the straits administration by making appointments from the
United Kingdom. This was discouraging news for men who had labored
long and hard at thankless. menial tasks in the hope that a day of recogm-
tion and opportunity might eventually come. One such was F. H.
Gottleib. The duke of Devonshire had recommended him to the C.O. in
1827, apologizing for interfering in promotions ** . . . of the higher orders
in the dockyards."?* He became a police magistrate at Penang in 1871 and
assistant protector of Indian immugrants six years later. In 1879, he was
suspected of taking bribes. After being pronouned medically unfit for
further service on grounds of senility, he retired in 1892 and lived out his
last years in Singapore.

To the C.O. the root problem of service quality was that in the straits
there had not been a clear disunction between professionals on the one
hand, usually officers recruited in Enland, and locally hired hangers-on.
Like the company regime before it, the new colonial government in
Stngapore was prone to slapdash methods, which allowed anyone atall to
land in jobs that London wantced reserved for “educated gentlemen.”3
“They are rather fond in the straits of getting into the service through
minor appointments their relatives who have failed or declined to go
through the regular cadet examinations: witness the y Maxwell,
the younger Plunkett, a younger McNair and now a young Ord."” The
office admitted that poor salarics in the higher posts were part of the
difficulty. If they expected to attract .. .the same classes of English
people which supply . . . the permanent staft of the London offices,” and if
potenual cadets did not have private means, as army officers did, then
decent salaries were vital.>® Cadets could hardly be expected to remain
celibate; yer, as things were. they could not afford to marry, and they
were almost certain to fall into debr.

What was needed was an across-the-board review of conditions of
service and a reorganization on Ceylon lines with positions classified
according to degrees of responsibility. During the 1870s, straits revenue
had risen dramatically as a result of the general prosperity. The Legislative
Counail was not only willing to countenance higher salaries; its commer-
c1al members were pushing for them. With better pay and stricter control
of the higher ranks by reserving them for cadets, there would be more
opportunity for promotion and a respectable career.?® By 1881, a com-
prehensive reorganization plan had been adopted, though its benefits
would be a long time coming. The governor could not shunt aside the
many officers inherited from the past. It was one thing to bring in
Clement: Smith from Hong Kong and make him colonial secretary over
the heads of everyone. What about the competing claims to the preretire~
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ment post of resident councillor Penang of Major McNair, who was
senior, and Irving, whom the governor admitted was better qualified and
whom the C.O. wanted? Weld wished to put McNair in Penang, not
because he was the most able candidate, but because this would get him
out of Singapore, where there was an urgent need for new public works,
the supervision of which was beyond McNair's abilities.*® The solution
was to give Penang to McNair on an acting basis for his last few months
and then to put Irving in as substantive resident councillor. Tactics of this
kind worked well enough on the whole. But the problem of seniority
versus merit was never solved once and for all. Nor did Singapore ever
entirely cure the indigestion caused by increasing numbers of examination
cadets serving side-by-side with casually recruited officers who had been
the best available in their day and had not done badly in the rough and
ready conditions of more primitive times.

There was the further problem of what to do with officers—cadets or
not—who proved unsatistactory long after being confirmed in their
appointments. In 1888, the C.O. received a complaint from A. J. Collier,
an official of the telegraph company in Malacca, that the magistrate there,
C. . Skinner, an 1876 cadet, had seduced his wife and taken her o
England with him on leave. Skinner, who had been invited to reside wich
the Colliers, had often read sermons to Mrs. Collier and had taken her to
communion. At the ume of Collier’s letter he was trying to obtin a
divorce for the lady in England, after which he planned to return with her
to Malacca. The governor took a dim view of the atfair, remarking to the
C.O. that “"many men are retamed mn the service because they cannot be
got rid of. ™! Skinner applied for a transfer to another colony. Lucas and
the secretary of state thought he ought to resign, but Meade pointed out
that resignation would mean “absolute ruin, " which would be a bit much
since this sort of thing happened rather often and was usually keptdark . *
Skinner should be allowed to return, but without his companion and only
if blocked from further promotion and sent to a remote district. In the

event he became acting colonial secretary in Singapore and retired a year
later. Such cases, if rarely exposed to the light, pointed up the difficulty of
recruiting qualified, dependable men who would be willing to serve on

deq salariesinagp hing climate without the social amenities that
were taken for granted at home.

From time to time, the C.O. told itself that matters might be improved
if they exerted stricter control over promotions and postings of officers
within the colony. The secretary of state had full authority legally. No
action became final until his approval had been received. As they looked at
governors' recommendations year by year and consulted their memory of
cach officer’s record from recruitment onwards, the staff formed impres-
sions of ability which they drew on in advising the secretary of state.
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Lucas’s comments on the sentor men up for consideration in 1886 squared
with g 3 Is and career perfc Hervey was first in
scniority but weak: E. E. Isemonger, who had entered the junior ranks of
the home avil service in 1856, specializing mn audit work, had transferred
1 1867 to the straits, where his record had been solid rather than lustrons;
W. E. Maxwell. son of Sir Peter Benson. was clearly superior, though
somewhat fussy and not congenial with his colleagues: A. M. Skinner (not
to be confused with C. J.) was thought very good: F. A. Swerenbam was
the best of all: N. Trotter. the postmaster-general, had “reached his
level.”™*? Short of objecting to patent outrages. however. there was hirtle
the C.O. could do. They grumbled about colonies throwing recommen-
danons at them without sufficient jusufication; they could and did insist
on fuller details, which had 2 good effect in making governors and thar
staffs think beyond the question of seniority. But peniodic reviews, espe-
cally from a distance. could not be as cffective as rigorons standards m
recruizment and steadily :mpronng conditions of scrvice. Salanes were
raised. Rewards were given for L 2nd 3d w
the bar, the latter being designed in part to do: away with the custom of
giving high legal posts to local lawvers who continued in privaze prac-
tice. ¢ It was hoped that ame would do the rest.

The des and of the caders th ) Iy daffered
from those of therr far-away masters mn London. if only becanse they
grappled day-to-day with realitics that C.O. staff members had to puzzle
out of governors' dispatches. Arriving in 1871. Swettenham found the Iife
pleasant enough ** He already knew prople m Singapore 2nd soom met
more. The governor treated him kindly and told him exactly what was
expected of him—namely, that he was to learn Malay well enonghto acras
2 court mzerpreter. He proceeded to do so, mgnnzmgh:mdf‘lﬂlb:
governor at the same ume. and soon
between, while also comng to know mcladmgh@uofswz
business. most of them sworn enemies of the governor. A hard worker. 3
shrewd judge of people and situanions. and 2 convivial dub-man 1 2
rather calculating way, Swettenham made his mark early. 2nd he saw how
the land lay. The straits service was beavy 3t the top. As ambitous young
man forced to wait his tum m its ranks would face long years of frasurs-
uon. was both |and lucky. A year afterarmmp be
met James Guthne Davidson. Singapore’s keading lawyer, who mvmed
the green cader. by now 2 passable Malay speaker. ma“ompaxnhmmz
bus w1831 10 Selangor. The Pangkor seth mwich §
w2s 1o play 2n important role, was only two years o the furmre. Heoued
that ime 10 decpen hus knowledge of the Malays and ther langzage,
strengthen hes position s the governor's nght-hand man, zad 1o broades
s contacts in strasts socery. While his fellow cadets—ewo of whom
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outranked him in length of service and one in marks on the entrance
examination—slogged away at their language work and their lowly
burcaucratic tasks, Swettenham charted his course towards a carcer in the
Malay states.

E. W. Birch, landing in the straits seven years after Swettenham, had
little of his colleague’s drive. His strong point was affability. People liked
him and often discounted his shortcomings or supported his career aims
on that account.*® Everyone knew that he was son of Perak’s first resi-
dent, a former colonial secretary and a martyr in the imperial cause.
Together with the fact that he had just come from two years in the C.O.,
this assured him of a notoriety that his contemporaries could hardly
expect. On arrival, he stayed at Government House with the governor
and Lady Robinson. A letter came the next day, conferring on him a life
membership in the Cricket Club, of which his father had been president.
He was a good athlete and soon found himsclf swimming happily with the
social tide in a bustling community that gave high marks to those who
excelled at tennis, rowing, riding, and shooting. He applied himself to his
Jjob—rent collecting on the islands around Singapore—and took part in
the reorganization of the land office. Despite a rulebook approach to
business firms in arrears on rent payments and to Chinese encroachers on
crown land, he kept the friendship of both of those powerful groups.*”

In Singapore, Birch caught the eye of William Maxwell who, as straits
commissioner of lands, had studied land tenure in Australia and spent
much of his time in the eighties laying the groundwork for a modern,
regularized approach to property and taxation. Maxwell arranged for
Birch to be sent to Malacca as magistrate and collector to start a compre-
hensive registration of customary lands there. This was an educating
Jjob—indeed, a prosclytizing one—calling for patience, duumummn
and powers of persuasion with Malay ¢ inured to traditi
systems whereby cach farmer paid onc-tenth of his crop in annual tax.
Questions of ownership and disposability of land—all-important to
Europeans—had hardly arisen. The results were chaotic. If the country

was to be opened up and its inhabitants saved from the clutches of

moncylenders and 1 a complete was needed,
Birch's work was fought by Malays who did not understand that the
reform was for their own benefit, and by European lawyers willing to
profit from public ignorance. A protest drafted by them and sent to the
Queen caused a delay during which no rent was paid. Mass meetings
organized by Birch, and registration mukim by mukim and kampong by
kampong, produced the desired effect at last. But not without incident:

At the first rent collection we held at Tanjong Kling I told a few
hundred Malays that the Queen's answer to the peation had arrived
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and that it was ordered that they were to pay the new rent. A small
dark Malay of about forty years of age, a man of some importance
for he had seveal pieces of land, stood up and said that he had
received a copy of the Queen’s reply and also letters from Mr.
Shelford and Mr. Guthrie Davidson and that the answer was not
what [ said it was. I told him to come over to where | was, where
everyone could see him. [ called on all the people to listen. Then |
cursed him, that henceforth his wife should be barren, that if any of
his family died they should not be buried by Mohammadans but that
animals and birds should cat their flesh. | forbade the Mosque
officials to attend a marriage or death in the family. Then [ took him
by the shoulders and turned him out of the big dining room, under
the bungalow, and ordered him to leave the assemblage of people.
He did so. The collection proceeded merrily, with many a quip and
often a grumble turned into ridicule. I made no effort to collect this
man’s rent but two or threc months later he brought the money to
me when we were again at Tanjong Kling, and I gave him his
receipts. | told him in the presence of the penghulu . . . that all I had
said was cancelled and the poor fellow, who had undergone much
miscry and anxiety, was forgiven. He had been asea lawyer and tried
his little bluff. He became quite a friend afterwards. #*

As land rents were the main source of revenue in Malacea, it was vital
that the government's authority not be questioned in that sphere. Birch
labored hard at establishing good relations with his penghulus (the district
headmen), whose influence with the people was the cornerstonce of local
stability. A measure of his success, familiar to district officers all over the
empire, were nocturnal visits from penghulus who gave him information
on progress and advice on how best to approach the people.

There had been a catch-as-catch-can quality to some of Swettenham's
and Birch’s carly postings. But as ume passed and as experience was
gained, conditions of service became more regularized. Cadets were a
new phenomenon in Ord's ume, and there was some discussion of how
their services should be used. The governor, having come from an old,
established colony and being conscious of a crying need for reform, saw
the highly qualified examination recruits as the nucleus of an clite corps
that would gradually replace their buccancer seniors. As such, they should
be carefully ;,momcd. madc to mnccnmw on l:ngua&.es and slowly
exposed to proft ? He disagreed with Anson, who
wanted to employ the time-honored method of popping new arrivals
straight into the mainstream of everyday work where they were desper-
ately needed and where they would learn by doing. The trouble with this,
Ord thought, was that the tcachers in such classrooms were of the wrong
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sort. Anson himself in Penang and his fellow licutenant buvunor in

Malacca ¢ d to regard themselves as licdle g
with slow-paced dignity over minimum adminstrations w ith haphazard
methods and dards. In 1872, S ham had to be

rushed into a collectorship at a moment's notice because the incumbant

had just been put in jail for corruption.® Embezzlement by underpaid
clerks was a constant problem. Ord’s aim was to recruit more cadets as
quickly as revenues would allow, train them properly, and give them
positions of responsibility in which they would introduce professionalism
rather than being influenced by the slipshod ways of their seniors. Promo-
tions were to be scen as opportunities for hard, effective work, not as
plums for time-servers.

Examinations in languages and law were provided for. Cadets would
not be contirmed as carcer members of the service unul these had been
passed. The licutenant governorships would lapse on the rearement of
Anson and Shaw. All senior posts would be graded according to degree of
importance, the higher ones being reserved for proven officers in the cadet
service, as soon as there were enough of them to make this practicable.
Land speculation and commercial activity by civil servants, much debated

since the upheavals in eighteenth-century India, went on causing trouble
untl hard and fast rules were laid down and stricely enforced. Sir William
Robinson was espeaially exercised about land dealings, as was Meade in
the C.O.. but Herbert, his superior, ruled that the most the office could
reasonably do, 1n view of the widespread practice of landholding by awvil
servants throughout the colonies, was to insist that nonagricultural acuvi-
ties be permitted only if they did not interfere with oftficial duties.®

Regulauons on the subject would gradually ughten. Meanwhile, it was
hard to be overly strict about land ownership itself, and small farming by
officers since Herbert and Weld themselves and many others had been
personally involved in such activitics, which in any case were not thoug|

of as being intrinsically wrong.

Dealing with alcoholism and excessive indebtedness was more straight-
forward. The straits were still unhealthy enough by late century to claim
the hives of robust young men and to subject long-service officers to
greater strains than their homeside colleagues had to endure. Inevitably,
some found solace n dnink. By the same token, everyone had to admit
that cadets would find it almost impossible to make ends meet, especially
mn the bigger towns, where soaal demands took a heavy toll of meager
salaries. Discreet warnings were usually enough, though in extreme cases
resignations had to be forced on offenders.*?

Apart from raising salanies. which was penodically done, the govern-
ment could enhance morale by assuring cadets that the future belonged to
them. In the first decade of examination recruitment, however, junior
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men often wondered if this were :uu, so0. There were freguent com-
plamnts that dets were geting p over them in postings and
promotions. For governors and the C.O. the gucstion posed 3 dilemma.
On the onc hand. they wanted 2 bemter service and were ammons o
encourage the cadets. On the other hand, they could not suddenly turn
over all the colony s senior posts to inexperienced junmiors. cdbowing ande
the older men who may have lacked formal education bor who were
capable. tried. and cffective. In 1887. a rule of thumb wzs adopred. thar
cadets would henoeforth have prior claims. It was not long before the C.O.
had causc 1o regret it. A too-hieral adherence to the rule proved both
1mpractical and unfarr. Calling it “thar monstrosty.” Meade mamaned
that the cadet servace should be seen not 2s 2 fetish but 25 an ansrrument for
the public good. one that would advance slowly to 2 position of authoriry
and esteem. won by accomphshment. not privilege. ** At 2l ewemts the
pre-1867 scrvice was fading away. By the nme the first cader—Hervey—
renred m 1893, th:stnmumgv\‘ﬂ'mxib\ 2 cades service. winch an sacil
ongns, bureancranc structure, and daily work. was mmch the same a5 those
of Cevlon. Hong Kong. and other crown colames of long standing.

The avil services of the “protected native states™ followed a similtar
course of development. When the first ressdents were posted i 1874, 2t
was far from clear that this would happen. At that pomz. no ane knew

what kind oxgovmmmx-nmbcpmndcibuwdahadmbznw
But the and techmgues sonld all cvobye
in the crucble of hard cxpenence. Such was the Brinsh smpesial way.
Indian and other precedents abounded. fresh in the minds of mem who had
known them at frst hand and who were now available om the gromnd. A1
best. however. these hed sets of ‘had worked
clsewbere. While they nouldnotdxscommcnwmm the firs edficers
attached less importance to them than 1o the stobborn reskines they sew all
around them n Malaya. What made 2 profound mmpression was not the
example of mdirect rule m India or Cevlon burt the murder of 2 remdem
who had pushed 100 hard. There wzs sern 1o be 2 need for men who woild
usc ~persuasion and not cocrcon. > Lord Staniey., always vailam an che
House of Lords. said that the first appomtess were mot of 2 class igh
cnough 10 resist the blandishments of traders from the colomy. wile
Swenrenham. baking m the tropacal sun. pomted oot the Aiffimiities of
arractmg men who would be adeguate. not to meamon adeal ** Sdlancs.
chmate, socal deprivanons, 2nd hard work weaghed heavihy an 2 selle that
was best balanced. he thought. by the sansfacnons of advemmwr and
ploncenmg.

The C.O. 3t3e3 had only the vaguest of notions. Eaght months after
Pangkor, Meade soggested 1o the secrotary of stae tha prohugy the
governor ought 10 br 2sked what he thonght Zhout zppoonnng semdents.
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Everything would be determined by the integrity and ability of these
officers. When Clarke's list of appointees arrived carly in 1875, Herbert
and Meade were not impressed.*® Davidson, whom they knew to be a
shrewd lawyer, had business connections in Selangor, the state for which
he was proposed as resident, and was therefore questionable. They had
thought that Swettenham would be sent there since the sultan had specifi-
cally asked for him. On Birch, whom the governor proposed for Perak,
they wanted details, including qualifications and drawbacks. Speedy.
alrcady keeping peace among the Chinese of Larut, was the only one they
were inclined to confirm. Clarke's explanation is a revealing document.®”
It not only justifies the proposed appointments but, in the process, defines
the basis of British government on the peninsula. Birch is endorsed for his
intimate acquaintance with oricntal life, his physical strength, and his
judgment in dealing with natives. Swettenham, Speedy, and Tatham, the
last named being proposed for assistant resident in Sungei Ujong, are
praised for their close, up-to-the-minute knowledge.** In discussing
Davidson, the governor identifies the central thrust of Briush activity in
Malaya. Davidson's legal and diplomatic experience was vital, he wrote,
and his personal relationship with Tunku Kudin, the real power in
Selangor. had already assured peace and the continuation of that condition
of commercial well-being Meade himself, four months carlier, had stressed
as the raison d'étre of intervention.** In short, the aim of government was
the protection and nurturing of trade. What better method of furthering
that than by appointing officers with long experience in the whole spec-
trum of the country's economic life, Malay, Chinesc, and British? Clarke
underscored this by appointing another straits lawyer, Thomas Braddell.
then serving as attorney general, as Birch's successor in the office of
colomial sccretary, adding to it the position of secretary for native affairs.
Though they never got around to confirming these appointments, the
C.O. went along, noting that delay was not advisable and that the new
governor, Jervois, could let them know in due course how the arrange-
ments were working. Meanwhile, in a typically experimental, undog-
matic way, the office had allowed the establishment of a precedent: in
effect, governors would control appointments in the native states, though
senior ones would be cleared with London as a matter of form. In exercis-
ing that prerogative, Clarke started out with a mixed bag. Perak’s resident
was the colonial secretary, who had come from the Royal Navy via
Ceylon; Selangor got a prominent straits lawyer: Sungel Ujong, an army
officer. One assistant resident was a free-booter and the other a straits
cadet on secondment. During the next twenty y
continued. Perak’s subsequent residents included two men from public
schools, one examination cadet, one patronage appointee, one pre-1867
cadet with legal training, onc old-style aivil servant from another colony,

ars, the pattern of variety

—————
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and onc university man, also from another colony. Sclangor's were some
of the same men, together with a merchant sailor, a public school man,
and a cadet with a university cducation. Sungei Ujong-Negri Sembilan
gota naval officer, a planter whose father was a peer, three public school
men, two of whom were cadets and one a university man in addition,
Pahang’s first resident was a patronage appointee with a public school
cducation. The acting resident who followed him, also a noncadet, was
the grandson of a peer and privately educated.

As the functions of government grew, so did the need for subordinate
officers such as collectors and magistrates in outlying districts. London
was not involved in recruiting these at first, nor was the governor in
Singapore. Residents did the best they could with limited revenues.
Unable to pay sca passages, they hired men who were already on the
scene, willing to work, and not in a position to fuss about pensions and
other prerequisites that regular civil servants could and did insist on. By
the same token, residents could hardly expect high standards of integrity
and performance. Hugh Low, resident Perak from 1877 onwards, sent a
man to the Dindings who had to be removed several years later onaa charge
involving financial irregulanities.%° He had better luck with another local
recruit, R.D. Hewitt, a public school man serving in a minor capacity in
nearby Province Wellesley, who was happy to better himself by joining
the new Perak service. Appointed in 1879, he continued on into the carly
1900s, rising to senior rank and turming in a satisfactory career perfor-
mance. Two who did not last that long were G. T. Tickell and C. H. A.
Turney. Tickell, an old Cheltonian, came out to Malaya on his own as an
unabashed adventurer and started in Low’s public-works department,
later getting an ad from in Selangor.*!
An outdoor type, sportsman, and bon viveur, he found the bureaucratic
routine irksome and was looked on by his superiors as being rather more
individualistic than was desired. Bad health forced his carly retirement in
1890. Turney, a clerk in Labuan, entered the states as Hewitt had done,
preferring a Selangor collectorship to a lowly aul de sac in a backwater.
From 1875 onwards, he served in Klang and other Sclangor districts,
advancing to be senior D.O. of the state. Though he had no more liking
for office routine than Tickell had and was eventually rusticated to Jugra
for being late with his reports, he was a steady, able, and effective man
who did the indispensable ground work in Klang that others built on in
later years when more staff was available and workable guidelines of
administration had been laid down.#2

By the carly nineties there were over fifty officers in the states. Carcer
spans of twenty years had become the norm, a contrast with the short
hitches of the earlier period when health hazards were greater. Over half
were public-school men with a sprinkling of Oxford, Cambridge, Edin-




42 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

burgh, and Dublin graduates. There were still a few odd men out suchasa
famous Perak DO who was an Italian with a background in the Suez Canal
Company. There was a former missionary in China, the son of a Ceylon
chief justice, a pair of Etonians, an R.N. midshipman who had failed his
examinations, and a Cambridge man who landed in the states because he
had not passed the cadetship examinations. Eccentric methods of entry
remained possible unul quite late. A. R. Venning, later a resident and
senior officer in the FMS secretariac, had been a planterand J.P. in Ceylon.
He got a collector’s job in Selangor during the eighties through personal
contacts. J. R. O. Aldworth, like Tickell an old Cheltonian, also rose to a
residency, having come out to Singapore in 1889 to look for a job. The
governor told him he had been foolish and advised him to return to
England imediately while he had the passage moncy. Instead, he went to
Kuala Lumpur, where Tickell sent him to Swettenham, then resident,
who made him an assistant DO at Rawang the same day . **

Regardless of where they came from or how they got their first appoint-
ments however the early officers were subjected from the start to an ever
tightening service discipline and regularization. A good many resigned
voluntarily after relatively short stints, cither because they saw they were
not up to it or because a morce attractive alternative presented itself, Some
who began in crisis times were obviously not the right men for the more
mundane metier of tax collecting, court work, and burgeoning office
correpondence. Speedy was cased out in 1877, having been spotted by
everyone—from the commander of the forces in the Perak War to Low
and the governor—as a misfit who had seen his day.®* The C.O. pushed
for improvement, suggesting when a rather dim resident died that he be
replaced by someone from the cadet service.®s Not surprisingly. this was
resisted in Singapore, where it was realized that the claims of men already
on the spot could not be ignored without damage to morale. But in
responding to dispatches, London could keep up a steady pressure for
more systematic methods and stricter standards. Charges of land jobbery
were louder and more frequent in the native states than in the colony, if
only because the former were so much bigger, with less population
density and far greater opportunity for profitecring as development
progressed. Low wanted stern regulations against land ownership and
commercial activity by officers, especially in districts where they had
administrative responsibilities. He sent a circular to all Perak officers
asking for an account on both scores.* Only one replied—]. B. M. Leech,
collector in Kinta. Leech and his sister owned a good deal of land in the
district, it was discovered, as did the local engineer. Writing from
Selangor, however, Swettenham strongly disagreed with Low. Weld, he
said, had allowed land dealings, which were common in any case and were
not prejudicial to the public interest.®? In fact, the states stood to benefit
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from good land [fthe proposed regulation had been in force
over the past decade and a half since Pangkor, many able men would not
have joined the services. Did other colonies have such rules? Did England
itself? How could officers survive on their miniscule salaries without
income from investments? Quite a few had died from the climate ordrink,
leaving their families destitute. If officers had a vested interest in the
states, on the ather hand, the latter would gain the former would not be
open to temptation.

There were no strong reactions to this in London at the time, but a year
and a half later the wholc issuc came up again. It was given a thorough
airing that reveals much of how the services saw themselves and how the
C.0. feltabout standards in Malaya and about future needs. J. F. (later Sir
Frederick) Dickson, colonial secretary and acting governor, had refused
the request of J. P. (later Sir John) Rodger. resident Pahang, that he be
allowed to go on leave. Rodger could not be spared, thought Dickson, nor
were his suggestions about a replacement acceptable. When the C.0.

mtervened on Rodger’s behalf, Dickson nominated Leech, the contro-
versial D.O. Kinta, as his temporary successor, bringing the sharp retort
from Rodger that Leech was a notorious land jobber and therefore unsuit-
able.®® This put Dickson in an awkward position since he himselfhad told
the C.O. that Leech had bought land **. . .in a way which no public

servant should do..." and had only been ™ ... whitewashed on the
recommendation of an officer who is not supposed to have been himself
altogether clear of land jobbing. i.c.. Mr. Swettenham.™** The C.O.
agreed about Leech, noting that it did not think ** . . . such a scratch-lot as
the nauve-states officials, coming from goodness knows where, and
appointed goodness knows how, are to be considered as entitled to the
same preference as men regularly appointed to H. M. service after due
examination and investigation of their antecedents, and subject from day
to day to stringent regulation and constant supervision. 7 In short, Leech
was small beer. But what about Swettenham? With Low retired, he was
now resident Perak and, by general agreement in London, the most able
and promising man in all the Malayan services. The governor, Sir Cecil
Clemenn Smith, asked Dickson to explain his remark. In turn, Dickson
wrote to Swettenham, requesting an account of his land transactions in
Selangor when he had been resident there and enclosing copics of deeds to
town lots in Kuala Lumpur.”* There was nothing new in this, as Swetten-
ham had not only admitted such dealings earlier but had defended them,
pointing out that the then governor, Weld, had authorized the trans-
actions and suggested that Swettenham record the deeds in his wife's
name. In the carly cighties officers had been encouraged to buy land to
build on, partly as an example that might instruct Malays towards a more
systematic and stable attitude to landholding.
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In the end, the C.O. took note of Weld's overly liberal, if not lax,
interpretation of their instructions and of the well-known enmity be-
tween Dickson on the one hand and Swettenham and Smith on the other,
They were not inclined to let cither party enjoy a clear victory. Swetten-
ham agreed with them that he had shown poor judgment. They were
satisficd that he had done nothing dishonest and had learned a valuable
lesson—one that would bencefit the whole service. If the dispute had been
messy, it had also cleared the air and strengthened the C.O.'s hand in
demanding higher standards.

They had not always had an easy time wich this. It was true that in some
respects the difference between the straits service and that of the native
states was more apparent than real. The C,O., in working for higher
quality via standardization of the two, held that residents were really
officers of the straits government, pensionable in much the same way
cadets were, though they kept pretending well into the nineues that the
sultans and not the governor controlled appointments. But Weld resisted
amalgamation of the two services all through his long governorship. He
saw a basic contrast between the types of government called for in the two
arcas and nsisted that this necessitated different kinds of officers. It is
too much to expect young officers of the cadet .. . class to manage affairs
such as those of Sri Menanti and Johol. They have neither the experience

nor do they carry weight enough, and no amount of cramming or success
at compentive examinations will teach a man how to manage natives and
win their confidence.”™* Given his high opinion of Swettenham, this
sounds odd, though in view of Weld's own background as a patronage
appointee with lengthy experience in the outback, it makes a certain sense.
His successor, Smith, however, was an exam wallah who saw eye to eye
with Lucas and other C.O. professionals, themselves products of the
Burlington Gardens system and believers in che righeness and efficiency off
open competition. He looked to a service unity that would be reached by
posting cadets to the native states.™ Local hiring should be cut back and
cadet recruitment increased.

There were difficulties. The better officers in the states naturally

wanted their services to be upgraded by merging them into cither the
straits service or the wider colonial service controlled from London.” Just
as naturally, straits officers opposed a merger, sceing it as a threat to their
standards and to their carcer prospects. Several of the more senior cadet
officers shrewdly allied themselves with unofficials in the Legislauve
Council and resisted an amalgamation bill as an unwarranted charg
the straits budget.” Was it fair to saddle the straits with the expense of
salaries for native states officers when policy in those states was set by

on

residents who were crown appointees under treaty? Giving in to this
argument, the C.O. dirccted that the states go on paying salarics out of
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their own revenues. But pensions and other terms of service were increas-
ngly standardized; morc and more cadets entered the services of the
states, permanently or temporarily, and, in fact, the various units, despite
legal distinctions, advanced together under the same governor and sub-
stantially the same system. From the cighties onwards the posture and
attitudes of officers in the native states were recognizably akin to those of
their colleagues in the straits. There were the familiar complaints about
salaries and all es, the usual applications for p ion made direct
to the C.O. or, in some cascs, to members of Parliament, and the same
irritation with a C.O. that had final authority over carcers without in-
umate, timely knowledge of realities in far places.

Nevertheless, lies continued. As of the mid-nincties, there were
at least four distinct categorics in which native states officers served, and
several ways of entering. The residents in Perak and Sungei Ujong—
Swettenham and Bland—were cadet officers on secondment. Rodger in
Pahang was a servant of the Britsh government, drawing a salary out of
revenues in his state and pensionable from the same source. W. H. (later
Sir Wilham) Treacher in Selangor was paid similarly, but as a former
member of the Labuan service and governor of North Borneo, he would
draw his pension from H. M. colonial service. Most senior officers under
the residents were on the fixed establishments of their states and pension-
able as such; while below them were men on the temporary and provi-
sional establishments, locally recruited and not pensionable. When the
new governor, Sir Charles Mitchell, inquired about appointment proce-
dures in the states, Swettenham told him that there was no formal system
n Perak.” Local recruits were simply put to work, with no appointment
letter. It was only recently that their existence had been noticed in the
gazette. The appomtment of W. D. Scotcin 1891 shows how Selangor was
still operatng at that late date.”” His father, founder of the firm of
W. R. Scott and Company, Singapore, had not been doing well, and
voung Scott had to resign his army commission and go out to the straits to
try his luck there. The C.O. had told him that appointments were up to
the governor, who would resent any interference from them. Letters from
leading merchants in the colony would be better. Armed with these, he
presented himself at Government House, and, shortly afterwards, was
made chief clerk in the Ulu Selangor district office. He retired in the 19205
4s general adviser Johore, the highest position in the Unfederated Malay
States. F. W. Douglas, son of Sir John, colonial secretary in the seventics,
was ata London crammers in 1894, thinking of either the ICS or Ceylon.
When, on inquiry at the C.O., he found that an appointment in Perak
could be had without an examination, he jumped at it.”® Family back-
ground had also helped E. A. Wise, who obtained a collectorship in
Pahang in 1¥88. The C.O. noted that his father, a colonel, had distin-
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guished himselfin the Indian mutiny and that an uncle had died of wounds
in the Crimea.”® Though the boy had failed to pass into the navy from the
training ship Britannia, he came highly recommended and, in fact, showed
great promise up to the time of his death in the Pahang disturbances.

By 1895, the patronage system was still operating more or le
changed in the native states. Since 1888, appointments of “junior offi-
cers” had been made, an attempt to provide the states by patronage with
what the colony got through examinations, an clite corps of officers who
would gradually take over the senior posts. Candidates had to have some
means of entree to the secretary of state's roster. In 1893, the hstinclude
C. J. McCausland, Mitchell’s nephew: E. A. Dickson, son of Sir Frederick:
H. J. N. Walker, son of a knight “in straightened circumstances™; and a
second son of Weld's, the first being in the service already, about whom
the duke of Norfolk had written to Mr. Chamberlain, the secretary of
state.*® In addition to a certificate of character from such people, candi-

un-

dates had to pass a medical examination and undergo an interview at the
O. In famly background and education the junior officers were com-
parable to the cadets. Most did as well in service, perhaps the most famous
being Sir George Maxwell, chief secretary of the FMS in the 1920s. But
with the federation of the protected states now in prospect and with
patronage giving way to examination recruitment throughout the cen-
tury, the C.O. began to consider that method for junior officers. Lucas,
the main proponent of the idea, did not have smooth sailing.*' At first,
Fairficld saw no point in it since cadets were available for transfer o the
states and since Mitchell, the governor, was opposed, due ostensibly to
the uncertain future of the states at the moment. Fairfield asked why an
clement should be introduced that would give states cadres the air of a
covenanted service. Meade and Chamberlain agreed; but Lucas prevailed.
at the end of 1895, a telegram went to Mitchell saying that all states
rs would be recruited by examination from then on.*? This caught
the governor by surprise and upset him considerably .** His own patron-
age list contained the names of several men wich impressive qualifica-
tions. Walker had experience in the East and knew languages. So did
Claud Severn, a Cambridge man, private sccretary to Mitchell, and
nephew of Sir James Ferguson, former governor of Bombay. At age
twenty-six, he would be at a disadvantage competing with someonc just
out of the crammers. M. H. Whitley, about whom the secretary of state
had letters from Lord George Hamilton and from an M.P., had already
passed the ICS examinations but had failed in Hindustani. The C.O.
agreed to let Severn and Whitley slip through, but then slammed the door,
leaving outside the second son of Sir Frederick Weld and the son of E. E.
Isemonger, who had entered the straits service in 1856 and had retired
1891 as resident councillor Malacca.®*
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Mitchell and the residents accepted the dictat with regret.® They all
wanted good officers and were not opposed to examinations as such. But
they doubted that written tests alone, without some gauge of personality,
character, and physical stamina, could identify men with the needed
qualities for work that differed greatly from the daily routine in White-
hall. How could sympathy, und ding, self-respect, and
sense be assured if recruiters had only examination papers to guide them?
Rodger, resident Sclangor, said that officers in the native states could not
do their jobs properly unless they were gentlemen. From Perak, Birch
wrote that what Malays—especially aristocratic ones—appreciated was
the well-mannered man whose family had connections with the East.
Lister, in Negri Sembilan, confined himsclf to urging that examinations
be given only after nomination so that the other desired qualities, apart
from intellectual ones, could be looked for. Wise of Pahang agreed,
adding that the man with a practical turn of mind and the ability to get on
with natives might not be able to demonstrate those attributes on paper.
No doubr the governor and his residents were voicing attitudes of class
and schooling that did not differ all that much from those of their corre-
spondents in the C.O. The contrast came in the area of carcer experience.
Mitchell, the son of a colonel, had been at the Royal Naval School in
Portsmouth and had then served abroad for many years as a marinc officer
and colonial administrator. Rodger had wandered out to the East after
Eton and Christ Church, Oxford. Lister, a Cheltonian and the son of a
peer, had begun as a planter. Wise was at Marlborough and came from a
distinguished military family. Birch, a Harovian, was a second-genera-
tion colonial civil servant.

In any case, the C.O. had made up its mind. There was a deeply
ingrained assumption in Whitchall that examinations produced the best
men. Nominations, with their emphasis on letters from family friends,
could not be defended in an England that had drifted farther and farther
from aristocratic notions of representation in government all through
Victorian times. One concession was made, however, in response to a
last-minute plea from Mitchell. He pointed out that if successful exami-
nation candidates could go on choosing the colonies they wished to be
sent to, Malaya would suffer due to its poor reputation in England.
Therefore, it was arranged that the C.O. would conduct interviews of
those who passed and would assign cadets to the places it considered
appropriate, matching cach man's qualities with needs in the ficld.

Legally, the services were now united. In 1867, the first cadet had satan
¢xamination that was unique and unprecedented in the history of the
straits. Fifteen years later, the services were joined for recruitment pur-
poses to those of Ceylon and Hong Kong. 1888 saw the establishment of
Junior-officer appointments for the native states. Now the wheel had
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come full circle, with candidates for positions in the Straits Settlements
and the FMS taking the same examinations as those given for the home
civil service, the ICS, and the other Eastern colonies. The prestige of the
Malayan services would soon rise, and their recently despised cadetships
would be sought after in preference to positions in an India that was
advancing towards domestic self=rule. In those circumstances, it would be
strange to recall the early days when the new colony’s destiny was in the
hands of men from many walks of life and many parts of the world; some
of them rough-edged, others adventurous or impecunious younger sons
of familics whose hereditary right to govern was no longer accepted at
home. The pioneer phase in the making of Malaya’s civil service was atan
end.
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3 Founding the Residency
System: Hugh Low
in Perak

THE FIRST year after Pangkor was a time of confusion in
Perak. Initially, the British aimed at stopping internecine warfare among
the Chinese in Larut, which was ruining trade, and putting an end to
piracy, both Chinese and Malay. in the river estuaries and along the
coasts. Giving Caprain Speedy the title of assistant resident at Larut where
he and his sepoy troops were already in position, and obtaining the agree
ment of the two Chinese factions to end their uph:
the problems. Appointing Birch as resident and sending him to the lower
reaches of the Perak River with rigid ideas of how to manage the Malays
but without anything like sufficient force to compel obedience did not
solve the other. On the contrary, it worsened a state of affairs in which
most of the river chicfs were by no means agreed among themselves as to
the personnel and role of the sultanate and in which none ot them,
including the British-chosen Abdullah, understood what it meant to have
a resident. Indeed, the British themselves were unclear on everything
from long-term policy to immediate aims and viable methods. On such
questions there were widely varying views among officers in Perak, in the
minds of governors Clarke and Jervois, and in the C.O.

Pangkor had exacerbated difficulties among the chicfs, but can hardly
be said to have created them. At least as far back as the 1850s, the seeds of
discord had been sown by continuous warfare inside Perak and with her
neighbors.! Abdullah Muhammad Shah, sultan from 18531 to 1857, had
tried toimposc his will on the chicfs, his son Yusuf being his main military
instrument. Such unity as was achieved had to be paid for in disatfection
among the chiefs, to whom it meant a lessening of their local power. It
could always be argued, in any case, that the sultanate was a spiritual and
ceremonial office rather than a miltary-political paramountey. Accord-
ingly. the chiefs saw to it that future sultans—it was they who chose both
sultans and heirs—would recognize and accommodate to a de facto oli-
garchy of chiefs, cach preserving autonomy in his own neighborhood. To
assure this, they departed from tradition, which provided for succession
from three separate royal lines, each taking its turn, the sultanate going to
the eldest son of a previous sultan, but only in the line whose turn it was.

avals solved only one of
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In choosing an outsider, Ismail, first as a possible heir and then in 1871 as
sultan, the chiefs passed over Yusuf as well as Abdullah. Ismail was
acceptable because he was pliable and willing to keep to his own river
headquarters at a distance from mining areas and ports. Abdullah they
despised as a frivolous man, a cuckold, and a troublemaker. Yusuf, with
his record as the imposer of military discipline, was looked on with hatred
and fear, a man of parts who mighe try to lead if he got into a position of
legitimacy. Thus, just before Pangkor, the chicfs had thrown away the
moral right to stand on their own traditions and had created conditions of
weakness and disunity at the very time when Chinese power and wealth
had grown beyond their ability to deal with and when Britain was at last
willing to intervene.

In making Abdullah sultan, the British were actually more careful of
tradition than the chicfs had been. Similarly, the acceptance of the mentri's
autonomy at Laruc was an act that the chicfs could not logically quarrel
with since Ismail had recognized it, too, being at all events in no position
to challenge it. Otherw during the first nine and a half months after
Pangkor there was very little change throughout the territories controlled
by the various chiefs. Speedy was at Larut with his sepoys, watchingovera
state of affairs in which fighting and piracy had dicd down. But no
resident had arnived to implement the engagement’s most important
provision: that the resident’s advice ™ . . . must be asked and acted upon on
all questions other than those touching Malay religion and custom.”
Ismail was nota party to the engagement; nor was Yusuf. Most chiefs still
laughed at Abdullah and looked on his sultanate as a paper thing. In the
circumstances, it was not surprising that none of the Malay factions
thoughe of the Pangkor Engagement as an instrument that had greatly
altered their way of life or was likely to do so.

Into this cuphoric atmosphere stepped |. W. W. Birch, carly in Novem-
ber 1874, His residency was to last only one year followed by a military
expedition involving considerable disruption and the wiping out of the
small beginnings that he and his inadequate staff had been able to make.
He cannot be regarded. therefore, as the founder of British administration
of Perak. Rather, he was a lightning rod, the reaper of a whirlwind, that
destroyed both him and his opp and lefe his with a
comparatively clean slate.

There has been much discussion of Birch's character. The C.O. were
disturbed by allegations that he had tried to pressure tax farmers into
making payments to certain officers in return for rights to the farms.? His
personal indebtedness to Chinese moneylenders in Singapore was well
known. Sir Peter Benson Maxwell later suggested that Birch’s motives in
frecing girls from the custody of Abdullah on the grounds that Abdullah
was treating them as slaves had not been altogether altruistic.* Swetten-
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ham, though not at pains to deny the unfortunate effects of Birch's
high-handed methods with Malay chiefs, said that his personal qualities
were admirable.* To McNair, he was a hero out and out.® With hindsight
wisdom we may discern that, like all humans, he was the sum of his parts,
not all of them presentable, and one of which—a tendency to intransi-
gence—did not stand him in good stead when the time came to deal with
chiefs in the rough-cut Eden of Victorian Malaya. It may be argued that
old stagers like Davidson or Read in the business community or Anson or
McNair among the civil scrvants might have proceeded differently. Cer-
tainly Swettenham—newer to the service than any of them—showed a
feeling for Malay civilization that was incomparably more subtle than
anything Birch ever revealed. Swettenham was not timid. But he knew
when to be cautious. Birch seemed to court disaster.

Would another ofticer, more diplomatic and sensitive to Malay eti-
quette have been able to persuade the chiefs that their independence
should end and that, in matters of war and money, they should now
become the servants of the British? Considerable doubt is cast on such a
possibility by the fact that, in planning to murder Birch, the conspirators,
including Abdullah, expected the rest of the British to then accept defeat
and leave the country. Birch's rigidity was not helpful. It would seem
unlikely that even ifhe had had che sweetness and patience of a paragon, he
would have been able to carry his objectives against the determined and
resourceful opposition of men who had never known an overlord for
long.

The immediate cause of the murder was the posting of notices about
payment of taxes. Nothing could be done by Birch and his staff until a
regular system of assessment and collection been put to work, a matcer
that all new administrations instinctively give first priority to. Abdullah
and the other chiefs, for their part, were genuinely astonished to find that
the British actually expected to set out the rules in this vital arca and
supervise collections and expenditures themselves. It would be hard to
imagine a more dramatic example of misunderstanding between the two
partics to the Pangkor Engagement. Birch's death in November 1875, and
not the engagement itself, was the effective starting point of British rule in
Perak. lllusions were now dispelled very quickly. On the British side it
could no longer be denied that Abdullah was hopeless and that residents
would have to rule, supported by troops. Forces from outside quickly and
easily putan end to such resistance as the disorganized Malays could offer,
showing the chiefs thar, unlike their traditional enemies the Siamese or the
men of Sclangor, the British were irresistible. They meant to stay and
transtorm the country. Litele plots and alliances with set-picce feudal
campaigns according to traditional forms in a never ¢nding cycle of
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Plate 3. Kuala Kangsar, 1875, Scated left to night: . W. W. Birch, Caprain Stirling,
R.N., Captain Speedy, Licutenant McCallum, R. E. Standing left to right: Raja
Basoh. Dein Mahomed, Captain Innes, R. E., Tunku Sulong, F. A. Swettenham,
Dein Ismail. Courtesy of Malaysian National Archives.

accommodation and rearrangement were things of the past.” After in-
quiries in Singapore and Penang, it was decided to exile Abdullah and
several of his followers. Ismail was captured and also removed from
Perak, as was the mentri. Scveral of those convicted of direct involvement
in the murder were hanged. Only Yusuf, having been persona non grata
to the conspirators, was ot sly guiltless, a cir . which, con-
sidered with his traditional claims, soon brought him to the position of
rq.uu in a country :lux found itself temporarily without a sultan. This
h er was a very diffe PP to Abdullah’s at Pangkor. Not
only was Yusufa creature of the British; in addition, everyone understood
that he would reside where he was told to, that he would perform what-
ever administrative functions his European masters assigned to him, and
that British orders would be backed up by military force in a drastically
changed atmosphere. There was good reason to believe that the mass of
the people cither welcomed the British or stood apart. The ruling class
was cowed, leaderless, and inclined to accept an acomplished fact.
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The Perak War was over carly in 1876. Davidson, resident Selangor,
was appointed to Perak in April, though he did not take on his duties there
untl summer. While Davidson was a man of experience, tact, and ability,
the C.O. was stll reluctant to confirm him because of his financial
ulauonshlps with Malay royals and Chinese in Selangor. The Perak
appointment was made on a provisional basis only, subject to termination
without notice, and with a salary that a man of Davidson's background
could hardly look on with satisfaction. This fact, together with his
preference for Selangor and his difterences with the governor over policy,
made him glad to leave. Though his residency did not officially end until
carly in 1877, he ceased to play an effective role several months before
that. Perak’s sccond resident, like her first, had only a brief tenure.® Three
years after Pangkor, the foundations of government were still to be laid.

At the time of Davidson’s appointment, the C.O. noted their doubts
about it, grumbling that the governor was confronting them as usual with
an uninspiring list of people whose main qualifications scemed to be
availability on the spot. Meade thought that Perak deserved betrer, espe-
cially in view of the murder, and he suggested Hugh Low, a highly
regarded Malay specialist who at that point had served for twenty-cight
years in nearby Labuan.® When Davidson's residency foundered a few
months later, Low was accordingly put into the position. At fifty-three
years of age he may have scemed a strange choice since, unlike governors,
he could not look forward to the comparative luxury of Singapore. But he
had survived Labuan, and he had resources of experience, knowledge, and
character that commended him to London.

After a private education and studies in botany reminiscent of his great
contemporary, Darwin, he had journeyed to the tropics in scarch of

orchids.'® There he came to the notice of James Brooke, the white raja of

Sarawak, who sent him to Labuan where he served as an administrative
officer, conunued his botanical work, and wrote a book about the island.
He married Kate Napier, the nincteen
Labuan’s first lieutenant governor. She died of jungle fever at twenty-
two. Much later, in 1885, Low married the daughter of General Sir R. P,
Douglas, baronct, in the meantime supporting a Sarawak girl by whom
he had a daughter. Such arrangements were not uncommon in the islands,
where European bachelors often lived for long periods without leave or
the company of women from home. By his first wife he had a son.
Brooke, and a daughter, Kittie, who married Sir John Pope-Hennesscy,
governor of Labuan and later of the West African settlements, the Bahamas,
Barbados, Hong Kong, and Mauritius. Pope-Hennessey and Low did not
geton. In fact, the governor’s harsh treatment of Low and his unfavorable
reports on him might have been expected to end Low's chances of ad-
vancement. But for the C.O.'s vivid awareness of Pope-Hennessey's

car-old Eurasian daughter of
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cbullient and querulous nature they could have/As it was they knew that
Low was hard-working, trustworthy, respected by his colleagues, and
possessed of unusual intelligence and imagination. Though he was a firm
disciplinarian, his approach was tactful and he was much liked by the
natives. He was fluent in Malay and was an avid student of the anthro-
pological as well as the ccological side of the local scene. Most importantly
ofall he really liked the life. While sickness, alcoholi and ionall
suicide took a steady toll of the tiny band of Europeans living out their
lives in remote Labuan, Low created gardens, bought a plantation, tamed
animals, and looked after his native family. He was no saint. The long
frustration of his carcer ambition brought him much bitterness. But
solitude as such was not unbearable. He turned it to advantage, savoring
his exotic surroundings without cutting the frail bonds that still tied him
to his own civilization. As late as 1914, G. E. (later Sir Geoffrey) Cator,
DO Labuan, enjoyed fruit from trees planted by Low and heard accounts
of his work from natives who remembered him with affection.

Pictures of Low taken shortly before his arrival in Perak show a dark
man of medium height with a prominent, straight nose, heavy black
eyebrows, a full mustache, and flowing muttonchop sideburn whiskers.
The gaze is direct, with a gentleness in the eyes, almost, but not quite a
twinkle. His voice was soft in ordinary conversation, descending to a mild
gruffness when he was dealing with situations that he did not find al-
together pleasant.

Before he reached Perak, Low knew from talks and papers what
London and the governor expected of him in the realm of policy. The
official linc from 1875 onwards was that residents were to advise the
native rulers and not interfere more than was necessary to promote peace,
sound taxation, and orderly development.'! It was realized in the C.O.
that there was a contradiction in this. Birch's experience had shown that
mere advice was inadequate and that European objectives could only be
achieved by a firm hand. In correspondence with the governor a year after
he had settled in, Low spoke with frank and The situati
was not an casy one. With the stronger chiefs in exile, he had to deal with
an cffete remnant. Everyone was watching him. Yusuf was universally
hated, and, if Low gave any sign of not being able to control him, there
would be chaos. As resident he was only too willing to carry out the
governor's instructions about ruling through the chiefs—"duty is my
only watchword"—but **. .. we must first create the government to be
advised.""? Eschewing false modesty, he stated bluncly that he had
brought stability through the careful selection and close supervision of
underlings. If it all failed, he would accept full responsibility. He thought
progress had been good, and he was continuing to encourage Yusuf and
the other chicfs, using a combination of courtesy and discipline. Robinson
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as |mprc>scd From Sungei Ujong he had got a one-sentence acknowl-
y fashi ing him that his instructions would be

complud with. By his polite, reasoned, and informative answer, Low
showed himself to be both loyal and sclf-confident, a resident who
acknowledged higher authority and won its approval, whilc at the same
time running his own show. Among the three residents, he was clearly the
most esteemned at headquarters. All of the four governors of Low's time
thought highly of him and left him to his own devices.
Learning from the mistakes of Birch's and Davidson's residencies, the
government decided on a reallocation of staffin Perak. The resident would
live at Kuala Kangsar, well up the river, close to the major chiefs and to the
principal Chinese mining communities. A junior officer, W. F. B. Paul,
would do for Larut under these circumstances and Speedy, the assistant
resident, would go to Durian Sabatang, a river port farther downstream,
which, unlike Birch's island headquarters at Bandar Bahru, could be
reached by steamers atlow water. ¥ On April 19, 1877, Low arrived in the
Larut estuary and walked to Matang. several miles to the cast, talking
with Malays, Chinese, Klings (Indians), and Europcans as he went and
gathering impressions of his new parish.'* He inspected the jail and the
prisoners and looked at the hospital—a spare room in the mentri's house,
equipped with no medicines and run by a single Chinese dresser. Kota and
Taiping he found disappointing, having read Speedy's reports and expect-
ing to see thriving towns. He was not impressed with the clerical staff,

who had no answers to the simplest questions on important mateers, such
as the number of coolies in the mines and the hours they worked. He
instructed Paul to obtain such information immediately. He was dis-
pleased with the condition of the roads and even more so with the ac-
counts, which had obviously been padded by the road supervisor.

With the C.O. and governor he saw that sound financial management
was the key. Roughly five-cighths of the revenue came from dutics on tin,
one-cighth from opium farms. and small amounts from import dutics. !*
Taxes were coming in fairly well; but the finances of the state were sull
precarious, and he was determined to economize while hoping for an
upturn as a result of greater cfficiency and popular confidence in the
government. Though the residency had no furmiture, he stopped a pro-
Jected outlay under that heading. He rejected an urgent plea trom the tax
farmers for a raisc in their percentages, and when Yusuf begged him to
look into the matter of monies owed him by headmen he replied em-
phatically that putting the country in order came first—a task that would
depend in no small part on Yusuf's own performance as regent under the
resident’s tutelage. He was hopeful that Yusufand the chiefs would prove
cooperative, noting that when he arrived in Kuala Kangsar, he was wel-
comed by Yusuf and the Dato Temenggong. bitter enemies who had not
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appeared together before, and by a band and a crowd of 400 Malays. Not
all of the common people were friendly. **An old woman at the seventh
milestone cursed and reviled the whiteman as I passed.”* But when he

held court in the marketplace of Larut and explained to the people that he
had come to govern the state for their benefit, there was a good response.
He p ised employ as police and penghulus to those who deserved

it. Everyone would have access to him. In a short time, he said, they
would be able to trust him and would no longer miss the mentri. He knew
that gaining the people’s trust would not be possible if he insisted on
European standards, as Birch had done. Rather, there must be a good deal
of compromise. Slavery was repugnant to him. For the time being,
however, he put a stop to the protection of runaways. He would get
around to abolishing slavery in good time. **But | shall be of no use here if
I do not first throughly acquire [the people’s] confidence, and that cannot
be done if my firstacts [are] to show that 1am determined to encourage the
breach of what is at present so cherished an institution.”!” In Labuan, he
had been called a reactionary for voicing such views. The criticism was
wide of the mark, as Low’s overall record shows. When the Tumonggong
asked him to help in recovering escaped slaves, he refused, explaining that
for the moment he would not get involved at all by harboring runaways s
Birch had done, by outlawing the practice itsclf, or by helping the slavers.
His attitude towards Yusuf was similar. He had no illusions about the
regent, who seemed to think of little more than milking the people,
drawing his pension, and venting the spitcful feelings about his enemies
that had built up throughout a long life of fr . Yet, wrote Low, he
**...isnotafool, so that perhaps one may do something with him.""** The
opportunity was there. Birch had been unable to persuade Abdullah to
live in the same area as he did, not to mention the same kampong. With
Yusuf's house only a step away. Low could see him whenever he liked,
indeed, more than that, for the raja turned up every day with his fol-
lowers, whether sent for or not. The two men had lengthy talks on every
subject having to do with governing the state. Armed with seemingly
unlimited patience and courtesy and having no family with him at the
time, Low listened, gave back his own ideas and comments, and soon
came to know Yusuf as well as he had ever known a Malay in his three
decades of experience. He was pleased when Yusuf accompanied him on
his first tour of Krian only ten days after his arrival in Perak. They wentby
clephant, stopping frequently to talk with headmen. When Low ques-
tioned penghulus about crops and asked their views on his contemplated
tax arrangements, Yusuf joined in, making constructive observations and
seeming to take a real interest in the resident’s plans for a systematic and
cquitable land policy. Low was no flatterer. When Yusuf complained of
lese majesté on the part of people in districts formerly ruled by exiled
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chicfs, Low replicd that he could hardly expect love from his lifelong
enemies, and he seized the chance to add a word on Yusuf's conduct in
Kuala Kangsar. The people would look up to him if he would

_behave like a raja instead of going into the bazaar and making himself
so common.”'? On the other hand, Yusuf and his wife gave themselves
airs. When the raja suggested building an office for himself next to the
residency, Low saw that this was meant to indicate that the regent was a
permanent fixture and not just a chief on probation. Yusufand Raja Idris,
the second most important Perak royal and a future sultan, were forever
issuing orders, some of them in the resident’s name, without his permis-
sion. *'l will have to have it out with my friend for this,” wrote Low.
The two rajas wanted to order all Moslems, in the name of the resident and
the regent, to attend the mosque regularly on pain of fines or imprison-
ment. Though the Pangkor Engagement said that he was not supposed to
interfere with religion, Low could not be indifferent to what he saw as an
mjustice and one that overlapped into the civil sphere. He told them to
change the order, saying instead that people who neglected their religion
would be punished in the hereafter. Low later found that they had had it
their way anyhow, though they issued the order on the regent’s authority
only, and he had to give them both a stern lecture on their prerogatives. In
the first years, Idris was the more insubordinate of the two, grandly
informing Low on one occasion that he knew the secretary of state had no
intention of annoying Perak, which would be restored to the rajas soon,
the British then being represented by a consul. Low smiled a this. He was
sure that most of the common people were firmly opposed to a return of
governing or magisterial powers to the raja class and that for this reason,
not to mention others, 1t would be impossible to establish a real native
government in the foresceable future.

Despite the shortcomings of the royals however he did not lose sight of
the long-term objectuve, which was to improve the nauve aristocracy
along with the rest of socicty and the economy so that future generations
of the ruling class would be able to play their partin running the country.
He was unfailingly polite with everyone, including the familics of de-
posed conspirators. Though the mentri's complicity in Birch's murder was
undoubted in Larut, Low listened benignly to that chicfs mother and
gave a diplomatic, if evasive, reply when she asked his help in arranging
the mentri’s return. Requests for money were unending—""everyone tugs
at the unfortunate resident for this scarce article"—and he used his powers
in that area to press for the education of well-born boys.?! He parried the
request of one aristocratic lady for financial help with a promise of future
consideration if she would send her son, a raja, to Singapore for school-

ng. That attempt did not succeed, but others did. He was aware that the
boys themselves were often glad to go, though parents were usually




FOUNDING THE RESIDENCY SYSTEM 63

suspicious or hostile. He had an casier time in befriending neglected
children or those who were sent by their parents to ask for money. The
widow of the Maharajah Lela, hanged six months earlier for his part
Birch's murder, sent her nephew with a note asking for funds. “'He is a
very nice, honest-looking young fellow of about eighteen and better than
most Malays.”#* Low kept the boy talking for an hour to put him at his
case and then sent him away with the money, much pleased.

In addition to his attempts at training Yusuf and Idris for high respon-
sibilities, Low gave much attention to district and local leaders of various
ranks and degrees of authority—rajas, datos, and penghulus. Swettenham,
when devilling for Davidson in Perak, had urged that such people be
cencouraged and used because of their local influence and because it would
be financially prohibitive to employ Europeans. The tactic would com-
pensate the ruling class for losses of power and wealth at the same time as
1t strengthened the hand of the Britsh in the countryside. Low visited all
of the major districts as soon as he could, tlking with chicfs and
penghulus, asking them detailed questions, and hearing their views about
needs and possibilities. There was considerable variation in outlook.
Everyone was polite, a characteristic of upper-class Malays. In some
remote areas, however, the white man was neither understood nor
wanted, while in districts closer to the coast or to Province Wellesley
oppositc Penang, Europeans had long been a familiar sight, and their
government was seen as preferable to the chaos and rapacity of recent
times. At Sclama, the penghulus told Low that they and their people all
wanted the English to govern. While working out a plan for comprehen-
sive assessment and taxation he doled out small sums to headmen and
chiefs, thereby tying them to the government and making them more
amenable to his suggestions. Such dealings also gave him a chance to
study the qualities of cach man. He had high praise for many. Others were
marked for close scrutiny and perhaps dismissal. It was a tricky business,
in which everything depended on his own jud andinfl . Onthe
one hand, he had to get things going immediately and thercfore was
bound to go along with existing arrangements in most cases. On the other
hand, his knowledge of men and conditions was limited for the moment,
and the possibility of “‘being made a tool of* was always present.®* His
approach was to collect the rajas nearby where he could watch them and to
subject penghulus to an cver closer supervision, doing as much as he could
himself and del the rest to his European staff, which he planned to
expand as quickly as revenues would allow. This was not authentic “na-
tive government' in accordance with policy statements.* Circumstances
did not permit such a thing. It was European rule with a native apparatus.

Low’s personal influence was the cement that held the whole thing
together. But he knew that in the long run there had to be some form of
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titutionalization that would survive his departure, a structure that all
British and Ori l—would be part of. Well before interven-
tion, the British had had experience with committees and councils in India
and elsewhere that brought together representatives of the various social
groups in cach community. The prosperity and peace of the Straits Settle-
ments had for years depended on such interracial bodies. On his way to
Perak, Low discussed with the governor the need for a state council, a
question on which there had been correspondence with the C.O.2¢
During his first months in Kuala Kangsar, he talked about it in a pre-
liminary way, finding that Yusuf and Idris already had firm ideas about
what the council ought to be and do. Idris produced a letter from Jervois
written two years before. The rajas naturally saw the body as one which
they would dominate and use to win back complete control of a chicfly
oligarchy, headed this time by themselves.2” The group would be exclu-
sively Malay, cach member approved by Yusuf and Idris. Low listenend.
Then he gave gave them to understand in no uncertain terms that the
council would be useless if it did not reflect the interests of all races and
classes. He presented them with a list. At the head was Yusuf as regent of
the state, then Low as resident, then, in turn, another European ofticer,
Idris, the temenggong, the karim (district head) of Sclama and the
headmen of the two leading Chinese groups in Larut. Changes came later.
As time went on, Low learned which Malay leaders were dependable and
efficient rather than merely legitmate. Similarly, he found that it was the
capitans China, not the heads of secret socicties, who held the real power
in Larut. Over the years, he imposed the rule that the criteria for member-
ship would be effectiveness and acceptance as community leaders—
benchmarks that could be checked periodically, with unsatisfactory men
being downgraded or weeded out according to his reading of their
performances. New men could be added on the basis of demonstrated
talent, whether or not they had status of a traditional kind or, more
importantly, whether or not they were cronies of Yusut'and Idris.
Chinese representation was a point on which no Britsh officer familiar
with economic realities on the west coast was willing to compromise.
Low’s hopes for an upsurge of prosperity—soon to be proven well
founded—were based on the clever, industrious, and fast-growing
Chinese community. They mined the tin that accounted for over half of
the state's revenues and also ran the tax farms, on a percentage basis, that
had produced income for the chiefs for years and now did the same under
British supervision. Low did not regard this as ideal. Taxation would be
regularized and placed under the direct control of British officers as soon
as possible. Mcanwhile, one had to make do. He looked to the carly
demise of Davidson's system of giving liberal advances to the tax farmers,
which built up the power of certain wealthy shopkeepers. In its place, he
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proposed a more formal leasing technique, still on terms favorable
enough to attract the Chinese but designed to vest more power of inspec-
tion and rencwal in the British. *'I think I begin to see daylight through the
thicket,” he wrote.?® Two years after arrival, he put forward a scheme
involving dutics on tin, tobacco, and spirits and monopolies on opium,
pawn brokerage, and gambling houses that brought in more than $360,000
in its first full year. The C.O. went along, remarking that the plan was a
temporary expedient only, pending the growth of the European staff, and
that London did not have the same responsibility for native states as it had
for the colony.?* Another reason why Low wanted to cooperate with
Chinese businessmen was that they were the most important element of
stability in communities that had not yet settled down complerely after
the wars of the carly seventics. Violence was still common, as were
wasteful and incfficient mining practices. Little could be done without
large infusions of new capital, which depended, in turn, on Low's ad hoc
support of the more powerful Chinese leaders, essentially on the latter's
terms. When he went to Larut in 1879 to let tax farms, there was a riot. 3
At breakfast time, a mob of over 1,500 coolies surrounded his house,
loudly demanding an end to taxes and the substitution of tin duties as the
sole means of raising revenue. They refused to be mollified by his promise
to consider their demands. Sepoys had to be called in, and many coolies
were killed in the ensuing melee. The trouble had arisen from disagree-
ments among Chinese leaders, the less sophisticated failing to sce that
higher duties and lower taxes would not necessarily be better for them in
the long run. Ah Kwee, onc of the two main capitans China, admonished
the towkays who had stirred up the riot, pointing out that raising duties
would result in higher costs per ball of chandu (prepared opium) to them,
over and above their losses from death and destruction of property. They
should have come to Low quictly, he said, in which case the resident
would have agreed to their proposals (which he subsequently did any-
how) without the loss of face and banishment of their leaders that they
would now have to endure. For the time being, Low saw no alternative to
backing men like Ah Kwee.

In the same spirit, he did all he could to encourage European enterprise.
With so many of his counterparts throughout the empire in Victorian
times and later Low was ambivalent about this. The pristine character of
Southeast Asian socicty appealed to his romantic and conservative side,
contrasting sharply as that society did with industry's ugly face in Europe
and with the grasping materialism of Chinese and European commerce in
the straits, As a botanist and lover of nature, one who had lived all his
mature life in the tropics, he knew from sad experience what mammon
could do to a people that was technologically backward and that scemed
more innocent and childlike than the vigorous intruders now pouring in
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among them. Yet he was not blind to the cruelty and avarice of Malay
chiefs, eager as they so often were to victimize their own people. He knew
they lacked the power to resist outsiders, thousands of whom had estab-
lished themselves long before the British appeared, as indeed the Malays
themselves had done centuries before. His mandate as resident was to
preside over an orderly, peaceful development that would provide justice
and plenty for all races. The essential ingredient was control by officers
who could be counted on to be disinterested and objective about the
country's nceds. He visited English estates along the Provinee Wellesley
boundary that were engaged in brick- and tile-making. Their success
made others want to take up land nearby. Low agreed to issue permits for
this, holding down the number until there was enough money for more
European officers to do the necessary surveying, taxing, and supervising
Walter Knaggs, an estate manager from the Province Wellesley side,
crossed with several other Europeans into Selama, telling Low they were

interested in planting coffee. He was sure their real interest was in an.3!
But he gave them his blessing in the thought, later confirmed, that their
cndeavors would produce employment and revenue and would put vacant
land to good use. Within a year, he had worked out a land-grant policy
that would attract European planters by oftering them generous terms
without abdicating government control. A maximum of 10,000 acres
would be granted frec for the first tive years, after which the resident, if
satisticd that the planter was viable, would allow him to buy at fifty cents
an acre or take a long lease at ten cents an acre on up to three times the
amount of land then being successfully worked.*? Provision was made for
disposing of uncultivated land and for export duties on produce. The
government reserved rights to all minerals, shores, and river banks and
could repossess any land it liked for roads and similar use, without
compensation. In London, the secretary of state, Lord Kimberley, allowed
his staft to make such information available to businessmen who called at
the office.** Younger officers would later criticize Low for being overly
conservative, especially by contrast with Swettenham, his successor, in
expenditures of public funds accumulated from land grants.** In the carly
years, some of his critics in England accused him of being the plaything of
merchants and speculators. By the end of his residency, planters were
prosperous, the state was rich, and its ulumate authority over lands both
public and private was absolute.

Another issue, much talked of at the time, on which Low was severely
criticized was slavery and in particular debuslavery. It is estimated that in
the carly seventies there were some 3,000 slaves in Perak, about one-
sixteenth of the total Malay population.?® The institution had become so
common because chiefs were the only sources of money when ordinary
people wanted to borrow, and because they manipulated debts in such a
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way as to assure themselves of large numbers of more or less permanent
retainers—the gauge of wealth, prestige, and power. Many chiefs treated
slaves kindly, providing them with food and clothing, finding them
wives, and in general, looking on them as members of the wider family.
Others did not. In either case, slaves and their descendants had lictle or no
chance of alleviating a condi of helpl and dependence. They
were chattels, whose labor, persons, and very lives were at a chicf's
disposal. No European could help being offended by such a spectacle,
which he was bound to sce as inhuman. But there was considerable
divergence of view as to what ought to be done about it. Low was a
gradualist who favored laissez-faire for the moment duc to the weakness of
the British and the need as he saw it to avoid abrupt changes of the sort that
had brought Birch to grief. Even ifhe had had the power to abolish slavery
at a single blow, it is doubttul that he would have been inclined to use it.
Perhaps his long apprenticeship in sleepy Labuan, where there was little to
do and where little was done, had left its mark. Perhaps the reason was
deeper, an ingrained trait of character that caused him to see people, like
plants, as organisms that would change at their own pace. Certainly he
tended to play down the abuses and to emphasize the benign side, while
never doubting that slavery had to go some day. The C.O. agreed with
him.* So did McNair, an officer who had been in the East even longer
than Low.*” Others had their doubts. The wife of James Innes, collector at
Durian Sabatang, wrote that in Sclangor, where they had been posted
before, slavery was discouraged, whereas in Low's Perak, officers were
expected to catch runaways and return them to their masters. 3 When the
Inneses visted him in Kuala Kangsar, the resident tricd to persuade them
thatslavery was endemic, to which they replicd that what they objected to
was having to aid and abet it. Later, Mrs. Innes, whosc book bears the
mark of acute paranoia, accused Low of falsifying the issue when Innes
wrote to newspapers about it, and of taking credit for eventually abolish-
ing the institution in Perak. However this may be, Low stated his views
when he first arrived, proceeded in accordance with them, and finally put
an end to slavery in his own good time.

As he had cause to point out many times, a primary reason for his
cautiousncss in making reforms was the small size of the European staff
and its erratic quality, The police, public-works staff, and clerks were a
mixed lot. Some he found worthy of praise. Others were incompetent, or
dishonest or both. With greater distances to cope with than he had been
accustomed to in Labuan, it was hard to supervise his subordinates
closely. Petty tyranny and fiddling of accounts were not uncommon.
Salaries were low. The government did not pay passages from England,
making local recruitment the general rule. It was not to be wondered at
that some men would find Chinesc bribes irresistible or that others would
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carry more employees on their books than they actually had. Catching a
road surveyor in the act, he wrote, “The man's mind is incapable of
understanding that there is any harm in ‘dewing’ the government. . .39
One of his first acts in Kuala Kangsar was to make a clean sweep of the
office accounting staft: “*Ordered the abolition of Mr. Peachey and his
whole department. ™0
More serious was the ques of Pg ding the E i

tive cadre—the backbone of any state’s government, on ‘whose quillﬁc-‘l—
tions it would stand or fall. When Low arrived, Speedy was senior,
chronologically the first officer of the Malay states under Briush ruleand a
legendary soldier of fortune. Preceding Low by three years and himselfan
aspirant for the residency he was almost certain to constitute a ticklish
problem for Low. His background was colorful in the extreme. The son of
an army officer in India, where he was born in 1836, he first tried his luck
in New Zealand. It was in the miliua there that he acquired the title of
*“captain” that stayed with him all his life. Later he was with the British
expedition to Ethiopia, from which he emerged with a good record and
with the guardianship of the Emperor Theodore's son. Service in the
Indian police followed, after which he accepted the superintendency of
police in Penang, arriving there in 1871. Two years later, he took service
with the mentri of Larut, going to India first to recruit sepoys. Throughout
all these years of varicd work and adventure in four continents there was a
common d ofindividualism, ad 1 to immerse him-
self in organizaitons that might stifle initiative and subject him to the
grind of everyday discipline. It is not hard to understand the pleasure he
feltin his Larut command before Pangkor. Well paid, in charge ofhis own
force in a district where no one could say him nay he lived the life of an

independent prince, lording it over his remote domain, yet free to enjoy
the comtorts of cosmopolitan Penang, only seven hours away, whenever
he liked. Photographs of the time reveal a commanding presence: black-
bearded, six foot five in height, dressed in Abyssinian garb, calmly
surveying a prospect over which his word was law.

Such a man could hardly look with satisfaction on Britain's takeover of
Perak. His salary dropped by more than half, he was placed under the
orders of another and was expected to undertake the duties of a civil
servant. Reports came in that he was lazy, extravagant, and inefficient, his

control in Larut no more than a myth.*! Though Meade had thought of

him as successor to Birch his reputation with Jervois had slipped so badly
that by the autumn of 1876 the governor was calling for his assignment
clsewhere. It has been argued that Jervois made Speedy a scapegoat for
Perak’s troubles, as he had done with Birch the year before.*? Low,
perhaps influenced by Jervois and perhaps sceing Speedy as a competitor,
found fault with him from the beginning. His subordinates, doubtless
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appointed “to please some Chinaman," were uscless.* He was careless
about important matters such as public health. He was disliked by both
Chinese and Malays. His ordinance was in poor condition. His reports
were meager and uninformative. When Low transferred him from bustling
Larut to the dustbin of Durian Sabatang, where the morale of Innes and his
wife had reached its nadir, he could sce the handwriting on the wall.
Having become comfortably well off through the death of his father-in-
law, he could afford to leave, which he did in 1877, the year of Low's
arrival. A man for the times in 1873, he had served his purpose.

The next most senior officer under Low was W. E. (later Sir William)
Maxwell, son of Sir Peter Benson, and one of the best-known members of
the most distinguished family of officials in British Malaya. A public-
school man and a lawyer who had been in the service since 1865, he acted
as resident pending Low's arrival. The new resident recognized Maxwell's
ability immediately and praiscd him for showing exactly the qualities of
professionalism that Speedy lacked. As magistrate, keeper of accounts
and records, and writer of detailed reports, he was meticulous, accurate,
and dependable. His honesty and gentlemanly posture were unques-
tioned. He was a brave man who went about unarmed. He knew the
language and the country thoroughly and was a minc of relevant informa-
tion. Low's only criticism was that he tended to be a bit more unbending
than officers ought to be ina pioneer place, often taking a black-and-white
view of grey situations. When attacked by a party of Chinese opium and
spirit smugglers, he ordered the police to put the disturbance down with
ferocity, killing two and wounding five, and he passed a much more
severe sentence on the headman who had failed to control his coolies than
Low thought practicable. He wanted to burn out the whole Chinese town
as an object lesson. Nevertheless, Low thought him a splendid officer
who needed to be spoken to about his shortcomings but otherwise en-
couraged. It was somewhat the same with W. F. B. Paul, an Etonian who
had started in Sarawak, had scrved briefly on the Gold Coast, and had
arrived in Perak just before Low. Paul took a de-haut-en-bas view of his
Jjob, thought the resident, expecting underlings to do the menial tasks.
When Low jacked him up for poor hospital construction and Paul answered
that this was the business of the Indian foreman, Low replied with
emphasis that **. . .it was his business in the end."'* Improvement came
quickly. A few weeks later, Low noted that Paul was “much more active
and interested in his work [and] said he never had anyone who would give
him instructions before; he has not much inventive faculty.™#* As the
years passed, Low pushed hard for the recruitment of officers who would
be capable of taking initiative so that the resident would not have to do
cverything himsclf. He was not entirely happy with men sent out by the
C.O., thinking that London could take more trouble to get hold of good
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men than they scemed to be doing. He favored tighter regulations on land
dealings by officers as administration became steadily more sophisticated.
Greater system was wanted. But he remained convinced to the end that
personal qualitics were more important than burcaucratic ability ¢ Gov-
ernment was men, not machines.

At times he became discouraged with the slow pace of advance in Perak
and yearned for ** . . .a more lucrauve position in Her Majesty's Service, a
place where there were creature comfores and an end to the merciless
strain of life in the tropics.™” But his very success made the C.O.
determined to keep him where he was. By the cighties they saw him as the
cqual of the average colonial governor and a giant among officers in
Malaya and the straits. He recerved a knighthood six years before retire-
ment, an honor unique in its timing. This helped. So did the flourishing
state of the economy and the large surpluses of revenues that strengthened
his hand. The cooperation of the Malay ruling classes was such that Yusuf
was made sultan ten years after Low had taken over. Shortly after recom-
mending this he drew up a report on the whole of his twelve-year stew-
ardship, together with recommendations for the future in states not yet
under Britsh rule. There was no need for him to be reacent about his
accomplishments, for the C.O. had repeatedly saluted them with enthusi-
asm. Economic development had been greatly helped by state loans to
prospective planters, usually half of what they themselves were willing to
put up, at 5 percent interest. Formerly worthless land was now under
cultivation with benefit to European owners and natve workers alike, but
without loss of control by the government. Labor had been brought in
from China and India, thus aiding overpopulated Britsh India as well as
Perak, a sparsely populated land whose Malay peoples were less inclined
to work on estates and in mines than outsiders were, Low's s 3
ruling ** .. .in the name of the rajas and by their assistance through (a
resident| subordinate to the governor. . .** could not be improved on. 4
As the system grew and spread to other states, the governor should have a
special officer to help him with states business as opposed to that of the
colony, as Jervois had wanted. There should be a confederation of states,
the richer ones aiding the poorer for the good of the whole country. The
peoples of states nominally under Siam—Kelantan, Kedah, Perlis. and
Trengganu—wanted British protection, though their rulers might hesi-
tate at first, thinking that this might lessen their own authority. They
would be reconciled to it as their revenues grew as a result of the exploita-
tion of mineral resources now lying fallow. Stam's resistance could be got
over by allowing her a portion of the profits. Bangkok had sent officers to
study his methods in Perak. It would not be necessary to build big
administrations in the new states; small statfs, with police would do until

tem of
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Chinese immigrants arrived in substantial numbers. The key to success
was sclection of British officers. Residents should be of a quiet, concilia-
tory manner and should be sympathetic to rajas, whom they would have
to restrain. They must be above suspicion as regards their personal in-
terests, patient and just in their magisterial functions, and able linguists.
As much as possible, they should be chosen from the trained cadres of the
Malay states and Straits Settlements services.

The C.O. knew that they would not be able to persuade the Foreign and
India offices on the extension of British sway in Malaya, at least for the
moment. But they had no doubrt that Low’s memorandum presented an
accurate picture of what had been done. If the profile of an ideal resident
sketched by Low was remarkably like the man himself, this was as it
should be, for everyone saw him as the model. Lucas in the C.O. wrote
that Low's ability was **. . .far beyond that of an ordinary governor."4*
The growth of Malaya had been his doing more than anyone else’s, and
the office saw that he got a more generous pension than usual and the
unprecedented honor, (for an officer below the rank of governor) of a
GCMG. To Weld, who had been told by Yusuf that Perak’s happy
condition was entirely duc to Low, he was ** .. .a man after my own heart,
a noble fellow with a true sense of duty, an Englishman of the best
type.”"$® Plaudits from collcagues, subordinates, and outsiders were in the
same vein. The traveler, Isabel Bird [Mrs. Bishop], who visited him at
Kuala Kangsar, wrote that his relations with the Malays were wonderous
to behold. $! While Mrs. Innes had commented sarcastically on the relative
luxury of his house by contrast with the miscrable shack she had had to put
up with, Miss Bird emphasized its cheerful comfort, with rajas lounging
on the verandah and the resident’s pet monkceys gamboling about. Swet-
tenham, not always the readiest man with saccharine observations on
brother officers, wrote that Low’s greatest achievement was the retire-
ment of Perak’s heavy debt, completed in six years, during which the
resident impoverished himselfby constantly handing out money from his
own pocket to people he thought deserving. 2 Clifford, perhaps the most
distinguished of his Perak officers, classed Low among the four or five
indispensables of British Malaya.*3 And two voices from the business
community singled out in Low *. . _those subtle qualitics [of characte
the exercise of which enables the stronger mind to sway the weaker.”"$*

In 1877, Low found Perak debt-ridden and disorganized, held back by
poor communications, a defeated, surly ruling class and a Chinese com-
munity not yet pletely reconciled to discipline. Twelve years later, he
left it rich and peaceful, its officer corps steadily improving and working
in tandem with Malay subordinates who no longer questioned the deter-
mination and capacity of the British. He was aided by the example and
experience of Birch, whose failure cleared the air and gave him his op-
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portunity. The cnormous potential of tin mines and agriculture was there
to be realized. Low's achievement was to make use of the state’s human
and natural resources in a uniquely successful way. Though they all
cenjoyed similar advantages, none of the other residents—from Pangkorto
federation—managed to equal him in personal influence and administra-
tive efficiency. He was the founder of the residential system and its most
brilliant exponent.
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4 The Residents in Late
Century: Variety, Growth,
and Regularization

ARRANGEMENTS MADE in Sclangor and in the atomized
polities farther south were sinular to those made in Perak after Pangkor
Economic and political conditions all along the west coast were much the
same, and it was natural for governors to try for accommodations which,
mutatis mutandis, would be stamped out of a common mold. Selangor’s
chiefs, like Perak’s, had fought among themsclves for years, had vied for
offices and power, and had not produced a stable or centralized govern-
ment. As in Perak, there were strong, unruly Chinese communitics en-

gaged in the lucrative tin mining and planting that accounted for much of

the area’s wealth and dealt with by Malay chiefs as tax farmers and
producers of income that was vital to their power on the rivers. British
and Chinese capital from Singapore and Malacca had long found Sclangor
a receptive, profitable field, resulting in an interdependence that made it
impossible for straits merchants to look with indifference on local dis-
order. The straits government itself had taken an active part in Selangor
politics since the 1820s, being determined to keep Siam out and being
repeatedly drawn into disputes among chiefs.

When Sir Andrew Clarke arrived as governor late in 1873, Selangor had
Just emerged from several years of confused fighting that had disrupted
mining and trade in the Klang Valley. The civil war had involved all the
important ecconomic and political forces in the area: the Britsh merchants;
the straits military as suppressors of piracy; Yap Ah Loy, the able capitan
China at Kuala Lumpur and his Chinese opponents; two warring Malay
factions; and allies of both who had entered the fray from neighboring
Pahang. When the smoke cleared, Sultan Abdul Samad was living in
semiretirement at rural Langat, his son-in-law, Tunku Kudin of Kedah,
held the real power at Klang, and Yap Ah Loy was sccurely reestablished
as master of the principal mines in and around Kuala Lumpur. On the
British side, the successful group was made up of Davidson, the powerful
Guthrie firm, and Whampoa, Singapore's most eminent Chinese financier
—all of whom had backed Kudin and Yap against rivals supported by
Read, the Boustcad firm, and Tan Kim Cheng. Matters had improved in
the Klang Valley, but the sultan’s sons were still making things difficult
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along the coasts, operating from their father’s basc at Langat. In January
1874, there was an attack on a straits lighthouse off Sclangor, which
provided the pretext for a Pangkor-style meeting between Clarke and the
sultan held at Langat in February and attended also by Kudin, now
supported by the governor. It was clear that some sort of permanent
British supervision would be necded eventually to prevent a recurrence of
piracy. Birch and S ham made a r i through Selangor
to Perak in March and April. When London’s approval of Pangkor arrived
m August, Clarke sent Swettenham to stay with the sultan at Langat, later
giving him the title of assistant resident.” To no one's surprise, the young

d hi i dipl Ily that the sultan asked for

officer his so dip
him as resident or, at any rate, signed a letter to that effect. This would
have suited the C.O., already most favorably impressed by ham.2
But Clarke ultimately proposed Davidson, citing his intimate knowledge
of the state and his influence with Kudin, and the C.O. went along.

Davidson and Swettenham did well at their posts in Klang and Langat
since the war was over and Tunku Kudin and the sultan were entirely
willing to accept advice. Unlike many of the Perak chicfs, the urbane
Kudin knew the Britsh, having worked closely with them for years. The
sultan, while he had not been above a certain amount of intrigue in past
years, preferred his quiet life of farming and opium-smoking in peaccful
Langat. Swettenham's courtesy and knowledge of Malay custom made
him casicr to get on with than the chief's own family had been. His salary
from the British was dependable, and the routine of administration was a
thing he was willing to leave to Swettenham now as he had been willing to
delegate it to Kudin before. Davidson arrived at Klang in January 1875.
From then until the autumn, when Birch's murder brought about his
abrupt transfer to Perak, the inauguration of his residency was as smooth
and casy as Birch's was rough. On the other hand, not much had been
accomplished. Even before the murder, Swettenham spent a good deal of
time away from Langat, helping Birch in Perak and accompanying the
governor on visits to Kelantan and Trengganu. He remained in Perak to
assist the expeditionary force and then went to Singapore as assistant
colonial secretary for the native states, not returning to Langat. Except for
Turney at Klang and a small number of soldiers, the board had been swept
clean. It was vital that Davidson be replaced quickly since it was not
known how general the Perak disturbances might turn out to be. His
successor therefore, like Low in Perak, would be required to build an
administration virtually from the ground up.

As acting resident, the governor sent William Bloomfield Douglas,
who had arrived in Singapore only the previous year and had been em-
ployed since then as a police magistrate.? Fifty-three years of age at the
time, Douglas had at best a rudimentary knowledge of Malay, having
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been employed many years before as master of Raja Brooke's schooner in
Bornco waters. More recently, he had been government resident for the
Northern Territory of Australia, which experience would certainly have
looked appropriate on paper, especially to a governor who was hard
pressed for staff in an emergency. Douglas was born in Wales. Lictle is
known of the family beyond the fact that an uncle—a clergyman—married
asister of Raja Brooke. At twenty, Douglas joined the navy as a captain’s
steward, but he left the same year, at Hong Kong, to take service with
Brooke. He returned to England, married, served in the coast guard, and
then went back to sea in order to support a growing family. In the 1850s,
when captain of a mail vessel on the Australian coast, he was made naval
officer and harbormaster ac Adelaide, later becoming president of the
marine board there. His subsequent duties involved magistracy and
various kinds of government inspection work, after which in 1870, he was
appointed to the Northern Territory. He was not a success: squandering
moncy, ignorng instructions, quarrclling with subordinates, failing to
control a gold rush, and being suspected of irregularitics connected with
his own investments. He had to be warned about his drinking. Aftera visic
from the commissioner of crown lands, he resigned. His journey to the
straits in 1874 was sponsored by the city of Adelaide, whose government
he had convinced of Singapore's potential as a recruiting ground for
Chinese miners. He did, in fact, arrange the emigration of coolies, but he
himself remained in Singapore.

Douglas, like Low, kept a diary, which survives. In its voluminous
pages, we are offered glimpses of the man, his fellows, and his world as
scen by himself. From the start, he got on well with the sulaan, who
wanted him to rule and made no effort to obstruct the process. Indeed, he
went so faras to say thatif the British withdrew, he hoped Douglas would
stay on as chicf minister with a hand salary and 1 He
never demurred, always agreeing with the resident’s proposals, including
a move for himself from low-lying Langat to the hill of Jugra and the
building of a new astana, or royal residence. He managed to preserve a
simple dignity, whatever the cira ces—which were often less than
royal. Once, when Douglas came to obtain his assent to the minutes of the
latest meeting of the State Council, they met beside the road, out in the
open. As Douglas was in a hurry, being on his way to Singapore, his
highness, clad in a dirty old sarong, squatted on the roadside, nodding
agreement as the minutes were read and then ordering his seal to be
attached, after which Douglas departed, the whole interview having
lasted no more than a few minutes. Even so, he was careful to ask the
sultan’s permission to leave the state. Again, Abdul Samad managed to
respond without apparent loss of decorum, though both realized that the
request was merely pro forma.
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Tunku Kudin soon left, not caring for his new role as a rubber stamp.
But he, too, maintained at least an outward cordiality with Douglas. He
had no conception of finance as viewed by the British and suggested
that Douglas spend the revenues as he liked, raising his own salary if it
pleased him. They played whist together and were on casy terms with
cach other’s families. Kudin had no more liking than Yusuf of Perak had
for the idea of a mixed council including Chinese, proposing to Douglas
that such a body be a showpiece only, the real power being exercised bya
backroom exccutive council made up of the resident and himself, When
Douglas rejected this he passed it off lightly. Nor did he persist when the
resident was firm in judging his own claims to arrcars of pay. With lesser
rajas, including several who had been prominently involved in the wars,
Douglas held endless and complicated talks. He had to decide which ones
to keep on stipends as local rulers. It was not easy to dissuade lifelong
warlords from old habits, demanding that they now agree to work to-
gether in a cause they could only scc as alien. “1 spoke in plain and very
severe terms ... What bothered him more than anything was the ruling
class’s seeming disregard from the common people.

With the Chinese his main problem was to put across the view that
government was to be coop 1 with, not circ d. Paying duty
on their tin rather than bartering some of it for rice and opium was hardly
popular. They naturally saw this as a net loss, a sacrifice that produced no
advantage in return. There was still a great deal of violence within their
communitics and between them and the Malays. Tax farms and conces-
sions on pawn shops and gambling houses had to be reviewed contin-
uously, offering countless opportunities for misunderstandings. Having
got their way by war and hard bargains all their lives, some of the leading
towkays found settled government no casicr to get used to than the rajas
did. Yet, with Yap Ah Loy himsclf, some were beginning to sec, as their
countrymen in the straits had done, that peace was good for business.
Douglas was delighted when the capitan China asked for extra police in
Kuala Lumpur and even agreed to pay them himself. “This s a stepin the
right direction. s

With his subordinates he was stern, though willing to recognize com-
petence when he found it. Two years after his arrival, there were only two
European administrative officers: Turney, at Klang, and Innes, at Langat,
the former having been a clerk in Labuan and the latter a treasurer in
Sarawak.® Douglas and Turney got on. At first, the resident had good
things to say about Innes as well. **The selection of Mr. Innes for this post
has been a very fortunate one."? But later he ticked Innes off for wanting
to write to Singapore over his head asking for a steam launch. *1 told him
he could not act independently of me and that if he attempted it [there]
would be war..."" This was flint on steel. Innes was more than some-
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what officious and inclined to prudery. Douglas, for his part, spoke in a
more peremptory way than the case demanded—a characteristically im-
pulswc thing for him to do. He had rough things to say about Gottliecb—
.a little humbug . . ."—about Evans, briefly a collector; and about a
Mr. Gill, whom he sacked for drunkenness.? His impressions were notall
that different from Low's. But he lacked the subtlety of his Perak col-
leaguc in dealing with underlings who admittedly left something to be
desired yet were, like Douglas himself, the best available in frontier times.

About his peers and officers above him in rank he had revealing things
to say. Swettenham, who almost certainly wanted his job, did not treat
him as he thought his superior station demanded. Douglas allowed him-
self a sneer at the younger man's rationalization about being more uscful
to the governor in Singapore than he would be in the Selangor residency.
He looked up to Davidson, expressing surprise that an established at-
torney would waste his time on a job in the godforsaken native states.
When the colonial secretary, Mr. (later Sir John) Douglas, visited
Selangor, the resident was proud to be able to remark that he had known
Sir John's brother in Mauritius, and he glowed with satisfaction when the
colonial secretary assured him that his performance was satisfactory and
his position secure. The happiest pages of his diary are filled with descrip-
tions of visits to Malacca, whose miniscule European society made Singa-
pore smile, but which scemed cosmopolitan in the extreme after Klang.
He was lodged in the Stadt House, he talked with Murray and Trevenen
from Sungei Ujong, and he was asked to dinner by the licutenant gov-
ernor and Mrs. Shaw. “A very nice little dinner . . . long yarns .. it was so
Jolly. e

Comments on Douglas by others are mixed. The C.O., not reassured
by the governor's reports, turned down the resident’s request for an
increase in pay, though they raised Low and Maxwell.'! The Inneses
tended to be highly critical of all their superiors, Low included, picking at
personal idiosyncracies and blaming higher authority for leaking roofs
and unfavorable exchange rates. Douglas more than once forgot to bring
them their mail when he visited Langat. He scemed unable to talk in a
normal conversational tone, always shouting at people around him, and
he monopolized the governor when that high personage toured Selangor,

not letting the hypersensitive Innes get a word in. He surrounded himself

with low-born cronies, including a cockney policeman. Isabel Bird
presents a different Douglas: a tall, whitehaired man with a florid com-
plexion and a strong voice, authoritative, a genial host, generous to
visitors, and good to his family. The resident’s conduct with the sultan
and in court, where he sat as magistrate, is described matter-of-factly, the
impression being that Douglas knew his job and did it competently. His
engincering knowledge was undoubted and valuable. Middlebrook's his-
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tory of Yap Ah Loy notes the resident’s failure to get along with Raja
Mahmud, obscrving in fairness that Murray in Sungei Ujong had the
same problem. He is severe on Douglas for treating Malay royals and his
own staff badly. however, and for trying to get the capitan China re-
moved. Emily Sadka, author of a detailed study of the carly residencics,
considers him a disaster, sceing his administration as inexpert, corrupt,
and inefficient, needing constant supervision and discipline from above, 12

Perhaps the most revealing and authoritative picture is provided by]J.
M. Gullick, a scholar-admini with i i on the
ground, who has carefully examined the sources used by the others and
the diaries as well.'* Gullick goes into considerable detail on Douglas's
day-to-day work with the sultan, with lesser royals, with the Chinese,
and with British officers. Douglas emerges as a hard-working resident,
competent, diligent, thoroughly involved in the task of remaking Selangor.,
The sultan’s liking for him is apparent, and even Tunku Kudin, who was
made redundant by Douglas's direct dealings with the sultan, is seen to
have borne the resident no grudge. Douglas's limitations are not blinked.
But over-all, and bearing in mind the primitive conditions of the time, he
passes muster.

In 1882, Innes resigned, presenting a list of detailed charges against the
superior he had disliked intensely for at least five years. The core of Innes's
case was that Douglas had mismanaged the land office and permitted
wholesale jobbery in which Douglas himself participated. D. D. Daly,
Douglas’s son-in-law and superintendent of works, was made the arch
villain of the picce, being described as incompetent at his job and thor-
oughly venal as well. ' Weld had sent Swettenham to investigate similar
charges, brought by a native a year before. The result in this new instance
was inconclusive, a weak case presented by a witness who was anything
but disinterested. Nevertheless, the governor wanted the resident out. He
asked the C.O."s approval of a plan whereby Douglas would be allowed to
resign rather than being subjected to the disgrace of a public dismissal.
London was not convinced that the case was strong cnough. Innes himself
was “disreputable,” having sold goods to the sultan in a questionable
way.'$ Moreover, as Philip Loh points out, Weld, after listening to the
charges, was not sure in his own mind that Douglas was guilty. The C.O.
certainly was not. They approved a gratuity for Douglas, who had not
scrved long enough to qualify for a pension, and they agreed to say that his
service in Selangor had been satisfactory, if asked by the Foreign Office,
to which Douglas applied two years later for a consulate in West Africa.
Turney wrote to the governor after Douglas resigned, enclosing letters
from the sultan in which he expressed a great liking for the residentand a
sense of sorrow and loss at this departure. '8 While this did notimpress the
C.0. greatly, neither were they convinced when Innes quoted the sultan




82 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

as having said that he did not order some of the things Douglas had
imported for him. There had been ample evidence over the years that
Oriental rulers gave Europeans the answers they thought were wanted.

History should not be too hard on Captain Bloomfield Douglas. Like
Speedy—but for a longer ime and in a more important job—he was a
creature of circumstance. He was hired in difficult times because he was
available, and highly qualified men were not. London’s reticence was apt,
for they had not understood the situation at the time of Pangkor and had
not insisted on first-class officers. Nor could vernment House in
Singapore adopt a holier-than-thou posture. Jervois had bunged Douglas
into Klang after he had been in the country only a little more than a year,
on the police bench in Singapore. Weld visited Selangor many times while
Douglas was there. If dealings in land were not proper atall, why did he
merely advise Douglas’s successor, Swettenham, to be discrect about his
purchases, putting the deeds in his wife's name? There is no doubt that
Douglas was one of the least satisfactory of the early residents. Low was a
paragon. Murray, who died on the job in Sungei Ujong in 1881, was solid
rather than sp lar. Paul, who foll i him, was cased out after
twelve years, more for lack of vigor than for anything reprehensible he
had done. Lister, the first resident of the new state of Negri Sembilan,
lived only two years after taking over and was, like Murray, a dependable.
trusted officer. Swettenham and Clifford would scale the heights of fame
in the colonial service, and their less-renowned brother officers—Rodger,
Birch, and Treacher—would receive knighthoods and honor. Yet the case
against Douglas was onc on which a Scottish jury would doubtless have
returned the verdict “*not proven.' It is hard to escape the conclusion that
Swettenham's ambition to take over Douglas's job was an important
factor, and that behind this lay Weld's steady determination to promote
Malaya’s prosperity by modernizing the governments of the states and
cncouraging European investment through dynamic administration.'” In
the service of such an aim, Douglas was a poor instrument. As always, it
was agonizingly difficult to get rid of an incumbent. Innes’s charges—
weak, suspect, hypocritical—were nonetheless convenient, as was the
indefensible conduct of Daly. During his six years in Sclangor, Douglas
had presided over the transition of the state from chaos to order and the
beginning stages of development. If he did this less well than Low did in
Perak, it must be admitted that the job had been done and would not have
to be done over again by his successor.

One reason Douglas has not looked well in retrospect is that he was
followed by Frank Swettenham. In the preceding pages, we have en-
countered Swettenham frequently, and this is significant. Itis not possible
to write of any important aspect of public affairs in Malaya from the 1870s
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to the turn of the century without taking Swettenham into account. In
depth of cultural knowledge, in scope of personal and official involve-
ment, in achievement, power, and recognition, he is the glant among
builders of British Malaya. A booming cconomy presented great oppor-
tunities. Swettenham, by contrast with the prototype civil servant, had
the drive, the breadth, and the effrontery to scize them. An opportunist
par excellence, he had the creative ability that mere climbers lack, the luck
that cludes many able men, and the intelligence and cnergy without which
dame fortune might have smiled on him in vain. He wrote a great deal.
Much has been written about him, though when it is all considered
together, it does not provide the makings of an adequate biography. We
know that he was born in 1850 outside Belper, in Derbyshire, the young-
estin a family that had sufficient means to send his two older brothers to
Cambridge and Swettenham himself to St. Peter’s School in York. ' His
own apologia is curiously vague about his father, who is described clse-
where as a lawyer and whose wanderings into and out of his family’s life
are shrouded in the mists of imprecision. § | was d i
about his social origins, as so many were in a time of massive upward
movement when those on the fringes of the middle classes were perhaps
the least comfortable of all. He liked to speak of the country houses he
frequented when on leave, the hounds he rode to, the fashionable people
he knew.'® It is not unreasonable to suppose that his ambition in Malaya
was fired in part by the sure knowledge that he did not come from that
world and that he would enter it, if at all, only through determined effort
and as an arrivist. Beyond this, he was a lonc wolf, from childhood on.
His brothers and sisters were older, looking on him as mama's darling. At
age ten, he wentas a day boy toa boarding school, a notoriously awkward
role for even the most gregarious. Swettenham was not that. He spenta
certain amount of time in clubs, in talking shop with his brother officers,
and in making himself pleasant to the right ladies. People did not think of
him as backward or odd. Tall, darkly handsome, with a powerful build,
picreing eyes, and a trim mustache, he was no wall flower. But he did not
take naturally to the social round, as Ernest Birch did, preferring instead
to be at the governor's side in the office, or on tour, or undertaking
assignments at the courts of Malay chicfs and drafting the detailed reports
on politics and finance that would make his name. He had many acquain-
tances and few, if any, close friends. In late carcer he was respected by
many, feared by some, hated by a few. Hardly anyone speaks of having
liked him. Those who did were governors, who found him a thoroughly
dependable subordinate and expert, or chiefs, to whom he was a court-
cous, persuasive European with an astonishing grasp of their language
and their ways.
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His most severe critics admit that Swettenham knew the Malays far
better than the average officer did. Among his fellow governors, Clifford,
who spent about a third less time in Malaya and whose scrvice there was
not continuous, was his only rival. The very considerable amount of
information on Malay mentality and social organization that he gathered
over a long period of time could not have been assembled by a man who
was not fascinated by his subject. Swettenham is in the mainstream of
British overseas civil servants, some trained in ethnography, most not,
whose published and unpublished work i one of the main
sources of primary material available to professional scholars. A straits
businessman who knew him well wrote that his undoubted materialism
was balanced by an artistic temp suited to the d; ing of dreams
and by a vivid imagination of a kind not ordinarily permitted in English-
men.?® It was this that helped him see the Malay’s love of drama, his
boredom with the mundane character of the white man's daily preoccupa-
tions. 2! At first, wrote Swettenham, the Malays thought Europeans bar-
baric and had neither respect for them nor interest in them, despite their
skill with guns and ships and the great wealth that they seemed able o
accumulate. Not being of a servile nature and knowing and accepting his
own limitations, the Malay saw no reason to imitate. If his life was
primitive, it had a dignity which Europeans could not approach. The
European's accent on privacy and individual rights by the same token,
was incomprehensible to the Malay, a fatalist long inured to a feudal
scheme of things that made self-assertion dangerous while at the same
time providing a tolerable sccurity to those who conformed. Poor com-
munications, lack of money, and the endless round of petty warfarc
prevented the rise of an authority strong cnough to alter the age-old
rhythm. Yet Swettenham found that when challenged in some way,
perhaps by an unusually competent leader organizing an expedition or by
a raja willing to pay for craftsmanship in wood or silver, the Malay could
shake himsclf from his lethargy and perform admirably.

He had a genuine liking for the Malays, some of whom he was as close
to in his fashion as he was to anyone of his own kind. He saw their merits
and appreciated them. On the other hand, there was never any question of
his “going native," as some did, and he had no doubts about the superior-
ity of European civilization in most respects and on balance. He was like
the urban sophisticate who loves his weekend place in the country. The
spell of Malaya, he wrote, lay in **. . the undoubted charm of the people
---and the sense of mystery, of exclusiveness, of unspoilt nature and
undescribed life, that arouse a new interest in the wearied children of the
West."22 But he had a practical turn of mind and did not tell himself, as so
many of his countrymen did, that the East was ultimately inscrutable.
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doubt whether the Eastern is any more difficult to understand than the
Western, when once you have taken the trouble to study [them],

.lic on the same floor with them, cat out of the same dish with them,
fight with them and against them, join them in their sorrows and their
Joys, and. at last, win their confidence and regard . . ."'%3

As to the effect of European mastery on the Malays, Swettenham
wanted some things changed and some leftalone. Though members of the
ruling class resented being displaced when the British came and showed
little interest in sharing in the unfamiliar tasks of government as Euro-
peans performed them, he thought most were malleable. In Selangor and
Perak, he found rajas who cooperated willingly and well with British
officers, as did most of the penghulus. The sweeping changes in daily life
that were wrought by peace and prosperity were aceeptable to the mass of
the people, who saw that their own lot had improved with regard to land
ownership, freedom from exploitation, and new opportunities in cduca-
tion and agriculture. At bottom however, he was sure the average Malay,
of whatever class, remained as he had been before, and he was glad of it.
Swettenham had his doubts about European education. With hundreds of
his brother colonial officials all over the empire, he had an instinctive
dislike of people who have moved part way out of their own societies but
not all the way into others and who dwelt uncomfortably, as babus or
yahoos, in a cultural twilight zone. Too often they displayed few of the
redeeming characteristics of their adopted civilizations while retaining
unattractive ones from their own. In the 1880s, he opposed European
enterprises that scemed likely to take advantage of Malays. As late as the
1930s, he was still battling away, from his London base, against what he
saw as undue interference in Malay affairs.

When the time came to appoint a resident Selangor in 1874, both
London and the governor were inclined to name Swettenham. Utlimately,
he was not appointed because of his youth, being only twenty-four at the
time, and because of Davidson's close relationship with Tunku Kudin, the
real power in the land. The governor reasoned that Swettenham's chance
would come soon enough. Meanwhile, he would be valuable as assistant
resident at the sultan’s headquarters and as adviser on native states affairs
in Singapore. With the departure of Douglas in 1882, there was no ques-
tion that his moment had arrived. Among civil servants in Malaya he was
unique. Low was older and held a more responsible position. But his
prestige was associated primarily with Perak, whereas Swettenham had
covered the whole peninsula, was a cadet in the straits service, and was
better known in London. William Maxwell was slightly senior to Swet-
tenham in age, length of service, and in official recognition, having
received the CMG a year before Swettenham did. But his intensity of
manner and uncompromising approach with colleagues and subordinates
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—both British and Malay—made him hard to get on with and, corre-
spondingly, harder to place, while Swettenham proved highly flexible
and accommodating in a wide range of tasks. What strikes the historian is
Swettenham's gift for picking out the important issues, trends, and Jjobs,
for making himsclf expert, and for bringing his talents to the attention of
the great. In1870, though he had passed second out of some twenty
candid inthee: ination for cadetships, the C.O. was notinclined to
appoint him, thinking they necded only one recruit that year. He was
saved by theintervention of the civil service commissioners, who were so
impressed by him that they persuaded the C.O. to make two appoint-
ments after all.** By 1877, he was playing on the C.O. cricket team when
on leave, ingratiating himself with the very men who had to pass on
governors' personnel recommendations and who often complained that
they knew nothing of the officers mentioned mainly because most men
never went near the C.O. on leave. Papers on Malay subjects, forwarded
to London by governors who had no local knowledge, Jervois and
Robinson in particular, were usually the work of Swettenham and were
read with great interest in London, where familiarity with such matters
was even less. “Very able,” minuted a C.O. staff member on Swetten-
ham's explanation of competing claims to the Johore sultanate.2$ When
Weld wanted to interest the C.O. in expanding British influence at the
expense of Siam, he based his case on a paper that he commissioned
Swettenham to write.?¢ From the beginning, his Selangor reports were
applauded by the governor: *A very good and clear report . .. congratula-
tions on the success which has attended your efforts in the state."27
Among the permanent staff members in the C.O. he stood higher with
Lucas than with some who were more senior. Meade and de Robeck knew
very well that he had a reputation for being a wee bit slick. *A clever,
cenergetic man..."" wrote the latter.28 *“Mr. Swettenham represents the
aggressive school of politicians in Malay native affairs . . ." added Meade.?®
He admitted, however, that this was Jjust what was needed in Sclangor
after Douglas. In any case, Lucas would outlast the others. By the ninetics
Swettenham could not have had a more valuable friend at court.

It has been remarked that Weld's main reason for wanting Douglas out
of Sclangor was the resident’s lackluster performance with regard to
devloy - The governor was d ined to exploit the resources of the
states for their own benefit and that of the imperial power by attracting
European investors and Chinese workers, as he had done in Australia
before. Swettenham was the ideal overscer of such a plan: he knew the
country and the people and was on good terms with Malay chiefs, Chinese
headmen, and European traders. Among those who took up land in
Selangor were: W, H. Read, the ubiqui Singapore busi T
Heslop Hill, a planter who came from Ceylon, failed in Malaya, and
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eventually became protector of labor there; and Martin Lister, another
Ceylon emigre, who went on from an unsuccessful planting carcer in
Malaya to become resident Negri Sembilan. All were well known to
Swettenham, Lister being perhaps as close to him as anyone in the penin-
sula.?® Such friendships were more significant in Selangor than in Perak
because the former was the development state par excellence, with a small
Malay population and a large, wealthy Chinese community. Ernest
Birch, sent to do a report on the Selangor land system in 1890 and later
acting resident, observed that “'if a man is very keenly interested in the
Malay people, Selangor is not the state he would choosc for his sphere of
work."*! What made things hum in Swettenham's time and after was a
vigorous clite group interested in tin mines, coffee and pepper estates, and
the roads, bridges, railways, and harbors that were needed to get produce
to market. With few European women about, society was spontancously
interracial. Merchants and government officials rubbed elbows with towkays,
shopkeepers, and miners in clubs as well as in banks. A familiar face at the
famous Spotted Dog (Selangor Club) was that of Thamboosamy Pillai,
the Singapore-born Indian who went to Klang with Davidson, left a
government clerkship to enter business, and became so prosperous and
influential that when he died, his body was taken back to Singapore on the
governor's yacht with much ceremony.

Swettenham threw himself into his first independent command with a
will. Weld ruled with a light hand, giving residents their heads, especially
those he trusted. It was up to Swettenham to decide important questions
such as the gauge of the Kuala Lumpur-Klang railway in relation to
revenues and expected traffic.*? He reported that the sultan and council—
somewhat disingenuously with regard to the sultan himself, perhaps—
were eager to have this vital new link pleted so that
between the mines and the coast would be casier. Meetings of the council
were often rather boring affairs wherein formal approval was given to
measures already worked out privately by the resident and his business
friends, some of whom were members. Swettenham’'s diaries and those of
his subordinates are full of references to the cconomy and speak less often
to the Malay subjects that are given so much prominence in Low's. He
heard bankruptey cases in court, settled land disputes, inspected the work
of convicts laboring on roads to be used by agricultural cstates, looked
over a flooded mine belonging to the capitan China, wrote to the pro-
tector of Chinesce about coolies, and had endless talks in the oftice with
European visitors interested in mines and planting.?* The Malays were
not forgotten. He arranged to lend money to anyone willing to clear
empty land so that uninhabited areas would fill up and contribute to the
general prosperity. Penghulus were authorized to extend these loans after
satisfying themselves that borrowers were capable. *“The primary object
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country, inhabi y and d c .

As resident Selangor, Swettenham was a dynamo who saw the state’s
economic potential with vivid clarity and left no stone unturned in assur-
ing that it would be realized. In that position and in subsequent ones, he
established his reputation as *“the father and founder of modern Malaya.™
He was honored by his superiors in government and even more so by the
businessmen whom he did everything he could to help. One of their
spokesmen bemoaned the futility of a system that did not raise him to the
House of Lords, and saluted him above all for recognizing that civil
servants were there to promote the interests of the public by encouraging
private enterprise.*® On retirement he served as a director of rubber
companies in England and received the gold medal of the Rubber Growers
Association. His portrait, painted by John Sargent of the Royal Academy,
was commissioned not by the government but by the Straits Settlements
Association.

From the carly years of his carcer, Swettenham had accompanied gov-
crnors on their visits to Malay chicfs and had also been sent alone on
missions to the states. In 1875, he represented Sir Andrew Clarke on a
short journey into Pahang from the Selangor side and, later that same
year, he joined Sir William Jervois on a journey to the Pahang coast,
which had been visited by previous governors as well (by Cavenagh in the
carly sixties for cxample) and by straits businessmen. W. H. Read and his
Chinese friends were sure that Pahang was potentially rich and therefore
ought to come under British protection, as the west coast states had
already done. Sir Frederick Weld was entirely responsive to this view.
Having arrived after the establishment of the residency system on the west
coast, he saw Pahang as a logical further extension, the success of which
would be a fitting capstone to his governorship. Even if he had not
cherished ambitions in that direction, however, he would not have been
able to ignore Pahang because of its dynastic connections to Johore,
immediately adjacent to Singapore and itself the object of British designs
for years. In 1884, Weld reported to London on a scheme of Read's for
nudging Pahang’s ruler into accepting a British adviser.>” This could be
done, thought Read, by threatening to withdraw Johore's support of
Ahmad, the Pahang chicf who had been called bendahara since his seizure
of power in the 1860s but who now assumed the title of sultan.’® Ahmad
had called on the governor in Singapore two years carlier. He was not
inclined to give up his independence to cither the Johore ruler or the
British, though he was less naive about British power than the Perak
chiefs had been. Weld's concern at this point was a rash of wildcat land
speculation in Pahang and neighboring Jelebu and the granting of con-
cessions by Ahmad to German, American, and Australian mining pros-

of all our land regulations [is] to obtain a populous, cultivated and settled
d By indusesi 1 "4
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pectors.®® There was heavy pressure on the governor from Singapore
businessmen to protect what they had long regarded as their own sphere
of influence. Swettenham was sent overland from Perak, where he was
acting resident, and down the Pahang river to talk with Ahmad at his
village of Pckan. Having known the sultan for some time, he understood
very well that careful, patient persuasion was in order.*® He contented
himself with a promise that Ahmad would write to the governor and went
on his way. Regardless of how Ahmad viewed the matter, assumed
in London that the sultan had agreed to ask for a resident. “The gradual
extension of British influence over the whole peninsula must be our
almost inevitable policy,” Weld had writeen, “and one from which we
ought not to shrink.”*! The governor called on the sultan in Junce 1886.
His reception, like Swettenham'’s, was friendly, but as usual the sultan
was noncommital about a Briush representanve. The governor then
determined on a more sustained cfforc. In January 1887, he sent Hugh
Clifford, a member of the Perak service who had been with him on the east
coast the previous year, with instructions to negotiate. After two months,
during which nothing tangible had been achieved, Clifford’s mission was
strengthened by the arrival of the chief minister of Johore and at last, in
April, the sultan agreed to ask for a treaty. Clifford became British agent.
The following year, the sultan accepted the appointment of a resident,

ived in 1889, thus bringing Pahang into line with the west coast

Clifford is important in the story of British Malaya because he played a
central role in the establishment of the residency system in Pahang,
becoming himself its second resident, because, after a long absence, he
returned to Malaya in the 1920s as governor, and because he contributed
so much to the literature and romance of the country in the colonial era.
He does not come near Low as a founding father or Swettenham as an
ad ve and developer. lllness destroyed any
possibility of his being a governor of high achicvement. But his record in
the cighties and ninctics is worthy of attention, for it provides an il-
luminating picture of conditions on the ground and an intimate view of
how a young officer saw them.

He was born in 1866, the cldest son of Maj. Gen. Hon. Sir H. H.
Clifford, a younger son of the seventh baron Clifford of Chudleigh, in
Devon.*? With other Roman Catholic aristocrats of long lincage, the
family occupied a somewhat equivocal position vis-a-vis the governing
establishment—being distinguished, yet not fully privileged. Their rural
base and their preoccupation with country life far from the center of
government and industry kept them removed to an extent from the
mainstream of public concerns in Victorian times. Moreover, being the
son of a younger son, Clifford stood at one remove from such security of




THE RESIDENTS IN LATE CENTURY Nn

place as did accrue to people in his grandfather's position. One must be
carcful about generalizing on the possible influence of backgrounds on
careers. The trap of sociological caricature yawns wide. There is no doubt
that Clifford was his own man. In particular instances, he consulted his
experience, building bridges to his colleagues in Malaya and to natives
without any necessary reference to his own or other people’s antecedents.
On the other hand, we do find him making judgments in Pahang that are
logical enough when viewed against the backdrop of his boyhood.
Occasionally, he is specific about it.

However this may be, the biographical facts are well known. He
attended private classes conducted at Woburn Park by Msgr. William
Joseph, later the thirteenth Lord Petre, who had been in New Zealand
with members of his family. Though offered a queen’s cadetship at
Sandhurst, he accepted a position in the Perak service instead, arriving
there atage seventeen. This was in 1883, when his father’s first cousin, Sir
Frederick Weld, was governor. ** From 1887, when he went to Pahang on
his diplomatic mission, until 1899, when he ceased to be its resident, he
spent most of his time in that state or on Pahang business elsewhere. The
exceptions were two home leaves and short stints in the Cocos and
Keeling islands and in Sclangor. The degree of responsibility he had in
Pahang varied from his initial agency, which was not primarily admini-
strative, through the superintendency of Ulu Pahang to the residency
itself. On arrival he was two months short of his twenty-first birthday.
He was thirty-three when his Pahang service came to an end.

His first years in the state were spent at Pekan, the sultan’s village seven
miles upriver from the coast, and in the ulu, based mainly at Kuala Lipis.
In these times and during the more or less continuous disturbances from
1891 to 1895, he traveled widely, coming to know all parts of the state, as
well as some of the back areas of its neighbors, Trengganu and Kelantan.
Often, like Swettenham, he found that no white man had ever been seen
before in some of the kampongs he reached. Fluent in Malay and physically
strong, if not always well, he tackled his job with vigor, enthusiasm, and
resource. The jungle, the mountains, and the great rivers appealed strongly
to him, opening vistas of sccret, wild beauty that Europe could not offer.

The beat of the paddles . . .made a rhythmical splashing, varicd by
the bump of wood upon wood as [they| told loudly against the boat's
side. The damp nightair . . . was cold and clammy; the myriad noises
of the vast forest fell upon [one’s] cars in musical cadence. Occa-
sionally an elephant trumpeted very far away. Now and then in the
darkness of the shadows . ..some unseen brute, disturbed by the
passing of the boat, leaped from its drinking pool and crashed away
through the underwood. *$
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He counted himself lucky to be out in the open, leading an acuve life,
rather than being tucked away in the sccretariat, dealing with files and
dispatches, just as one did in London.*¢ Later, when tortured by doubts as
to the rightness and value of what he was doing or when sick or bored, he
told himself that the excitement, the danger, and the challenge made it all
worthwhile.

At first, he thought that Pahang before the British came was the best
sort of Malay state, ruled by swashbuckling, impious privateers whose
carcless cgotism differed from that of Europeans mainly in its d
openness and freedom from hypocrisy.*7 There was an unwashed inno-
cence and honesty about the chiefs, and even the dissipated youths who
hung about their courts, looking on a life of fighting and waste as their
aristocratic birthright. But gradually his writings became more severe on
the ruling classes. He came to hate their cruelty and their injustice to
commoners, realizing, of course, that he was judging them by standards
not their own. He saw them as “'men who had been accustomed to regard
their passions as things given to them solely to be gratified: who had never
learned the hard lessons of sclf-control, self-discipline and self-denial.”"**
He never lost sight of the coin’s other side, being very much aware that the
Malays had reservations about the British, whom they sometimes looked
down on as efficient barbarians, ill-manncred, disrespectful of authority,
sacrilegious.*? But he frequently returned to the attack. At the end of his
Pahang residency, he gave a talk at the Royal Colonial Institute in London
in which he blasted the chiefs so unmercifully that both Low and Treacher,
who were in the audience, felt obliged to remonstrate with him.5° The
burden of his remarks was that the Malays had no system of government
worthy of the name betore the British came; that they were utterly callous
to human suffering, and that, even under close supervision, it had proved
difficult to get the royals to take imtiative in administration. In another
place, he complained that Malay aristocrats got more courtesy from the
British than they were accustomed to receive trom their own kind and that
they took advantage of this.*! Their vaunted picty was apt to be skin decp,
he said, and Islam sat lightly on many of them.*?

Though there is ample evidence that he enjoyed himself i the early
years and came to feel a geniunc interest in the people, there can be no
doubt about his priorities: Europe and Europeans stood first. His diaries
of the eighties and ninctics are full of references to the pleasure he took in
the company of fellow officers, to happy days in Singapore away from the
boredom and discomfort of Pahang, and, most of all, to the soaring joy of
being back in England on leave. Mail from home was cagerly awaited.

Books saved his peace of mind on many a wetand dreary day. An unhappy
love affair was painful, yet he indulged in the bittersweet of rereading his
own returned letters in preference to moving about in his parish at Kuala
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Lipis.** Summing up the year 1893, he wrotc that *'by and large ithas been
bad." the only saving graces being two trips to Singapore and a jaunt to
Trengganu and Kelantan with the governor.** The knowledge that home
leave was still a long way off brought a eri de coeur that was to appear later
in his published work: **How long, oh Lord, how long?"$% It was all very
well to speak about the ideal colonial service type: the young man with
confidence in himself and his race, fearless, just and sensible, who can put
up with exile, and who can be relied on to rule tropical peoples respon-
sibly.*® But such men did well in the ulu only ifthey had .. .no insight,
no sympathy, no imagination"—all three of which Clifford was cursed
with.*7 Being so cursed, he could not expect to remain for long periods in
isolation and yet retain his sanity.5*

When he returned to the question of what Britain thought of her empire
and what she proposed to do with it, however, he could write with
petulance and paranoia about his otherwise longed-for homeland. The
English public ncither knew nor cared. The colonial office alternated
between ignorant meddling and cool disdain. The straits government,
though much closer to reality, did not understand the Malays and was
pursuing a course that was not in their best interests. There was far too
much red tape, a blind concern for economic well-being as defined by
Europeans, and a tendency to rule through middlemen—Eurasians, Sikh
police, and Indian clerks—who were hated by the people and who vic-
umized them rather than providing the honest government that alone
could justify alien rule.*® White officers were too expensive, which was
why the government depended on such people. In the future, he thought,
it would be even worse, for as burcaucracy grew, young European re-
cruits would know less and less about the Malays and would be more than
ever the dupes of their all-powerful office staffs. Europe had defeated
Malay civilization only to be itself defeated by its own babu minions. In
his carly days, he wanted the British to study their Malay charges and try
to understand them. They were best left alone, undisturbed in their
primitive state. Later on, writing from the distance of other continents
and from decades of experience elsewhere, he faced the fact of Europe's
victory and wrote that it was all for the best. The empire was a great force
for good, more intelligent and more benign that the native regimes it had
displaced. In this he was joined by his friend Joseph Conrad, who, like
him, had scen European rule close up and who felt that England had
nothing to apologize for.* Listening to Clifford, H. G. Wells, a novelist
with very different views, remarked, **Almost thou persuadest me to be
an imperialise."®!

If Clifford's attitude toward the Malays included both romantic attach-
ment and disapproval, and if his feelings about European rule were
¢qually ambiguous, he was in good company. We have seen that Low had
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been similarly puzzled. Swettenham was more practical and more un-
reservedly devoted to the aim of development than were the others,
though he understood as well as anyone that big economic and social
changes would alter forever many of the traditional attitudes and folk-
ways that he appreciated in the Malays. It was only the simple minded
who could escape the dilemmas of interracial government completely and
only the most insensitive who could look with unmixed feelings on the
phenomena of change in late-century Malaya. This was as true of the
Malays perhaps as it was of the Briush.

From 1887, when Clifford took up his duties as agent in Pahang, unul
1899, when he left it for the last time, the state played a cinderella role
among the British protected units of the peninsula. Nothing was entirely
satisfactory. The C.O. was criticial and impauent, without being decisive
or consistent. The officers in charge had neither Swettenham’s strength
and influence at headquarters nor Low’s sophistication, long tenure, and
prestige. There was no large Chinese populauun to provide the personnel
of development. Yet the British and Chinese tycoons of Singapore and
their outside competitors pressed hard for concessions giving them access
to natural resources whose potential they greatly exaggerated and which
they lacked the wherewithall to exploit, The cast coast monsoon, the size

of the state, and its primitive communications internally and with other
British territory all made it harder to control than west coast arcas.
Nevertheless, as in the casc of Perak in Birch's ume, the British had to deal
with large numbers of local chiefs who neither understood the new
imperium nor willingly subordinated themsclves and their remote dis-
tricts to its unfamiliar and vaallating rule. Governors, as always, oc-
Lupud an uncmnluruhlc middle position with a powerful, demanding

S y on their d ps and a conservative, superficially
knowledgeable, and tight-fisted C.O. only hours away by cable. Small
wonder that Pahang took longer to digest than its predecessors had and
proved less viable to all concerned, native and alien.

The first resident was |. P. Rodger. He was a younger son of Robert
Rodger of Hadlow Castle in Kent, and had been educated at Eton and
Christ Church Oxford.®? Armed with letters of introduction to Lady
Jervois and others, he had come to the East in the carly cighties and had
accepted a position n Selangor. Lucas in the C.O. wrote that he had
private means and that, having done social work in the cast end of
London, he was just the sort of man *'to look after natives.""** The straits
businessmen did not agree, considering him somewhat absurd in manner
and less sympathetic to commercial interests than men like Swettenham,
whom they thought better suited to Malay admimstration.®* Rodger
angered concessionnaires by demanding, in the government's name, that
they behave responsibly and that they give up concessions they were
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clearly unable to develop. Some of these men, including Fraser, who gave
his name to the well-known hill station on the Pahang-Selangor border,
had long dealt directly with the notoriously pliable Sultan Ahmad and
naturally resented the presence of a resident bent on protecting the ruler in
his own interests.** Late in 1891, an ulu chicf, the orang kaya (district chief)
of Semantan, who had been insubordinate to the sultan and to the British
magistrate at Temerloh, rose in revolt, prompting a joint campaign
against him by Rodger from Pekan and Clifford from Kuala Lipis and
ending with the expulsion of the chiefin 1892, The rebellion was revived
shortly afterward, however, resulting in the murder of two Australian
miners. Impatient with the cost of maintaining order and with its dis-
appointing economic record, the C.O. wanted to give up Pahang.% But
Swettenham, who was on leave in England, begged for time. The state
was potentially rich in rice and minerals, he said, and would respond to
good administration, more p business rep ives, and the
building of a railway connecting Ulu Pahang to the Sclangor coast.
Chinese miners should be encouraged to scttle in the ‘state, and British
mining inspectors should be appointed.®?

When Rodger went on leave in 1893, the governor, reacting to business
pressurc and to his own misgivings about Rodger, agreed that the resident
would not return to Pekan, thus in effect saddling him with the blame for
Pahang’s troubles. The C.O. were not convinced by this, pointing out
that Rodger had been sent to make bricks but had been given no straw.®%
In 1894, with a new governor in Singapore and a new acting resident in
Pahang, Clifford having just stepped down as acting resident, recom-
mended that new arrangements be made whereby Sclangor would take
over Ulu Pahang, an agent would be stationed at the main east coast port
of Kuantan, and most of the state would be allowed to revert to native
rule.*® But, no sooner had a dispatch to this effect been received in London
when another arrived announcing a fresh outbreak of violence, the cap-
turc of a police station by rebels, and the sending of reinforcements.”® A
British officer, E. A. Wise, was killed. Mitchell, the new governor, now
proposcd that Rodger be kept on as resident, that the new road already
begun from Kuala Kubu in Selangor be pushed through, and that the
rebellion be suppressed. Faith in the future economic well-being of the
state was confidentially reiterated, bringing the weary rejoinder from
Fairfield in the C.O. that Mitchell was falling under the spell of “'the
veterate Pahangites.”! The voice of business was heard again, claiming
that the success of the Pahang Corporation would be assured if the
government would only act with firmness and restore order.” Clifford
took charge, driving the rebels over the border into Trengganu. In
October 1895, Lucas wondered, not for the first time, **. . . how long the
farce [would] be allowed to go on.”? He needn't have asked, for, in fact,
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the rebellion was alrcady over. After cight years and though it was sull
poor and worrisome, Pahang was at peace. Rodger continued officially as
resident until 1896, though he did not actually preside in the last three
years. Clifford accepted the governorship of North Bornco in 1899,
returning brietly to Pahang as resident in 1901, and he then left Malaya,
having had much sick leave in his last years and having been denied the
Selangor residency by Swettenham, then governor, on the grounds that
he was too junior.”

The taming of Pahang had been a long and tedious business, much more
annoying for the governors of the late eighties and early nineties than
Birch’s Perak residency had been carlier or the uninspiring start made by
Douglas in Selangor and the slow sweeping together of the units thac
eventually made up Negri Sembilan. But there were compensations. 1 the
C.O. had been able to deflect its gaze from the violence, the disappoint-
ments, and the sordid failures that governors were compelled to report
on, it would have found in other dispatches a record of steady progress at
the district level. In the large this represented a solid achievement—one
that more than made up for the expense of expeditionary forces and for the
truncated carcers of European officers and Malay rajas who did not last the
course. In growing towns and in outlying districts all down the west
coast, and soon in Pahang as well, a pattern of regularized administration
was gradually being established. The difference did not seem great at first
because the understaffed British employed rajas as magistrates and
penghulus. But the fact that such middlemen took orders from the Euro-
peans did not go unnoticed among the common people, who also ob-
served that warfare stopped, that debt slaverly slowly dried up. and that
government scemed to be more constructive and systematic than before.
The journal of the collector in Ulu Selangor is illustrative. He toured
constantly, spoke with every Malay, European, and Ch
spected crops and mines, and checked his own clerks repeatedly and
without advance notice.” He pushed the penghulus on road maintenance

and continually urged permanent scttlements rather than the habitual
shifting cultivation that was wastetul and that kept everyone poor. He
attended village festivities and invited the families of Malay shopkecpers
to join him at lunch, but politely refused to accept New Year's presents of
food brought to him on that day by representatives of a whole village.
When the police told him that this would be taken as an insult, he
compromised by staging an entertainment for all—Chinese as well as
Malays—after which the food was shared all around. His colleague in
Kuala Langat was full of praisc for the enterprise of his parishioners, but
blamed the state government for not allowing him enough money to use
in making loans to setclers. He rejoiced over his progress at learning
Malay and hearing cases. “They all look on the magistrate as the arbitrator
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and rectifier of their wrongs so that my position is not a difficult one if
friendliness is tempered with caution."7¢

As towns grew, it became harder for officers to manage everything
themselves. W. E. Maxwell introduced sanitary boards and embryonic
municipal councils in Sclangor late in the cighties as a means of doing
locally what state councils were already doing at their level.?” Member-
ship was interracial, under the chairmanship of the district officer (as the
collector-magistrate came to be called), and duties gradually expanded
from the clearing away of refuse and the maintenance of drains to all of the
financial and ad ative of ni h-century town gov-
crnment. Maxwell left no doubr as to what he expected of his officers.
They were to take responsibility, not waiting for word from head-
quarters, for all aspects of daily work in their districts, including technical
and professional, whether or not specialists were available. Penghulus
were to be supervised closely, courts were to be run according to regula-
tions and schools and hospitals were to be inspected regularly, and de-
tailed reports prepared. Though he should not rule by fiat—he had no
legislative power—he should have precise knowledge of cverything that
went on in his district; he was to be everywhere and all-knowing. **With-
out 1n any way departing from the reserve incumbent upon a British
functionary,” in short, he was to keep himself up to date on the life of his
arca and make it progress by his own example, competence, and drive,”
Only a few years earlier, some officers had complained that they did not
know what was wanted by their superiors. By the nineties many would
wonder whether such hard raskmasters as Maxwell and Swettenham
could ever be satisfied.

Maxwell also taok the lead in land policy, perhaps the most vital
question to be faced by government if the country was to prosper. The
problem was to work out a system of public finance that would provide
European and other investors and developers with sufficient security of
tenure for their purposes without victimizing the peasantry. Tradition-
ally, all land had been considered the sultan's property., peasants being
permitted to farm parts of it in return for a portion of their crops. The
Straits Scttlements had imported an Indian procedure in the 1830s, legally
at least, though it had not been used everywhere or uniformly. In 1880,
Swettenham recommended that Ceylon’s offer to send an officer to the
straits be accepted so that her methods—then thought more appropriate—
might be tried.” Instead, his bitterest rival, Maxwell, went to Australia in
1882 to study the Torrens system, which, as commissioner of lands, he
then applied in the straits. It was essentially the same system that he
brought to Selangor later, thus providing the basis for the 1891 land
cnactment, similar versions of which were adopted in the other three
states. The system was designed to keep the rulers’ support by paying
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them fixed stipends while, at the same time, giving peasants more secure
title to the land they tilled and providing the government with a regular-
ized means of identifying, assessing, and taxing all holdings. Both within
the states and among them, there was now a unifying force of great
strength, a body of legislation that laid down rules for registration, rents,
and alienation which gave state governments incomparably more control
over socicty and economy than their native predecessors had ever had.*®
This, together with vastly improved communications, had the effect of
further de-emphasizing local differences.

By the cighties it was clear that the states had become more important
cconomically than the Straits Settlements and that, whereas conditions on
the ground were increasingly similar among the states, there was in this
respect a growing divergence between the states and the colony. Admini-
stratively, the position of the governor in Singapore had become some-
what awkward. In the straits, he was a typical crown-colony governor
with sweeping exccutive powers, while vis d vis the states, his legal status
was that of the crown’s representative. Yet in fact it was to him that the
residents reported, though they had a relationship to him not unlike his to
the C.O. in that he normally left them to their own devices and, all being
well, accepted their judgment on day-to-day administration. Anomalies
proliferated. Weld proposed in 1885 that part of his salary be paid from
state budgers since he spent a good deal of his time on their business and
since they were richer than the colony, which therefor should not be
saddled with all of the cost of what was in eftect a joint executive.®! In the
C.0O. there was discussion of the pros and cons. Lucas admitted that the
prosperity of the states had put Malaya ahead of the other two Eastern
colonies, but he felt that, for legal reasons, the governor's salary should
remain a charge on the unic he formally headed. Meade agreed, wishing
the governor to remain independent of the states, to which Herbert added
that the next governor would probably not travel to the mainland as much
as Weld had done. He had talked the matter over with Low, the premier
resident. As governors gradually withdrew from states’ business—which,
inany case, they could not be nearly as familiar with as they were with that
of the colony—Low would take over their supervisory functions as a kind
of resident-in-chief. Though nothing came of this, Low and the C.O.
kept it in mind, and it came up again in the memorandum Low wrote in
the summer of 1889 shortly after his retirement.*? There should be a
confederation of the states, he thought, the richer helping the poorer.
Swettenham proposed in April 1889, four years after Low's and Herbert's
initial musings, the creation of a position called “chief resident, ™ together
with the realignment of responsibilitics among the C.O., the governor,
and the residents.®® This would take account of the growing wealth and
importance of the states, would provide a unified taxation and rail system,
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and, as Low proposed, a means of helping the weaker units. In 1893, a
change of governors being in prospect, discussion resumed in carnest. As
in 1873, it was thought that fundamental changes might be cffected more
smoothly at a time when new faces were about to appear, offering as
always an opportunity for reassignment of senior staffin accordance with
the wishes of an incoming governor. Swettenham from his Perak resi-
dency produced another memorandum emphasizing the reality of direct
rule and the need for more system and less individualism on the part of
residents.®* The governor, Sir Cecil Clementi Smith, reminded the
sceretary of state that he had written to him “long ago™ about appointing a
resident-general * Federation was now a more pressing need than ever
due to the chronic insolvency of Pahang and the refusal of business
members of the Straits Legislative Council to vote for further loans,
nvolving as they were sure to do, an increase of taxation in Singapore.*¢
The anomalous position of the governor could be remedied by making
him high commissioner in the states and governor in the colony, the
resident-general relieving him of the bulk of administrative work in the
states. Considerations of personality caused a flurry of interest for a time.
It was assumed in all quarters that $ ham would be resi i
no one else having a remotely comparable claim. His influence with the
rulers was decisive, thought Lucas, who was Swettenham's strongest ally
in the C.O. Fairfield disagreed markedly, writing of Swettenham, * He is
a headstrong man and I think the new office would turn his head.”'” He
r bered § ham's invol in land dealings, calling him the
hero of the land-speculation party in the service. It would be better to
appoint Maxwell, who had braved the wrath of the governor for opposing
that group. Federation, thought Fairfield, would merely create greater
opportunities for the Swettenham party. Meade concurred, pointing out
that the plan of sending Swettenham around to talk the sultans into a
federation would be a mere farce, for “these unhappy dummies will of
course agree to anything that they arc told to accept.”** As a result of this
controversy, the new governor, Mitchell, was sent out uninstructed. He
was to investigate the circumstances on arrival and make recommenda-
tions. Meanwhile, from his residency in wealthy Perak, Swettenham
offered a small loan to Pahang, promising more in future if needed.®® As
acung governor, Maxwell had the unpleasant duty of reporting this to
London, knowing that it would underscore the most unanswerable point
in the Swettenham-Lucas case—the financial advantage of a federation on
their model.

Mitchell took his time. By contrast with the impulsive Clarke in 1874,
he let fifteen months go by before making his proposals, which, however,
were much the same as Smith’s had been.*® Personalities continued to
impinge on logic. A complete union of the states and the colony, favored
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by Maxwell, was rejected *for various reasons.” including alleged preju-
dice against Swettenham, though some of the same arguments put for-
ward in support of unity among the states applicd cqually to the wider
collection of units.?! Fairficld caved in, noung sourly that no doubt
“* . .the numerous advocates of [federation| on the spot will take occasion
to increase their own salaries. "2 It was just as well, for a month later the
C.0O. got a chief, Josecph Chamberlain, whose outlook was perfecdy in
tune with that of Lucas and Swettenham and who had little in common
with the easygoing Meade or the meticulous Fairfield. Lucas did not
bother Chamberlain with the mountain of files on the background. Fair-
ficld observed that when the minister asked Sir Andrew Clarke—a proposa
possible violation of Pangkor, whether it was not true that the sultans had
readily agreed to the new arrangement, the former governor * .. . rolled
with laughter and said yes, but you know whata native’s consent amounts
to when he is told that the government wants a thing consented to.”?

Federation became a reality in 1896. One of its most important pro-
visions was civil-service unity, an ending of the separate systems whereby
officers had been recruited for the colony and the states. Lucas said that
this and the saving of Pahang, in fact, were its two main justifications.**
Be thatas it may, the forces of regulatization and system within the states,
which by the late eighties had made continued autonomy a barricr to
efficiency and develop were und ble. The mai ¢ of four
distinct administrations in a small country under a single overall authonty
could not be defended. Nor does the excessive centralization that fol-
lowed prove that parochialism had been a good thing or that government
should not have adapted to changing conditions on the ground. As a later
officer pointed out, the very success of the carly residents killed state
autonomy.?® By the nincties the question was not whether reform was
sirable but what kind would emerge:

Federation did not alter the influence of the rulers so much as it encased
their regimes in a new and more comprehensive framework. The durbar
of 1897—the first occasion on which all four chiefs met together—was
mainly ccremonial. Mitchell had no intention of making it an annual atfair
because of the expense.?® Nevertheless, Sultan Idris of Perak continued to
show an interest in the letter of the law, as he had done when Low first
arrived more than twenty years before. At the 1903 conference, he spoke
again of Pangkor, reminding all present, including Swettenham, that
residents were meant to be advisers and expressing the hope that cach state
would continue to manage its own business.®” Outsiders were still told
that the sultans’ dignity was to be scrupulously upheld and * . . _the desire
is that under European guidance their rule should not be purely nomi-
nal.”"** Swettenham went on insisting that it was the rulers, and not the
British government, who i civil servants, European and other.
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But everyone from junior officers in the states to the minister in London
knew thatit was the residents who held the real power. When the sultan of
Pahang tried to influence the posting of a new resident in 1901, Swetten-
ham was emphatic. Though ™. . the Malay sultan of the old school [had)
still to be reckoned with...""1% opposition would not be tolerated,
especially in so important a matter as the filling of a residency.

What did change was the social atmosphere in which Malay royals
lived. It was found that younger men did not look on tradition the same
way their elders did. In the carly 19005, a Malay who would soon enter the
civil service remarked disapprovingly on the waste incident to festivities
such as royal circumcisions, which disrupted all activity, including com-
merce and farming, for months, The regent of Pahang abolished the
custom of common people having to squat down in the presence of
royalty, not because he wished to, but because the influx of non-Malays
made the custom ble.'®! Morcover, aftera ion of Europ
rule, it was not only the social context of the sultans’ authority that had
changed out of all recognition but their own conditioning as well. Boys
had been to school in the straits and were fluent in English, the younger
ones being unable to recall a time when district administration and state-
council routine were not controlled by the British. Raja Alang Iskandar of
Perak, a future sultan, was sent to Oxford, where he stayed with the
family of the master of Balliol and where he was visited by his father,
Sultan Idris. Living in a completely European atmosphere for an
period was a very different expericnce from spending a few months in
Singapore and returning regularly o the familiar haunts of one’s youth. 192
Older royals would change less, some never learning English. But even
they were confronted with the i ble d ds of an alien civilizati
that had to be accommodated to. With Clifford as his guide, Idris went to
London to attend the coronation of Edward VIL What struck Clifford was
the strong impression made both ways—by Europe on the Malay party,
and by them on English people whom they met. Neither side totally
approved of the other. Idris was appalled by the filth of London, by the
unrelenting onslaught of men on nature, and by the anthill existence that
the city's teeming millions sutfered in the place of life. And even as he
gloricd in the dignity and grace of the sultan, Clifford could not forget the
cruclty of the regime that he and his kind had presided over in the recent
past. Yet he was persuaded that between the two there were understand-
ing and sympathy. ** . . the only bases upon which the rule of the alien in
the East can stand and endure.”19 Condescending observations on the
Malays came most often from the C.O. and from governors who spent
short periods in Malaya, whereas the men of longer and decper experience
expressed over and again a regard that, if not uncritical, was grounded in
affection and respect. In 1905, Ernest Birch remarked on the universal
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sensc of relief and rejoicing that greeted the news of Idris's recovery from
an illness. And when news of Low's death arrived that same year, he
added: "It may be truly said of [Low] that he was wrapped up in the
welfare of Perak, and his names, affectionately pronounced as one word,
often fall from the lips of the Perak Malay . 104

At the turn of the century, people were conscious of an cra drawing toa
close, of a congenial atmosphere sceming to fade into the past. Birch
wrote nostalgically,

It was a human admimstration. Everyone pulled together in work
and in play, in every form of amusement so essential to the “mens
sana in corpore sano.” The unofficials, who were assisting to in-
crease the prosperity of the country by mining and planting were the
friends of the officials, not hesitating to represent their needs and
partaking in all forms of sport. The Chinese knew that the Govern-
ment officer was an approachable person and their readiness to
conform to the mining and other regulations imposed upon them
bore testimony to the wisdom of the orders issued. The Malays were
always in touch with and never shrank from confiding in the ofticials
for they knew that their best interests were the chief care of [the]
administration. %%

The head of the Kuala Lumpur sanitary board was horrified when a
colleague wanted to start a club for Europeans only, which would com-
pete with, and possibly submerge, the famous spotted dog. If that had
happened, he thoughe, ** . . f108

we should be a house divided againstieself.

Perhaps no event symbolized the ending of the pioncer phase more than
Swettenham's departure in the autumn of 1903. To the end he was a hard
driver. Though his genuine feeling for the Malays was undoubted he was
not willing to accept them as they were or to leave their cultural evolution
to chance. He said the only thing they had lost under British rule was the
power to oppress, and he lamented that, despite the great benefits of an
ordered socicty, they were still reluctant to exert themselves in any but the
military sphere, now largely closed to them. The easc of their lives made it
unnecessary for them .. .to invent ideals cither of conduct or attain-
ment. 197 [t was the same with administrative arrangements. Under his
regime as resident-gi al and high « , the federation had
become so tightly centralized that some saw it as morc of a union than a
collection whose member states retained any semblance of individuality
and autonomy.'% His personal dealings in land and his investments in
mining and rubber, before and after he left the country, continue to
interest scholars, not all of whom consider such activity to have been
entirely proper.'® However one sces it, Swettenham made no secret of
his firm belicf in business enterprise as the necessary foundation of im-
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perial strength. The affinity of business and government throughout the
industrial world in late Victorian years was familiar enough, as was the
authentic incredulity with which many political figures reacted when
faced with the ion of conflicting interests. If S l was
careless of the consequences in these matters, he was in good company, as
the careers of Lloyd George and many an American senator showed. It
was instinctive with him to think on a grand scale and in rather a hurry at
umes. While on a visit to China in 1902, he and a fellow officer talked of
the need for better coordination of Britain's efforts in that part of the
world. He endorsed a plan for a new department in the C.O. that would
do for East and Southeast Asia what the India Office did for the subcon-
tinent. It would be headed by a council made up of ex-governors and
others with experience, the chairman no doubt being Swettenham him-
self.11° He saw no reason why Malaya should not be the basis of a new
British cmpirc of Southeast Asia, including Burma, the Philippincs, and
the Netherlands East Indies. And he responded with polite disdain when the
sceretary of state offered him the governorship of Kenya—a colony that
he thoughe had littde or no development potential.'*! This was wise.
Swettenham and the other breakers of new ground who all left Malaya
before or shortly after he did—Low, Maxwell, Rodger, Lister, Treacher,
and Clifford—had enjoyed a measure of individual discretion at the resi-
dential level that would be hard to find clsewhere in Edwardian times. As
the biggest man among them, and the most important civil servant in the
history of British Malaya, Swettenham could hardly have been content
with a position that offered less scope for starting new things and for
holding the reins of total power in his own hands afterward. As the C.O.
recognized, there was no one like him anywhere else in the colonies. His
own carcer and the building of Malaya had run their courses together.
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the C.O. was inclined to remove him for his mishandling of a discrepancy in the
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Press, 1953). p. 32. See also Khoo Kay Kim, *“The Federation of 1896: Its Origin,”™
Peninjua Serjarah 1 (Dec. 1966), and A.C. Milner, “The Federal Decision: 1893,
JMBRAS 43 (July 1970). The question of whose idea it was has stirred con-
troversy. Swettenham always claimed it as his (British Malaya, p. 363; Footprints.




110 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

p- 104; “"Minutes of the Conference of Chiefs,” 1903, 20 July 1903, 3; Swettenham
to sceretary of state, 7 Dec. 1902, 273/284; Swettenham to T.C. Macnaghten of
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points was that the British were popular in Malaya whereas they were notin Egypt
and India. See also Footprints, pp. 162-63.

111, Footprints. p. 142. He notes that most governors knew litele about their
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5 The Civil Services:
The Middle Period

THE YEARS from federation in 1896 to the end of the First
World War were a time of consolidation. Legally, the civil services of the
colony and the Federated Malay States (FMS) were now one, with a
common system of recruitment and with all officers being available for
duty n any of the units. Nevertheless, original appointments were still
made to the colony or to the FMS | and the legacy of separation continued
on into the twenties and thirties in various ways. Some officers served all
their time in the colony; others, in the FMS. Many resisted transter from
one to the other. Dissatisfactions arose over ditferences in rate of promo-
tion, in cost of living, and in type of duty. Examination men, appointed as
cadets, did not easily give up their sense of superiority over those who had
Joined the states services under the old patronage system or over men who
had come in as junior officers from 1888 onwards. New arrangements had
to be made to provide common means of judging language ability and
legal competence.!

In the examination competition for Eastern cadetships during the sum-
mer of 1896, there were fourteen openings: three in Ceylon, five in the
straits, and six in the FMS. Candidates were permitted to indicate choices.
Officially, the C.O. made assignments according to needs in the various
dependencics as they saw them, although in effect, these were almost
invariably determined by exanunation marks. Ceylon had always been
the most wanted colony, followed by Hong Kong, the straits, and the
FMS in that order.? To London the continuation of such hicrarchies
among the territories was annoying. They were even less sympathetic to

gradations within parcicular units, the Malayan congeries being the worst
offenders. For their part Malaya's cadets felt that the C.O. was inconsis-
tentin calling for high standards and imperial unity on the one hand and in
resisting costly improvements on the other. They wanted a complete
reorganization such as Ceylon had recently experienced > Without this the
C.0.’s wish that officers of the colony and the FMS be constantly re-
shuffled 50 as to reduce parochialism would encail serious morale prob-
lems. Swettenham felt, for example, that L. P. Ebden, an FMS officer
with a good record, would do well as resident councillor Malacea, but he
knew there would be an uproar if Ebden got the post since this would raise

him over the heads of three other officers who, though less competent in
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Swettenham's opinion, had entered the straits service as examination
cadets, whereas Ebden, having failed the examinations, had started as a
patronage appointec in Selangor.* There was a feeling that requiring two
languages rather than one, as formerly—a change the C.O. wanted as part
of a general improvement in standards— would be unfair because it was
not part of the older officers’ contracts. Similarly, it was hard to get rid of
certain outdated practices that were encased in the colonial regulations,
one being the system whereby men about to go on leave made their own
arrangements with brother officers for covering their work while they
were away. This had been workable enough in times when there were
very few officers and when leaves were infrequent. With a bigger service
and a much wider range of administrative tasks to perform, a more
regularized system was called for.

The C.O. complained that they lacked information on conditions in the
various posts, which they would need if they were to advise applicants of
what to expeet. They had no tables of comparative seniority to use in
judging governors' re dations on p ions and postings, a
serious disadvantage now that the secretary of state had decided to handle
personally all cases of men drawing $2,400 a year or more.$ Heretofore,
the office had depended on personal knowledge. When Ernest Birch was
recommended for the Selangor residency, Lucas was on firm ground,
having known Birch as a fellow junior in the C.O. twenty years before.
He was well aware that Birch, like his father, was prone to chronic
indebtedness, but that he was able, likeable, and popular. The recom-
mendation was approved, though the dispatch, with a copy in Birch's file,
stated that the minister would watch his progress and approve no further
promotion unless the debts were settled.® In most other cases, approval
had been pro forma. To remedy this, the services would be regraded, and
all posts classified according to their importance. Passed cadets—that is,
those who had passed their | and law inati Id then
be able to move directly into substantive posts instead of remaining for
years in a pool awaiting the opening up of positions for which they were
qualified but which were closed to them by a glut of senior men. Allow-
ances would be assigned to certain jobs to offset glaring differences in
costs of living. A major advantage of such a reform, from the C.O.'s point
of view, would be a reduction in the independence of residents, who had
traditionally made assignments according to whim. What was nceded,
London thought, was a government of rules, not of men.

Mitchell and Swettenham had mixed feelings about all this. Higher
salaries they could favor, and more professionalism in certain respects.
Good pay was one of the reasons for the prestige of the ICS.? But if the
system became too machinclike, was there not a danger that the crucial
human qualities would be crowded out? Mitchell never failed to empha-




14 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

size the importance of background in judging his officers. Of A. T. D.
Berrington, senior magistrate in Perak, he wrote that, in addition to being
a highly competent lawyer, the man had been at Clifton and Christ
Church, was quictand well bred, and had .. . that somewhat rare quality
[in a colony] of not being on too intimate terms with his subordinates.™™®
Both Swettenham and his brother, Sir Alexander, acting high commis-
sioner, stressed the importance of getting people who were “'gentlemen in
the truest sense of the word," as Raja Brooke had done to his benefit in
Sarawak.* The governor and the resident-general still hoped for a return
to the system of personal selection rather than examinations, at least for
some of the less bureaucratic posts. India went on requiring tests in
horsemanship, while Malaya had got no farther towards recognizing the
importance of physical qualifications than chest measurements. Return-
ing to arguments he had made before, Mitchell noted chat if the tin
¢conomy faltered, there would be less money for salaries. Would poor
states be able to attrace the meritocracy of the universities? Malaya’s
officers * ... were not as a rule highly educated and some were certainly
not highly intelligent”; but they had done their work admirably, and
government had been efficient until the C.O. had begun sending out men
" .only slightly inferior to those selected for the [ICS)."1° The result, he
said, ramming the point home, had been frequent refusals of appointment
or resignations of passed cadets. If this sort of thing were kept up, the
country would saon have to depend on men of African or Asian descent,
two of whom were already serving. What he wanted were .young
men of good physique and encrgetic and fearless disposition, of moderate
[intellectual] attainments and if possible well brought up. High scholar-
ship is not needed. When it goes with disincliniation to give up luxuries it
produces inefficiency. In the C.O. I tried to stress bodily training and
personal charac '! If examinations were absolutely necessary they
should come after interviews, not before. The Foreign Office used this
method.

The C.O. were not impressed. Malaya was well able to afford good
salaries, as the recent large intakes showed. Physical examinations could
casily be arranged. If written cxaminations had produced the world's
finest cadres for India, they would do the same for Malaya. And if by
chance an overly bookish type slipped through, he could be posted to the
colony rather than to the FMS and could be given secretariat duties. Nor
did the office think Malaya compared badly with other colonies any
longer. On the contrary, it was beginning to rival Ceylon as a supplier of
senior officers for smaller territories. Sir William Maxwell had left to
become governor of the Gold Coast, followed by Sir Henry McCallum to
Lagos in 1897. Sir Edward Mcrewether went to Malta as lieutenant
governor in 1902, proceeding on to the governorships of Sierra Leone and
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the Leewards. Having served as governor of North Borneo, Clifford
departed in 1903 for a colonial secretaryship and four governorships.
Swettenham was offered Kenya. Lecturing in the United States after his
retirement in 1904, Rodger remarked that Malaya was then viewed as a
**. . .training ground for governors of tropical colonies, " especially ones
with complicated political probl and a large p ial for cconomic
development. ' These characteristics, together with Malaya's ncarness to
the Philippines, caused the United States government to send London a
long list of questions about how Malaya was governed, further testimony
to the rising prestige of the country at the turn of the century. ' Though
there was some condescension and amusement in the C.O.— ...they
have first got to catch their hare before they call in an expert to help them
cook it..."—the office was flattered by the request and admitted that the
process of drafting answers had been informative for the British them-
selves. There was talk of sending Swettenham to Manila or having him
speak with officials of the American Embassy in London during his next
leave.'*

For officers serving in Malaya, these were
sense of infe

vears of transition from a
iority to better morale and a realization that conditions had
improved. The service's reputation in Britain was rising accordingly. It
was a slow business, with many dips of the curve. At first, the dramatic
increase in numbers of applications meant only that universitics were
turning out more graduates than before. In this buyer’s market, it was not
surprising that there would be more good men than there was room for at
the top and that some would take positions they were not entirely suited
to. Disappointment would follow, reflecting incompatibility of tastes and
work and also a lack of information beforehand. In the late 1890s, there
were four resignations of cadets who had barely started their carcers in the
FMS. The criticisms of the first two—A. S. Jackson and F. W. Cape—
blossomed into a cause célébre, with newspaper publicity in the straits and
London, and denunciations and rebuttals back and forth for months.
Jackson started off by explaining to his superior in Perak that the “relax-
ing climate™ of Oxford had been bad for his health while there, that his
doctor had recommended more bracing air, and that no one in the civil
service commission or the C.O. could tell him whether or not Malaya
oftered that commodity. ' He weakened his case, however, by writing in
confidence to Treacher, the acting resident-general, admicting that his
real reason was overwork at university and fear that his mind was being
affected by worry and dep conditions that were heightened by the
strangencss and bad climate of Perak. His father reproached the C.0O. for
sending *“educated young English gentlemen™ to places which the office
itself knew nothing of.'¢ The son had been at Clifton and at University
College Oxford, where he read classics. Failing to obtain a place in the
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home civil service or the ICS, he had accepted Malaya without being told
anything about it and, worse, without being allowed time to make in-
quiries before coming to a decision. The gentleman in the C.O. whose
responsibility was to dispatch recruits to their colonies, he went on, had
admitted having been instructed not to reveal how things really were. On
arrival, his son had found that senior and inferior officers blocked the
promotions of juniors, and that he was forced to associate with failed
planters who were “lacking in education or refinement”” and who had *'no
higher ambition than continual drunkenness and barefaced immoral-
ity. "7 A few weeks later Cape resigned from a post in Perak, confiding to
the secretary to government that poor pay and dim prospects were the
reasons, and remarking that he preferred a schoolmaster's job in Eng-
land.'* On returning home, the two wrote a letter to The Times, entitled
“"Honi soit qui mal y pense” and signed “Oxonian and Cantab..” sctting
forth their cases against the government. The letter was later printed in
the Malay Mail as well 19

Treacher, by this ame back in his post as resident Perak, wrote to
Swettenham, the resident-general, with details of the resignations. Both
young men had been ereated kindly, he said, Cape being a distan relative
af his. He admitted that the cost of living was a real source of grievance,
but it was absurd to complain of hard conditions at the time. “There is
practically no. . .roughing it [now]."2 The two were young and ap-
parently soft. No doubt they had made a mistake in leaving ™ .. . the social
comforts of [England| to take part in the work of introducing civilization
i a Malay state; it is not of such stuff that the men who have helped to
make the [empire] were formed. 2! In the ensuing correspondence, it was
discovered that the C.O. had not only been helpful about supplying
mformation on Malaya, but had given the recruits the name of an FMS
officer on leave, whom they had not got in touch with. It was conceded
that more could be done in this sphere and that salaries oughtto be highe
Swettenham used the case to renew his plea for a return to appointments
by patronage, pointing out that written examinations could not dentify
physical stamina, character and the family background and breeding
without which an officer would be unable to ™ . . . command the respect of
the various people over whom he holds authority. 32 A, R. Venning,
sceretary to government in Perak, defended the senior men who had
turned a wilderness into prosperous states, asking if th
make way for “young gentlemen from the universities
afraid o “mix in the atfairs of a wicked world. 23

In the following year, the third resignation was received, that of Richard
Greentree, also a Perak cadet. A brilliant Balliol scholar, he had collapsed
during his civil service examinations, suffering from nervous exhaustion,
and had therefore placed far lower than his Oxford tutors had expected

were now to

who seemed




THE CIVIL SERVICES: THE MIDDLE PERIOD nu7

him to do. In Malaya, his behavior was crratic. A member of the medical
service examined him after charges were brought by the protector of
Chinese that Greentree had abused his Chinese servant boys, following
them about at all hours of the day and night and accusing them of
engaging in sodomy. He was given to wild outbursts in which he struck
himself on the head with a cane, sang to himselfin the presence of others,
and seemed to dwell in a fantasy world for days at a time. The fourth
resignation—that of A. J. L. Darby, a Selangor cadet— came a year later.
A son of the dean of Chester, Darby made complaints similar to those of
Jackson and Cape, ing the C.O. of misrep ion and maintai
ing that it was wrong to expect men in their twenties, with an expensive
education behind them, to be content with service conditions suited to
boys of seventeen or cighteen coming out on patronage appointments.
Though the four cascs and others coming later were exceptional in that
the great majority of recruits did not resign, they compelled the C.O. and
the FMS government to reconsider the need for greater care in sclection of
cadets, for making more information available to them, and for better
remuncration. Recognizing a **. . . general feeling in the universitics that
the cadetships [were] not worth taking,” the C.O. cooperated with
Swettenham on changes in the regulations, including an casing of lan-
guage requirements and the adding of an appendix with information on
living costs, climate, and clothing, and suggestions of books to read. 24
The exchange rate between the pound and the straits dollar was adjusted.
It was seen that written tests would have to be accompanied by interviews
and more thorough physical examinations if cases like G ‘s were to
be avoided. Meanwhile, Swettenham sent details on three 1898 cadets—
Meadows Frost, G. J. Amery, and A. E. C. Franklin, whose backgrounds
were much the same as those of their colleagues who had resigned but who
were doing good work and were happy in their new environment.
Amery, in Perak, and Franklin, in Negri Sembilan, were already up-
country. Frost's only complaint was that he had landed in the secretariat.
He wanted a post in the ulu, where he could be with the people and make
better progress on their language. Swettenham added with relish that he
had tried to help the young man to realize his commendable ambition,
which contrasted so markedly with the sour comments of the much
publicized Jackson and Cape, but that he could find no one willing to
exchange a rural post for Frost's job in comfortable Kuala Lumpur.?$
There is ample evidence that this was not mere propaganda and that most
recruits were attracted by the exotic, whose lure in fact had been one of the
primary reasons for their coming. Some senior officers would still be
anxious to cap their carcers with a governorship elsewhere—Rodger
applicd for a transfer to Africa in 1900—and occasionally men seconded to
positions outside the FMS elected to remain if the terms were right, such
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as Arthur Keyser in Brunci in 1901. But the average junior or middle-
ranking officer was content. Within a few years, the C.O. was to find that
Malayan administrators were too well off financially to be interested in
other colonies. ?®

The 1896-1914 in-take, unlike the Malay states recruits of the carlier
period, typified the civil-service class in general, home, Indian and
colonial. Most were from public schools and Oxford, Cambridge, or
Dublin. Occasionally, a non-university man got in, usually after intensive
study with onc of the professional crammers in London who were also
used by university graduates. Maurice Thunder was at Wren's and took
seventieth place in the 1905 examinations, resigning soon after, and E. B,
Williams, a Wellingtonian who joined in 1908, spent longer at Wren's
than most cadets spent at their universities, managing to place cighty-
seventh in his year. Archibald Campbell, 1901, was a St. Andrew's man
with an additional degree from a German univeristy. S. W. Jones, des
tined to go far, entered in 1911 from Manchester University, and G. R.
Sykes, 1913, took his degree at Liverpool. A. H. de R. Fonseca. 1900, was
a Eurasian with degrees from Bombay and Oxford. He served in the FMS,
working mainly with Chinese and Indians. Haji H. G. Sarwar, an Indian,
entered in 1896, as did a West Indian, E. L. Talma, both serving in the
straits where, for the most part, they would not be called on to deal with
Malays. The average degree class was a second, with slightly fewer thirds
and an occasional first. 37 Swettenham's feeling that there was not likely to
be any correlation between academic performance and success on the job
would appear to be borne out by the records of four who took firsts at
Oxford or Cambridge—L. McLean, G. Ouston, and F. E. Taylor, all
1900, and V. G. Ezechiel, 1907—whose careers were respectable rather
than distinguished. Nor is there any reason to think that men coming to
Malaya were all that different in ability from those going elsewhere,
though it was often assumed they were inferior because they were usually
at the bottom of the list of successful candidates annually. To have passed
at all meant that one was among the top 100 to 120 applicants in the whole
country. Those who did not place greatly outnumbered those who did,
not to mention the thousands who did not sit the examinations atall. The
difference in scores between ICS and Malayan cadets was, in many cases,
very small. The ime would soon come when Malaya would be preferred
to India and Hong Kong. Within a decade or two, some would choose it
over all the alternatives, including the home civil service. Meanwhile, the
annual handful of young men who went to work in Whitchall or who
sailed for the East showed by their career performances that good, bad,
and indifferent results would obtain, without any particular reference to
one’s marks on those gruelling tests in Burlington Gardens. The real
world was a vastly diffcrent and—some would have said—a harder task-
master.




Platc 6. Kuala Kubu, 1903. Cricket group, Kuala Kubu vs. Kuala Lumpur. Courtesy
of Malaysian National Archives
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Since the cadets were a tiny minority of the total number of graduates
that swept out of British universities every year, it may be asked how it
was that they set their feet on the path that led to Malaya. Some answered
realistically, or cynically, thata man had to have a job, and that if one were
not clever enough for grander posts, Malaya was an adequate sccond best.
R. O. (later Sir Richard) Winstedt felt thac way in 1902.3* His fellow cadet
of that year, M. B. Shelley, a scholarship student ac Cambridge,
**...worked twelve hours a day for a year™ preparing for the examina-
tions that would open up an honorable, if not an opulent, carcer.?® ], E.
Kempe, 1911, was frank to say that he would have preferred to stay in
England, while W. D. Barron, also 1911, did not fancy the academic life
and saw a government job simply as a matcer of bread and butter.3®

Others had family connections with the Ease. E. W. F. Gilman, 1899,
was preceded in the straits by both sets of grandparents as far back as the
1830s. His father and he himself were born in the East, where the family
firm was engaged in trade with China.?' T. W. Clayton, 1900, wanted the
ICS but was glad enough to accept the offer of a cadetship in the straits
where he had a cousin.?? The parents and an uncle of W. J. K. Stark, 1910,
were in India, which was home to him more than Britain was.’* W. R.
Boyd, 1911, and his younger brother Robert, 1913, were born in India and
naturally thought of working in that parc of the world. > An uncle of J. M.
Barron, 1914, wrote him from India, advising that he reject the offer of ai
ICS appointment he had just received and go instead to Malaya where the
political prospects were more likely to assure a full career.s

For other men the economic need was there all right but it was not just
any kind of work that would do. Though they may have had no contacts
i the East, their families were of the sort that inclined to public service
instinctively and by tradition, whether it be the civil services, the church,
or thearmy. G. E. (later Sir Geoffrey) Cator, 1907, talked offhandedly of
his family’s lack of influence in the business world, as though he would
have welcomed a job there if it had been otherwise. But he added that, as it
was, they never thought of anything but government service for their
Cambridge-cducated son.** So, too, with A. F. (later Sir Arthur) Richards,
1908, the only member of the Malayan services who rose to the peerage.
He had wanted to go abroad as long as he could remember. Clifton, his
public school, had well-cstablished traditions of imperial service, and by
the time Richards got to Christ Church Oxford, he knew very well what
he wanted to do with his life.’” P. S. F. Nairn, who entered the Kelantan
service in 1907 and later transferred to the FMS, was the son of a civil
servant. His mother had been educated abroad, and, by the time he was
ready for King's Canterbury. he had travelled widely on the Continent,
learned German, and got interested in mountaineering. At Trinity Ox-
ford, he came under the influence of Rev. Michacl Furse, head of the
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university’s appointments committee and later bishop of Pretoria. A
highly imaginative, intelligent, and athletic young man, Nairn loved
poctry and classical literature and the fellowship one found in the com-
mon room and in the Alpine Club. Moved by the unspoken patriotism
and sense of responsibility of his class he was thought ideally suited to
tropical service. He failed to get into the Egyptian administration (there
were 160 Oxford and Cambridge applicants for twelve positions his
year), but he accepted a post on the staff of the British adviser to the raja
of Kelantan, then under the nominal suzerainty of Siam.** J. V. G. Mills,
1911, had a background similar to Nairn's. After the passage of sixty years
he was more outspoken about the spirit of the age they had grown up in
than cither had been in early carcer times. The average cadet, wrote Mills,
came from the genteel and impecunious middle classes that had a high
sense of discipline and duty. His father, a commander in the navy, scrved
for a time as harbormaster of Port Swettenham, which was principally his
creation. The family was imperially minded in the style of Joseph Chani-
berlain, considering the empire “a fine instrument for good in the
world."* Sharing such sentiments, some of the others also had specific
interests in the Orient. A, E. Coope, 1911, studicd Buddhism at Oxford
and hoped for a post in Burma,®® M. C. Hay, 1913, had read Joseph
Conrad and Hugh Clifford. He borrowed a Malay grammer from one of
his Cambridge professors and was well along with the language by the
tme of his appointment.*! His fellow 1913 cadet, A. G. Morkill, got
interested earlier still. A missionary lectured a his prep school, showing
lantern slides of South Sea islands.

Later ac Charterhouse we used to debate such themes as whether
colonies were like ripe fruit which must inevitable drop from the
tree; there was also Kipling; a maternal uncle had managed a railway
in India; a great aunt had been married to a PWD engincer and had
been with him in the mutiny; a very remote collateral ancestor had
been governor of a province under the East India Company
- -.my father had given me a good example of public service and we
were taught, and understood, that privileges involved obligations.*?

At New College Oxford, the careers adviser poured cold water on his
ambition to go to the East. “It [is] barrack life: you live in pajamas.*} His
family were horrified and did all they could to dissuade him. Neighbors
were mobilized, pointing out to him that, as the eldest son, he had a duty
to stay and manage the estate. Desperately, an appointment in the diplo-
mauc service was produced. His mother accompanied him to Kew
Gardens in hopes of finding out what kind of place her son was deter-
mined to go to. *Passing from a cool house full of ferns, then one slightly
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warmer we eventually entered one where the steam and intense heat
fogged our glasses and with difficulty we read on a plant, ‘Federated
Malay States.” *Alan,” she exclamed, ‘you cannot go to a place like
this." 44

Once they had passed their written exaninations and had been looked
over by a C.O. doctor, recruits faced the major question—one that would
be answered soon after their arrival in Malaya: which of the three streams
would they be assigned to—Malay, Chinese, or Indian? In the early years,
some were not aware of this important mateer until told of iton arrival. It
was some time before any particular system governed it, m.kax: some
teel later on that selection had been too casual. Nearly ev
the biggest group—Malay—stood first, oftering the most varied and in-
teresting work and the best chances of pr 1on. The Chinese la
were the most difficult and obviously were not every man's cup of tea.
The Labor Department, whose officers spoke Indian tongues, was scen as
the most confining of the three. Each year, as the new cadets arrived, the
government ascertained how many were needed in each stream, and one
way or another selections were made. In 1911, six cadets reached Perak
together—]. E. Kempe, C. C. Brown, J. V. Cowgill, G. S. Hellings, H.
R. Joynt, and A. E. Coope. They were immediately told by W. E. Pepys.
the passed cadet who met them, that two would stay where they were and
study Malay, two would go to China, and two to India. Telling them
that they would be allowed to choose in order of their standings on the
examinations the acting resident, Oliver Marks, left them to think it
over.** Kempe, with the highest standing, knew that he did not want
Tamil but was unsure of the other two languages. Brown, second, was
equally indecisive. After much soul searching, they were called before the
acting resident at noon on the following day. Kempe and Brown elected
Malay. It was decided that Cowgill and Hellings should go to China and
Joynt and Coope, to India. When N. A. (later Sir Newnham) Worley
arrived in Kuala Lumpur three years later, he and two fellow cadets were
treated to tests thac they thought farcical.** One by one, they were
paraded before the protector of Chinese, assisted by a senior C
interpreter who spoke a few words, after which the protector asked if the
cadet could distinguish among the tones of the words. The exercise
seemed laughable because all had been told beforehand that Chinese was
the most difficult language and that officers of the protectorate never
reached the highest posts in the service. One cadet, who was an accom-
plished violinist but who did not fancy China, proved to be tone deaf.
Another, an Ulsterman with a thick accent who liked the idea of going to
China, heard the tones with perfect precision, but was soon brought back
from Canton, where he had failed completely. Jarrett was at first dis-
appointed to be assigned to India, though he did well and had a highly
successtul career. Stark’s posting to India, where his family was, made

ntonese
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sense, and he welcomed it at the time. J. M. Barron volunteered for
Tamil, never regretted it and rose to be controller of labor. In fact, most
Chinese and Tamil cadets ultimately learned Malay, and many Malay
speakers learned at least one additional language. The three streams were
by no means scaled off from one another as regards postings, especially in
the middle and senior years. Men specialized at first. Later on there was
considerable homogencity throughout the service, with senior officers
being assigned to a wide varicty of posts without respect to the depart-
ments they had served in initially and the languages they had learned as
young cadets.

If this was true of the three language streams it was less true of the straits
versus the FMS scrvices, especially among more senior men. It was all
very well to wave a wand in London and say that the services were now
unified. Indigestibility persisted in Malaya. A straits officer resigned in
1896, citing miscrably slow promotion due to the glut produced by
unification.*” Many stuck to the old view that officers had de facto tenure
in their jobs and should not be transterred against their will. Somewhat
inconsistently. the government held that this kind of provincialism was
bad in so small a country, yet went on appointing cadets to the straits or
the FMS, not to both. Some anomolics, such as the lack of pension rights
in one or two of the states, were dealt with, but regrading of the whole
service took a long time, much to the frustration of passed cadets. Most
bothersome of all was the problem of men who had taken service under
the old “junior officer™ arrangement or who had been locally appointed
and who were now looked on as anachronisms. Language and law ex-
aminations were designed for them so that they would have, in effect, the
same quahifications cadets had. Nevertheless, the bias against those who
had come in by a side door" dicd hard.*¥ No one denied their services to
the country and their local knowledge, which was perhaps decper than
could be achieved by subsequent recruits due to improved communica-
tions and shorter postings. But some of them could not adjust to a more
burcaucratc era. Bede Cox, who was Jarrett’s DO in Klang beginning in
1913, refused to sit in court and left all the land office work to his
subordinates. Having joined the service as a junior officer in 1888, he was
a “'back number," and the best Jarrett could say of him was that under his
light hand, a new officer learned by doing.*® A. T. Dew had started as a
naval cadetin the 1860s and worked his way up in Perak. By 1908, he was
stll DO Lower Perak, with no prospect of becoming a resident. Ernest
Birch had Dew and his contemporaries in mind when he wrote that
“*...the work now required of officers is of a kind which is not so readily
accomplished by the older men, ™50

Of these, the best known by far was Captain Hubere Berkeley, the rusty
buckle of Malaya, whose service began in 1886 and spanned forty years,
twenty-seven of them in one district—Upper Perak. Born in 1864,
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Berkeley came from an ancient Catholic family—his grandfather was the
carl of Kenmare—and he eventually inherited an estate near Drottwich, in
Worcestershire, where he retired at the end of his unique Malayan career.
After service as a midshipman in the Royal Navy, he came to the East and
was made a police inspector in the Dindings on the Perak coast. His first
appointment to his beloved Perak Hulu came in 1891, The district, one of
the biggest in the country, lay on the Stamese frontier, which Berkeley
had a hand in demarcating to Perak’s advantage. Its population, almost
entirely Malay, was small. One of the DO's achievements was to found
new settlements for Malays in its northern reaches, sometimes allowing
retired eriminals to live there on a probationary system overseen by him.
He undertook irrigation projects, being much interested in the cultivation
of wet padi and convinced that sound agriculture was the principal, if not
the only fit basis of Malay life. He started a rice mill and labored mighuly
to increase the district’s production of fruit and vegetables. Rubber and
tin. the passions of other Perak districts, he disapproved of as harbingers

ot the same inhuman materialism that had ruined England. He knew every
penghudn and village head in the district and hundreds of his people by
name and sight—as many as three generations of them by the end of his
tme in the mid-1920s. What he had created by then was a selt-contained
feudal satrapy, leisurely in its pace of lite, traditional, and rural, ignorant

ot and indifferent to the humming, interracial society to the south, with
its swift, efficient communications and bustling development cconomy
Berkeley hated roads, machines, lawyers, moneylenders, and newspapers.
He traveled throughout his parish on foot, by horse, or clephant, as the
terrain required, bathed i streams and hot springs, and entertamed him-
seltand his guests with performances of Oriental drania. In the Christmas
season, the party often included fifteen to twenty Europeans, a thousand
or more Malays, and smaller numbers of Chinese and Indians.

To protect his hilly domain from the detested philistines of the towns
and valleys below. he had to preserve his own long tenure of office, which
he did by persuading his superiors to periodically upgrade his position so
as to keep pace with his promutions and increases of pay. ' He had to sce
that no one interfered with him. In the role of master and sole arbiter he
was well cast. Within the diserict he was loved. respected, and obeyed. On
one oceasion—there were precious few—a European lawyer had the
temerity to enter the district to defend a man accused of thievery . Sittng
as magistrate, Berkeley histened impauently for a minute or two as evi-
dence was produced. Then he said, [ do not want to hear any more: he's
guilty.™** The lawyer protested that he had not yet spoken in the man's
defense, and Berkeley replied, “Of course he's guilty. He always was a
cattle thiet as were his father and grandfather before him."™*? When Sir
William Taylor, the acting governor, announced his intention to visit the
district early in the century, Berkeley sent a message that the brnidge at the

TS
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Plate 7. Grik, 24 December 1924. Left to right: To' Muda Meor Yahya bin Ngah
Muhammad Amin (ADO Lenggong), W. E. M. Martin (forest officer, Kuala
Kangsar), Captain Hubert Berkeley (DO Perak Hulu), ). G. Crawford (ADO Kroh),
Hon. AN, Kenion (Lawyer, Ipoh). Enche Mat Saman bin Mat Seh (deputy ADC
Grik). Standing at back: Enche Meor Ahmad bin Ngah Muhammad Amin (penghulu
Temelong). Courtesy of Malaysian National Archives.

forty-second mile was out. In fact, there never was a bridge, or any need
for one, at the forty-second mile. On another occasion, a resident planned
to drive up to the DO's headquarters a Grik. Berkeley got wind of it, and,
when the resident’s car reached a point about a third of the way along. it
was stopped by a huge tree felled across the road.* Not a man could be
tound to help move it, and the resident, like the acting governor, had to
give up. But another resident, Licutenant Colonel W. J. P. Hume, did
manage to reach Grik. A racher fussy, self-esteenming man, he noticed that
many thoroughtares in the litde place had names, *Downing Street” with
Berkeley's office on it, “Piccadilly.” “"Rotten Row,™ and *“*Berkele
Square,” where several roads met at the main padang. “How is it,
Berkeley, that there is no road or street named after mie?™ he asked.**
Berkeley promised to put that right at once, and so he did. Subsequent
visitors, it they chanced to wander in that direction, might have noticed a
narrow alley running for a few yards between two shop houses and then
petering out in thick undergrowth. A rough wooden sign announced it to
the world as “Hume Mews.™

Berkele:
his own uniformed guards and large private tent—and his defiance of
higher authorty did not please everyone. If he disliked an official letter he
stmply ignored it. But as was said of him by onc of his subordinates who

's grand airs—even when outside his district, he traveled with
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cannot be accused of a conservative bias he was a real gentleman who
always supported those in need, usually out of his own pocket, and who
was totally beneficent in his admiteedly autocratic rule.®® Morkill, who
followed him, could sce the good in what he had done, though he was
aware thay only if all cconomic and social development were thought to
be wrong could Berkeley's regime be justified. In any case, Upper Perak
began o feel the hot breath of modernization soon after Berkeley left. He
was one of the last of a dying breed.

As the personality of the services changed, so did the numbers and the
characteristics of administration. The C.O. kept a watching brief on
tendencies to inflate the various cadres, always questioning requests for
approval of new appointments. Growth had been startling. In the period
1867 to 1895, the average annual in-take was just over four officers. From
then undl 1914, itnearly tripled. By 1904, there were 180 in the combined
straits and FMS services.” The 1911 and 1913 groups were extraordinar-
ily large—twenty-one and twent: y—though the total did not rise as
erm.lm.)l[v in the last prewar years as it had done in the two decades
previous, due in part to attrition and to the practice of reclassifying certain
posts downward. At the beginning of the war it stood at about 220. The
reason for London's concern was that these figures contrasted markedly
with those of other colonies, such as Hong Kong i the East and the newer
ones in West Africa. Governors were able to defend the increases, how-
ever, by pomnting to Malaya’s spectacular economic record. Tin and
rubber production depended on efficient systems of land administration,
which, in turn, demanded ever larger numbers of European officers to
oversee the servicing of applications, the checking of surveys, and the
levying and collecting of premiums. In 1901, a mining conference held in
Perak revealed that staff shortages had caused many applications to lic
unattended for as long as nine years. 8 Shortly afterward, when the rubber
boom was at its heighe, local administrations in Johore and elsewhere fell
years behind in the vital work of controlling land alicnation. DOs were
expected to manage land work along with all their other tasks. With
perhaps a third of the total strength on leave at any given time, the
alternative being an exhausted force mcapable of efficiency, it is hard to
see how the country could have done with a smaller service. On reflec-
tion, the C.O. had to admit that there were two sides to prosperity: it
created the need for big administrations, and it produced the revenues to
maintain them.

As the atmosphere that officers worked in became steadily more com-
mereial, the government grew more and more bureaucratic. One of
Swettenham’s last acts was yet another classification, with men being
appointed to classes rather than to particular posts, thereby ending once
and for all the proprictary rights to their positions that older officers had
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cherished. Lucas agreed, though he wanted the top appointments handled
ad hoc so that outsiders could be brought in, when appropriate, to fill the
colonial secretaryship or the resident generalship.%® Titles were modern-
ized. Secretaries to government in the states become secretaries to resi-
dents. Magistrates-collectors became district officers. Moves from one
post to another occurred much more frequently, resulting in a condition
ot discontinuity, or “musical chairs,” that was the bane of colonial gov-
ernments in many parts of the world. In 1900, Rodger. substantive resi-
dent Sclangor and acting resident Perak, went on leave. Birch, resident
Negri Sembilan, left at the same time. Treacher, resident Perak, returned
trom leave and resumed his post. but only for two months, after which he
became acting resident-gencral as Swettenham went on leave. Licutenant
Colonel Walker, commander of the Malay States Guides. then took over
as acting resident Perak. Belfield, who had formerly acted in Selangor,
took that post again. Wisc, secretary to the resident. general, went to
Negri Sembilan, and his predecessor, Butler, to Pahang, These moves, of
course, necessitated many more in the lower ranks., In his first seven years,
R.J. B. Clayton, an 1898 cadet, had fourteen official changes of job and
nine transfers of station. This unsatisfactory state of affairs would be
talked about to the end but never rectified. To the men in charge, itwasa
question of balancing needs and consequences. Under the old systen,
there had been a risk of stagnation and of government by personal whim.
Under the new, it was possible to lapsc into factory methods where men
became interchangeable pares. where individual talent counted for litdle,
and where no one stayed long enough in any one place to learn what the
people were like.

Other indications of increasing burcaucracy were the endless flow of
petitions asking for higher pay, the constant grumbling about slow
promotions or promotions made on some basis other than seniority, and a
tendency of everyone from residents to Eurasian clerks to adoprt a stance
that reminded the C.O. of labor unions.* There was no doubr that the
tluctuation of the straits dollar worked to the disadvantage of the services
more often than not, and that salaries failed to keep pace with the cost of
living over the long run. The dilemma on promotions was not unlike that
on postings, in that neither system—in this case, seniority versus merit—
was faultless. The evils of unadorned seniority were obvious: the auto-
matic promotion of everyone, regardless of qualifications, and the certain
frustration of able juniors. And if the criterion was merit, subjectivity and
favoritism would be given full rein. The C.O. wanted a merit system,
which meant, in practice, that it had to acc pt the judgments of gov-
ernors.®! Over the years, in fact, both approaches were used. Seniority
was the normal rule, but there was frequent recognition of serious short-
comings and exceptional talent alike.
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One of the most notable advantages of greater professionalism, espe-
cially from London’s point of view, was a further lessening of the casy-
going nineteenth-century practice of landowning and commercial activity
by civil servants. Regulations had tightened steadily trom the cighties
onwards. By 1900 it was understood that officers could not take partin the
running of businesses and could not invest in companies with which they
dealt in the course of their official dutics. But there were still loop holes
allowing men to own land such as plots on which they grew vegetables
and fruic for cheir own consumption. It was difficult to make hard and fast
rules about investments when these did not apply to members of the C.O.
The crux was whether or not there was likely to be a contlict of interest.
“The matter is one atfecting the honor of the service,” said a circular of
1907.62 Officers must be above suspicion. Though prohibitions were not
absolute, which all agreed would be unfair, full publicity was given to the
regulations from the recruitment stage forwards and in cases of doubt,
officers were to put questions to their superiors. It was thought that the
threat of exposure would be enough to prevent abuses. When he became
resident-gencral in 1902, Treacher was asked to sell his shares in the Raub
mines. The C.O. forbade retired governors taking directorships in com-
panies that had interests in colonies where they had served. ®?

But old habits lingered on. In 1907, Erncst Birch, resident Perak, got
into trouble with the high commussioner, Sir John Anderson, when heand
the sultan agreed to the setting up of a mining exhibition that was a
publicity effort by private companies and that had not been cleared with
Kuala Lumpur. Having served in the C.O.. Anderson was sensitive to
matters that his predecessors, particularly Swettenham, had looked on
quite differently, He accused Birch of a serious indiscretion, of being
cither the dupe or the accomplice of the companies.® Through private
correspondence involving a former governor, Sir Cecil Clement Smith, a
friend of Birch’s, and others, the martter was inflated beyond its im-
portance. A special meeting was held in the C.O. to discuss the resident’s
conduct and his overall record. It was found that Birch, who was popular
with the business community. had often come under fire from his superiors
for laxity of this kind. As g governor of North Borneo, a quasi-commercial
position, he had accepted a piece of land and a house in return for some
tin-bearing land wanted by his benefactor. Against regulations, he had
allowed two government doctors to continue inspecting brothels for
private remuncration and had turned a blind eye on the illegal activitics of
a Chinese connected with the case. In none of these instances had he been
willfully dishonest. Nor, on the other hand, had he shown the judgment

expected of'so senior an ofticer. There was some sentiment for demanding
his carly reurement. In the end. the parliamentary under sceretary.
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Winston Churchill, spoke with Birch, making clear that he would be
allowed to return to Malaya on probation only. He was not made acting
resident-general when the incumbent went on leave, though, as the senior
resident, he was the logical choice. But he remained in the Perak residency
until his normal retirement time in 1910, after which he was knighted.**
Like Berkeley in his sphere, Birch represented an earlier time when things
were less formal and when the rough expedients of pioncers went un-
noticed.

The charactenistic of the middle years that was destined to assume
greater long-term importance than any other was a concern for bringing
Malays mto the civil services on a footing that would eventually make
them the equals of the British. The trend was gradual. Its origins are found
in the carliest years of administration on the west coast when Europeans
were thin on the ground. At that time, the official line was that Britain
ruled through, not over, native officeholders. Low did both, in fact,
continuing to employ penghulus who had been part of the Perak system
before the Briush arrived, but subjecting them to close supervision,
giving them tasks that were new to them and building them into 2 much
more centralized government than the state had ever had before. Above
them was the aristocratic cl yal and yal h hereditary
atles and privileges in each local area. To the more important of these Low
gave stipends and membership on the State Council, while territorial
chiefs who were not of royal blood eventually got minor posts as magi-
strates or superintendents of penghulus in addition to salaries. The ruling
class, as a whole, was thus compensated for loss of power and, at the same
time, made dependent on and beholden to the British. It was slow going,
Years passed before such officcholders could be accurately described as
administrative officers in the same sense as locall appomted Europeans
were. Selangor collectors urged local datos to take better care of roads and
bridle paths and when approached wich various kinds of requests later on
they were able to remind them of jobs not done so that the connection
between authority and rewards became clear. In 1887, Bellamy, collector
i Kuala Langat, was able to report favorably on the efficiency of a raja
whom he and the sultan had putin charge of road work % Four years later,
Campbell in Ulu Selangor was still discouraged by the high-handedness
and undependability of two penghulus in his district, but he noted with
satisfaction that **Haji Mar Salch of Rawang has done excellent work and
has collected a great deal of revenue; he is encrgeric, willing and out-
spoken, which is a comfort ina Malay."®” In back ward Pahang, Clifford
had little good to say of penghulus at first, but he soldiered on doggedly,
spending many days talking with them in their own areas and at head-
quarters. Improvement came in time.
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By the nincties the cost of maintaining a large European officer corps
was causing concern, despite Malay's remarkable prosperity. In London
and in the FMS, it was observed that India and Ceylon had had success
with subordinate native officers, saving money at the same time as they
gave local elites a sense of participation. ® For Malaya, the opening of the
civil services to native officers could be taken as a belated honoring of
pledges given at Pangkor and clsewhere. The most prominent residents in
Selangor after Swettenham's time—Maxwell, Rodger, and Treacher—
had strong views on the matter. They agreed with the majority of their
colleagues, including Swettenham and Birch, that most Malays would do
well to remain agriculturalists, and they had no more liking for babus than
the others had. But they and Rodger in particular, arguced that the moral
progress of the Malays called for education in English, notin the vernacu-
lar only, so that Malay leaders could participate on equal terms with other
Orientals and wich the British in governing the states.®® What concerned
Rodger, Treacher, Robson, and other public men in Selangor was that the
Malays, who were in any case becoming a minority in these years, would
fall so far behind the Chinese and the Indians that they would be in danger
of becoming a helpless rural proletariat in their own country. Since
English was, in cffect, the administrative language of the FMS as well as
the colony, the training of young Malay males in that tongue would be a
necessary first step towards preparing them for government service, A
certain amount had been done already: Klang's Malay vernacular school
had opened in 1875, followed by another in Langat soon after. As far back
as 1823, Raftles had favored education for the sons of chiefs, a time-
honored practice in many parts of the empire. In 1876, Jervois arranged
for the enrollment of Raja Mansur and Raja Chulan, sons of Sultan
Abdullah, in the Raffles Institution at Singapore. Low saw to the depar-
turc of Mansur in W. E. Maxwell's care the following year.™ Though he
could see the sense of this for high-born youths, he said that he **did not go
in much for schools" otherwise, being convinced that the British should
not push too hard with European ideas in a country only recently occupied
and stll partly hostile to the conquerors,”! In all the west coast states,
boys had to be dragooned into attending school. Standards were not high,
The native master at Klang employed his boys at cutting firewood and
running errands, and it is not surprising that they were often truant, being
encouraged in this by their parents.”? Considerable progress had been
made by the 1890s, although it was sngven rq,mnz]lv and with regard to
type of school. $ ham's vi ion in Selangor helped
increase the number of vv.rnuular pupils in that state, but there was only
one English school there, while in Perak, by the time of Low's departure,
there were seven. Sultan Idris returned from his visit to England con-
vinced of the need for English education. He started classes in his astana
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and gave his support to the new institution, eventually called the Clifford
School, which opened at Kuala Kangsar shortly afterward. Once Swet-
tenham had left the Selangor residency, a similar effort was made there,
warmly endorsed by the new resident, W. E. Maxwell. Grants-in-aid
were provided to the English schools.

All of these efforts had been on a small scale relative to the need for
clerical staft and other subordinates in a civil service that would be ade-
quate to the chall, of spiraling economic develog L 5 |
remained opposed to English instruction for peasant boys. But on the
subject of Malays being threatend by their Chinese and Indian competi-
tors, he could be moved, and he was not against the cmployment of more
Malays in lower positions, especially as this would keep administrative
costs down. In 1899, the scholarships started in Selangor by Rodger
several years carlier were increased in number. Perak, where Rodger was
then resident, followed suit. When Swettenham became high commis-
sioner in 1901, leaving the office of resident-general to the more liberal
Treacher, there was a friendlier attitude in Kuala Lumpur towards the
question of training Malays and bringing them into the services, even if
the numbers holding posts that could be called administrative was still
small. Arriving at totals is a matter of definitions. The 1904 civil list
contained the names of nine Malays, all but one being in Perak. Four of the
Perak officers were sons of ex-Sultan Abdullah. Five of the nine were
scttlement officers, a rank that had not been considered to be on the same
planc with cadets and junior officers when held by Europeans, although
some Malays had been raised from it to district-officer rank. Not included
among the nine were Malay officers in Negri Sembilan and Pahang,
though their duties as magistrates or scttlement officers were much the
same as those of men in Selangor and Perak whose names do appear.
Below these were some 1,400 Malays, exclusive of police, who were
serving as magistrates, penghulus, and clerical workers.™ Promotion to
higher levels, even thoses listed as officers along with the Europeans, was
difficult because few Malays could qualify in law.

This was the situation as of the second chiefs’ conference in 1903.
Swettenham, who had only a few months left in Malaya, was still reluc-
tant about any large-scale influx of Malay officers, and went on saying
that the Malays were not interested in government service. Arguing on
the other side of the question, but always gently in deference to the great
man, were Treacher and Rodger, both of whom would retire the follow-
ing year, and Sultan Idris, who would go on for another thirteen yearsand
who tended to be the most outspoken as well as the most distinguished of
the rulers. These three spoke for themselves and also for an increasing
number of young Malays—both aristocrats and commoners—who were
not satisfied with things as they were. Three Malay clerks in the Perak
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Engineering Department wrote to their superior in 1903 asking that
Malays be pted from high dard English requi for ad-
vancement in the civil service and pointing out that such arrangements
had already been made for Moslems in India.”* In that country, they said,
there was a similar problem in that Hindus had taken to European educa-
tion more readily than Moslems had, as was truc of Chinesc and Indians
by contrast with Malays in the FMS. Rodger and Treacher were sym-
pathetic. The former drew attention to what had been done in Ceylon,
India, and the Netherlands East Indies and suggested the need for a special
school where Malay aristocrats could be prepared for government serv-
ice.”® Swettenham saw no need for an additional school, noting that the
Malacca [English] school was adequate, though perhaps a new program
could be started there to answer particular requirements.”” But he looked
to an increase in the number of Malay settdement officers, possibly by
promotion of penghulus, rather than to any significant growth in the ranks
of Malay officers in the civil service as such, repeating to the end his line
about Malay aristocrats not being interested and commoners not being
suitable. Itis interesting that throughout these discussions the progressive
role was played by Rodger, the English aristocrat, and the conservative
one, by Swettenham, the son of an unknown solicitor from the Midlands.
At this point, the hands of the liberals were strengthened by R. J.
Wilkinson's appointment as inspector of schools, FMS. Wilkinson, an
1889 cadet, was one of the most remarkable men in the history of the
colonial services, in which he had a highly unconventional career. His
father and a brother were in the consular service. He had lived in Spain and
the Levant, and he knew German, Spanish, Italian, and Greek, as well as
French, in which he passed highest in the entrance examinations his year,
At Cambridge, he was president of the union and a history exhibitioner.
He received five major prizes. He had hoped for a consular position in
China, and, six years after reaching Malaya, he was still trying for a
transfer there, having in the meantime passed the Hokkien examinations
in addition to those in Malay.™ Later, he became a resident and colonial
secretary, administering the government on several occasions. He ended

his career as governor of Sierra Leone. Wilkinson was sure that the
existing schools would not answer the need.” In any case, they were not
up to the level of good secondary schools in England, and Malay boys
entering them were at a disadvantage because most of the pupils were
Chinese or Indian and had had a long hcad start in Enghsh. Typically
Malay boys. no matter how bright they were, quickly became discour-
aged and withdrew. He recommended the establishment of a special
school for them not because he favored the isolation of aristocrats as in the
Netherlands Indies—on the contrary, he was a thoroughgoing democrat
in these matters and wanted the new institution to be open to all qualified




Plate 8. R J. Wilkinson. Resident Negri Sembilan, c. 1910. Courtesy of Malsysian
National Archives
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boys—but because this would be less expensive and more efficient than
providing special classes in existing schools. He agreed with the sultan of
Perak that sending boys to England would denationalize them. The
course should last five years, boys beginning atage ten. The most promis-
ing graduates should go into the regular civil service and others into
clerical jobs. Treacher supported Wilkinson in this plan for the germ of an
eventual Oxford of the FMS, observing that all the residents favored it, as
did the departing Swettenham, who had come around to the idea, he said,
thatany qualificd Malay should be allowed to enter the servic he new
high commissioner, Sir John Anderson, approved the scheme for Malay
College at Kuala Kangsar soon after he arrived in 1904, but without
enthusiasm and with the reservations voiced earlier by Sir William
Taylor, Treacher's successor as resident-gencral .*! As originally consti-
tuted the school was to admit sons of the upper classes only, a defeat for
Wilkinson's view, though later it did take boys from ordinary familics.
Anderson allowed the college to begin in January 1905, on a three-year
experimental basis only, and in rough temporary buildings. Emulating
the set-up and procedures of English public schools, it succeeded despite
these initial drawbacks largely because of the perseverance of two long-
term headmasters, William Hargreaves, 1905-1918, and C. Bazell, 1923~
1938, who befriended the boys, kept up a high standard, and instilled the
notion that privilege meant responsibility, not license. By 1910, the
permanence of the school was recognized in high places. Enrollment
stood at 139 in 19202

During the decade from the opening of the college to the outbreak of
war in Europe, there was a constant effort to bring more Malays into
subordinate positions of both the civil service and the technical depare-
ments. In 1910, a scheme for the selection of “Malay assistants™ was
instituted whereby Malay College graduates who had passed standard VII
(roughly equivalent to secondary school graduates) could be tested in such
subjects as official correspondence and treasury work after which they
would be confirmed as Malay assistants class I11. They could then advance
as far as assistant district-officer rank, though their salarics were the same
as those drawn by clerks. Some who did enter this Malay Administrative
Service (MAS) found the work menial and did not serve out full careers,
though others stayed on, eventually proceeding to the civil service as
equals of European officers. The government was careful to keep them
out of posts where they would have been called on to exercise authority
over non-Malays, just as it had kept non-European officers out of pre-
dominantly Malay districts before. By 1915 there were twenty-five
Malays holding local appointments in the civil service apart from the
MAS:; a small group, no doubt, some members of which had to contend
with prejudice. But it was a start, and one that put Malaya ahead of many
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other colonies.®3 Furthermore, it was timely. When the war brought an
end to recruitment in England and drained the service of some of its best
younger men, the government naturally thought of filling the gaps with
Malays. Conditions of service in the MAS were slightly liberalized, and
provision was made for the appointment of Malays to class V of the
European service itself, though at first those so promoted were to serve as
supernumeraries only and would not rank with cadets in calculating
seniority.® There would be further loosening up after the war and a
tripling of the number of Malay officers in the service from 1915 to 1935,
In retrospect, it would seem to some officers, Malay and British, that
what had taken place was a quict revolution.

In the last years before the war, the major dissatisfactions of the FMS
services, for years a bar to morale, were at last given a full official airing.
Virtually all members in classes V through II inclusive—that is, nearly
everyone but those holding a handful of the most senior posts—signed a
memorial addressed to the high ioner in 1909.% They pointed to
the failure of the sterling salary scheme begun six years before; to the
disproportionate numbers of junior men by contrast with the Ceylonand
Hong Kong services; to the disadvantagcous position of post-1896 cadets
as regards retirement income; to the superior terms of service enjoyed by
officers in the colony; and to the fact that the cconomic boom in the FMS
gave her ample revenue to set these matters right.

In forwarding this to London, Sir John Anderson agreed that the
memorialists had a strong case.® It was undeniable that housing and
salaries made normal family life impossible for junior men (most officers
marrying late or not at all), and that this caused many to take native
mistresses. The fact that the memorial was signed by men of undoubted
integrity, some of whom would rise to the top—Wilkinson, Adams,
Winstedr, Caldecotr, Belfield, Pecl, Cator, Richards—put it outside the
category of ordinary grumbling. This time the C.O. was sympathetic.
They conceded that they had too little knowledge of conditions in the
colonies. It would be well, thought Churchill, if a member of the staff
went out to Malaya and made a study on the ground.*? The man selected
was R. E. (later Sir Reginald) Stubbs, a future governor of Hong Kong.
Predictably, his report was a compromise that went further than the
treasury liked and not far enough to suit the FMS officers.® Its im-
portance lay in the updated classification it embodicd, together with
recommendations for Malay officers in certain posts heretofor reserved
for cadets, and the ending of inequities between the colony and the FMS.
The purely legal unity provided for at the time of federation was now
replaced with something more real.

The war took away forty-five of the younger officers—about 20 per~
cent of the total strength—eleven of whom were killed in action.®” In
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1915, the governor estimated that he could manage with only one recruit,
though this would necessitate a large intake the following year. In the
event, he asked for none in 1916, though the C.O. sent once “'to keep the
competition alive."™% A trickle of local applications came in, such as one
from the headmaster of the Malay school in Malacca. But a policy of
recruiting no one but veterans was thought of from the start. The gov-
ernor recommended that the age limit be raised at the end of the war to
allow the entry of men whose careers had been interrupted by military
service. The result was an understaffed and overworked cadre in Malaya,
some of whose members stayed on beyond the usual retirement age and all
of whom endured material hardship due to inflation duning and after the
war. Morale suffered, bringing a recommendation from the governor that
all qualified officers be moved up automatically to the nexc higher class. If
something of the sort were not done quickly, he wrote, dissatisfaction in
Malaya would be communicated to the universities at home, damaging
postwar recruitment of “'the right class of officer.”! Agrecing, the C.O.
paid the service a compliment that would have astonished its long-suffering
nincteenth-century predecessors. “*We should pay our excellent service
well, as we can afford to do. The service of the straits sctelements and the
EMS is becoming more and more a nursery ground for first-rate officers in
the crown colonies generally.”®? The business community added its
voice, demanding better treatment of the service. F. G. Harvey of the
Planters’ Association told the governor that morale was an cconomic
issue, not just a matter of aleruism.** A doctor who attended a meeting of
Harvey's United Malays Council said that low salaries and the failure of
the government to pay for leave passages meant abnormally high marriage
ages and also fewer children than the empire would need to compete with
Germany after the war. The planters wanted a commission appointed to
look into the whole question of conditions of service more thoroughly
than Stubbs had done. Such an inquiry had already been proposed by the
governor, in fact, after years of public discussion. It was agreed that the
commission would consist of two members of the service iself, two
businessmen, and a neutral chairman. For this delicate role the chief
Jjustice of the straits, Sir John Bucknill, was selected.®® The services were
represented by H. (later Sir Hayes) Marriote, a straits cadet of 1896, and
Oliver Marks, who entered the Perak service in 1891 and after retirement
became secretary of the British Association of Malaya in London. R. J.
Addieand A. K. E. Hampshirc spoke for the unofficials. Beginning work
late in 1918 the Bucknill Commission submitted its report the following
April. The document was 243 pages long, not counting eighty-five pages
of testimony from officials and unofficials, making it the most scarching
and detailed study of the services up to that time.**
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In tracing the history of the services, the report noted that conditions in
India and Ceylon now differed substantially from those in backward
Malaya, raising a question whether officers for the home civil service and
for all of the Eastern dependencies should continue to be recruited in the
same way. Malaya had got men who were virtually indistinguishable
from the others in social background and ability. Yet it paid them less
well, while expecting them to maintain the same standards of dignity and
propricty as their more fortunate brothers did clsewhere. The sterling
scheme of 1903—posting salaries in pounds and paying in the straits dollar
equivalent—had been bad for the service because the dollar was pegged
arbitrarily, without reference to market value. It was all very well to talk
about personal honor and the prestige of carcers in public service. All
could agree that Malaya was “'no place for men without character, princi-
ples and determination. "% But the hard realities of everyday life could not
be blinked. Servants expected more from government officers than from
other employers. The climate took a heavy toll. 11l health and suicide were
more common in Malaya than in Hong Kong where there was a bracing
winter scason. Having wives and children in Malaya—even if it could be
afforded, was not advisable from the standpoints of education, health, and
social amenities.

Hitting hard at the legacy of federation, the report spoke of a wide-
spread feeling that the FMS government was overcentralized and that an
unhealthy divisiveness had developed, cutting secretariat men off from
their colleagues in outstations, breeding a burcaucratic mentality, and
discouraging i and initi; . Middl king and junior of-
ficers had become disaffected. Their plight was everywhere recognized by
planters, journalists, professional men, and bankers—both European and
Astan—who voiced their sympathy in legislative councils and in the press,
to the detriment of public confidence in government. What was needed
was a decentralization of authority that returned to residents, district
officers, and department heads the reasonable discretion and latitude their
predecessors had known before 1895. Detailed recommendations as to
raises in pay and emoluments were put forward. Employment of more
Asians was urged.

Administrative officers who testified criticized backdoor influence in
promotions and suggested the need for more objectivity. Some felt that
senionty was all right as a general rule but that merit should determine
promotion to the most responsible posts. The incfficient should be made
to retire carly. Motor cars were being used too much, causing laziness and
loss of touch with the people. Berkeley said that he had kept three horses
for thirty years and that the horse allowance was insufficient. The prestige
of the service had fallen since the turn of the century, said one; to which
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another added, more in sorrow than anger, that he would not advise a
young man to join the Malayan service as things were.

In London, the reaction to the report was favorable. It was assumed that
“*this gigantic production” could not be ignored, and that its recom-
mendations, in the large, would have to be accepted sooner or later.??
With the war over and a new governor making ready to take up his
appoinment, the time for new departures was opportune.

In retrospect, the middle period may be seen as the most uncomfortable
and the most productive of the three. Building from the ground up, the
function of a pioncer time, is 2 more straightforward, uncomplicated
business than is realignment or the job of refining and continuing, that
would occupy the services in the 1920s and 1930s. In the nineties, the
government had been a collection of ill-digested lumps. Each had made
sense in its day and each had done good work. By 1919, the hardest phase
of adjustment was over. With the passing years, there were many retire-
ments of men who would not have bccn thpy m the new cadres with
their overwhelming majority of es—all of them in-
nocent of what Low had faced in the Kuala Kangsar of the seventies,
Douglas at Klang and Swettenham at Kuala Lumpur in the eighties,
Murray and Paul in Sungei Ujong, Rodger and Clifford in Pahang. Nor
would the young soldiers who arrived in the early twenties find it odd that
one’s brother officer in the district might turn out to be a Malay. They had
no worries about self-esteem, looking over their shoulders at the ICS and
the cadets of Ceylon and Hong Kong who had bested them by a few points
at Burlington Gardens. The organization that would now call itself the
Malayan Civil Service had come of age.

Notes
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6 The Chinese Protectorate

IT IS an axiom of Southcast Asian history that modern Malaya as
an cconomic phenomenon was the creature of Chinese labor together
with European capital and supervision. The Chinese did not wait for the
British to arrive. Some were in the straits during Portuguese times and
carlier. But generally speaking, their numbers were small and their activi-
ties tended to be restricted to coastal areas where European commerce and
military strength had created the conditions of stability without which
they could not hope for more than a subsistence life. Large-scale immigra-
tion took place in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries following in the
wake of British imitiative. When Chinese farmers and laborers went
beyond the Straits Settlements into the western Malay states ahead of
British political control, however, they brought with them the dilemma
of great cconomic promise and cqually great social disruption, thereby
drawing the British into arcas that London and Calcutta preferred to leave
alone. Once it had been found impossible to maintain prosperity without
governmental intervention, the British faced the most important social-
cconomic question of their hegemony: how to reap the benefits of Chinese
labor while, at the same time, subjecting the unruly newcomers to a
necessary, but unwelcome, discipline. The response was to build up 2
corps of administrative officers trained in Chinese languages and given
the special task of overseeing Chinese communitics in Malaya. Formally
constituted in the 1870s, the orgamization they served in was called the
Chinese Protectorate. Their numbers were never large. When war came
in 1941, the Chinese outnumbered the Malays. Yet, out of 184 officers m
the administrative services as a whole, only thirty-three—approximately
eighteen percent—had begun as members of the protectorate. The effec-
tive force was sull smaller at any given time because, as they became
senior, most officers left the protectorate for more general dutics.

The first Chinese to arrive in Malaya were mainly Hokkiens from
Fukien Province, small traders, fishermen, and farmers, who settled in
Malacca from the 1500s onwards in much the same way as their country-
men were doing in other parts of Southcast Asia at the time, drawn
overseas by opportunities in underpopulated lands where their industry
and skill could be put to greater advantage than would be possible at
home.! These were the advance guard of the so-called straits Chinese. 2
distinct from the waves of laborers who would come later. They were
self-employed. They eventually brought their womenfolk and sertled
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down, ding litcle ities that were P and p 3
Some intermarried with Malays. Most kept to their own villages, where
they were valued by Malays and Europeans alike for their hard work and
their contributions to the cconomy. The arrival of the British at Penang in
the 1780s and Singapore a generation later attracted Chinese traders and
planters, mostly Hokkiens or Teochius from Swatow, who saw that in
British ports commerce was incomparably superior to what could be
expected in places controlled by the slow-moving Malays with their never
ending warfare. Agriculture prospered from the start. Chinese headmen
planted gambier, pepper, sugar, and coffce and gradually brought in
laborers on a sinkheh, or indenture, system. Others were apprenticed to
artisans in the shops of Penang and Singapore. In the first four decades of
the nineteenth century, labor came mainly from Kwangtung or Kwangsi.
The Cantonese, and also the Hakkas from all three provinces, Kwang-
tung, Kwangsi, and Fukien and the Hainanese from the big island off
Kwangtung, were of hardy peasant stock, used to long days of work for
small wages. Emigration meant escape from famine at home, and a chance
of employment abroad that would give them something to send back to
their families. Until mid-century, numbers remained small — 10010 2002
year to Singapore and perhaps ten times that many to Penang. Then,
cvents in China and overseas conspired to increase the volume dramati-
cally. The Taiping Rebellion broke out in 1851, further weakening an
already hard-pressed Manchu government that had never been strong in
the southern provinces from which immigrants came. The long, drawn
out Taiping campaigns and coincident Hakka-Cantonese fighting put
heavy strains on rural life at the very time when tin mining in Malaya and
railroad building in America had made emigration easier and more desir-
able than ever.

The coolies who now flooded into the Straits Settlements and the
western Malay states were linguistically heterogeneous. They came from
many different ““tribes” or ethnic groupings and from a wide spectrum of
districts. They differed from the straits Chinese in being exclusively male,
in being dependent on their employers, and in looking on Malaya as
foreign country where they would work fora certain length of time before
returning home. All had in common, however, a profound distrust of
government as such and a traditional inclination to organize themselves
into fraternal socicties or triads to which they gave their primary loyalty.
These secret socicties had been strong in China itself where government
was a distant and alicn thing whose light hand could do little more than tax
and occasionally oppress. They were that much stronger in Malaya, where
they did not have to compete with the powerful binding force of wives
and families in the framework of | blished village gov L In
the straits and among the mining and planting communitics of the west
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coast states, the socictics were business houses, churches, and social clubs
all rolled into one, the center of the coolie’s life, giving him security and
threatening him with sanctions if he dared to disobey. They would have
seemed ideal oraganizations for the British to work through, in the best
traditions of indirect rule. Seeing no alternative the straits government
tried to do this. The straits Chinese, having a stake in order and working
hand-in-glove with European merchants, were cooperative. Though they
tended to despise the coolies as aliens and social and cconomic inferiors,
they were members of the same socicties that systematically enlisted
immigrants as soon as they arrived. But tribal, provincial, and linguistic
affiliations throughout the straits and Malaya presented a complicated
picture, with much splintering, mixing, and overlapping. The British
found themselves dealing with a number of separate socicties, some of
whose local affiliates were completely M . as the
waves of immigrants got bigger the snu]] straits regime, with its minute
police force and paucity of officers able to speak Chinese languages, had a
difficult time keeping order. There were strikes and riots in Singapore and
Penang in the 1850s and 1860s. So audacious had the socicties become that
many Malays, including penghulus, had been intimidated into joining, as
had lower government employes such as police peons. In trying to cope
with disturbances that often took hundreds of Chinese lives in battles
between competing socictics and brought commerce to a halt, the gov-
ernment was hampered by its own weakness, by Calcutta’s reluctance to
sanction strong measures, and by the ability of Chinese merchants to
defend themselves in English courts. Wealthy Chinese, such as the
famous Whampoa of Singapore, sometimes took the side of their coun-
trymen 1in resisung the disciplining of the socicties, and, at other times,
be gged the governor to restore order in the interests of trade. In the mid-
1860s, as London held the governor back while completing arrangements
for the transfer of the straits to the C.O., the resident councillor Penang
renewed his efforts to control socicties by making their headmen subordi-
nate to the government. Some were sworn in as special constables.? But
such moves were sporadic and they were completely ineffective outside
the straits where, in such places as Larut and the Klang Valley, Chinese
communities were laws unto themselves and were closely associated with
their brothers in the straits. After decades of fighting against the Chinese,
some Malay royals had come to terms with them, using them as tax
farmers, frequenting their gambling houses, buying their opium, and
enlisting them as allies in their own wars. Abdullah of Perak and the mentri
of Larut ended by opposing onc another, cach with a society on his side.
Abdullah was aided by the mainly Cantonese Ghee Hins, and the mentri
with the Hakkas of the Hai San Socicty. Such divisions also included
prominent British and straits Chinese merchants. Socicty politics had
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become so enmeshed with straits commerce that ultimately a vigorous
new governor, Sir Andrew Clarke, was persuaded that the well-being of
his colony depended on putting a stop to the chaos. One of the reasons
suggested for the hasty and unfortunate choice of Abdullah as sultan,
when Clarke paid his brief visit to Pangkor in 1874, was that Malay affairs
in general were a tail wagged by the dog of Chinese tin mining with its
central importance to Britain's whole position in the area. The master-
minds of Pangkor were the Singapore businessman W. H. Read, and his
Hokkien partner, Tan Kim Cheng, a member of the Ghee Hin Society.

The last straits governor under India, Cavenagh, and the first under the
C.0O., Ord, could do little about Chinese disturbances, being restrained
by their supcriors and often frustrated by European lawyers and mer-
chants with their ambivalent attitudes to the ially valuable, but
turbulent, Chinese. Cavenagh deplored the leniency of the ordinary
criminal laws that worked well cnough in England and among the estab-
lished European, Chinese, and Indian business communities of the straits
but were more or less useless in combating what amounted to private
government in the societies. While waiting for authority to use sterner
measures, he urged that two of the three new cadets he had asked for be
sent to China for language study.* This and similar requests by Ord came
to nothing. But when he was on leave in England during 1871, Ord was
allowed to engage an interpreter, William Pickering, who had had nine
years of experience in China, mostly in Formosa and on the Fukien coast.
It was Pickering who accompanicd Ord to Penang and Larut in 1873 and
who was employed by Clarke a year later to negotiate the settlement
between the Ghee Hins and the Hai Sans that was capped by Pangkor.
Pickering’s arrival in the straits in 1872 signaled the beginning of 2 new
phase in the colony’s dealings with its growing Chinese community,
Until then, although some officers could manage onc or another of the
Chinese | ges, none was a list and the g, depended
on Chinese for court and other interpreting. Among the pioncers of the
avil services, Pickering stands high, though the recognition he received
Was not up to the importance of the work he and his department were to
accomplish.

He was born in a Derbyshire family then living near Nottingham. * His
father was agent to a coalmaster's association and a devout churchmanina
family that had produced several clergymen. Pickering was the only son
among cight children. At age sixteen, he was apprenticed aboard a ship
that voyaged to Burma, Malaya, and Siam. Six years later, he had risen to
be third mate on a Liverpool tea clipper. Robust, intelligent, and am-
bitious, he saw that shore jobs on the China coast during the 1860s—when
European activity was increasing yearly—offered better chances of ad-
vancement than could be had at sea and also a more varied and satisfying
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life. His facility in Hokkien came to the notice of Sir Robert Hart, head of
the Chinese Maritime Customs, who appointed him to that service in
1862. Three years later, he was put in charge of the service's office at
Taiwanfoo in Formosa, where a year afterwards he took a position with
the firm of McPhail and Company, dealers in camphor. His five years in
Formosa were busy and full of interest. He soon added Mandarin to his
languages, acquiring also a rich fund of anthropological knowledge on his
travels throughout the island. He was particularly fascinated by aborigi-
nal groups living in remote areas unknown to Chinese officials, not to
mention Europeans. Pickering's keen wit was sharpened by insatiable
curiosity about people. Naturally gregarious, yet happy to wander by
himself, he talked with everyone from mountain tribesmen to scholarly
mandarins in large towns, making skctches as he went and writing down
notes of what he saw. The Chinese, British, and American governments
all sought him out, valuing his expertise on communities and districts that
no onc clse knew. His attitude toward the races and the ways they

d is remi of § ham’s. The exotic intrigued him. But
he never thought of becoming a cultural convert. Having sprung from the
borderlands of the lower and the middle classes at home and always
aspiring to the status of gentleman, he knew where he stood. His liking
for individual Chinesc and for many social groups was genuine, though he
hated the barbarism and cruelty that his wanderings made him aware of’
and he was delighted when an American naval foree from Japan arrived in
Formosa to avenge the murders of Europeans by criminals whom the
Chinese could not or would not punish on their own. *“The Chinaman,™
he thoughe, "is an unfathomable creature, a mixture of every best and
every worst quality in human nature.""® He was sorry that Britain did not
annex Formosa to save its inhabitants from the iniquity and bungling of
their own government. In retirement many years later, he observed that
he had devoted his life from age eighteen onwards to studying the Chinese
and working for their betterment, . . . while at the same time I have kept
up my interest in European affairs and have always remembered first of all
that I was an Englishman.”?

In Malaya, Pickering was the ideal helpmate toa government long beset
by Chinese problems and ill-equipped to deal with them. Previously, the
police and the navy had played a fruitless game of hide and seck with the
Chinese, trying to get evidence of lawlessness by the socicties in the straits
and chasing uncatchable war junks in the labyrinth of rivers, crecks, and
islands on the coast. Now, Pickering walked into stockades and talked
dircctly with leaders in mining communities.® With the arnval of the
hard-driving Clarke, who enjoyed a measure of C.O. support never
accorded the unhappy Ord, Pickering became the spearhead of an ener-
getic approach that combined negotiation with military force. Backed by




Plate 9. William Pickering, Protector of Chinese. Caurtesy of Royal Commonwealth
Society
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the governor and by secret society leaders in the straits, he urged an end to
the fighting that had ruined trade and impoverished the Chinese them-
selves. From his Formosa experience he knew that the mailed fist was
more cffective if kept in velvet and waved with humor. Over and again,
he marched through the streets of mining towns, playing his bagpipes,
before sitting down for talks with leaders. They found his language
facility, his friendly manner, and his commonsense irresistible, especially
when it was seen that he spoke for the mighty in their own socicties. It was
seldom casy. With Perak scttled and the Selangor civil war over, there was
still Sungei Ujong. Pickering took an active part with Colonel Samuel
Dunlop, inspector general of police, and his troops in the storming of
stockades whose commmanders, both Malay and Chinese, would not
listen to talk, however sensible. For his part in the taking of Rasa on the
Linggi late in 1874, he was recommended for the Victoria Cross. By the
end of the year, his reputation with the governor and with Chinese leaders
was far above that of a mere interpreter. He had served with Dunlop,
Swerttenham, and secret society leaders on a special commission to assure
peace in Perak and had met with success. Those in authority now saw him
as the indispensable expert without whose advice it would be unthinkable
to proceed in Chinese affairs.

But that advice was not always taken. Pickering was sure that the
societies would never settle down and become really controllable unless a
system were adopted like that of the Dutch in Java whereby there was a
complete registration of society members and the organization of all
Chinese communities into wards, with clan leaders responsible to the
government for the good behavior of their people. Making the societies
illegal and smashing up their meetings with police raids would only make
matters worse. As though to underscore his point, the Chinese of Singa-
pore staged a riot in 1876 that wrecked a post office and resulted in several
of their number being shot by the police. A commission was then ap-
pointed to look into the larger question of immigration and to make
recommendations on how to manage it as well as the societices. It admitted
that the government had too little knowledge of the Chinese and no
effective means of dealing with them from day to day. Chinesc-speaking
officers should be posted in Singapore and Penang with the sole duty of
oversceing Chinese matters, said the commission. They would be called
protectors of Chinese. Legislation was passed, setting up machinery for
dealing with immigration and also, very importantly, with “crimping,”
the luring away of newly arrived coolics by agents of the Dutch and
others. The protectors were charged with seeing to it that coolies were not
victimized by those who recruited them, by those who received them on
arrival, and by others secking to take them out of the colony against their
will.® Since all of their possible tormentors were fellow countrymen, itis
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clear that, from the beginning, the Chinese Protectorate was a British
instrument created to protect immigrants from exploitation and abuse by
their own kind. Pickering, the first protector, set up his office ina Chinese
shop house in Canal Road., Singapore, on May 3, 1877. Ernest Karl, who
later moved to Penang, was assistant protector.

Though his duties were now prescribed by law and his office was an
official department of the central government, Pickering occupied a
uniquely personal position in the eyes of the Chinese. Everywhere he was
known as the “Tai Jin,” Hokkien for great man, and his place of work was
called the *pi-ki-ling"" —a phoneticization of his own name. Not only did
he have the prestige of a mandarin in China, due to his status as a member
of the government; he also played an intimate role as a trusted community
ombudsman—one to whom ordinary people brought their troubles and
disputes. Like an Arab qadi (magistrate), he held court. But he was more
than a magi He used his ive k ledge of social and family
life and was able to get to the bottom of complicated wrangles that would
have baffled an officer of less experience. He kept his dignity and did not
think of bidding for popularity by trying to pleasc all comers. Yet, even
when his judgments were hard—as the case often demanded in a rough
community—he was scen to be fair, benign, and incorruptible. His views
were definite, too much so to suit his superiors, who thought him intract-
able on some occasions. But the Chinese saw that his standards were not
arbitrary and that he had their best interests in mind, albeit in ways they
found strange at first. Singapore did not become law-abiding overnight.
Yet there was now a connecting link between the government and the
throngs of newcomers who had hardly known a political authority at
home and who, but for the Tai Jin, would have been helpless pawns in the
hands of their longer-established countrymen.

Two men—Pickering and Karl—among thousands of Chinese could do
very little, even with police help. Governors from Ord's time onwards
badgered the C.O. for more staff. When Clarke asked for two extra cadets
who would be sent to Fukicn for language training, however, London
sniffed at **.. .this. . .rather sudden proposal.”!® If the straits wanted
Chinese speakers, it might be better to amalgamate their service with
Hong Kong’s. The sort of work Pickering did, while valuable, was not
seen as on quite the same level with the usual administrative tasks for
which gentlemen were recruited from the universities. Karl had started in
the straits as an office clerk and was allowed to rise only because he knew
languages spoken by few others. Failing to get along with Pickering he
resigned in 1885, The sccond protectorate recruit, N. B. Dennys, also
entered by a side door. Holding a Ph.D. from a German university, he
began in the paymaster’s department of the navy. After passing a ci
service examination, he went to Peking as a student interpreter, rising in
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the consular service during the 1860s in Pcking, Tientsin, Canton, and
Amoy. He wrote pamphlets and books on Chinese subjects and edited a
newspaper in Hong Kong after leaving the consular service. He was
appointed assistant protector under Pickering in 1877, but, like Karl, he
did not get on terribly well with the protector and left in 1880, eventually
becoming protector in North Borneo. Jervois pressed for cadets as his
predecessors had done. When his successor, Robinson, did the same,
London at last agreed.!! Francis Powell, a St. Andrew’s man, arrived in
1878. He served under Pickering and in Penang for a year, then proceeded
to Amoy to learn Hokkicn, after which he returned and became the
protector’s most trusted and efficient subordinate and eventual successor.
His fellow 1878 cadet, H. E. G. Cooper, was less successful and left the
service under pressure in 1881,

No one was especially happy with the practice of sending men to China
since there was no supervision available at that distance. Robinson dis-
cussed with the C.O. the possibility of giving language instruction at the
Ratftles Institution in Singapore, for cadets and also for locally recruited
Englishmen. India and the Netherlands had similar schemes. There was
also talk of teaching cadets at Oxford or the University of London.
Mecanwhile, Pickering got another recruit, William Cowan, a noncadet,
who, like Pickering, began his Chinese studies informally at eighteen.
Joining the Singapore staff in 1881, he left two years later to accept the
protectorship in Perak at twice his straits salary. He ended just before the
1914 war as protector for all of the federated states. '?

Pickering’s term as protector lasted a decade. By the mid-cighties he
had become a respected and prominent member of Singapore society,
elected to the vice presidency of the straits branch of the Royal Asiatic
Society, and made a CMG. Though he never felt that governors con-
sidered him quite the equal of the other department heads, and though his
ideas did not always find favor, his importance and that of his office were
universally recognized and it is likely that, under normal circumstances,
he would have had more years of useful work. But in the summer of 1887,
he was attacked at his office by a Teochiu carpenter who appeared to have
been mentally disturbed. He threw the metal head of an axe at the protec-
tor’s face, hitting him in the forehead. After a shortleave in Ceylonand a
longer one in England, Pickering was examined by a C.O. doctor who
doubted that he was fully recovered. There were further examinations
and extensions of leave. During this time, he wrote an intemperate
memorandum to the undersecretary of state, dealing with subjects on
which he was bitterly opposed to the governor. This did him no good. By
1890, his condition had not improved, and he was finally retired. It wasa
sad ending to a distinguished career. For all his inflexibility at times and
his tendency to authoritarian excess he gave extraordinarily valuable
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service ina complex area calling for unusual qualifications. As the inspired
builder of a wholly new department, he was unique. His example, style,
and influence remained stamped on the protectorate for many years.
Perhaps in the rough circumstances of a pioneer time his knowledgeable,
but somewhat detached, attitude towards the Chinese was of more use to
the government and to the Chinese themselves than a more affectionate or
romantic one would have been.

In the period from the founding of the protectorate to the ending of
indentures in 1914, officers devoted most of their time to supervising
immigration, attempting to control socictics, and maintaining conditions
of order in which cconomic development could proceed smoothly. As
carly as 1823, Raffles had tricd to protect indentured coolies—called
“little pigs™ by Chinese brokers—by limiting passage charges and having
magistrates watch over employers to see that they did not keep laborers in
permanent debt. At the other end, the Chinese government made efforts
—though sporadically and with indifferent results—to punish recruiters
who took advantage by luring coolies into gambling houses. But the great
need for labor and the ignorance and dependence of coolies had predict-
able results: a system of slave labor under another name. Whether they
paid for their own passages or borrowed the money from recruiters in
China, new arrivals fell immediately into the hands of Chinese contrac-
tors in the straits who got them jobs with such employers as Chinese tin
miners or European planters. Once they reached their places of work,
most drifted naturally into the established round—charging food at stores
run by employers, going to gambling houses, brothels, and opium dens
after work—which involved further borrowing and long-term indebted-
ness. Crimping of newly arrived coolies however finally led to attempts
by the government to control the immigration system itself. Though they
realized that their own enterprises stood to lose by this kidnapping of
potential workers, straits businessmen—both European and Chinese—
opposed government control in the fear that close supervision would dry
up the supply or make existing labor uncconomic. But official inquiries
made in the seventies and cightics revealed such scandalous practices that
ordinances were passed. These slowly brought improvement. Neverthe-
less, reform was always at swords points with the demand for labor, and
in 1890, yet another commission of inquiry found abuses still rife and
machinery of control woefully inadeq 3 Thec i includ-
ng representatives of business and government, reccommended the setting
up of government recruiting in place of private, obtaining the cooperation
of the Chinese authorities in the provinces from which coolies came; and,
most importantly, increasing the size of the protectorate staff so that it
could effectively supervise the new mechani The resulti di
extended the work of the protectorate from the colony to the states, where
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there had been only minimum activity. Even Malacca had no protectorate
officer of its own until 1911. C. A. Schultz began in Perak in 1883, butas
an employcc of that government, not of the protectorate. Selangor gotan
officer in 1890, and Negri Sembilan, in 1914, followed by Kedah and
Johore. Pahang, with its relatively small Chinese population, came along
belatedly in 1938, Though the commission’s recommendation of gov-
ernment depots was not accepted, inspection did improve, as did hasion
with the Chinese government. Crimping, which had been made possible
largely by the machinations of Europeans operating from Hong Kong.
was greatly reduced. '

Changes in the immigration system in the last years before 1914 came
about as a result of the rubber boom 1n that period. With the demand for
labor now greater than ever it was clear that the old indenture method,
with 1ts high cost due to the profiteering of middlemen and inefficiency,
was vulnerable on economic as well as moral grounds. By the same token,
health conditions on many estates were so bad that laborers often worked
at 50 percent of capacity. or less. These facts, together with the abandon-
ment of indentures by Chinese mine owners and their adoption of private
recruiting, lessened opp to new legisl whereby ind
officially ceased in 1914, Licensing and inspection of rooming houses and
fixing the terms of immigrants’ indebtedness, provided for in the new
laws, strengthened the hands of the protectorate and gave it heavy addi-
tional burdens.

Batthing the societies was the protectorate’s other man occupation.
Experienced men disagreed on the wisdom of this. Low and Pickering
thought suppression was both impossible and impolitic; 1t would be
better ta keep them in the open and clean them up, which Low tried to do
by putung their leaders on his State Council. This proved unworkable,
causing the resident to change his mind, because the societies were too big
and too chaotic in the carly years, their traditions being entirely anti-
thetical to the aims of government as seen by Europeans. Pickering used
similar methods, taking the same view of socienies as he did of prostitu-
ton and opium: that endemic institutions could only be molded, not
eradicated. He was overruled by Sir Cecil Clementi Smith, whose years in
Hong Kong had convinced him that compromise was self-defeating. The
attack on Pickering played into the governor’s hands, and in 1890, with
the first protector retired, a new ordinance came into effect making all
societies illegal unless they were registered, and giving the governor
power to dissolve them. ' The threat of banishment was cffective since all
Chinese knew that life was harder in China than in Malaya, and since their
home government was more severe with societies than the British were.
Chinese advisory boards came into existence, bodies on which leading
Chinese served, using their influence constructively and acting as go-
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betweens. No one was so naive as to think that the societies werc finished.

But the protectorate was stronger now as it dc:lx with the more obvious
cases of blackmailing i and li d brothels. Of-

ficers worked with police in raiding the hcadqu:r(us of unregistered
societies, often obtaining records that gave courts all they needed to
banish offenders. '* There were ups and downs. Following the revolution
of 1911 in China, gangs of ex-soldicrs descended on Malaya, where they
revived a brand of street thuggery that had not been seen for years. During
the 1914 war, an informer who guided a protectorate officer to a socicty
initiation ceremony in Perak was murdered for his pains.!” But by the
1920s, society memberships had declined. Chinese Nationalist and Com-
munist political activists were competing for the attention of their coun-
trymen in Malaya. Meanwhile, prosperity, the arrival of women in large
numbers and a tendency to make one’s home permanently in the new land
had cut deeply into the attractions of brotherhoods that had been every-
thing to new immigrants in the nineteenth century.

Watching over a less violent community did not mean less work for the
protectorate. On the contrary. Many of the women who came to Malaya
from China in the cightics and nineties, whether they were unattached or
following husbands who had gone on ahead to find work, ended in
brothels for much the same reason that males ended in secret societies:
they were poor, ignorant, and defenseless. Older women who ran brothels
found them casy marks, and many who had not been prostitutes at home
became so in Malaya by default. Protectorate officers tried to warn
women on arrival, boarding junks and checking their d .'8 This
had little effect as the women had no experience of Europeans and
naturally trusted their own kind, whose initial approach was friendly and
helpful. Keeping track of the houses was more productive, an activity
based on acceprance ot the mcvuabk in the best Pwkcnng tradition. G.
T. Hare, the most di ished of the first p ) main-
tained close touch with European doctors who regularly inspected brothels
and treated the inmates. Healso had up before him the owners of all 192 of
Singapore’s Chinesc brothels, warning them that infractions of the rules
would result in police investigation. '?

Opium was managed in a similarly pragmatic way. From carliest times,
it was a major producer of revenue. By the interwar years, it still ac-
counted for about half of the colony's income. Since it was farmed—that
is, retailed—by the Chinese and mostly consumed by them, the protec-
torate was deeply involved in its regulation.?® Officers saw to it that
importation was carcfully supervised, that duty was paid, that chandu
(opium that had been prepared for smoking) was of good quality, and that
dens were orderly. In the FMS with their large tin and rubber revenues it
was less important as a moncy carner than in the straits; but the “truck”




156 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

system, whereby coolies were paid in opium and other goods at company
stores, did assume the proportions of a major problem. When the secre-
tary of state ordered the system abolished, seeing it as debt slavery, the
residents vigorously defended it as vital to the economy. There was
parliamentary pressure to get rid of opium and gambling farms as well.
Truck was much mitigated by the labor code of 1912, opium having
become a government monopoly two years carlier.?!
By the turn of the century, most of the old capitans China had dis-
appeared. Many of their functions had , by that time, been taken over by
the protectorate. Changes in outlook among immigrants were striking,
most now secing themselves more or less as the seraits Chinese had
traditionally done—as permanent fixtures with a stake in a country that
had used them well. Their countrymen in Siam looked on them with
envy, as they well knew. Problems remained. The corrupt and exclusive
Teochiu clans in Johore held the state back by keeping out the enterprising
Cantonese and Hakkas from Singapore. But in the protectorate, there was
a growing confidence that such difficultics could be overcome, that the
government had both the right and the strength to make changes rather
than simply adapting itself as its weaker predecessor had been forced to
do. In this it had increasing support from the straits Chinese on the
Legislative Council whose views on order and prosperity. had become
more and more akin to those of their European colleagues.??
Such confidence and the capacity that lay behind it had not come easily
or soon. In Pickering's time, morale suffered from a feeling that one was
part of a stepchild branch of the service. As late as the first decade of the
twentieth century, members of the European community in Singapore
thought of protectorate officers as “'cccentric or dotty.”"** The protector
cply wanted respectability for his oftice and a bigger staff so that its
complicated work could be done more cfficiently. When begging for
additional hands in 1881, he pointed out that immigration was running at
6,000 a year and that he had only four assistants—Karl, Powell, Cooper
and Dennys. It was vital, he said, that cach new recruit should
.be an [sic] European and a gentleman, above suspicion as to whatis
well known to be the greatdanger in departments dealing with a venal and
corrupt Asiatic population.”"** No sooner had this been written than two
of the officers—Dennys and Cooper—Ileft under a cloud: Cooper for
assaulting a Chinese woman in Amoy, where he was studying the lan-
guage. This was disappointing to the C.O. as well as to Pickering, as
oper had scemed a gentlemanly sort, whose father was a general. Karl
left four years later, also under fire. And William Portley, appointed to a
cadetship in 1881 after serving as a clerk in Whitchall, was charged with
financial impropricty after six years in the straits. Sir Cecil Clementi
Smith, himself trained in a Chinesc language, complained that some of the

d
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cadets of the late cightics were letting their Chinese slide and said that the
poor record of the staff was understandable since protectorate work had
“*a numbing effect” and was “repugnant to those who come from the class
in life from which cadets are selected.”* It might be better, he thought, to
appoint men of lower social standing and education, staffing the protec-
torate with clerks, exactly the reverse of what Pickering wanted. This did
not happen. Cadets continued to be posted to the protectorate, most of
them able men, though morale in the nincties and afterwards was low
cnough to confirm the g ‘s appraisal of job frustrations. C. C.
Wray, a Haileybury graduate who entered the service in 1881, became so
disgruntled that when the C.O. approached him during one of his leaves
in England and asked for information on prostitution, which it needed to
answer questions in the House of Commons, he at first refused to provide
it.2¢ Some liked the work well enough, occasionally because of unusual
backgrounds. H. C. Ridges, a Cambridge man, had been a missionary in
China before joining the Selangor service in 1884. His transfer to the
protectorate made sense, given his language skill, and he rose to be
protector despite doubts in high places as to his administrative ability. R.
Nettell, forced to resign on medical advice in 1900, told the C.O. that he
enjoyed the work and was sorry to go, which surprised them as they were
¥ then so used to hearing comments to the opposite effect. Part of the
difficulty came from the | Powell, the di
success of the carly in-take, wrote that cadets dislike of studying Chinese
was only to be expected since it was far more difficult than Malay and took
50 long that protectorate officers suffered financially and were promoted
more slowly than their brothers in the Malay stream, Instruction in the
straits had been tried but was given up because students did not have the
spoken language all around them as did cadets learning Malay.

Though most causes of unt were Iy d, the
protectorate remained unpopular. Hare, an 1884 cadet who had been an
exhibitioner at Wadham, was praised by no less a perfectionist than
Swettenham, and became the first secretary for Chinese affairs, FMS.
Nonetheless, he tried several times to transfer to the consular service, as
did Wilkinson. Both were kept for Malaya by the personal intervention of
the governor in 1893, though a third cadet, G. J. L. Litton, an Etonian and
double first from Oriel, escaped, going directly from language study in
Canton into the consular service.?” When in 1899 the rule was cnded
which had formerly required cadets to post a bond that would be forfeited
if they left the service carly, the governor feared that recruits might learn a
Chinese language at Malaya's expense and then market that valuable
commadity to other civil services or businesses in a time when European
enterprise was flooding into China.?* E. D. C. Wolfe, an 1898 cadet,
promptly did so. As late as 1918, W. T. Chapman, a Cambridge manand a
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lawyer, tried to obtain a judgeship, but was considered too useful in the
protectorate becoming secretary for Chinesc affairs, FMS, the following
year.*® Officers of long experience were not always satisfied with
standards of work in the protectorate or with the support it got from
higher authority. Ridges, when acting protector in Perak in 1910, accused
the Kuala Lumpur office of being out of touch with conditions in the
districts. Inspecting sugar cstates in Krian, he was appalled at the negli-
gence and abuses he found, including blindness due to disease and
unspeakable cruclty in lodging houses.>®

But umes were changing. By 1914, the protectorate had weathered its
hardest ycars. Gambling farms had been abolished. The secretariac had
taken over the work of revenue farms formerly supervised by the pro-
tectorate, as well as the chandu monopoly. The ending of indentures meant
less time spent on registration. Police officers were helping with the
control of pawnbroking shops, with secret socicties, and with the protee-
tion of women and girls. In other ficlds, the work was greater than ever.
Brothels continued to proliferate. New educational and charitable institu-
tions grew in number and in complexity, calling for more specialized
work by protectorate officers, as did the investigation of banks to shicld
the credit market from dishonest practices by some Chinese houses.3' The
staff in 1914 consisted of cight officers: the secretary for Chinese affairs
now responsible for both the colony and the FMS; two more men in both
Penang and in Singapore; one protector each for Perak and for Selangor-
Negri Sembilan; and one assistant based in the latter state. Johore accepted
theadvice of the Singapore office, as did the states taken over from Siam in
1909. A long overdue upgrading of the scnior officers’ positions came
after the war, partly in response to the demands of leading Chinese who
insisted that the protector was a big man and ought to be treated as such 32

It was a somewhat more burcaucratic and less eccentric service there-
fore that received the first postwar cadets, a department still thoughr of as
different, but not quite the pariah it had been in Pickering’s tme or
Hare's. W. D. Horne, a 1920 cadet, who had taken first-class honors in
classics at Aberdeen, wanted to learn Chinese and was happy to volunteer
for the protectorate. On the boat out, a 1921 cadet, Victor Purcell, whose
writings later made him perhaps the best known of the interwar protec-
toratce officers, told a fellow cadet that his main reason for coming to the
East was to gather material for books.>> On arrival, he and his ninc
colleagues learned that five would study Malay and five, Chinese. He
asked what the study of Chinese involved and was told that cadets would
spend six months working on the language in Malaya, after which those
who showed promise would proceed to China, where they would spend
two years completing the course. He immediately volunteered, feeling
that China's civilization was in the same class as those of Greece and Rome
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whercas Malaya's was ““comparatively unevolved™ and lacking in in-
terest.* He was not in the least put off when a senior officer in the
secretariat told him that he had ruined his carcer. [t was a question of one’s
mterests. To Purcell, who eventually took a doctorate and returned to his
beloved Cambridge, the idea of a governorship and presiding over vast
commercial expansion as Swettenham had done was one that held no
fascination acall. He was the only voluntcer in the group. W. J. Thorogood
was anything but happy at being assigned to do Chinese, which happened
somewhat informally. He and another cadet were asked on arrival in
Taiping whether either of them played cricket. Thorogood did not and
the other did. Since the officer under whom one of them would work at
Batu Gajah wanted a cricketer for his team, the cadet with that qualifica-
tion was put into the Malay stream and Thorogood into the Chinese.$
Rowland Oakeley and his brother cadets of 1931 had much the same kinds
of experiences.’® When he and two others reached Singapore, they were
told that two of them would do Chinese. One, Geoftrey Davis, volun-
teered for the protectorate at once. Hearing that marriage would be a bar
to language study in China, the third cadet discovered that he was vir-
tually and the red Oakeley drew China faute de
femme. Davis and Oakeley were then asked whether they wanted to study
Cantonesc or Hokkien—a choice that meant nothing to them at the time.
A telephone call to Kuala Lumpur turned up the news that Oakeley's
friend |. T. Rea was headed for Amoy to study Hokkicn, whercas Davis's
chum Noel Alexander was going to Canton. Thatscttled things to cvery-
one’s satisfaction. A year later, R. N. Broome and G. A. G. Walker were
left to sort out between them who would go to the protectorate and who
would do Malay, only onc of their class of nine having voluntcered for
China. Broome gave in to the passionate pleas of his friend and never
regreteed 1t.%7 In fact, he and many of his protectorate colleagues of the
thirtics regarded themselves as an elite corps, partly for Purcell’s reason—
that China's culture was esteemed above Malaya's. His brother cadet of
1932, R. W. I. Band, on the other hand was disappointed at first, having
cherished hopes of a district officer’s life. Two years in China were some
compensation, though he thought later that some of the protectorate’s
work was of doubtful value,*

For most, the two-year hitch in China was an exotic high point in a
career whose middle years involved a good deal of the humdrum. At the
yamen (language school) in Canton, one met people from other services—
police officers from Malaya, Hong Kong cadets—and sampled as much of
a bustling international socicty as one liked. In the carly twenties Purcell
lived for a time on the European-domi d island of Sh charm-
ing, sleepy anachronism that evoked memories of treaty port days.? He
soon moved into Canton itself, taking a Chinese mistress and otherwise
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immersing himself in the life of the country he had come to learn about.
He turned his back momentarily on Europe and even more so on the
twilight zone of Europe-in-China, with its clubs, its high living, its
philistinism, snobbery, and superficiality. As long as men worked hard ac
the language—Purcell learned both Cantonese and Mandarin—they could
do as they liked with their time. He made friends with a young Chinese
civil servant, learning as other visitors to China were to do all the way
through to the late forties that educated Chinese lived in an agony of
ambivalence, loving and hating the Europe that was torturing and cher-
ishing their country, a demon which they could neither escape nor live
with comfortably. For this part, Purcell found much to admire and much
to condemn. Though they were in some ways the most materialistic of
people, seeming to value money above life, the Chinese appeared to take
lietle interese in the substance of their rich civilization—architectural
monuments, in particular—and lived amid scenes of ugliness and squalor
that made Purcell long for the order, dignity, and magnificence of
Europe's public aspect. He alone of the cadets joined the European Club
and moved into the British legation where one night Jascha Heifetz gave a
recital. “*Listening to him playing Haydn and Mozart [ was reminded that
however much I might become attached to Chinese civilization, my basic
loyalty was to the West.""™#¢

Ditficulties with the Chinese government closed Canton for a time,
and, in the late twenties cadets studied Cantonese m Portuguese Macao.
Though he and T. P. F. (later Sir Percy) McNeice liked Macao—a dusty,
pleasant backwater—R. P, Bingham was more aware of his Britishness
there than in Malaya. Surrounded by Portuguese officialdom, European
diplomats, and the hot commeraial competition of Japanese, Americans,
and Germans, they were pushed into a chauvinism not otherwise charac-
teristic of the world's most experienced and relaxed overseas wanderers.

“Every Britisher out here 1s an ardent imperialist and we always insist on
having British goods."#! The Illustrated London News and other period-
icals from home were eagerly awaited. They worked hard at their lan-
guage study, but found the Chinese Club dull and spent off-hours with
their own kind. Weekend visits to Hong Kong for examinations twice a
year and for tennis matches and moonlight swimming parties onits lovely
beaches were a relief from the daily grind with one’s Chinese tutor. *The
view from the Peak s absolutely perfect [with a| sunset which pamted all
the distant hills a deep purple colour and rimmed the sky a rosy red from
end toend. "4

Life in Amoy did not differ greatly. Oakeley and Rea lived on Kulangsu
in the international settlement under the nominal authority of the British
consul, who left them to themselves on good behavior. They hired
teachers who spoke no English and labored cight hours a day. six days a
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week on Hokkien, the tongue that was spoken by more Chinese in Malaya
than any other. ializing was not as sp lar as it could be in
Hong Kong or as varied as it was in Canton since Amoy was smaller and
more remotc. But they managed frequent rugger matches, hockey was
popular, and British warships called now and again. Getting into the
hinterlands would have been interesting. In 1931, however, that was not
possible, with the Japanese to the north, the Nationalists in control of
Amoy, and the Communists roaming the countryside. When he left for
Malaya after twenty-six months, Oakeley felt fairly sure of the language.
He was grateful for discipline that taught him how to study, a thing he
thought he had left behind in Oxford forever.

Many in Malaya felc that the protectorate cadets were made to work far
too intensely. Eye strain from memorizing Chinese characters was a
common complaint. Some observers outside the protectorate thought its
crs tended to become solemn and introspective as a result of the
relentless and lengthy work that filled their carly years, demanding as it
did a more salitary existence than men in the Malay stream had to endure. 43
This together with slower promotions and the fact that protectorate men,
not having done land office work, were not eligible for senior posts such
as residencies, undoubtedly created morale problems. McNeice, who did
£0 on to more general work after the 1939 war and who was knighted for
outstanding service, used the word “excuse™ to describe the land office
argument.** |. D. H. Neill, a postwar cadet who was the last to be sent to
Amoy, was one of the many who felt—rightly or wrongly—that there
was a general prejudice in the Malay stream, a tendency to see protectorate
officers as too specialized. He cites a case of a protectorate man being
denied a position on the cast coast even though he spoke Malay better than
the officer who got it.%$ Some saw the work as less absorbing over the
long run than other tasks and left the protectorate as soon as they could.
N. A. (later Sir Newnham) Worley, a 1914 cadet, transferred to the legal
side at the beginning of the 1930s and ended his career as chief justice of
Bermuda. Though he enjoyed himselfin Canton and was grateful for the
chance it gave him to gain some knowledge of Chinese mentality and
customs, he found day-to-day work somewhat tedious.*® In 1930, the
governor, himself a Chinese speaker with a Hong Kong background,
took steps to upgrade protectorate posts as a means of stopping the drain
to other branches.*” This did not involve large numbers. Protectorate
officers obtained senior secretariat jobs in their last years in any case, or
other desirable positions, such as resident councillorships in Penang or
Malacca. It was mainly in their beginning years that men grumbled about
boring, repetitive duties. Even at that stage many liked what they did.

During the interwar years, the prote J d its trad
work in many fields, took on some that was new and addressed itself to a
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Chinesc community much changed from its nincteenth-century ancestor.
Immigration rushed or trickled, according to tin and rubber trends and to
politics in China: in 1921, there was a dip duc to a decrease in American
and Briush demand for tin; then a sharp rise on the wave of a rubber
boom; a drop again after the 1929 slump; a turther decrease resulting from
immigration restriction i 1933: a rush of coolies, many with wives, after
the Japanese attack on China in 1937; and finally, a series of quota reduc-
tions down to 500 a month from 1938 onwards.** There was considerable
uncmployment in the late twenties and carly thirties and a good deal of
repatriation at the expense of the Malayan government, which meant
extra work for protectorate officers in the management of relief camps.
Restricted immigration and the establishment of quotas was partdly eco-
nomic and partly political, a response to anti-British propaganda cam-
paigns run in Malaya by Chinese Nationalists and Communists. The
period also witnessed shifts in employment patterns. Traditionally,
Chinese laborers preferred work in tin mines to work on rubber estates.
But in the twenties, some estates changed from Indian to Chinese labor,
Briush managers having seen that **. . .a Chinese is a more skilled tapper
than a Tamil," and also a harder worker.*?

Oakeley was assigned to immigration work in Singapore during the
mid-thirties. His job was to board ships as they arrived from China and
check all passengers wanting to come ashore. These were then taken to the
immigration office, where documents were issued and where they were
met by lodging-house keepers who acted as travel agents. Oakeley recalls
that these were the years when females were encouraged to come to
Malaya by exempung them from quotas, thereby reducing the sexual
imbalance that had caused so much trouble in the past.*® Earlier, he had
worked on the selection of unemployed coolies for repatriation, picking
out those who seemed least able to take care of themsclves. Each was
given a ticket entitling him to a place on the open deck where he could put
down his sleeping mat. Food was free, and everyone got enough cash on
arrival in China to pay his way home. Steamers could take as many as
2,000 to 3,000 at a time n this way, the tropical chimate making deck
passage pleasant enough on voyages that lasted only a few days

Surveillance and registration of sccret socictics went on as always.
Officers were sure, as Pickering had been, that suppression was impos-
sible and that the most one could do was keep watch and deal with flagrant
cases of gangsterism as they came up. Most of these involved hardened
criminals who used society names without being really connected with
them 3!'S. E. King, working in Singapore in the mid-twenties, reported
constant trouble with armed gangs of unemployed coolies roaming the
streets, fighting cach other and others in broad daylight, engaging in
robberics, and running extortion rackets that victimized brothels and
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shops. The police dealt with this sort of thing more than the protectorate
did. though there was close cooperation between the two. In the Malay
states, the protectorate worked similarly with district officers. There, the
societies had been entrenched so long that it was not easy to get informa-
tion on their activities. DOs suspected that Malay royals were often
involved, and they knew that there was much intimidation of penghulus. 52
Occasionally, a Chinese detective in the police would get clues leading to
arrests. A Chinese picked up in Selangor was carrying his society’s books
at the time. This resulted in a solid court case and a number of banish-
ments.$ Raids on society ceremonies, made possible by tips to the police
or the protectorate, sometimes produced valuable information and some-
times not. Shortly after his arrival in Singapore, Bingham gota call from
the protector, Raymond Ingham, telling him that news had come of an
mitiation to be held that night in an illegal triad.** They drove to a police
station, where they were joined by an inspector and seven men, Leaving
their cars, the party tramped single file into the jungle, led by the in-
former. When at last they reached the house where the ceremony was to
have been held, they found it empty. Going on they were dismayed to
hear two shots, knowing that this was a signal for the triad meeting to
disperse. But halfan hour later, they were rewarded by the sight of some
twenty men gachered in a clearing lic by candles. An alarm was belatedly
given and there was a mad rush to destroy documents and other evidence.
Outnumbered better than two to one and operating in darkness, the
raiders were able to capture five, one of whom was taken by the delighted
Bingham. Subsequent convictions made the raid a success.

Another time-honored protectorate function was looking out for
women and girls who needed help. Down to the twenties brothels were
legal, subject to disease control and keeping a lid on rowdyism. Women
were allowed to enter the country for the purpose of working in brothels,
and protectorate officers checked at ports of entry to be sure the:
doing so of their own free will. After the houses were abolishe
thought wrongly"—in 1927 the job was to raid lodging houses and coffee
shops that were being used as meeting places, to come to grips with the
gangsters who frequented such places, and to harass those who were
making a profit off illegal prostitution. ** The Singapore protectorate also
ran a girl’s home—the Po Leung Kuk, or protect virtue house, there being
similar ones in the FMS. As always with such efforts, it was an uphill
battle since many victims did not see themselves that way. This was truc
also of the mui tsai, or little younger sisters, who supposedly occupied
kind of au pair position with Chinese familics and who became a major
concern of the protectorate because so many of them were virtually
enslaved. Since the mui tsai system was embedded in Chinese domestic
practice, poorer families traditionally saving their daughters from starva-
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tion by placing them with wealthy ones as wards-servants, the Malayan
government at first took the view that if the girls were decently treated
there should be no interference. In casc of abuse, they could be taken to the
Po Leung Kuk. However, Hong Kong had abolishd mui tsai, and the C.O
brought pressurc on Malaya to do the same after Parliament had taken an
interest in the early thirties. Eventually, legislation was passed giving the
protectorate powers of inspection and control. Lady inspectors were
appointed, mcluding at least two who later married protectorate of
Mrs. G. W. Webband Mrs. ). A, Black ¢

At the heart of all protectorate concerns, historically and morally, was
the Tayjen in Singap Pickering's ¢ hich, by the twenties,
still served its original purpose of providing the Chinese community wich
an open forum for airing any and all complaints and problems. One of
Bingham's first jobs was to assist W. G. Surling in holding court there.
No better introduction could be provided. as Surling was a remarkable
man with a umgque prestige in the community he served. Alec Dixon, a
police o r. described the drab, unidentified building in the heart of
Chinatown where Strling held forth as .. .a municipal architect’s de-
sign for a non-confornust church in darkest Yorkshire. "7 [t was bare and
gloomy; a big. cheerless room that could hold perhaps 1,000, with Stir-
ling’s chair and table on a dais at the back and a stool to one side for the
interpreter, who was there to help ifany complainant’s language was one
of those the officer did not know. Being Chinese, he could also actas asort
of cultural broker 1 need be. Surling, who had a Chinese wife, was not a

ers,

regular officer of the protectorate, having begun in 1909 as an assistant in
the government monopolies department at Malacca, By the twenties he
was still called an extra assistant protector. When Dixon visited him one
morning he was hearing the history of a Cantonese sinkeh who had
emigrated the year before and who was at the tme a squatter growing
vegetables for the marketina village nearby . His wate was with him. They
explained that pigs owned by a wealthy neighbor were rumning their
vegetable garden and those of their friends. When they had gone to
protest, the pig farmer told them the beasts were being fattened for an
important towkay of Johore Bahru. He threatened them all with beatings if
they interfered with his pigs.

Stirling listened attentively. When he had heard the whole story he questioned
the squatter closely i sonarous Cantonese, scribbling the answers in his
dog-cared record book. Presently he leaned back in his chair, took off his
spectacles and polished them carctully with a large silk handkerchief, staring
fixedly as he did so ata far corner of the dingy ceiling.

“Hm. He's not keen on giving the name of that pig fellow, ™ he said, peering
at the man on the high stool
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“Perhaps he is a kongsi [secret society] man,” the interpreter suggested.
Stirling grunted sceptically. Then he said, *“very well, I'll have another go at
him."

He talked to the squatter for some minutes without apparent cffect; then,
with a gesture of finality he threw down his pen and lit a cigarette.

Silence. The Chinese appeared o be idering his position, M
perhaps why he had been so foolish as to tell his talc to this inquisitive foreign
devil. He turned to his wife and talked to her in a low voice. She nodded
vigorously and whispered something in his car.

The Chinese stared ... at Stirling. Again the woman coaxed him. He looked
this way and that uncertainly and I saw that his flat brown face was shining
with sweat. After more wifely coaxing he shuffled closer to the rail and
leaning over muttered a Chinese name

Stirling scrawled the name in characters onaslip of paper and held it up for the
man to sce. The squatter frawned at the paper and after some hesitation
nodded assent

Stirling closed his record book and put on his spectacles. Then he addressed
the couple in Cantonese, speaking with such fluent case that | was filled with
envy and admiration ... The squatter and his wifc listened intently, nodding
agreement every now and again and occasionally giving vent to Chinese
grunts of satisfaction. When Stirling had finished speaking they exchanged
hasty. birdlike glances. smiled cheir relicf and thanks and went off nodding
and gesticulating like children on their way to a party.

Ten years later, Oakeley had the same job. On an average day, there
would be thirty to fifty people waiting to see him: a man whose wife had
run off and who wanted the Taijen to get her back: some workers who had
not been paid: a woman claiming maintenance from her husband; a
mother wanting her daughter put in the Po Leung Kuk; a man sceking a
hawker's license. He issued “notices,” which had no legal force but which
usually produced the desired result—the appearance in court of the of-
fending parties. Though some officers thoughe all this a terrible waste of
time, Oakeley valued it, Besides providing an excellent safety valve for
society, the court and his experience there gave him insights into Chinese
thinking that would have been hard to come by otherwise; itimproved his
colloquial immeasurably and gave him good training for later work in the
arbitration of labor disputes.

Protectorate officers were also involved in a host of special tasks in the
interwar years. Some were appomnted deputy controllers of labor to deal
with Chinese, as opposed to Indian, workers, their services being espe-
cially useful in the thirties when labor unions and strikes became familiar
in a country that had not known them before.*? A protectorate man was
usually appointed districe officer on Christmas Island lying hundreds of
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miles away on the other side of Java, because its labor force, engaged in
mining phosphate, was Chinese.® As the various Chinese communities
in the colony and the FMS settled down, their school facilities greatly
increased, adding to the protectorate’s inspection duties. This might have
been a fairly routine business had it not been for the propaganda activiics
of the Chinese nationalist government (KMT) beginning in the carly
twentics, a campaign designed to subvert British control and enlist the
loyalties of Malaya's Chinese to the homeland. Agitators used night
schools for their purposes. This caused divisions among the Chinese at
first, appealing more to recent arrivals and young people than to those
who had been in the country longer and saw it as their home. the place
where they had prospered. When the KMT was outlawed a decade later,
most Chinese welcomed the move, criticizing the British only for waiting
so long to deal with the troublemakers.®! The Chinese Communists tried
the same tactics, beginning in the mid-twentics. Horne remembers find-
ing the phrase “‘down with British imperialism" in Chinese characters on
the blackboards of night schools when he visited them in off-hours.*?
Communist agents infiltrated secret socictics as well as schoals, and the
Malayan [Chinese] Communist party was in fact dealt with by the courts
as a secret socicty, its members being regularly banished for subversive
activity. Internal splits hampered the party, as did troubles in China. It
became fairly strong in Penang from time to ume and its work among
students and teachers increased in the late thirties. But the protectorate
and the police watched it closely. They always had the support of Chinese
business leaders, from whom it was not casy to hide the party's doings.**
One reason for the relative lack of success of both the KMT and the
Communists in these years was tha the highly efficient detective branch
of the police was largely Chinese.

Reflecting back on the interwar years and before, a prominent member
of the Malay stream of the service remarked thac Malaya's Chinese had
contributed much to the development of the country and had benefited
accordingly.® It was their work and the tin and opium revenues made
possible by their presence that had laid the foundations of the country's
prosperity. Thanks to the protectorate and the police, they had been
shiclded from their own worst impulses and antisocial clements and thus
allowed to reap great rewards from their labors. A protectorate officer, on
the other hand, musing on the lessons of the same years from the dismal
vantage point of a Japanese prison on Singapore island, had his doubrs
about what he and his colleagues had accomplished. Though he thought
that much of value had been done in the labor field, it struck him that
many of the routine jobs could have been done by clerks, leaving officers
free to work with the Chinese on projects of social education and sclf-
help. Although Chinese outnumbered Malays, the government had pur-

|
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sued a policy of “*Malaya for the Malays,"” thereby “fostering an cffete
race at the expense of a virile.”* This had driven the Chinese to look to
their home country for support rather than to the British, whom they had
been only too glad to follow in carlier times. Others put the accent on
what the Chinese themselves had done in Malaya and what they had been
interested in. Tan Cheng Lock, a prominent straits Chinese with several
generations of family wealth behind him, noted matter-of-factly that the
Chinese in Malaya had not sought political power because * . . -they were
more interested in commerce and earning a livelihood. "7 Later on he had
second thoughts and accused the British of having deliberately applied a
policy of divide and rule, doing this out of fear that China and India would
pose a threat to Britain’s hegemony in Southeast Asia. Dr. Khoo Kay
Kim, head of the history department in the University of Malaya, does
not share this view. He points out that there was more disunity in Malaya
before the British came than there was at the time of their departurc.®8
And M. J. Hayward, a 1929 cadet of the Malay stream, puts a gloss on
Tan's original point, viewing the matter in 2 wide context of what every-
one was doing and thinking in Malaya before the Japanese conquest. The
Malays wanted development kept to a pace that would assure the integrity
of their own culture. *“The immigrant races cqually welcomed change,
but being cosmopolitan minded, and thus obsessed with the accumulation
of wealth and [being] without political purpose, they had no reservation
about a speed limit. There was never any question of a Chinese takeover
because at no time in history have the Chinese living outside their own
country ever envisaged more than China-town life ., .

All this would have sounded rather academic to the British, the Malays,
and the Chinese in the interwar years. An independent Malaya, without
British referees, was not foreseen by the majority in any racial group,
much less actively planned for. The protectorate, in any case, was an
instrument for keeping the peace while the country prospered. It con-
trolled the self-destructive impulses of the Chinese in Malaya just enough,
decade by decade, so that cach new wave of immigrants could settle in and
acquire a stake in the general well-being.
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7 Indian Immigrants and the
Labor Department

ALTHOUGH INDIAN immigration to Malaya lagged well
behind Chinese—there were fewer than 750,000 Indians in the country by
1941 as against more than 2,300,000 Chinese—workers from the sub-
continent played a major role in development, especially in the produc-
tion of rubber, the most spectacular money earner from the early 1900s
onwards. Like the Chinese, they eventually seetled down in Ma
Their contributions to the country's life, cultural, political and economic,
have been considerable. Britsh officers who learned Indian languages—
twenty—cight out of 184 in 1941—were not concerned primarily with
keeping order within immigrant communities as the Chinese Protectorate
did, but with looking after the interests of Indian laborers, who were

traditionally more submissive than the Chinese, by sceing to it that
recruitment in India was humane and that employers pad fair wages and
mantained decent living conditions for workers on estates in Malaya.!

India’s trade relations with Malaya before the nineteenth century had
been of importance to both. Hindu, and later Moslem, traders used
Malaya as an emporium of China commerce, much as Europeans were to
do later, and gained political influence along the west coast. During the
Portuguese and Dutch periods. they suffered a decline due to the monopo-
listic practices of the Europeans. But Indian communitic:
Malacca, some of their people being called “klings™ after the name of the
kingdom of Kalinga on the Coromandel coast. Others, mainly Hindus,
were known as “‘chettics,” a term later synonomous with moncylenders,
though originally it referred to a caste, many of whose members were
engaged in commerce. To the north, in Kedah, there were setdlements of
Chulias, Moslems from the Coromandel coast of south India, who had
great intluence among the Malays because of their wealth and the rela-
tively high state of their civilizanon. Captain Light's arrival at Penang in
the 1780s signaled a lessening of their commercial predominance, though

survived in

their trade went on, and there was an important Indian element in Penang
and Province Wellesley from the start of British rule. As British control
spread from Penang to Singapore and Malacca, the number of Indians
journeying to the straits for one reason or another ncreased, while the
activities that brought them changed from the lucrative trading of former
years to smaller commerce and agriculture. This was an extension of what
was happening in India itsclf, of which the straits were now a part.
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In the first half of the nincteenth century, European coffee and sugar
cstates in Malaya outgrew the local supply of labor at the same time as
India was experi g an unprecedented growth of population together
with conditions of rural depression that made people willing to migrate.
Malaya's need for agricultural labor was not unique; other colonies felt it
to00, and in the same period. Their combined appeals to the government of
India, coming at a ume when starvation scemed the only alternative to
emigration, resulted in various arrangements whereby people were per-
mitted to leave, subject to government approval. Some Malayan estate
owners recruited through their own agents who were sent to India for the
purposc. Others contracted with self-employed brokers. Workers usually
indentured themselves for five years. Abuses were common, and shortly
before the transfer of the straits from India to the C.0O., emigration was
banned by act of Parliament. The ban was not fully effective, however.
The flow of workers continued, ace d by erratic correspond
between the Indian and straits governments about the relative demands of
commerce and humanity. In 1871, the governor, Sir Harry Ord, for-
warded to London a memorial from planters in Penang and Province
Wellesley, complaining bitterly that after fifty years of relatively uncon-
trolled immigration, India had suddenly implemented the legal ban, with
disastrous results for the straits economy.? Due to poor soil, said the
planters, estates could not be run at a profit without cheap labor. Neither
the Malays nor the Chinese were willing to work for so little, nor would
gage in planting even if wages were higher. This puta premium
on Indians. Rejecting both the stringent control governing immigrati
mto the West Indies and the freedom that Ceylon benefited from, the
governor proposed a compromise: if India would allow reasonably un-
restricted recruitment of workers, the straits would designate a protector
to receive and look after them. During the seventies immigration pro-
ceeded legally and more or less normally, while planters” representatives
called regularly at the C.O. to protest the severity of controls, and the
government of India criticized the straits with equal vehemence for per-
mitting what amounted ta slave labor.* An Indian army officer, Captain
Hatchell, came to Penang briefly as protector of immigrants. When he
returned to India, F. H. Gottlicb, a locally recruited officer of the straits
service, took over the work, his appointment being subject to the ap-
proval of the Indian government.* Gottlicb knew Tamil—the language of
most of the workers. His duties included inspection of estates on Penang
and the mainland, a difficult job as he was only a second-class magistrate
with limited powers, there were many estates, and planters were not
casily influenced. No one was satisfied with these patchwork expedients.
The planters protested that they were being interfered with unnecessarily:
the government of India that immigrants were not properly cared for:
straits officers that they had ncither enough time for the work nor the




174 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

interested support of their superiors; and Pickening that his ofticers in the
protectorate were being discriminated against in being given far more
work to do than was undertaken by protectors of Indians. The C.O. was
gratified by the growing prosperity of the Malayan dependencies but
doubtful of the ability of the straits government to adequately supervise
estate labor. s Meanwhile, the law of supply and demand took its course.
Low in Perak and Sir Frederick Weld at Government House in Singapore
agreed that labor from outside was vital, that Indians were preferable to
the unruly Chinese, and that, over the years, they would be a uscful
counterweight to that troublesome race.

For the most part, the welfare of the workers was the concern, not of
specialists, but of district officers and supervisors of public works projects
such as road building, which, in face, involved more Indians over the long
run than estate work did. Civil servants appointed sporadically in the
seventies and eighties as protectors or immigration officers dealt with the
terms of recruitment, with transportation from India to Malaya, and with
the reception of workers on arrival. In 1883, a cadet, H. A. Thompson,
was sent to India to learn Tamil.® An ordinance passed the following year
called for a permanent immigration agent at Penang. During most of the

r g years of the h century, however, the officer holding
this post was a member of the Chinese Protectorate. His tite was event-
ually changed to superintendent of immig giving him t

for both Chinese and Indians, and he had assistants in the Malay states
From the earhiest years, ofticers found themselves wedged uncomtortably
in between European planters, with their natural concern for profits, and
the growing numbers of laborers, whose working conditions w
primary concern. Whether posted briefly at Negapatam, onc of the ports
of embarkaton in India, at the receiving station in Penang, or in one of the
major sugar-growing districts of Province Wellesley or Perak, they be-
came tamihar wich practices that they could not regard with approval.
Some of the recruitment was done by kanganys, Indian estate foremen,
who went back to India to collect workers in villages they themselves had
come from. Often, but not always, these men were humane enough. In
other cases, employers dealt with brokers who had no connection with the
estates, who were in business to round up whatever number of laborers a
contract called for and who used methods of misrepresentation and force
that ended in kidnapping plain and simple. Since workers came alone,
unaccompanied by their families, women were transported to Malaya for
service as prosttutes on the estates. Provisions lur seeing to the health of
immigrants were primitive or nonexistent. C. on shipt iand
the onerous circumstances of work were such that many arrived in no fic
state to undertake heavy labor, others broke down soon afterward, and
mortality was high.® Nevertheless, so many came that the straits govern-

ere their
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ment discontinued its subsidics to shipping lines carly in the nineties. A
commission appointed in 1896 to look into the whole question of Indian
immigration rccommended free, rather than indentured, recruitment,
This resulted in a new ordinance designed to provide better protection for
workers. By this time, employers had recognized that long indentures
and bad conditions on estates were self-defeating. Planters served on the
c along with admini officers.® Considerable ag,

was reached on the enlightened self-interest of improved working condi-
tions and on the increased importance of Indian labor at a time when it was
teared that Malaya’s tin deposits were running out, making agriculture all
the more vital. Reassured by the action of the straits government, India
undertook to place no further obstacle in the way of emigration, provided
that workers did not use Malaya as a jumping-off point for countries with
less satisfactory records, !0

As for the workers themselves, by the late nineties many had learned
how valuable they were and how to profit from that knowledge. Return-
ing to India was becoming less attractive. Laborers found that they could
work as much or as little as they pleased and that managers were helpless
to interfere. They left for better jobs, sometimes on their own and some-
times as a result of crimping by other employers. They wandered off to
work for short periods, harvesting rice for Malays who paid them in kind,
then went back to their coffee or sugar estates where their hapless masters
had no alternative to welcoming them home. Some lived in villages
completely populated by Indians with their own houses and gardens,
taking work on nearby estates or with the public works department,.as the
spirit moved."! Not all were so independent or so fortunate, And most
still returned to India. But by the turn of the century, the average laborer
was no longer leading the life of slavery by another name that so many of
his mid-century predecessors had led.

If living conditions had changed for the better by the carly 1900s, the
numbers of immigrants arriving annually had altered even more, jumping
from 28,000 in 1901 to 42,00 in 1905. The explanation was rubber. Asa
product important enough for large-scale commercial exploitation, rub-
ber came to be a major concern of the straits government in the nineties.
Plants taken from Brazil to Kew Gardens in London were experimented
with there and then sent on to India, Ceylon, and Singapore, the first
arriving in the straits in the seventies.'? Some were planted in the resi-
dency garden at Kuala Kangsar, where Low, with his long-standing
interest in naturalism, tended them with particular care. Martin Lister,
later to become resident, wanted sceds for his agricultural estate in Negri
Sembilan as carly as 1881. A few years later, he Jjoined T. Heslop Hill,
whom he had known in Ceylon, in setting out plants in Selangor, firstat
Weld Hill. Commercial plantings were made at Kajang in the ninctics. As
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residents Perak, both Low and Swettenham did all they could to en-
courage planters, believing, as Swettenham said, that **. . .revenue and
prosperity follow the liberal but prudently-directed expenditure of public
funds...""* The government would grant land to planters on favorable
terms, help with the supply of labor, maintain good communmications,
advertise the advantages of planting in the United Kingdom, and then
hope to benetit from the large revenues and general prosperity that re-
sulted from a thriving rubber industry. In this it was supported and urged
on by the C.O., and occasionally taken to task for not doing enough. ** At
first, it was thought, by Swettenham and others in the government, that
relatively small estates run by individual planters would be best. Accord-
ingly, the government stuck to its policy of granting title to limited
amounts of land and of enforcing the rule that land unplanted within the
agreed period would revert to the government. The newly formed United
Planters' Association was nat slow to point out in protest that success
would depend on large acreage and ultimately on financing by corpora-
tions.'$ Swettenham soon agreed, it being seen by the late nineties that
coffee was losing out and that rubber was the country’s great hope. The
difficulty was that no return could be expected for several years while the
trees were maturing. It was clearly impossible for small planters to meet
expenses on their own, the solution being agency houses such as Har-
risons and Crosficld, Guthries, and Barlows, which linked the London
moncy market with Malayan estates.

Midway through the first decade of the twentieth century, rubber had
become so important to the cconomy that the great unifying organiza-
tions, the Planters’ Association of Malaya and the Rubber Growers’
Association, occupied positions not unlike those of similar ones in Britain
and Amenica, powerful combines that dealt with the government on equal
terms or better. It would be inaccurate to say that the political authority

had become their servant. They continued to complain for years after-
wards that 1t did not listen to them enough.'® But their influence in
Malaya was greater than that of nineteenth-century merchants, and their
links with the government were strong. Swettenham and Treacher were
both members of the RGA after retirement. In 1909, Treacher became

manager of Guthries's new estate in Negri Sembilan, and he and Swetten-
ham joined the boards of companics. Sir Eric Mactadyen, who came outas
a cadet in 1902, left the service to go into planting and later became
chairman of the PAM.'” What had happened was that the industry and, to
a considerable extent, the government had both become identified wicha
prosperity that depended on a single product. For the remaining years of
the British period, they would have differences—some of them drastic—
on what was needed. Yet no one denied that rubber was the biggest thing
that had come into the country’s life since the China trade. '
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This became apparent to administrative officers soon enough. DOs had
firm instructions from their residents on what kind of planting to en-
courage and by whom.'® The poor and inexperienced would only waste
their time and moncy on a crop that was too complicated for them.
Interplanting with tapioca—a Chinese idea meant to compensate for the
lack of profit from rubber in the first years—had to be forbidden since the
two crops were not compatible. Planting by Malays was to be fostered as
one means of promoting their interests at a time when they were every-
where being outdone by the Chinese. In the last years before the 1914 war
demand for rubber land rose fairly steadily. The DO Kuala Pilah reported
that applications for land from Malays were so numerous that he had had
to close his books twice in one year.2° It was the same with the Chinese.
Land formerly in rice and gambier was increasingly being converted to
rubber. By 1916, over 170,000 acres in Negri Sembilan were in rubber.
DOs worried that the food supply would become inadequate in some
districts where the men devoted all their time to the new product, leaving
the tending of traditional crops to their women, Mining suffered as well.

The inspection work of DOs and immigration officers increased apace.
A.S. Haynes, a 1901 cadet, learned Tamil while posted to the immigra-
tion office in Penang, and used it when looking into working conditions
on estates there and in Perak during the early years of rubber growing.?!
He saw that standards of medical service, housing, and food were erratic,
some estates treating laborers well, and others not. Education in basic
hygiene was a problem everywhere; laborers would not use latrines or
take quinine. Some estate managers had a genuine liking for their work-
ers, were liked in return, and were able to influence them towards sound
practices. John Whitham of the Midlands Estate in Selangor, a famous
raconteur, spoke Tamil like a native and was always surrounded by
laborers wanting to tell him their troubles and hear his stories.?? At the
other extreme was a Perak estate whose whole European staff had to be
changed because their ill treatment of coolics had become so notorious.
Two men were prosccuted in court, and another left the country in
disgrace.®* Relations between DOs and planters in these years tended to
be thornier than they were later when the industry had settled down. Ina
time of high risks and deferred returns, planters understandably tricd to
keep expenses down, and civil servants with their nagging about workers®
rights and strict terms of land grants were a nuisance. Most planters were
from roughly the same social background as administrative officers. Both
frequented the same clubs, played games together, and joined the same
military units. But the aims of the two groups were not the same, and
conflict was inevitable.24 |. W. C. Ellis, a 1908 cadet who spoke Javanese,
was called on to investigate complaints by Javanese workers on a Negri
Sembilan estate i 1917, The men were in desperately bad physical condi-
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tion when they appeared and said that they had been severely beaten,
overworked, underpaid, and given hardly any medical attention.* When
Ellis’s report charging the estate manager with gross inhumanity was
hushed up by his supeniors in response to politcal pressure, Ellis shot
himself. W. J. K. Stark, posted to Jelebu as DO in 1913, discovered that
the district was completely dominated by a planter, Athelstane Braddon,
whom everyone called “'the Abang™ (elder brother). In addition to his
holdings of rubber land and mines, Braddon owned the local club. When
he heard tha Stark was about to try one of his Chinese employees for an
infraction of the mining regulations, he hinted to the DO that it would be
well for the man to be let offas he, the Abang, knew people in high places.

After finding the accused guilty, Stark proceeded to conviet him. Brad-
don paid the man's fine, and all parted friends. * Another case, heard by a
young ADO in Klang, was not settled so amicably. The officer, N. R.
Jarrett, had been in Malaya less than two years when he was confronted
with the case of a young planter who was accused of having raped a
Chinese girl. The planting community and their highly placed European
lawyer tried to browbeat the young “'beak, ™ as administrator-magistrates
were called. On the other side was an enormous crowd of Chinese threat-
ening to riot if the planter was let off. Jarreet and his miniscule band of
Malay and Sikh police stood firm. The planter was committed by Jarrett
tor trial in Kuala Lumpur, where the high court sat, and escorted to the
railway station through a howling mob.*’

By this ume, the regular admi

ceive help on labor problems from a new branch set up to do in the field of
Indian immigration what the Chinese Protectorate had long done in irs
sphere. Since the seventies the reception of workers had been overseen by
officers temporanly posted to ports of debarkation and at collection
points in India. Their welfare on estates had been one of the normal
concerns of district officers. For some time, however, the swollen num-
bers of immigrants brought on by the rubber economy had made it
obvious that improvisations would not be enough over the long pull. The
planters themselves took the initiative in calling for a more specialized
organization with officers tramed in Indian languages and made respon-
sible for supervising recruitment and working conditions. The Labor
Commission of 1890 was made up of nine European planters, one Chines
and two civil servants—Powell of the Chinese Protectorate and Swetten-
ham, The commission persuaded one of their number, T. Heslop Hill, to
take on the recruiting job.*® Having arrived in the straits in 1877 after ten
years in Ceylon where a blight had wiped out his coffee plantations, Hill
had suffered a second disappointment in Johore and Selangor. This time it
was a fall in coffee prices that ruined him, after which Swettenham took
him on as a maker of roads in all three of the west coast states. He had great

service was b to re-
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success in managing Indian workers on the roads, and, in return, he was
granted extensive lands on which he planted coffee and, later, rubber. By
the late nineties, the bottom had fallen out of the coffec market, Since
rubber had still to prove itself, Hill sold his extensive holdings in Perak
and Selangor to Guthries. This time he emerged solvent and still pos-
sessed ofa marketable fund of experience asa manager of labor. Fora time
he did recruiting work in India as a sort of free lance for the planters. In
1896, two cadets were sent to India for language training—A. V. Brown
and E. L. Talma, a West Indian. At that point, the straits were employing
Dr. Hardaker, formerly of the Madras Medical Service, as their agent in
Negapatam, joining with the FMS government in advancing passage
money to ig . helping the p less on arrival, but leaving actual
recruement to Hill and the planters.?? The governments were still reluc-
tant to move into the labor field officially, not being confident that the
planting cconomy was sound. Civil servants who had done labor work in
Malaya were therefore unsure of their prospects. E. G. Broadrick, the
most senior of them, who was to end his career as chic secretary, FMS,
applied in 1897 for labor work in the Caribbean or Mauritius.’® But
desertions of workers from Malayan estates and public works forces to
better-paid jobs in Kedah and the Dutch islands was worrying. Planters
petitioned for more discipline, catching the government once again in the
dilemma of prejudicing the economy by doing too little or taking on a
burden of supervision for which it did not have enough staff. Could
decent treatment of workers be assured in a free market? Broadrick
thought not and recommended the seeting up of a special department
within the government to oversee all aspects, from recruitment in India to
daily life on Malayan cstates. The governor decided that the only way he
would be able to deal with so complex and important a problem was to
visit India and see for himself.* The mills of civil service change ground
slowly, however, while immigration steadily rose, and attempts were
made to deal with labor conditions by means of new ordinances and by ad
hoc expedients such as the replacement in 1900 of the unsatisfactory Dr.
Hardaker by Dr. E. C. Foston, a Tamil-speaking surgeon from Province
Wellesley .3 Responding to mounting pressure from the planters, yet
another commission was appointed in the same year. Chaired by Belficld,
resident Selangor, itincluded the planter, E. V. Carey; T. Pillai, an Indian
employer; a government surgeon; and two state engincers. Al the classi-
cal problems were aired once again, the voices of the PWD and the
planters being raised in protest against crimping and ruinous expenses and
those of the admunistration and the medical profession urging proper carc
of workers as a matter of self-interest as well as common decency. When
the surgeon member chastised the railway engincer for insufficient pre-
cautions against malaria at Kajang, the latter replied, I am afraid the
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expense would be prohibitive. " A compromise was agreed to whereby
Hill would be app d protector of lab first, the d e
was protector of Indians—and arrangements would be made for improved
conditions on estates, but without the creation of any starthngly new
administrative structure, Since Hill was to go on with his private business
at the same time, the C.O. were not entirely happy with this. But they
accepted Swettenham's assurance that there was no one in the civil service
with comparable experience, and they hoped that Hill would notbea cat’s
paw of the planters.** The appomntment was on a trial basis only, and
Hill's post was not pensionable.

In 1901, E. W. F. Gilman, an 1899 cadet, went to India to study Tamil
and, on return, submitted on his own initiative a report dealing with all
phases of immigration and labor work.** Due to rising prosperity in
India, the number of labarers leaving for Malaya had dropped. and the
number returning home trom there had risen. Yet, with rubber on the
upsurge, the demand for labor was higher than ever. Gilman's sugges-
tions for a modernized recruitment office at Negapatam coincided with
rencwed pleas from the planters that a Malayan ofticer spend at least half
of every year in India to stop the traudulent recruitment propaganda that
was hurting Malaya's reputation and to take steps to right the imbalance
between male and female immigrants so that workers would be more
inclined to make the country their permanent home. They also urged that
land in Malaya be granted to workers on favorable terms after they had
completed their indentures. Gilman went back to India in 1903 and 1904,
and two years later took Hill's place as acting protector in India while the
older man was on leave. This was the end of the line for Hill, who had
failed to please cither the government or the planters. Both had demanded
much of him and had given him less organizational support than the
rubber boom called for. He was succeeded by L. H. Clayton of the
Chinese Protectorate. Clayton, who had been given responsibilty for
both Chinese and Indians in Penang, received authority for the FMS as
well as the colony, and, in 1907, assumed the ttle of supenintendent of
Indian immigranes.** With the superintendent doing the oftice work from
Penang and Gilman serving as emigranion agent in India, there was now
the basis for a more continuous and systematic approach. Gilman was able
to make detailed suggestions to the resident-general, Sir William Taylor.
who visited India in 1906. The mostimportant of these was that a fund be
established to provide passage money for immigrants. This would be
supported by a levy on employers in Malaya, amounts being determined
by the number of days their employees worked. An improved kangany
system of recruitment would eliminate the worst abuses of brokerage and
the crimping that fed oft free immigration. In March 1907, a new im-
migration committee started a series of meetings in Penang. As with
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previous bodics, it included civil servants and representatives of the
planting community, as well as the medical and railway services.?” It was
this group that sct out the original terms of the new office’s work and
maintained a watching brief on progress year to year.

Matters might have rested here—organizationally at least—if it had not
been for a fresh inquiry at a much higher level. In 1909, the secretary of
state appointed a committee to look into Indian immigration to all British
territories due to the unusual amount of public interest the subject was
generating in these years of political restiveness in India itself,”® One of
the resulting recommendations was that bodies sct up to deal with im-
migration be headed by senior officers as an indication of the seriousness
of the work. Accordingly, the Penang office was raised in 1911 to the
status of a full-scale burcau called the Labor Department. J. R. O.
Aldworth, who had been in service since 1889, was appointed protector,
his title being changed to controller in 1912, in which year Gilman became
his deputy. In the same period and for the same reason—an outcry in the
House of Commons—the indenture system of recruitment was abolished.®

1911 was chus the official founding date of the Labor Department. From
then on there would be more system and regularity in postings to work
involving Indian immigrants than there had been before, the establish-
ment of a definitive labor stream comparable to the Chinese one. A glance
at the careers of men who had been involved in some aspects of labor work
before that year shows considerable variation in training, in types of duty,
and in continuity. Some learned Indian languages and some did not. Some
who did went to India for that training and some did not. Some learned a
language but had litele or no subsequent labor experience or took part
ncidentally, their main jobs being of the routine administrative kind.
with or without languages, held labor posts from time to time
n the course of carcers that were mostly devoted to other work.® Even
after 1911, the department was like the protectorate in that men assigned
to it would do other kinds of work eventually, as they became senior. It
never became an imperium in imperio, sealed off from the rest of the service.
As was true of the protectorate, many of its officers knew Malay and other
non-Indian languages and were comparable to their brothers of the Malay
stream as regards general qualifications.,

The remaining years before the war—when recruitment of cadets
stopped—were a time of adjustment to the new sctup. Eleven cadets
Jomned the department in the last four prewar years, a testimony to the
tmportance of the rubber boom and the determination of government and
planters alike to see that the labor supply was adequate and the workers
cared for. The reputation of the labor stream remained the lowest of the
three, although, as with the protectorate, the attitudes of new cadets
varied considerably. In 1902, Winstedt had tried unsuccessfully to getinto
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labor work because he had a passion for languages and liked the thought of
visiting India.*! Stark volunteered due to family background in India but
regreteed it afterward. G. A. de C. de Moubray, entering in 1912, finally
talked the chief secretary into giving him an ADO’s job seven years later
and never went back to labor work 42 In 1913, Jarrete was “somewhat
dashed™ to be told he was posted to labor, though he came to like the
people and became a strong partisan of theirs, not only in dealing with
Malayan planters, but also with the Briaish in India.** Madras Europeans
seemed racially haughty. and he did not like what he heard of the “heaven-
born™ ICS. J. M. Barron, who had a mixture of duties in Malaya. always
considered labor work the mostinteresting of all.** BurM. C. Hay,a 1913
cadet, “wangled out™ after only a year and got himself sent to Lipis as
ADO.#S

now, Gilman was thought of as the father of the department, having
1 in labor work for over a decade and having had more to do with
establishing the ground rules than anybody clse. He took juniors mto the
office at Penang to teach them the rudiments of the burcaucratic side and
out to nearby estates for inspection work, leaving them to manage on
their own as soon as he felt they understood what to look for and ask
about. Many Penang coolies were Hindustani speakers, which was frus-
trating for some cadets but not for Stark, who remembered it from his
youth. He persuaded planters in Province Wellesley to improve works
housing and to set aside land that they could use for growing vegetables
and fruit for their own consumption. Later, he wrote a manual of advice
for cadets, a monograph on laborers’ customs and living conditions, and

o

an article criticizing such practices as giving excessive doses of cod liver
oil. He shared Gilman’s determined aim of reducing malaria and intestinal
complaints among workers and was overjoyed when the death rate from
malaria dropped from 6 to 3 percent in the interwar years.

Most officers got on well with employers, especially as the primitive
conditions of the pioncer ime gradually faded away. But the tension was
always there in the background. The conviction persisted among some
managers that workers were not used to decent housing in their own
country, and Gilman’s campaigns for improved coolic hnes were often
cffectively resisted. The controller finally won out over the protests of the
director of the PWD and his allies among the planters. Slowly, the old
back-to-back barracks gave way to well-built lines with good roofs,
larger rooms, privacy for parents, and becter sanitary facilities.

During the interwar years, the rubber industry grew in complexity and
in importance to the country as the government struggled to control and
exploit an increasingly unwieldy giant. By the end of the 1914 war
rubber’s primacy over other products had been established beyond doubt.,
and so had the dangers of a boom-bust economy that was heavily de-
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pendent on it. The planters and their principals in London naturally
disliked the idea of government control, while continuing to expect
maximum government help. Yet they realized that in a cut-throat inter-
national market, subject to sudden and drastic fluctuations in demand and
therefore in prices, some sort of planning and c. 2 was
the alternative to disaster. Beginning with the Stevenson scheme for
rubber restriction in the carly twenties there was a series of experiments
by which the government groped for a solution that would keep produc-
tion in line with demand without abandoning the field to their Dutch and
other competitors. By the chirties considerable agreement on quotas had
been reached among the main producing countries, and within Malaya
itself there was no longer any serious opposition to the principle that all
phases from planting o stockpiling and marketing had to be supervised
and controlled.** Organizations founded to do research on diseases and on
the science of rubber growing got a measure of support from government
and industry that would have amazed the embattled forestry department
of carlier years. A new post—controller of rubber—was set up, the holder
always being a senior officer#7 All the way down the ranks, through
residents to district officers, the central importance of rubber was a daily
reality. Despite the industry’s dependence on big estates, thousands of
small holders—Malay, Chinese, and Indian—vied with one another for
land to plant on. Rubber clashed with food crops, the government some-
times evicung squatters to make way for the former and at other times
discouraging kampong dwellers from planting so much of it that they had
oo lietle food to live on 4%

Immigration from India during the twentics and thirties followed
world economic trends generally, rising to 95,000 a year right after the
war, falling to less than half of that after the slump of the carly twenties;
climbing again to over 100,000 in the late twentics: dropping very low
after the great depression, then recovering in the thirties, and stopping
almost completely after 1938 duc to the saturation of the market. Gilman
visited India several times more, negotiating with the Indian government
on conditions in Malaya, which were such that enticement was no longer
necessary and workers flocked in voluntarily. As with the Chinese, a
certain amount of repatriation was arranged in lean times.*® The Indian
government in these years of steady advance towards self-rule was con-
cerned not only with the living conditions of workers in Malaya but also
with their political rights. [t asked in the carly twenties whether Indians
would have the same access to positions in government service as natives
had, receiving the reply that, while all races were eligible for clerical
employment, the higher posts were reserved for Europeans and, in ac-
cordance with treaties, for Malays in the FMS.*° The question of putting
Indians on state councils and on the Federal Council came up at the same
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time, becoming entangled in battles between the high commussioner and
the chief secretary.5! In 1928, the first Indian, S. N. Veerasamy., did join
the Federal Council. In general, his posture there was comparable to those
of Chinese members of similar bodies all the way back to Low’s time in
Perak. He spoke out in defense of his compatrios but took very different
views from those of politicians and others representing the country his
people had come from. The glory of Malaya, he said, was that
*...men of diverse races and creeds live in peace, in unison and m
harmony . . .52 The thirtics saw a good deal of jousting between political
m,uru from India and defenders of the Malayan status quo. Rt. Hon. V.
5. Sastri, a leader of the Liberal party in India, visited Malaya for thr
\vuks in 1936, pmdunng, a report on labor conditions that contained
criticism and rec for t but was on the whole
tavorably disposed to the Labor Department and to the planters.®? Mac-
fadyen and other spokesmen of the rubber industry resented what they
saw as interference from outside by people who neither possessed ade-
quate knowledge of circumstances in Malaya nor represented Indian
opinion there. On the other side, K. A. Neelakandha Aiyer of the Central
Indian Association of Malaya criticized both the government and the
planters, calling the department an agent of the estates, but holding that
even s0, it was a better protector of workers than the “politician ridden™
Indian government.®* He thought that the growing tendency of the
workers to organize into labor unions would be their salvation and he
wished they were as good at this sort of cooperative effort as the Chinese
were.

In this gradually changing atmosphere, the role of the Labor Depart-
ment shifted from what it had been in the first years of the rubber boom.
At that time, it had supervised recruitment in India and had acted as botha
protector and a controller of workers once they got to Malaya. Since
Indians lived for the most part on the estates where they worked rather
than in towns and villages that were part of socicty, as the Chinese did, the
management of their affairs was initially an casier and more comprehen-
sive business than was the corresponding role of the Chinese Protectorate.
Then in the twenties, Indian members of estate statfs began to form
associations, followed soon after by Indians in the clerical ranks of the
civil services.*S By the mid-thirties. there was a movement towards freer
employment as the country’s Indian population, now far larger than
before, thought less of going back to the home country and concentrated
more on improving their position in the adopted one. 3 With the return of
prosperity, Indians along with Chinese became more aware of their
power as a work force on which the cconomy depended. The ending of
immigration made that power more obvious, and, though a strike n 1937
by rubber tappers ended in failure when the police rounded up its leaders,

prove
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the government realized that a corner had been turned. In future there
would be less control and more mediation.

The department’s staff, soon to be confronted with this unprecedented
course of events, was small and well organized and was distributed ac-
cording to the size of Indian communities. As controller in the twenties
Gilman was based on Penang, where he had a deputy and an assistant.
Another deputy controller was posted to Kuala Lumpur, the future head
office. Assistant controllers were at Ipoh in Perak, at Seremban in Negri
Sembilan, and at Klang in Sclangor. The Seremban officer was respon-
sible for Malacca as well. Johore had its own controller, as did Kedah,
whose office also looked after Perlis, In addition to the European officers,
there were Indian extra-assistant controllers at Kuala Lumpur, Klang, and
Ipoh.

Cadets newly assigned to the department sometimes spent a few
months in one of these offices Icarning the routine and studying a lan-
guage on the side and in other cases went to India fairly soon, where, asin
Malaya, there was a mixture of labor work and language study. J. S. H.
Cunyngham-Brown, a 1930 cadet, had three months as private seeretary
to Gilman in Penang, where the “father of the department™ was then
serving as resident councillor prior to retirement. With three decades of
gruelling work behind him, Gilman enjoyed his brief stints as resident
Selangor and then as head man in Penang. 57 A hard taskmaster, though
kind to juniors, he made Cunyngham-Brown work four hours a day on
Malay, a language he himself knew well enough to teach to cadets in
London after retirement, and on colonial regulations and law in addition
to his duties as private secretary. He pointed out to the younger man thata
sccond language was essential in the increasingly complex interracial
circumstances of Malaya, his own first language having been Tamil. As
controller, he had seen more clearly than most senior officers, and earlier,
that if there was to be peace among the races, immigrants would have to
have soaal justice, if not complete political equality, as well as decent
living arrangements. He pushed for the hiring of more Indians in clerical
Jobs. for better ed and for full cooperation between labor officers
and enlightened planters with ideas similar to his. For Cunyngham-
Brown, this exposure to a benign and incomparably informed outlook
was more than enough to counterbalance the department’s low prestige.
Besides, his background was anything but typical, and his view of a
worthwhile carcer was not unlike Purcell’s in placing more value on
interesting work and a full life than on organizational success as such.$¥
His father was a psychiatrist and his mother a French lady. Both parents
were international in outlook, living partly in England and partly in Paris.
At Blundell's he was in the mainstream of middle-class life, with a taste
for games and the experience of being a monitor. But this was offsct by
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summer vacations when he could run about naked on remote French
beaches, go fishing and sailing, and talk a different language. Turning his
back on a medical carcer, he went to Australia and became a fruit picker
while waiting to join the crew of a square rigger. After a long voyage in
her he knew an overseas job was for him. The diplomatic service was too
expensive and India too uncertain, Malaya fitted the bill perfectly. Once
there, his talks with Gilman and the fact that he had relatives in south India
made labor the obvious choice. “This would give me all the advantages of
the ICS for .. .a year or so—plains for hacking about on horseback, an
open hill country to scramble about in and the chance of some *shikar'—
and all this without fear of Indianization hanging over one’s head. It
would be having the best of both worlds. %% Because the Malayan gov-
ernment wanted to help recruitment by stirring up a little competition
with the Tamils, Cunyngham-Brown was sent to a Telegu-speaking
village on the Coromandel coast between Caleutta and Madras. There he
spent an idyllic year learning Telegu, making plans for new receiving
camps, and living in the primitive splendor of the old Dutch Club. He
came to know the peasants, occasionally met local aristocrats, and walked
fifteen miles to the nearest district headquarters when he wanted to talk to
the collector.

Life at Tamil-speaking Negapatam to the south was more typical. C.
W. Shorland, a 1925 cadet, spent the better pare of a year in nearby
Coimbatore, learning the ropes from A. R. do Fonscca of the Labor
Department and from Renesamy Avyer, a landowner whose brother,
Gopal, an extra-assistant controller, had started Shorland on Tamil in the
Kuala Lumpur office.®® Cunyngham-Brown was sent to Negapatam in
1933 as acting emigration agent for Malaya, learning Tamil, overseeing
the repatriation of workers, and being treated to alocal view of India in the
throes of nationalist politics. Having criticized Malaya for not taking
more emigrants before, the young swa-rajists (nationalists) now blasted it
for bringing back those for whom there was no work. Bricks were thrown
at his windows, and abuse hcaped on Tamil families headed for the
railroad station. ““Such is the way of politics the world over."*! He
avoided Europeans and concentrated on the job. Mahatma Gandhi came
one day to address the crowds—in English, for he spoke no Tamil—and
rode off two hours later in an open Cadillac, scated on bags of money
collected at his huge open-air meeting. That sort of diversion was rare.
Cunyngham-Brown spent most of his time studying Tamil and super-
vising the camps, seeing that workers were properly housed and fed and
provided with money for the journcy to their home villages.

Back in Malaya, officers put in long days mspccunh estates, talking
with workers, urging impr Land i c 1 .M.




——————

INDIAN IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOR DEPARTMENT 187

Barron remembered that malaria and dysentery were major problems,
particularly on newly planted estates some distance from the coasts. Being
able to listen patiently to workers and to inquire into the small details of
their daily lives was essential. When he had been on the job for a time he
had got to the root of the trouble and had a notion of how to attack it.
Disease was not entirely a matter of poor nutrition or bad hygiene. Often
the workers understood perfectly well what food was good for them, but
failed to take care of themselves because they were overly frugal and sent
more money back to India than they could afford, leaving themselves
with too little to live on. When wages went up, in response to the
promptings of labor officers, health improved accordingly. Meanwhile,
malarial research went forward, and medical specialists worked hand-in-
glove with the department on ways of improving workers dict and
getting them to cooperate. Breaking into the cycle of ignorance and
despair that resulted in an abnormally high suicide rate, similarly, was a
matter of bringing general impr . after which sense and
self-respect could be depended on to do the rest. Higher wages, better
housing and medical facilitics, schools for estate children, and something
approaching normal family life after gencrations of the opposite were
more effective in cutting down on excessive consumption of toddy than
all the sympathy and sermonizing a Tamil-speaking officer was capable
of. What he could do while working for improvements was make himself
conspicuous on estates and convince workers that he had their best in-
terests at heart. The presents of fruit and vegetables and flowers that came
to his door were signs of progress. So were the medical reports of later
years and the response of estate laborers when the government began
cooperative societies in the thirties. DOs and labor officers worried that
workers would go on throwing away their savings on expensive wed-
dings and funcrals.** Many did. But this kind of waste was, in itsclf, a sign
of change for the better.

In their attempts to help, officers always came up against the planters in
one way or another. No matter how much good will there was on both
sides—and there was always an impressive supply—the separate concerns
of the two groups remained. Running an enterprise for profit in a tricky
international market was simply not the same as being charged with
promoting the public good, even when all could agree, in principle, that
prosperity was essential to everyone and that healthy, contented workers
were the mainstay of successful estates. It might have seemed, again, that
since both the planter and the labor officer were white men in the East,
Joined together in a European socicty in the midst of an Oriental one, they
would not find it hard to get along. The type of man wanted by estates
sounded very like what the C.O. looked for in cadets: a good education, a
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solid family background, tact, character, and common sense, a capacity
for hard work, and a liking for sport and the open air.® In the years from
the rubber boom to the Great Depression, young men joining the staffs of
rubber companies and those entering the civil service were often leaving
home for the same reasons: the inability to find employment in Bricain, a
wander lust, or the example of relatives or friends who had gone beforc.
On the job, many had in common a paternalistic outlook that reflected
similar work situations. A planter writing in the interwar years could have
been speaking for DOs and labor men when he wrote, **You had to know
your Indian labour force backwards, all their relations and enemies; you
listened to their woes, married them and divorced them—the lot. They
said, "You arc our Father and our Mother, " and you were too. "' Planters,
like civil servants, had to pass language cxaminations, given in later years
by senior officers of the Labor Department. When the slump came, both
groups were affected. There was retrenchment in the civil service and a
much greater job loss on estates. If, before that, planters had had more
moncy than administrative officers the ill fecling occasionally engendered
by this now gave way to sympathy and a desire to help. Quite a few
ex-planters down on their luck found refuge in the lower cchelons of the
avil service.

There was also the historical fact that planters and government o
had worked together on building the organization that became the Labor
Deparement. It was only natural that they should do this, for the planter—
before and after rubber—and the official had always been “good friends
on close visiting terms,” something that could not always be said of
officials and the mining community, many of whose leaders were not of
the same social cut as the other two groups were.®S Oliver Marks, con-
troller of labor after the war. began as a planter, then entered the civil
service, rose to be a resident, and then served after retirement as secretary
of the Bricish Association of Malaya in London. He spoke ex officio at the
first meeting of the Planters” General Labor Committee in 1920, con-
veying the views of the high commissioner and promising cooperation in
assuring an adequate supply of labor for rubber estates.®® Far from op-
posing him, the planters were foremost among those insisting that his
position should be sccond only to that of the chief secretary. Consistently
supporting a strong Labor Department, they were outspokenly opposed
to breaking the department up into regional sections when the decentral-
1zation battles were raging in the interwar years.

Needless to say, however, the rubber mterests wanted not just a
vigorous department as such, but one that took substantially the same
view of the economy that they took. When that did not happen—as was
bound to be the case with officers who were assiduous in enforcing

ficers

codes




INDIAN IMMIGRANTS AND THE LABOR DEPARTMENT 189

that governed the living conditions of workers—there was sure to be
controversy. At the center of this was C. D. Ahcarne, a 1910 cadet, who
was the most distinguished of Gilman's successors. Ahearne Was not so
rabidly anti-establishment that he played a purely eccentric role in a
country where cooperation between business and government was of the
essence. He became federal secretary and, after retirement, chaired the
Mal. Planting Ind es Empl " Association. But there was a
quixotic strain in his character, combined with a deep sympathy for the
down-trodden and a suspicion of the English that calls to mind his famous
countryman, Sir Roger Casement. Schooled at Our Lady's Mount and at
Trinity College Dublin, Ahcarne was typical of those Edwardian Irish
who served the empire perforce but never ceased to resent their own
country's subordinate position in it. In 1914, when his fellow members of
the service were moving heaven and earth to get into uniform, he openly
cursed the British army and refused to have anything to do with it.67
During the visit of the under secretary of state for the colonies in the late
twentics he scouted that august personage in a way that would have been
unthinkable to the average officer. When Mr. Ormsby-Gore asked him
Jokingly why his face was so shiny, he shot back, **What cvil do you sce
reflected in it?”"** Long after he had left Malaya, planters gazing into their
stengahs could still wax hot on the subject of *Paddy™ Ahearne and his
outrageously pro-Tamil policies.*® His rigidity and thoroughness were
legendary. In the 1930s when he was controller, he personally visited six
Negri Sembilan estates to look into complaints of inadequate pay, and
then informed the planters’ association that conditions were even worse
than he had been told. Agrecing, the resident remarked that if the estates
could only make a profit by such means .. .they had better not sur-
vive. 70

Officers of lower rank came into daily contact with planters on estates
when investigating protests or on routine inspections to check on living
conditions. On onc occasion, Barron found that a manager had refused,
on religious grounds, to let his workers blood a new machine that, in its
tirst hour of operation, had killed a tapper. A three-day strike followed,
and the manager lost his job, after which the workers demanded that
Barron be present at all their ceremonies. I smelt from the garlands for a
week in consequence,” he recalled.” Planters occasionally complained
dirccr to the C.O. that it was unfair to expect estates to assume respon-
sibility for all the care and maintenance of their labor, and they brought
social pressure on the deparement’s officers locally in an attempt to geta
relaxation of standards.” DOs faced much the same sort of thing in places
where there was no labor officer—a never ending struggle between men
who had rules to enforce and men who thought they stood to lose if
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enforcement were strict.” A subtle change occurred by the late thirties as
the department’s role altered from control to arbitration of disputes
berween management and labor. But even then, with immigration stopped
and workers defending themselves through unions, employers still
tended to see the department as a friend to labor. Along with members of
the Chinese Protectorate and civil servants doing other kinds of specialist
work such as founding cooperative societies, labor officers were looked
on by many as “cranks,” outlanders who knew strange tongues and
customs and who were not quite respectable.” It was no wonder that
quite a few edged their way out of the department as soon as they could or
breathed a sigh of relief when they had attained enough sentority to
qualify for a secretariat job. Shorland fought clear by taking bar examina-
tions on leave and passing in Malay so that he would be accepable for
general duty

The smallest of the three streams, labor had its detractors within the
department as well as from outside. Noting its diminutive size, some
post-1945 critics have tended to dismiss it as ineffective—at best, a noisy
spanicl snapping harmlessly ac the heels of big rubber or, at worst, a
willing pointer and retriever for them. The fact that the department took
an active part in recruitment of labor in India lends a cercain plausibilicy to
this. But the constant sensitivity of planters to the strictures of the de-
partment and the cagerness of estate workers to bring their troubles to
labor officers suggest that, over the long run, there was a formative and
restraining influence that was out of proportion to the numbers of the
staff. From the late nineteenth century to the 1930s, the “proletariat”—as
one Indian scholar calls it—evolved from a helpless, inchoate mass into a
community that was better off than its relatives in India and possessed of
stronger instruments for advancing its cconomic and social interests.”®
The Labor Department did not itself forge those weapons any more than
the planters prevented 1t. What it did was hold the balance while the
immigrants and their families matured and prospered and finally chose to
make Malaya their home.
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love of the country that helped ingratiate him with the sultan, who asked
that he be made a member of his council. Thinking that such a move
would help bring reform, the high commissioner agreed. Maxwell was
given the title mushir, an obscurity meant to cover over the fact thatic was
illegal for a non-Moslem to be on the council. Since Maxwell could not
serve as agent and council member at the same time, a new agent was
appointed in 1915. This was J. L. Humphreys, a 1905 cadet. The presence
of two officers in the same small community—one of them the British
agent and the other his predecessor and an intimate of the sultan—was
awkward, to say the least. It would have taken something like saintliness
on both their parts to preserve good relations. Inevitably there was strain.
This, coupled with Maxwells inability to do as much from inside as had
been hoped, led to his reassignment the Follo\nng year. Humphreys had
the field to himself from 1916 ds, i in Treng; until

1925, a longevity of tenure comparable to Low’s in Perak and Murray's
and Paul’s in Sungei Ujong. It was in Humphreys's time that Treng
turned the corner: he was the founder of its modern statchood. A memorial
in the form of a sundial, erected near the government offices, survived the
1941 war, as did an oil portrait carefully preserved during the Japanese
occupation and hung again in the secretariat afterward.

In 1918, a commission under the chief justice, Sir John Bucknill, was
sent to look into charges of maladministration and injustice in the state.
These were brought by Humphreys to whom mmpl:mus had been made
by Malays and by European miners. The commi ded that
reforms be instituted through closer British control of the kind already
provided for in the other unfederated states. Sultan Zainal, whose rela-
tions with Humphreys were good but who had been under constant
pressure from his courtiers, died shortly after the commission completed
its work. The new sultan, Muhammad, being young and inexperienced,
was in an even more uncomfortable position than his father had occupied.
A new treaty raising the agent to the rank of adviser was prepared, but
when the sultan was summoned to Singapore for the signing, he declined
on a plea ofill health. Convinced that he had been put up to this by those of
his courtiers who were opposed to tighter British control, Singapore
instructed Humphreys to deliver an ulti b d then came to
Government House, accompanicd by four of xhc anti-British faction but
by none of his council, which unanimously favored the new arrange-
ment.*2 Humphreys was sure that most of the civil service of the state was
also on the side of reform. Having no option, the sultan gave in and
shortly afterward abdicated in favor of his brother Sulaiman. With
Muhammad living in exile at Singapore, Humphreys, now British adviser
with full power, was at last in a position to move forward.
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His first thought was of the need for British officers to help him. % Up
to this time, he had been all alone in the state, compelled to rely on a civil
service that was completely Malay. In addition to being adviser, he was
food controller, judge of the appeal court, and director of public works.
Singapore sent an assistant adviser in 1920—Major H. S. Paterson, a 1913
cadet with an excellent war record who was serving at the time as ADO
Kuantan just down the coast.** The BA asked for the loan of Pepys also
because of his Kelantan scrvice and his briet experience in Trengganu as
acting BA during Humphreys's leave, but this was at first refused by W. G.
Maxwell, chief secretary FMS, and his under secretary, A. S. Jelf, who
felt that too much ulu did not look well on a man's record, Pepys having
had more than enough already. Singapore agreed. M. E. Sherwood, the
high commissioner’s secretary, remarked that **. it is not very fair to
keep an officer always in the wilds. 5 But Pepys did not see it in that light
at all. He and Humphreys met on leave in England and were able to
arrange matters so that Pepys would be briefly posted to Trengganu in
order to start organizing the land office, which he did in 1922, Humphreys
was careful to call him co-commissioner along with a Malay officer,
which had ** .. the advantage of giving reasonably full European control
without ousting the Malay."*s¢

The BA built up his European staff with great care and fastidiousness,
writing privately to the secretary to the high commissioner about the
qualities he wanted. It was vital to have a European for public works, not
only because **. . the country is practically without roads and public
buildings," bur also because the headship of that department had always
been wide open to venality.$7 It was not just any engineer who would
satisfy him. The man must be a gentleman, capable of dealing tactfully
with the Malays, young enough to be content with a modest salary, but
not a raw recruit with no experience. Over the initial opposition of the
high commissioner, Sir Lawrence Guillemard, who thought a Malay
should be appointed, he secured the services of a Cambridge-educated
professional, D. H. Laidlaw. In bringing off this coup, he had to over-
come the sultan’s reluctance too, for his highness instinctively preferred a
Malay. A medical officer, Dr. A. B. Jesse Cooper, was brought in on
sccondment from the straits service. As police commissioner, he got a
thirty-year-old officer rejoicing in the name of Ernest Cheers who spoke
Malay and also Hokkicn, a desirable qualification in a state that was
attracting more Chinese every year. District administration was remodeled,
some smaller units being combined into bigger ones. He took infinite
pains in the selection of Malay officers. The sultan was determined to
dress his service in special uniforms, partly to impress the Prince of Wales,
who would be visiting soon. This did not especially appeal to the BA, but
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he agreed in order to please the ruler and as a quid pro quo won agreement to
things he thought important, such as night classes in English for Malay
officers and the posting of a DO in Ulu Trengganu, which up to then had
been run, badly, from the capital. He also gave in on litcle points, making
no protest when the sultan declined to invite the high commissioner to the
ceremony of his llation. M hile, modernization went on. The
telegraph line inched its way north from Dungun; school attendance
increased; and the BA's hold on finance steadily tightened. Humphreys
attended all meetings of the State Council. Nothing escaped his notice,
and attempts to embarrass him became fewer as it was found that he was
not casily outmaneuvered. One day on arrival at the meeting, he found
cveryone wearing long faces. A woman had been accused of adultery,
they said. It was a very serious crime; the charge was backed by evidence,
and what did the BA propose to do? Humphreys had the woman brought
forward. Then he took the whole council and the accused as well out to the
site of a road-building operation where there were piles of stones to be
used for metalling. The Holy Koran, he reminded them, prescribed that
adulterers should be stoned to death. As the responsible authorities, they
would no doubt wish to admimister the punishment. He left them to it,
and nothing more was heard of the matter. 5%

Humphreys got on well with Sultan Sulaiman, who soon saw that the
BA wanted European officers only because Malays were not yet able to
manage all the tasks of modernization and that local men would be trained
as quickly as possible. The BA's deep knowledge of the state and his tact in
dealing with everyone from the ruler on down were well known. When
the high commissioner came to invest the sultan with the KCMG in 1923,
Humphreys interpreted the racher inept remarks of his excellency in such
a way as to avoid giving offense to the ruler. Though this may have
scemed to be a mateer of propricty and nothing more, it was important to
Sulaiman and the tungkus, who saw it as further evidence that the BA
could be trusted to defer to their sensibilities. As they listened the next day
to speeches given by the high ioner and then by Humphreys,
they could not help noticing a contrast between the banality and coldness
of the former's remarks, made in a language most of them did not know,
and the exquisite intimacy and warmth of the BA's words, delivered in his
faultless Malay.** It was hard for the high commissioner to appear as
anything but an Olympian potentate from afar. Humphreys was a friend,
familiar, local, and considerate.

His reputation depended in large part on his habit of being always on
wand closcly involved in everything that went on in the public sphere.
On a visit to Kemaman, he greeted everyone—Malay, Chinese, and
European—and never scemed to be in a hurry.® He played chess (the

i
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Malay kind) with the local tungku. Traveling upriver, he stopped fre-
quently for talks on administrative matters with Malay officers, all of
whom he knew, having worked with them for years. Ata small river port
where he would not ordinarily have paused, he found that vaccinations
were in progress and so went ashore and spent several hours talking with
the dresser, with some old men who came up to welcome him, and with
crowds of children that trooped around him wherever he went. He stayed
with a European minc manager, then walked ten miles farther to visit a
village that could not be reached by boat, shooting snipe on the way and
exchanging good humored banter with his Malay guides all the while. He
spent hours inspecting police stations and government buildings, no
matter how modest, as well as padi and crops, then climbed an 800-foot
hill to have his tea in a cool place after a sweltering morning in the valley.
The next day, he and his party walked for twelve hours, with two brief
halts for food and rest, through hilly country near Bukit Bandi, which
rises 1,700 feet from the valley bottom. Humphreys wanted a close look at
European and Japanese mines in the arca, enterprises of great importance
to the state’s cconomy. On return to Kuala Trengganu, he discussed
Kemaman's affairs in detail with the sultan and council, backed by a fund
of personal knowledge that few FMS residents had of their states in those
days. There were endless little meetings with Malay and European of-
ficers during which every subject of economic or administrative impor-
tance was gone over. These dovetailed with social ones that the BA liked
to use as a means of getting the races together mformally. On Christmas
afternoon, he gave a sit-down party for Malay chicts and the British staff
and presented trophies won in sporting events that year.

Humphreys's report for 1925—his last year in Trengganu—dwelt on
the state’s fiscal health, graced by a surplus of over $1,000,000, duc in
large part to mining and rubber.® He had praise for the avil service,
noting, in particular, the work of the state commissioner, Dato’ Jaya
Perkasa. The sultan’s son and another boy had entered the Malay College
in Perak. Six more boys were at school in Taiping. The European stafthad
grown to seven. But he did not depart trom his rule that the appomntment
of British officers would be made only in those departments that could not
yet be run by Malays. At the end of his time, Malays were in full exccutive
charge of treasury, audit, customs and excise, and education, and the
courts were completely Malay-administered. Malays and British sat to-
gether on the supreme court and the land court. The court of appeal was
made up of three judges—two Malays and the BA as president

Humphreys's successors varied from him and from one another in their
views of what needed doing and in their approaches. C. C. Brown was
regarded as the quintessential Malayophile, a linguist and antiquarian of
local lore who strongly preferred service on the cast coast but who was
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more of a scholar than an administrator. “'Precise, pedantic. . .always
very proper in dress and manner [he was| quite unable to cope with a very
wild Christmas party at his residency in 1934."'6? He went to the extreme
of making his British staff speak Malay in meetings when no Malays were
present. Jarrett, too, was fond of life in the unfederated states and wanted
them to enjoy a maximum of autonomy. His relations with the sultan
were excellent, both in council meetings and on the golf course, where
they often played together. Sulaiman took a tolerant view of the abdica-
tion of Edward VIII, which Jarrett thought might be a rather awkward
thing to cxplain to him, partly because the sultan's own son had had

culties involving a young lady at Oxford. But Jarrett stood up for the
itish prerogative in Trengganu and for modernization. This brought
him up against Dato’ Amar more than once. The mentri besar disapproved
of Europeans who wore shorts, a matter that the BA thought to be well
outside his province. In the court of appeals, Dato” Amar could be de-
pended on to shave the fine points of Islamic law yet finer by the hour and
to find reasons for opposing things the BA wanted to do. He extended this
tediousness to the golf course. Once when Jarrett and the sultan were
unsure whose turn it was to putt, they were so incautious as to refer the
matter to Dato” Amar, who gave them a long lecture on the judgment of
Solomon in a case involving the claims of two women to the same child,
concluding, after a seemingly interminable wait, that there was as much
to be said on the one side as there was on the other.®® Kempe, Brown's
brother-in-law, was different still. Like Brown, he was an unusually
fluent Malay speaker. But his manner was as hearty and off-hand as
Brown's was fussy, and he did enjoy a glass rather often. The Malays
loved him, seeing that he genuinely liked being in the more informal
atmosphere of the east coast even though his pride was slightly hurt at the
thought of ending his carcer as BA Trengganu rather than as a resident in
the FMS.® He was never one to mince words. On arrival as BA, he
immediately clashed with Dato’ Amar over the remission of sentences on
prisoners in the goal. Kempe thought two would be enough, and the
mentriheld out for three as it was the sultan’s birthday and the king's
Jubilee as well.* Kempe was less tolerant of mixed parties than Hum-
phreys and Brown had been, looking forward to the company of his own
kind after hours. In council meetings, he was notinclined to give in to the
reactionary element and got his way more often than not. Having been
away from the state for a decade, he was astonished at the progress of
Europeanism in everything from administrative reform to the taste of the
ruler for radios and other gadgets. British intervention was everywhere
apparent, even in such matters as the marriage of the sultan's daughter toa
son of Kedah's ruler. Yet he continued to value the special character of the
cast coast, where he had more satisfaction in indulging his passion for bird
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watching, where there was more natural beauty and less man-made ugli-
ness, and where Malays kept up with the pacc of advance rather than being
engulfed by both modernization and the pressurc of other races. %6

Junior men serving as assistant advisers in Besut to the north of Kuala
Trengganu and in Kemaman to the south also varied in their views of
cast-coast life. The first AA Kemaman, J. V. Cowgill, a 1911 cadet in the
Chinese Protectorate, arrived there in 1924, He worked in cooperation
with Enche Muda (later Dato’ Jaya), the Malay DO whao was styled state
commissioner. Cowgill's main function at first was to show the flag by
being present and overseeing the administration. His task was made easier
by the departurc of the only other Europeans in the district, a handful of
Australian miners ac Bandi. Witha good war record behind him and much
service in Malay arcas, including the post of DO Kuantan next door,
Cowgill did well, as did several of those who followed after him such as
A. L. Birsc. Butin 1932 there was a tragedy. G. E. Clayton, who came to
Malaya after the war and who, like -owgill, had been decorated for
gallantry under fire, found the solitude oppressive and, aficr only a short
time in the post, he shot himself. His successor, a Chinese Protectorate
man with lictle facility in Malay, sent in his resignation after only a week
and was succeeded in the autumn of 1932 by M. C. ft. Sheppard, A 1927
cadet, Sheppard was as well suited to the place as Clayton had been
miscast for ic. It was the same with his successor, A. 3. Cobden-Ramsey,
who loved Kemaman, ™. one of the last raw and undeveloped arcas in
Malaya where one could stamp one’s own personality™ on things.>” For
bachelors who were not overly reliant on clubs and European society, it
was a paradise of vast, empty beaches and uny kampongs dreaming under a
tropical sun, peopled by ra'ayat who were as attractive as they were shy
and susg of outsiders. Ed was almost unknown. Poverty
was everywhere: and superstition reigned supreme, despite all the puri-
tanical zeal of Dato’ Amar, who was bent on burning animism out of
people’s souls with the whitc heat of cleansing Islam.** Wich such parish-
toners to look after, and litele in the way of guidance or help from their
superior over a hundred miles away to the north, young officers had their
work cut out for them. They also had something like a free hand

When Sheppard arrived, Kemaman had had only cight years of expo-
sure to European supervision. There was still room for interpretation
within the general description of responsibility laid down by the BA. He
was to go in double harness with the state commissioner, not ruling
directly, but urging and warning gently 50 as to be sure that his Malay
colleague was following the British line, By virtue of his office, he was
Jjoint member of the special courts in Kemaman and Dungun. He was
collector of land revenue and, under the BA, deputy immigration officer
and deputy controller of mines. Since the BA usually made only one
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annual visit of inspection, however, he had full discretion in both arcas de
facto. In consultation with the state commissioner, he often undertook
surprise calls on the treasurics at Kemaman, Kemasik, and Dungun.
Supposedly he was to do this only at the suggestion of Dato’ Jaya, though,
as often as not, that did not happen, for the state commissioner usually
said noching “unless reminded.”*? When court cases involved Malays
only, it was the state who ed with
Sheppard doing so if Europeans were. Malay officers were not trained in
law, making it nccessary for AAs to assume more responsibility than was
called for officially. In complicated matters, such as settlement or fores-
try, the AA spoke up as much as was nceded ad hoe. He was a member of
the town board, providing the motive power in redistributing lots. Had
he not taken an interest in the Chinese schools, no one would have,
Imports and exports had to be watched carefully, making it imperative
that he call regularly on iron mines, saw mills, and customs houses. He
mschu.d all motor vehicles, oversaw lh': vaccination work of the Malay
dresser, and p iated at European burials. Though
he sat in the same one-room office with 1h: state commissioner, he put a
high priority on touring, especially to the neighboring district of Dungun,
leaving Dato’ Jaya alone in Kemaman much more than was done with
Malay officers elsewhere. Tours to kampongs in remote valleys of the ulu
were important from his own point of view and also as a means of
showing British interest and intent for the notice of the inhabitants. He
made a habit of taking newspapers along for the clerk at Jabor, which was
not connected by road to Kemaman, being closer to Kuantan in Pahang.
He spent longer there than in posts nearer to hand in order to cheer the
man up and make him sce that headquarters knew he existed. He exercised
control over native entertainments, which Malays tended to spend more
money on than they could afford, and over European films that presented
white men as no more than “crooks, bandits, and lotharios, " an image the
government was not anxious to project.”® The Kemaman Boy Scout
troop, twenty-three strong, d ded letely on his
He thought long and hard about ways of reducing xenophobia, which
was still strong and was holding back development. As a means of widen-
ing people’s horizons, he did all he could to support the Government
servants club, especially i sporting events, which he saw as a useful
antidote to gossip and intriguc. Everyone watched the AA. He had a
burden and a responsibility that were unique. Dilemmas abounded. If he
kept his distance from kampong dwellers—something no west coast DO
would dream of doing—he could not hope to befriend them and influence
them away from parochialism and superstition. Butif he was too bold in
his approach—entering the houses of ra‘ayat to greet them personally—he
knew that a sexual motive would be suspected. In the event, he used every




220 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

possible pretext for exchanging a word, asking quictly and notin a prying
way about weather and crops, boats, fishing, coconuts, and rubber. He
rode his bike whenever trails allowed, knowing that his example would be
followed, that more paths would be made, and more visiting done back
and forth between villages that had remained ingrown for generation
Visiting a school workshop where boys made brooms, he suggested that
more apprentices be taken on so that an export trade could be built up.7t

As in the FMS, land office work was central to ev rything. And as on
the west coast, land reform was not understood at first. In the antiforeign
atmosphere of Trengganu, it took a long time to persuade people that
government control—which ultimately meant British control—was in
their interest. Duc to the relatively short-term postings of officers after
Humphreys's nme, both BAs and lands commissioners, a certain amount
of confusion had arisen, and no clear policy had evolved with straight-
torward rules and consistent implementation year by year so that Malay
officers and peasants alike could see in actual practice that secure title and
fair rents were to everyone's advantage. The regulation of shifting culti-
Vation was a sore point, causing peasants to resent what they saw as
interference with their rights and possibly a plot by the foreigners to cheat
them out of their land and exploit their labor. In 1928, a religious leader
whom the British considered a fanatic stirred up ra'ayar in Ulu Treng-
ganu, urging them to follow him in a holy war that would rid the country
of the foreigner and leave them in possession of the lands they ulled.
Whether secret societies, red tlag, sharikat-ul-Islam, were behind the
trouble and whether che sultan and his government were imphcated are
matters of dispute.” In any case, a police station was scized by the rebels.
Dato’ Amar declined British offers of help and sent police—all of whom
were Malays, including officers—upriver to ivestigate. Talks were held
with the rebels on that occasion and again shortly afterward when the
sultan himsclftook part. At the second meeting, held at Kuala Berang, the
number of peasants assembled was estimated at 2,000. The talks proved
nconclusive, and, as in Kelantan thireen years before, a Malay DO was
chased out of his headquarters. About 1,000 peasants then marched on
Kuala Trengganu. They were intercepted by police who fired on them
after they had refused to lay down their arms. Eleven were illed, includ-
ing the military leader. Other leaders, most prominently Haji Abdul
Rahman, who was thought to have started the revolt, were rounded up.
and order was quickly restored.

By the time Sheppard arrived in Kemaman four years later, progress
had been made in straightening the system out and in educating people on
its aims and workings. Yet most peasants still lacked title to their land,
many being disinclined to apply for it unless a claim was made by some-
one clse. Large areas remained to be surveyed. As collector, the AA had to
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do almost all the work himself, there being no trained Malay staff to help
as there was in the FMS. Court work connected with land cases was
considerable, as was the job of supervising land records in Dungun. He
had to manage the auctioning off of land on which rents had not been paid.
As the Chinese population grew, there was a heavy increase in work on
mining and rubber land.

There were compensations. The capacity of Malay officers rose stead-
ily. So did that fecling of trust between them and their European col-
leagues. Dato’ Jaya, who left Kemaman in the 1930s, had been a rare bird
among the carly state commissioners, meeting his British fellow officers
more than half way in the whole range of administrative chores and even
sharing a stengah in the evening—a gesture that could not be expected of
cevery good Moslem.” Some of the Malay DOs were typical of the new
generation in preferring towns and disliking the ulu, whose people in turn
saw them as heretics, men who were neither this nor that.” For most,
however, the British had praise. There was something very right about
young Malays taking responsibility for giving their country a more just
and efficient government than it had had before. Admittedly, there was
strangeness in this meeting of East and Wese. M. J. Hayward, AA Besut,
thought the atmosphere was something like what it must have been in
sixteenth-century Mexico, a combination of material poverty, cultural
vigor, and strong alien challenge.”® But the disruptive effects were not
severe. Large Malay majorities gave a stability and continuity that the
west coast lacked. Although British officers worked for modernization,
the pressure was more gentle than it was in booming Selangor or in Negri
Sembilan. And in all the years from the arrival of the first advisers to the
beginning of the Japancse war, the cast coast worked its wiles on men who
were not immune to great natural beauty, a soothing climate, and the
subtletics of ruling by persuasion. In 1936, after a year and a half in the
straits, Sheppard worked his way back. He reached Kemaman at dusk ona
lovely evening in February. There was his beach, as uncluttered and
beguiling as ever, still miraculously neglected by *. . .a nation whose
youth has been spent on holiday at Margate, Broadstairs, Filey or Bude. "7
He could hardly believe his good fortune at being back in Trengganu
again.
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9 Policy and Power

AFTER IMPERIALISM had become respectable in late Victorian
umes, London’s policy was to support trade. Administrative arrange-
ments in the various overseas dependencies that could be defended as
necessary to the furtherance of that aim tended to be looked on with favor.
But the designing and working out of these were mostly left to men on the
spot. The C.O. was usually behind events. While it kept hands off, its
legates in the colonies and the businessmen with whom they lived side by
side were apt to patronize its officials as small-minded folk who were
incapable of thinking “imperially.”! Initiatives from London were re-
ceived with surprise; and restraints with irritation. Fortunately, from the
point of view of men in the colonies, there were not many of either, and,
one way or another, they could usually be taken in stride.

In Malaya, there were forward moves when the C.O. took over the
Straits Settlements from India in 1867, when Sir Andrew Clarke was
allowed to intervene on the west coast in 1874, and when in 1909 the
Siamese states were taken over and an officer was permanently stationed
n Johore. At the time of federation in 1895, there had been a good deal of
discussion back and forth between London and Singapore, although this
had to do with udying up existing commitments rather than taking on
new ones, and, as always, the end result owed more to those at the colonial
end than to people in London. By the carly years of the twentieth century,
the time of new departures and drastic innovations was past.

Nevertheless, there was still room for maneuvering within the country
and for spirited talk about what was to be done. The British colonial
system always invited this by its disinclination to clothe policy in all-
cmbracing theorctical statements that settled every question once and for
all. Apart from the traditional English instinct to empiricism, the C.O.
was far removed from cvents, and it was only common sense to be
tentative, leaving the door open to change if need be. Such a stance wasall
the more appropriate in an empire whose polyglot units had been acquired
piccemeal over a long period. Did Pangkor make Perak a British posses-
sion, or was it a treaty between equals? Did the federation violate what
had been agreed at Pangkor? What exactly was the relationship between
the resident-general of the FMS at Kuala Lumpur and the governor-high
commissioner in Singapore? The instruments to which these and other
questions referred were open to more than one interpretation. If in the
aggregate they constituted a lawyer's nightmare, they were often to be an
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administrator's dream when looked at in the light of particular circum-
stances. [t might not have been so if the governors and their subordinates
in the civil service had all been stamped out of some Prussian mold,
responding mechanically to whatever instructions they got from on high.
Instead, there was always an ample supply of able, determined men, born
and bred in one of the nincteenth century’s most open and flesible social
systems, one that had been re-created in miniature, to a degree, on the
other side of the world. Even if the burcaucracy had been more tightly
disciplined than it was, there would still have been a never ending chorus
of comment from businessmen with strong views that they were not shy
af expressing. As the 1900s wore on, their voices were joined increasingly
by thosc of Chinese, Malay, and Indian spokesmen. all wanting to be
heard and all aware of the freed enjoyed by h 1

The sceds of discord between Singapore and Kuala Lumpur were sown
well before federation. Assuming that he would be the first resident-
general and considering himself the father of the federal idea, Swettenham
hoped that he would be allowed to communicate directly with London, as
the heads of other colonial units—Australian and Nigerian, for example—
were permitted to do at times. There would have been a certain amount of
strain between the resident-general and the governor (soon to take the
additional title “*high commissioner” with reference to the FMS) no
matter which way this question had been resolved. In fact, Swettenham
was kept subordinate to Sir Charles Mitchell in Singapore, svho soon felt
obliged to write rather testily, “Please address me in future as high
commissioner i all native state mateers.”? Difficultics were inevitable
since, for one thing, both posts were very senior and therefore open to
officers on promotion from other colonics. Mitchell and his successor, Sir
Alexander Swettenham, were outsiders lording it over a Malaya-bred
expert, F. A. Swettenham. During Sir Frank’s time as high commissioner
later on the resident-gencral was Treacher, both men being insiders. But
Swettenham’s authoritarian ways and incomparable prestige did not
make things easier for Treacher on that account. They were followed by
two outsiders—Sir John Anderson and Sir William Taylor—who got on
fairly well together, as did the next pair—Sir Arthur Young and Sir
Edward Brockman—the first, an outsider and the second, a long-service
Malayan officer. But even when harmony prevailed between Singapore
and Kuala Lumpur, there were the rulers and the residents to consider.
The former were unhappy with residents-general who did not speak
Malay. and the latter looked on them as insufficiently versed in local
problems.*

Regardless of personalitics, the distance between Singapore and Kuala
Lumpur meant that the high commissioner could not manage FMS mat-
ters day to day. He had the colony to look after and communications with
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London. Year by year, the FMS grew more independent. Though he
resisted Swettenham on railway construction, Mitchell had to give in
eventually. He failed to stop the centralization of FMS finances, a step he
knew the rulers would resent and one that was sure to be the parent of
many heartburnings and jealousics . . . for years to come."* Though he
saw the inc y in many of S ! positi iting the
rights of the rulers when it suited his purpose ad hoc and at other times
Justifying more centralization on grounds of administrative efficiency—
the high commissioner did not feel he could intervene most of the time.
When he did so Swettenham was so annoyed that he spoke to Joseph
Chamberlain about a transfer to Egypt.® Yet after he himself had been
high commissioner for a time—a very strong one who virtually moved
the direction of FMS affairs to Singapore—he had sccond thoughts. Had
he gone too far? Would it not be better for his successor and the new
resident-general if discretion in FMS matters shifted back to Kuala Lum-
pur? Chamberlain replicd with a question of his own that showed the
continuing influence of retired governors on C.O. thinking: should the
post of resident-general be abolished so that governors could again be in
direct touch with residents? This cleared the air. Swettenham replied that
the clock could not be turned back. The pioncers were all disappearing,
relations between the colony and the states would go on getting closer,
and future high issioners and residents-general would need both a
sensible balance of power and cordial working relationships.

To take the place of the redoubtable Swettenham, whose name was by
now virtually synonymous with Malaya, the C.O. sent out one of their
own, Sir John Anderson, a member of the staff in London since 1879, He
had stoad at the top of his class in Aberdeen University, taking first-class
honors in mathematics, after which he was called to the bar. In the C.O.,
he saw imperial affairs from on high, being private secretary to Meade and
assistant to Chamberlain at the conference of colonial prime ministers. He
accompanied the future King Edward VII on a tour of the colonies. In
Malaya, all were agreed that he was authoritative—some said autocratic—
as well as self-assured and firm. His shyness was everywhere remarked on
as was his courtesy, although one of his subordinates said he did not
believe in finesse.” But, though he was cold and withdrawn, he did not
offend the European community as Ord had donc. In fact, he was every-
where respected by men of business. Hardly a foregone conclusion in
view of his background, this was to prove helpful as he put forward his
plans for change. Soon after arrival, he added a businessman to the Perak
State Council and proposed two more for membership on the colony’s
executive council

Deference to business came naturally to Anderson and to all devotees of
the Chamberlain school, which saw flourishing trade as the engine of
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imperial power. Before reaching Malaya, he knew—as cveryone in the
C.O. did—that the commercial interest in the East chafed under what
they saw as a civil service dicmorship aclosed corporation in which they
had no direct voice, especially in the vital area of finance. He could
sympathize, for he himself felt excluded by the all-p ful resid
general and his coterie of obedient residents. Legality aside, the high
commissioner was left in a weak position, meekly reacting to what Kuala
Lumpur proposed more often than not. The rulers were similarly dis-
affected. Everyone knew that strong, efficient government had been built
up at the sacrifice of their power. Federation had greatly accelerated the
process. Anderson understood full well that this had brought resentment
in its wake, a fecling on the part of the royals that they were no more than
figure heads in their own state councils, while day-to-day administration
was completely in the hands of British officers, no matter what the treaties
said. When five more states were added in 1909, Anderson hoped that they
would enter the federation, thus unifying the peninsula as Sir Frederick
Weld and so many others had wanted. All this could be achieved, thought
the governor, by loosening the grip of the executive in Kuala Lumpur and
creating a new legislative body called a *“federal council,” with the high
commissioner at its head. The rulers would all be members, thereby
escaping from the domination of residents in state councils. Businessmen
would also be represented, which would end their grievance, assure their
support for the high commissioner’s policy of increased consideration for
the rulers, and avail the government of their expert advice in finance.”
At first, the C.O. had doubts about this ambitious and rather startling
plan.'® But Anderson’s reputation in London and his long experience
there stood him in good stead. After a talk with the high commissioner
during one of his leaves in England, Churchill, the under secretary, agreed
to give the scheme a try. In Malaya the businessmen, some of whom
would have critical things to say later, could be depended on to go along in
the initial stages, placated by Andumn s five years ol’dlplomacy and by
the > of direct rep for th lves in the new body. The
resident-gencral, whose title would be downgud;d to chief sccretary,
would not be a problem since the incumbent, Sir William Taylor, was
about to retire, recompensed with the headship of the newly created
Malay States Information Agency in London.'" Nor would there be an
outcry from senior members of the civil service, the most prominent of
whom had suffered for years under the lash of Kuala Lumpur and its
bureacratic octopus. Even residents had been made to feel powerless and
unimportant, and the thought of alleviation was bound to be attractive to
them. Only from the unfederated states was there opposition. Instructed
to sound their rulers on the most agreeable way of bringing the new states
into a wider federation, the BAs were able to give Anderson no encour-
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Plate 13, Seremban, 1%4. Scated left to nighe: Sir Willam Treacher (resident-
general), Mrs. Weld, Sir John Anderson (high commissioner)., Miss Anderson, F. |
Weld (resident, Negrs Sembilan). Standing left to night: Mr. Coats (ADC to
resident-general), O Marks, (private secretary to the high commissioner),
Unidentificd army otficer, €. W. H. Cochrane (private secretary to the resident-
general). E.C. H. Wolff (secretary to resident, Negri Sembilan). Courtesy of Rayal
Commanwealth Society

agement. From Kedah, Maxwell replied that his sultan knew very well
how his neighbor in Perak had been created.'* The FMS royals were
nothing more than marionettes. Why would suleans long accustomed to
independence and only recently brought into treaty relationships with
Britain voluntarily exchange what remained of their independence for
such a face?

Anderson’s successor, Sir Arthur Young, thus inherited a new institu-
tion—the federal council—and an administrative change—the titular
demotion of the FMS headship. Young himsclf was the first chief sccre-
tary in 1911, moving on to the high commissionership later the same
Businessmen sitting in the new body. styled “unofficials” to disunguish
them from civil servants who sat ex officio, quickly showed that participa-
tion in the governmental process would not alter their basic attitudes.
They were nvolved but were not responsible, being merely appointees of
the high commissioner and always faced with an official majority. Rob-
son spoke up immediately. He feared the financial power of the high
commissioner. Would Singapore use FMS money for the benefit of the
colony and the unfederated states? As his nineteenth-century predecessors
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had danc he instinctively sided with local officers against their superiors
in Singap lizing that the infl of business could be brought to
bear more effectively in a system of checks and balances than in a hier-
archical one whose subordinate officers were under the thumb of an
omnipotent high commissioner.'® He opposed the change in title from
resident-general to chief secretary and held that a weaker officer in Kuala
Lumpur would be less able to protect the rulers than a strong one could.

If this smacked of special pleading it was undeniable that under
Anderson, ironically, the rulers were worse off than before. In the federal
council mecetings, they sat on a raised platform above the table where the
rest of the members sat. Apart from an occasional polite gesture, uhcy
were silent, taking no part and und ding little of the di
which was in English. The creation of the new body rendered their state

councils even more impotent than they had been earlier, divesting them of
financial powers and lcaving them with hardly anything to do beyond
appointing penghulus and discussing matcers of local interest. Nor had a
new and less impressive rank made any real difference in the authority of
che head man in Kuala Lumpur. Throughout Young's time, the position
was held by Sir Edward Brockman, an 1886 cadet, whose long experi-
ence, knowledge of the language, and entrenched position within the
service contrasted with Young's stance as a recent arrival in the country
with a background of Sandhurst, Cyprus, and the colonial burcaucracy.
Brockman was no theoretician, remarking on one occasion that book
knowledge and abstract ideas were all very well but did not necessarily
make the best officers; ** . . .indeed it [is] very often the reverse. "4 He was
the strongest head of the FMS government since Swettenham, due to his
own down-to-carth grasp of the essentials and to Young's willingness to
leave him alone. The high commissioner used a laisser-faire approach
because Brockman ran a tight ship with a surplus in the nll, and because of
his own style and conception of his job. Young has been called the least
impressive and most successtul of all the governors.'® Unpretentious,
solid, and impassive, he was much liked by the businessmen. They saw
him as the prototype sensible governor, doing all he could to help trade, to
seck their advice, and to keep London at arm’s length—a task that was
casicr to manage than usual because of the 1914 war. In fact, he saw no
need to do much in this direction. As a loyal official and professional
soldier, he naturally wanted to avoid bothering the center of affairs during
a ume of unprecedented national peril.

In these circumstances, the sand sifted back in, covering over the
framework of Anderson’s frail reforms and leaving Kuala Lumpur as
strong and autonomous as it had been when Swettenham was resident-
general. Anderson's attempt to give Malays more of a voice and role had
also met with indifferent success. The unfed; d states cd outsid
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the purview of Kuala Lumpur since the condition of their entry—a
devolution of local power onto the FMS rulers—had not been met. The
duty of providing European officers for service in the unfederated states
was transferred from Kuala Lumpur to Singapore, where it was taken on
by the secretary to the high i . This emph d theap

of the unfederated states from the FMS, even though the officers all came
from a common service.

In Young's time, the main cffort to improve the lot of the Malays was
the Malay Rescrvations Enactment of 1913, a measure frankly described
in the federal council as having been designed to ** . . . provide protection
for the Malays against themselves.”1¢ For years, they had been selling
their ancestral lands as European and Chinese speculators moved into
unused parts. The sultan of Perak estimated that since Sir Ernest Birch's
time as resident, nine-tenths of the land originally held by Malays in that
state had been sold. Under the new enactment, all future sales would be
subject to the approval of the ruler in council, there being no appeal. This
drew strong opposition from unofficials—European and Chinese—on the
federal council, who held that if the Malays were prevented from selling,
they would not use the land themselves, and the country would suffer. A
further brake on development, they said, was a proposal that lands could
be sold only to Malays. There would be no Malay buyers, and the land
would go to waste. Europeans and Chinese were the ones with excess
capital, noted Eu Tong Sen. Since the bill forbade mortgaging by non-
Malays and since Malays lacked money to use in exploiting their land, the
development of the country would be held back. The enactment passed
over these protests showed that the tension between business and gov-
ernment was continuing and that even the popular Young was not willing
to abandon the traditional policy of standing up for Malay rights in order
to please the unofficials.

In general, Young's cight-year term was a quict time, after the mild
turbulence of Anderson's governorship, From Swettenham's departure
to the end of the war, the trends of the nineteenth century had been
subjected to debate. New arrangements were made, but the fundamentals
remained h ed. Develop was the primary concern and the
central fact of the country's life. The concentration of power in Kuala
Lumpur went on, as did the atrophy of Malay traditionalism and the
influence of its spokesmen in the royal houses of the EMS.

With the war over, the C.O. wanted to replace the stolid Young with
somcone from outside the colonial service who would be able to bring
fresh ideas and vigor to the task of realizing Malaya's enormous potential.
The staggering cost of the war and the continuing retreat of classical ideas
on free trade and crence by gy caused London
to look at such places as Malaya and the Gold Coast rather differently. If
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their wealth were to be developed so as to contribute more to imperial
prosperity, then the old cheese-paring approach to their finances would
have to give way. In its place would be the notion that governments
should call the tunc in cconomic matters as (hc)' had done in World War |
and should usc revenues to P Malaya's past ad-
ministrations had done much to encourage trade, it is true, but balanced
budgets and handsome surpluses had been the rule, and it was the rubber
and tin companices that provided them, not the government.

In 1919, the governorship was given to Sir Lawrence Guillemard, a man
as different from Sir Arthur Young as any civil servant could possibly be.
Young was big physically, an international footballer in his youth; a
soldier who never went near a university; modest, unassuming, and
content to spend his middle years in such posts as the commissionership of
Paphos in the dreaming backwater of Cyprus. Guillemard was small in
stature, and though a good shot and an avid tennis player, he was more
studious than athletic. He had a brilliant record at Trinity Cambridge and
passed second in the whole of England on the civil service examinations.
He thought the result so inadequate that he took the exams again the
following year and came first. In 1888, he entered the Treasury, the most
sought-after of all Whitchall departments, remaining from then on at the
center of affairs. He was private secretary to Sir William Harcourt, the
Liberal chancellor of the exchequer in the 1890s, staying on to serve his
Conservative successor, Sir Michael Hicks-Beach, in the same capacity.
As chairman of the board of customs and excise during the war, he played
a vital role in the raising of war loans, making a good impression on
members of the cabinet, including Lord Milner, who took over the C.O.
at the beginning of 1919.

There were both negative and positive reasons for Guillemard's ap-
pointment to Malaya that year. It was clear to the deeply knowledgeable
Milner, with his rich experience in Egypt and South Africa and his
inumate involvement in affairs of state at the summit, that colonial gov-
crnors of Young's kind, a majority in the service, were cut off from
developments in the great world, They had spent their career years in
far-off places among primitive peoples, continuing in the social assump-
tions and ways of a traditional, aristocratic, agrarian England that had
ceased to existin their fathers’ time.!” To rescue wealthy Malaya, it would
be necessary to break away from outmoded points of view. It was true
that Anderson had come from Whitchall and not from the service itself.
But he, too, was a colonial specialist, one of the C.O. careerists who, in
Milner’s judgment, were almost as parochial as were the occupants of
Government House who inched their patient way up the ladder for a
quarter century by conforming to anachronistic ideas. Guillemard was
Jjust the man because he was a complete outsider and because he under-
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stood modern public finance. He knew that surpluses meant stagnation
and that debt was the foundation of progress. Milner's offer of Singapore
was the biggest surprise of his life. But he quickly saw what the minister
was driving at. Malaya's was .. . the most interesting of all the colonial
governorships . . .|zhcrc was]. ..a lot of work to be done and plenty of
money to do it with.

Guillemard was under no illusions about his ignorance of the country he
was going to. Yet he was full of confidence that all would be well. He had
an open mind—""virgins arc not all fooli d the assurance of back-
ing from Milner himself, who gave him permission to write privately
when he chose.'® The C.O. would give him a reasonably free hand, he
thought, since tght control from London was not appropriate in so
important a place and would defeat the whole point of selecting a man
with unusual qualifications. In this he was mistaken. On the governor's
arrival, Brockman retired from the chicf sceretaryship, providing a
golden opportunity for the appointment of somcone chosen by Guil-
lemard and for the C.O. to show by its support that they meant to help,
not hinder. Guillemard recommended F. S. (later Sir Frederick) James,
the colonial secretary who had been in the country only four years, having
served previously in Nigeria. His thought was that James could bring a
breath of fresh air to Kuala Lumpur, as he himself was doing in Singapore.
Instead, the C.O. persuaded Milner to appoint W. G. (later Sir George)
Maxwell, then serving as resident Perak. Maxwell was in London on leave
at the ume, talking with Sir Gilbert Grindle of the C.O. about a range of
Malayan questions, including the future of the federation and the position
of the unfederated states. For a time, the office toyed wich the idea of
doing a deal with Guillemard whereby James would go to Kuala Lumpur
and Maxwell to Singapore as colonial secretary. There, as the C.O.
delicately put ic. thus showing their hand, Maxwell would .. .be in-
valuable in keeping Sir Lawrence Guillemard straight. ™ In arriving at
their final decision to give Kuala Lumpur to Maxwell, the office was
influenced by Swettenham and Young.?!' What was needed in the FMS,
said the two reured governors, was a profound knowledge of Malay
language and custom. Coming from a Malaya-based family and having
been in service there since 1891, Maxwell was superbly qualified. Bad
fecling between Maxwell and James would be avoided by making the two
posts equal. This meant a downgrading of the chicf seeretaryship, which
was appropriate given Maxwell's comparative youth. James would be
compensated by a provision that the colonial secretary, rather than the
chief secretary, would administer the government in the absence of the
governor,

Thwarted in this way at the outset, Guillemard nevertheless had reason
to believe that he and his senior ofticers would agree on the broad outlines




POLICY AND POWER 237

of policy. All concerned were developers, working together in coopera-
tion with the Malay States Information Agency and the various planter
groups in London and Malaya. On the need to loosen up the federation so
that the unfederated states could be brought in, the same line Anderson
had favored, the governor and Maxwell did not appear to differ. Guille-
mard circulated to all senior officers the memorandum that Maxwell had
prepared for the C.O., recommending it to their careful attention. Both
appointed committees to study how best to bring about decentralization.
On Malay rights and the role of Malays in society Maxwell of course knew
far more than the governor. But they took the same general view: govern-
ment should provide an ordered framework in which evolution could take
place—as was in fact happening. Maxwell opposed the creation of an elite,
wanting all of Malay socicty to move towards a hybrid form with a native
base and various European accretions vol ily borrowed. Addressi
himself to the specifics, Guillemard spoke against too fast a pace in this
process, which could result in a nation of semiliterate clerks, as in India.
He thought of appointing a secretary of Malay affairs, or native affairs, to
oversee Malay progress and to advise the governor, as Swettenham had
done in the 1870s. In his distaste for precipitate Westernization, he was
very like the officials and unofficials who spoke against it in the federal
council or among themselves.? He wanted a clear policy so that senior
officers, especially residents and BAs, would have guidelines to follow
rather than having to usc their intuition or letting nature take its course.
The discrepancy between the FMS and the unfederated states in the
training of Malay civil servants was worrisome to everyone. There was
considerable agreement, too, on the position of the rulers. Guillemard and
Maxwell were both in favor of allowing ex-sultan Abdullah of Perak to
return from exile.?? Both wanted the royal families to occupy positions of
dignity and to contribute to the governmental process as much as pos-
sible, within the restraints of development and a healthy degree of
modernization.

Despite these similarities, Guillemard and his associates—both official
and unofficial—soon found themselves locked in bitter controversy. The
whole of Sir Lawrence's seven-year governorship was racked by it. At the
bottom of the trouble were power and personality—not policy—though
feeling ran so high that honest men took stands in that area that did not
reflect their real convictions. Bickering between Singapore and Kuala
Lumpur was hardly new. But in the past, it had been kept under control.
Swettenham had been so firmly entrenched that Mitchell sensibly de-
ferred to him. When Sir Frank went on to Singapore, he was more
powerful than ever, and Treacher, his long-time subordinate, knew better
than to trifle with the master. Taylor, by the same token, was not inclined
to cross the authoritarian Anderson. Young respected Brockman's local
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knowledge. Now, a new governor from outside confronted a Malay
expert who was headstrong, full of amour propre, and certain that his
friends in the C.O. would protect him from the depredations of an
arrogant and mexperienced chief. Guillemard can be forgiven for the
illusion that London would leave him a free hand. Milner had told him as
much. But Milner was gone within months. The new secretary of state,
Churchill, was preoccupied with the Middle East, and Maxwell's friends
among the permanent staft and ex-governors saw Guillemard as a neo-
phyte who needed both help and restraint. During the first several years,
he had a bad name in London, where his ditficulues in dealing with
Maxwell were not fully understood. The problem was complex. If
Guillemard had been as firm as Anderson was there would have been
immediate and open war with Maxwell, and the C.O. would have had to
decide whom to back. But Guillemard was not that straightforward,
partly because of his long training in the subtle atmosphere of Whitchall
and partly because with him there was sometimes a gap between the
thought and the decisiveness needed to carry out the deed. Winstedt, who
served him as director of education, said that he was an administrator by
accaident and should have been head of a college.** He could define the
necessary qualities clearly enough and may have thought he possessed
them—brains, perseverance, a sense of perspective (“don’t be cither too
swank or too humble”), a sense of humor, pluck, frankness, and the
ability to admit wrong.*$ But "he was a statesman who hesitated to havea
policy. Critics and enemies he studicd with a solicitude a bacteriologist
reserves for a microbe.""2¢ With a man like Sir George Maxwell, that kind
of cool intellectualism was sure to be taken for weakness.

The nub of the matter in the Guillemard-Maxwell battles was the power
of'the chief secretary. Here, Maxwell was faced by a dilemma. On the one
hand, he had admitted deed, loudly d—that the federation was
too ughtly centralized, explaining to Anderson in 1909 that it was not a
federation at all but a “'conglomerate,” which was why the rulers of the
unfederated states looked on it with disapproval.?” On the other hand, he
himself was now chief secretary. If the federation was to be loosened
cnough to reassure the rulers of the unfederated states and prepare the way
for unity throughout the peninsula, his own power would have to be
curtailed as authority devolved onto cach individual state government.
Instuncuvely, he resisted this, rationalizing the policy dilemma in a more
and more desperate and unconvincing way and gathering support in the
local business community, in London, and in the civil service as he went
along. Sensing that the best defense was attack, he tried to getin ahead of
the governor by putting forth his own design for change. The issuc he said
was legiimacy. Anderson had violated the spirit of Pangkor which could
only be honored again by restoring the rights of the rulers and their
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Plate 14, Sir George Maxwell with Tuanku Muhammad, yang di pertuan besar of
Negr Sembilan, 1925 ). S. (later Sir John) Macpherson at right, Courtesy of Tan Sri
Mubin Sheppard.

councils, this in turn depending on the strong, protecting arm of Kuala
Lumpur. Addressing Guillemard in a letter that was insubordinate,
cavalier, and downright rude, he held that the high commissioner could
not represent the views of the rulers since he had not had enough time to
adequately consult them.?* He produced a memorial from senior officers
supporting his position and joining him in demanding the restoration of
the resident-generalship as the only sure guarantee of local rights.

He also worked hard to line up the business community on his side, an
cffort he was well placed to pursue. Guillemard complained to the C.O.
that Maxwell was in touch with the planters’ association in London over
the governor's head, and that he was not the right man to represent
Malaya in negotiations with Duff and his company. Maxwell, said the
governor, was casy meat for Duff, who walked all over him.?* How was
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it, Guillemard asked the secretary of state, that the Association of British
Malaya seemed to be well bricfed ahead of time on points atissue, such as
the title of the head of the FMS government?*® Why was it that Robson's
newspaper criticized the high commissioner in the same terms that
Maxwell did, the line then being repeated in the federal council? When
Maxwell was piqued over having to play a subordinate role to Guillemard’s
during the visit of the Prince of Wales, was this a matter that unofticials
should properly concern themselves with??! There was not always a
complete identity of outlook between Maxwell and the businessmen. He
called their bluff on the issue of tin duties. Nor did Guillemard always get
bad marks from the merchants and the press.** But in general, Maxwell
succeeded in persuading his business friends that Guillemard's plans were
not in their interests. A downgrading of Kuala Lumpur would mean a
milking of the FMS by Singapore, a steep risc in taxes, and a lessening of
business influence. As always, the old guard in London, headed by
Swettenham, did all they could from behind the scenes to foil a reforming
governor.*?

With the rulers, however, Maxwell failed. There was irony in this since
he and his family had argued for years that no one could truly understand
and sympathize with the Malays except those who were steeped in the
history, culture, and language of the peninsula, who were literally born to
itand raised in its atmosphere. In 1924, the sultan of Perak visited London,
where he spoke with the King, conferred with the secretary of state and
officials in the C.O., and called on reured civil servants. He said that his
state council had no power and no serious work of the kind that was done
by governments in the unfederated states. He wanted to be in direct touch
with the high commissioner, which was not possible in the charade of
federal council meetings.?* As an Oxford man, fluent in English, Sultan
Iskandar was not as casily put off as were some of the older rulers who had
been known to fall asleep in federal council sessions (which even the
British considered dull) and who had become fatalistic about their im-
potence. All resented Maxwell's rudeness to them. He had cut their
budgets, climinated guards of honor and bands, and claimed that as chiet’
secretary he took precedence over them. Raja Chulan, a son of ex-sultan
Abdullah, spoke out strongly in the federal council, supporting Guillemard
and eriticizing overcentralization in highly speaific terms thacreflected his
xperience as a avil servant.

Knowing that all of this had made an impression in London, Guillemard
adroitly pointed out that Maxwell was making a mockery of the very
policy of decentralization that he himselt had advocated. He suggested a
new title for the chief burcaucrat in Kuala Lumpur—"secretary for the
FMS"—and observed, though there was no need for him to do so. that
Maxwell would be entirely unsuitable in this diminished position. The
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FMS rulers would leave the federal council, their state councils would be
trengthened, and the d d states would then agree to come into a
united government in which all units would have the same status. Agree-
ing, the sceretary of state proposed a sweetening of this bitter pill by
giving Maxwell the headship of the Malay States Information Agency.
Before proceeding on leave in 1925 Guillemard was instructed to break
the news to Maxwell and to discuss the new arrangements with the rulers
and with his senior officers.?s Swettenham swung into action again, but
7 rushed him aside, citing against his frayed arguments
the testimony o( Sir Ernest Birch, whose long experience in Malaya
counterbalanced Swettenham’s predictable assertion that Guillemard had
been led astray by lack of knowledge.*® The governor allowed himself a
burst of exultation—"1 may be a sanguine fool but | expect to romp
and he hoped Maxwell would not go mad.’” This was a bit
premature. Maxwell held on for another year, finally retiring in 1926.
The results of Guillemard's long, patient struggle were modest: a
certain amount of financial responsibility was given to the state councils.
TI'he rulers withdrew from the federal council, where they had been bored,
powerless onlookers. The government was committed to further study of
ways in which devolution of authority and work could continue so that
local autonomy would rise without jeopardizing efficiency and coordina-
tion from the center.*® While there was no change in the title of the chief’
sceretary, relations between Singapore and Kuala Lumpur were greatly
improved as the post was taken over by the genial and respected Sic
William Pecel, who got on well with both Guillemard, to whom he owed
his position, and his successor. Whereas Maxwell's vaulting ambition had
brought him down, Peel was so rational about the glory of high office that
he thought long and hard before agrecing to accept the governorship of
Hong Kong four years later.?® He was not immune to the attractions of
power, however, and though he agreed in principle that d;
was necessary, it was not long before he, to, had reservations about an
actual surrender of authority, whether to the high commissioner above
him or the residents below. The major difference between Maxwell and
Peel was one of personality and character, the latter possessing a keen
sense of balance and proportion, and the former verging at times on
megalomania.
Peel’s ambivalen
out the civil serv
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about policy and personalities found cchoes through-
in the Guillemard years. E. S. Hose, colonial secretary
at the time, was Maxwell’s oldest friend. They were both from families
long resident in Malaya and both entered the service as junior officers in
1891. Maxwell confidently appointed Hosc as chairman of the FMS com-
mittee that looked into the decentralization question. Yet, both Hose and
T. P. Coe, the other administrative officer on the committee, sided with
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Guillemard on the need to loosen Kuala Lumpur's hold. 4 Sir Frederick
James. a bitter rival of Maxwell’s, could be depended on to oppose him.
But A. F. Richards (later Sir Arthur and Lord Milverton) felt the same

way, though his relations with the chicf secretary were normal.*! Some of

the senior residents, such as H. W. Thomson of Perak, had put up with
Kuala Lumpur’s bureaucratic cxcesses for so long that they reacted as
though by reflex to any sign of reliet. This was casier to do from adistance
than in the federal council where, under the gaze of the high commissioner
and the chief secretary, residents tended to remain silent or to confine
themselves to the seconding of motions.** Yet cven there, senior men
ended on Guillemard's side more often than not, partly in the knowledge
that the mechanics of devolution would be controlled by them inany case,
making policy changes relatively harmless. Maxwell's pro-Malay repu-
tation survived with some, in spitc of contrary evidence. W. L. Blythe, his
private secretary, went on believing in it to the end, accepting his chief's
contention that Malays who sided with the high commissioner in public
did not really mean it.*? The sultan of Perak’s talks in London were
known about, however, as was Maxwell's rough handling of the rulers.
Mahmud bin Mat, a member of the civil service, found Maxwell less than
completely sympathetic with him and his fellow Malay officers.** Among
the British, G. E. (later Sir Geoffrey) Cator was not alone in thinking that
overcentralization held Malays back by concentrating so much power in
the hands of Maxwell and his senior officers that native administrators did
not have much chance of learning the ropes.*$ In their views of policy
disagreements, many had difficulty separating issucs and people. Guille-
mard’s pomposity, as some saw it, did not go down well.** And though
they did not see eye to eye with Maxwell on everything, juniors often
found him kind and worthy of respect.*?

Guillemard's term was cxtended a year beyond the usual limit in order
to make sure that Maxwell would depart first. As the C.O. gave thought
to a successor during that year and even before, there was a feeling that it
would be well to appoint a strong governor with Malayan experience. S
Excusing themselves from blame in the Guillemard-Maxwell controversy,
the office reasoned that it would take a big man of Swettenham’s caliber to
bridle Kuala Lumpur and keep things quict. Only one serving governor
answered that description—Sir Hugh Clifford, then in Ceylon. There was
no doubt that he would be willing. Malaya was the reigning passion of his
life, the subject of many books written in the years since his departurc in
1902. Though his mental state was not good, London tended to play that
down and to emphasize his i able knowledge of the country.*?

This came to the forc immmediately. On arrival, he went on a tour of

Pahang, the state he knew best, and was welcomed as a hero, an almost
mythical figure from the dim past. 3° There was great excitement in
Kuantan where many remembered him. Malays and Chinese turned out




Plate 15, Sir Hugh Clifford. Courtesy of Malaysian National Archives.
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in large numbers and contributed money to the official celebration. But
Kempe, who was serving in Kuala Lumpur at the time, thought he looked
““bent and old. """ In the federal council he got things muddled, though his
still-dominant personality made up for it. His behavior was rather odd at
times. J. A. Harvey was loancd to Clifford as an aide when the governor
was visiting Kuala Lumpur in 1927, which Harvey considered a great
compliment. But it was alarming to be driven about in the governor's car
with H. E. at the wheel, roaring straight through busy downtown inter-
sections at fifty miles per hour on the assumption that traftic would stop at
the sight of the union jack on the front of the car.*? Gala receptions werca
trial for the private secretaries. On one occasion, Clifford lined up all the
ladies and presented kisses and beads to those with the best ankles.®
Working for a governor who rosc at four in the morning could be exhausting.
He was sensible about decentralization, applying the healing balm that
London had in mind. As Guillemard's minimal reforms gradually took
hold beneath the surface he remained silent. When he did speak out, it was
on a high plane of generalization, in words meant to inspire a service that
had been divided and disturbed. The British, he said, had a responsibility
for the moral and material progress of the country, for reconciling di-
vergent racial interests.* Their rule had to be autocratic, there beng no
alternative. But that was an advantage which, taken together with pros-
perity, made it possible to exercise the rare impardiality that only true
atistocracies arc capable of. He was casygoing on the time-honored issucs
that had causcd trouble in the past. When the president of the Straits
Settlements Association baited the government at a banquet n Rattles
Hotel, Clifford passed it off with a witty reply. He was sure the nationalist
party in China would have little success in their attempts to sur up
anti-British sentiment in Malaya because the Chinese living there were
bourgeois.** The educational advances that were made in his ime did not
involve Clifford greatly. All in all, his brief governorship, lasting less
than two years, was unpolitical, a lull between two storms. Some officers

remember it, possibly because ofits lack of partisan rancor, as a high point
in the service's esprit de corps.*® Having one of their own at the head of
affairs, one who took great pride in his Malayan antecedents, was reassur-
ing after many years of outsiders and turmoil.

Clifford’s precarious health could not stand the demands of office
however and the emotional pressure of being back in a place that had
meant so much to him in his youth. He retired in 1929, His place was taken
in the following year by Sir Cecil Clementi, who had been governor of
Hong Kong since 1925. A nephew of Sir Cecil Clementi Smith, governor
of the straits in the late 1880s and carly 1890s, and the son of a judge in
India, he was a St. Paul's and Oxford man with a disunguished academic
record.S” Entering the Hong Kong scrvice in 1899, he learned both
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Cantonese and Mandarin, had special service in India, became private
secretary to the governor and acting colonial secretary before going on to
the colonial secretaryships of British Guiana and Ceylon. While in the
former colony he was invited to be vice chancellor of Hong Kong Univer-
sity but declined because of his governor's reluctance to release him. Like
Clifford, he wrote many books.

Clementi was tall, handsome and impressive. There was a severity in
his demeanor that caused some of his colleagues and subordinates to think
of headmasters they had known. ¥ Listening to the remarks of men who
knew and worked with him, Americans will tend to be reminded of
Woodrow Wilson. Though Clementi had a powerful intellect and was
much given to reflection, he was as interested in the practical application
of ideas as he was in the notions themselves. He was anything but a social
animal or a man’s man, preferring the privacy of his home and family.
Riding and walking were the only sports he enjoyed. Though he was not
totally abstemious a glass of sherry was enough before dinner, and there
was universal astonishment when he accepted a mug of beer one time at
Cameron Highlands. His moral standards were Victorian. Men who had
been divorced or whose names were associated with any sort of sexual
irregularity could not expect the same consideration from him as could
those with unremarkable social records. Sometimes governors who were
as withdrawn as Clementi were much helped in keeping up good relations
with society by the efforts of wives who enjoyed parties and were skillful
at managing crowds. Clementi did not have this advantage. Lady Clement,
though a woman of force and character, was both eccentric and out-
spoken, as definite in her opinions as her husband was and much less
reticent.

The new governor made a good start when he presided over the federal
council for the first time. He exchanged compliments with C. W. H.
Cochrane, the chief sccretary, who had been his classmate as an Eastern
cadet and a contemporary at Oxford. He went out of his way to observe
that another member of the council, Savage Bailey, a noted lawyer, was
an old friend whom he had known at school. *'I feel sure,” he said, *‘that
our deliberations in this council will be the best and speediest means of
bringing us into that intimate relationship of fellow workers which is the
safest foundation upon which to build mutual respect and mutual affec-
tion.”*® M. B. Shelley, the colonial treasurer, saw that Clementi was
prone to gestes, holding the legislative council meeting in Penang instead
of Singapore, thus “acting the fairy godmother” to the scrtlement that
had been first historically but had had to play second fiddle for a hundred
years.%® He invested Shelley with the CMG at Government House,
¢mulating the King, rather than holding the ceremony in the Legislative
Council as other governors had done.




Plate 16, Sir Cecil Clementi, governor of the Straits Sextlements and high
commissioner of the Federated Malay States. ¢ 1932, Courtesy of Malaysian
National Archives
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Turning his thoughts to matters of policy, Clementi took note of the
same dilemma of Malay rights that had concerned his predecessors. The
British could not alter the country's form of government in the direction
of popular gnty without end ing the Malay whom they
were morally and legally committed—because immigrants were now ina
majority. Ormsby-Gore, under secretary of state for the colonies, visited
Malaya in Clifford’s time and underscored the same point. The preroga-
tive of the rulers was central to everything. Like Guillemard and Max-
well, he saw that Britain's obligations were being honored better in the
unfederated states than in the FMS, especially with regard to the training
of Malay officers.®! To Clementi with his deep knowledge of what China
had been going through at the hands of foreign exploiters the plight of
Malaya's native peoples made a strong appeal. He was influenced, too, by
what he had seen in Ceylon, where radical politicians, he thought, were
more interested in their own power than in the freedom and welfare of the
people. Finally, there was the worldwide slump of the carly 1930s. Not
even so rich a country as Malaya was unaftected. Her exports of rubber
and tin depended on demand in industrial countries that were in decp
trouble by the time Clementi arrived in Malaya. He was shocked to
discover that the surpluses of carlier years had been depleted. Salaries paid
to European officers used up cighty percent of the annual revenue. He
therefore proposed to London that the Eurapean staff be reduced and that
future expenditure be cut down by increasing the proportion of Malay
officers in the service.? The threat to Malay control posed by agents of
the Chinese government and by unrestricted immigration from China
and India would be met by st the admini: ions of the Malay
states, holding immigration back, and dealing firmly with Chinese agita-
tors. Like Guillemard, he fel that nothing could be done to upgrade the
EMS states and to reassure the unfederated states unless the stranglehold
of Kuala Lumpur was broken. The aim was a unified country, with
Malays taking more and more responsibility for government.

A number of senior officers supported the governor. Those who had
been known for years as pro-Malay were bound to favor his plans for
devolution of power from Kuala Lumpur onto state councils and for more
Malay officers in the service. Caldecott and Adams were outspoken
advocates of Malay rights. The former identified himself carly and pub-
licly with Clementi and his policy. It is entirely possible, in fact, that the
governor was more influenced by the ideas of such men than they were by
his.*> But Clementi did not find as much support in the C.O. From the
autumn of 1930 onward, his suggestions and pleas were greeted with a
skepticism that graduzlly changed to disapproval and finally to alarm and
anger over the governor's impulsiveness and persistence. He proposed at
first that a serics of completely new treaties be made giving full powers to
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the rulers and that all European officers be employed by the colony. They
would be seconded to the states as needed. in an advisory capacity, on the
model of the unfederated states. This raised again all the old questions,
most prominently the difficulty of maintaining enough efficiency to
assure financial health. Unable to grasp the complexity of administrative
arrangements and to see that anomalies would remain no matter what was
done, the C.O. went on pointing to legal contradictions. Clement’s
unified government would not be a real federation at all because there
would be no single legislature with authority over the whole country.
How could the sophistication and superior technical competence of the
Chinese be ignored? I never could sce that Sir L. Guillemard's decentral-
ization proposals were any more than eye wash, ™ wrotea C.O. official.**
Sir Samuel Wilson, the permanent undersecretary, urged caution. Cle-
menti would be told to go slowly. Meanwhile, everyone was taking sides
again, as they had during Anderson’s and Guillemard's governorships.
Raja Chulan applauded Clementi's aims in the federal council.#* Maxwell,
from his new base in England, prepared to mount a press campaign and to
bring pressure on the C.O., later extending his activities to anti-Clement
propaganda with unofficials. He wrote to a lawyer in Kuala Lumpur who
was about to join the federal council, urging him to resist the high

S .%¢ Chinese spok were inclined to join the opposition
of Clementi's known antipathy to the Kuomintang party in
2 and his desire to upgrade state councils, bodies in which non-
Malays had little influence. Businessmen and the local press would natur-
ally look with disapproval on any scheme that might upset existing trade
patterns and tax seructures. The colony feared a customs union that would
threaten its enteepdt trade. And the FMS, as always, worried abouta drain
on its rubber and tin revenues.

In August 1931, Clementi convened a durbar of the four FMS rulers at
Sri Menanti in Negri Sembilan. In the previous year, he had held exten-
sive talks in Singapore with their highnesses on all aspects of his proposed
reforms.®” Now, he made a formal presentation, following it up three
months later with a detailed statement in the federal council. The chief
secretaryship would be abolished. he explained, but not the federal coun-
cil. The powers of the state councils would grow. but not at the expense of
< d coordination tt hout the country by techmical departments
such as public works, agriculture, mines, education, and medicine.
Speaking for the unofticials, Bailey and Egmont Hake voiced caution.
Were the rulers really in favor of reform, as his excellency claimed, and
was the government willing to grant as much independence to them as
they wished? Businessmen were worried that any diminution of central-

ization would carry with it a lessening of efficiency. Were things moving
too quickly. without full discussion beforchand? The undang of Rembau
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ed the high ¢ issi 's notion of i ial boards
rhar would look :ﬁcr public services, wondering if these would employ as
many Malays as government bodies did. And Chulan, siding with the
unofficials for once, urged a slow pace of advance so that the rulers would
not be suddenly confronted with faits accomplis. The Malays ™. . .may be
bland but they are not childlike.""®*

The C.O. did not want to be rushed cither. Before Sri Menanti, the new
Labor secretary of state, Lord Passficld (Sidney Webb), and his staff had
asked some searching questions of Clementi. Would it be retrograde to
give powers to rulers who did not now have them? Decentralization
sounded all right, rather like what was nceded in England. It would be
casy to do everything in Whitehall, said Passficld, but localizing was more
democratic. Still, the Malay rulers were not progressive. Would devolu-
tion be both inefficient and autocratic in its results?¢® The office was not
completely convinced by Clementi's assurances. A few days after Sri
Menanti, Passficld remonstrated gently with the governor, noting that
London had not given approval for anything as yet.”® Then followed
several months of exchanges in which the C.O. grew more and more
impatient with Clementi, who seemed unable to see that he was doing
anything exceptionable. Repeatedly he pointed out that there was nothing
new in his moves, Guillemard having had approval for the same things
years carlier. When Passficld and his successor, Sir Philip Cunliffe-Lister,
got together to compare notes on their respective experiences with
Clementi, they saw very clearly that the governor was living in a world of
his own making. “Itis just like Clement, ™ exclaimed Passfield.”! He was
talking to himself, hearing what he wanted to hear from his superiors, and
dealing in principles when London wanted specifics. Meanwhile, though
the C.O. warned him many times, he was going ahead as though London
did not exist. State council reform procecded according to the governor's
wishes, and the C.O. heard of it afterward. In remarking that Guillemard,
too, wanted to abolish the chief secretaryship, Clementi neglected to add
that Guillemard had later changed his mind.

In the same period, Clementi began to feel the blasts of opposition from
business in Malaya and its old-guard allies in London. Maxwell wrote
bitingly to the C.O., calling the governor “‘ignorant and impetuous. ™72
He and Swettenham wrote articles and letters to British Malaya regularly,
as did Marks, the head of the Association of British Malaya.” Summaries
of press coverage from Malaya appeared in nearly every issue, Clementi’s
policy being compared, inevitably, with Guillemard's. He was putting
the clock back. If the needs of humanity were placed above those of
mammon, could any way be found to assure efficient government? When
anassociation was formed in Kuala Lumpur to do in the FMS what the old
Straits Settlements Association had long done in the colony, it was plain
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that the need to stand up to a dictatorial governor was a prime mover.
Clementi's brilliance and good intentions were admitted, but he was
widely accused of being out of touch with reality and of failing to consult
his unofficials. Lawyers in Malaya, like their colleagues in the C.O..
pointed to inconsistencies in the govenrnor's plans. Decentralization was
his watchword, yet in some areas he wanted more centralization than
before, though in Singapore rather than in Kuala Lumpur.

The prudent Guillemard had also come in for a certain amount of
criticism in both the C.O. and the business community. But he had been
careful to make no move without prior approval from London. Though
he had had to fight Maxwell, the strongest head of the FMS government
since Swettenham, he won modest victories by looking to his lanks and
taking full advantage of his opposition’s rash behavior. Clementi had no
trouble with cither Cochrane or Caldecott, the chief secretaries of his
time. The former was a mild-mannered, agreeable officer, and the latter. a
shrewd, strong-willed thruster who happened to agree with much that the
governor was aiming at and who knew better than to prejudice his future
by making a spectacle of himselfas Maxwell had done. In fact, he owed his
subscquent governorships in no small part to his success at maintaining a
dignified. steady posture as chief secretary, colonial secretary, and officer
administering the government when Clementi was on leave. The C.O.
could not fail to note the contrast between this and the governor's -
subordination. What brought Clementi to gricf was not the predictable
sound and fury of business and the old guard or the surly foot-dragging of
entrenched civil servants, though the former played a part.™ Rather, 1t
was a gradual draining away of London's confidence caused by his own
persistent independence of mind and action.

Their irritation over Clementi's conduct, together with the furor his
policy statements had stirred up, persuaded the office that it was time for
another visit to Malaya by an official from London who had the rank and
authority necessary to bring order. The permanent under secretary, Sir
Samuel Wilson, a soldier and former governor of Jamaica, went out for a
month at the end of 1932. He recommended the adoption of decentraliza-
tion as a matter of policy, but stipulated that its implementation should be
slow and empirical.” Devolution to state councils would take four years.
An advisory group would oversce all aspects of the program atevery step,
taking care that the federal machinery would not be assembled and the
parts discarded until appropriate replacements had been provided. The
chief secretaryship would be abolished. Treaty revision was a marter for
the future.

The reaction of unofficials in the federal council was favorable. Hake
waxed lyrical on the advantages of preserving what was best in Malay
civilization while, at the same time, introducing enough modernization so

}
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of policy, except to say that he wanted to learn as much as he could about
the country before commenting—an approach that made an excellent
impression. The fact that Thomas, over the seven prewar years of his
governorship, succeeded in implementing Clementi's plans quietly and
without arousing a storm of protest, says much about the importance of
diplomacy. Officers serving under him approved, finding the governor
straightforward, competent, and anything but Olympian in his ways. He
was careful and he followed through on even the smaller points that he had

casion to talk over with his subordinates. If he lacked the gubernatorial
pt ence of Clementi or Guillemard, that was an acceptable price to pay
for peace and for the smooth, efficient running of the machine.”

His governorship was not without incident. A year before his arrival,
trouble began to brew in Selangor over the question of which of the
sultan’s sons would succeed him. To what extent and to what purposc was
British intervention admissible? By the time Thomas reached Malaya, the
sultan had already agreed that his eldest son was not suitable, being
extravagant, in debt to the government, and generally irresponsible. If
there had been agreement among all concerned that one of the other sons
was qualified, the matter might have ended there. But the state's strong
and prominent resident, T. S. Adams, disagreed with the sultan, who
championed the claims of his sccond son. To Adams, the youth was even
less worthy than his older brother. He therefore favored the third son.#*
F. W. Douglas was still in the sultan’s entourage. Through him the
business community, the press, and the old guard in England soon be-
came involved. Thomas's popularity was not enough to stop the eruption
of a minor cause célébre that eventually brought in the King, the cabinet, the
C.0O.. and Swettenham. Yet the governor was masterful. Adams's candi-
date was made heir apparent. The other sons were compensated appro-
+ -tately. The sultan and his defenders were appeased through the removal
of Adams, who left the country but was consoled with a knighthood and
the chicf commissionership of Northern Nigeria. As in the case of
Clementi's decentralization policy, but with much less fuss, the dictates of
governmental efficiency were honored at the same time as tradition and
propricty received their courteous due.

In the Sclangor case and the Rembau consititutional crisis that fol-
lowed, the British deferred to Malay sensibilities without permitting
interference in the onward march towards modernization. That march
went on in the background throughout all the years from Swettenham's
governorship to Thomas's, as did the steady gains of Japan in Malaya's
trade and the rising importance of America as a buyer of her produce.
Though they diftered on the pace of advance and on the relative weights of
tradition and reform, local y and central coordination, all of the
twentieth-century governors recognized that so small a country could not
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be kepe fragmented forever. All saw that the ughe grip of Kuala Lumpur
was a bar to eventual unity. Methods differed. Anderson changed the title
of the head of the FMS administration, weakened state councils by creat-
ing a federal one, and left Kuala Lumpur as strong as ever, perhaps
stronger. Guillemard broke Maxwell, but had little else to show for more
than seven years of controversy. Clementi lost his job but not the fight,
Jeaving his successor well positioned to do what most people had agreed
was necessary but what Clementi's personal qualities made him unfit to
accomplish. Chitford was a stop gap. Young and Thomas said little, got
on with the job, and were popular. None could do much about the
stubborn, historically grounded differences among the separate categories
of political units—the Straits Settlements, the FMS, and the unfederated
states—or about disparities of talent, inclination, and power among the
principal racial groups that cocxisted but that did not blend together.
Under British referces, they all made their contributions and were kept
from resort to arms in the manner of their ancestors. London wanted
efficiency, peace, and quict. For the most part, though the dispatches
make it scem otherwise, that is what she and Malaya got. By and large the
country prospered and became more Europeanized. Governors and other
would-be makers of policy created a considerable stir now and again. But
in the aggregate, this was of less moment than the steady, quict grinding
of the civil service mill all across the country. If Malaya was not united,
the members of the service were, While governors came and went, they
provided an unspectacular, sohd contnuity year by year, as the social and
economic attributes of nationhood came into being around them.
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10 The Civil Services:
The Interwar Years

IT WAS a different empire that emerged from the war in 1918,
mature, exhausted, less sure of itself than its Victorian predecessor had
been, and more inclined to take an introspective, conservative view. Even
50 notorious a free trader as Winston Churchill, who became secretary of
state for the colonies in 1921, found himself obliged to urge a narrow
mercantilism on his governors—a line that went against the spirit that had
built Malaya and that was contrary to the faith of his own exuberant,
Liberal past.! Lamenting the mood of postwar England, Milner remarked
onalack of adventurousness and patriotism in the younger generation, an
inclination to go into business careers rather than to accept the uncertain-
ties and lower material rewards of government service.? And in Malaya,
sentor officers were apt to observe that the brave frontier days had given
way to a tme of bureaucrats who had only to tread the easy paths so
laboriously made by the sweat of their hardier forebears. Cunyngham-
Brown divided the civil service into three historical groups: the pioncers
of the time from Pangkor to the turn of the century, the consolidators who
tollowed them, and. finally, his own gencration, who were mere pol-

1shers.? If the distinction was a bit severe on interwar recruits, it was not to
be denied that the atmosphere had become somewhat sedate and that
work proceeded in well-worn grooves.

Guillemard, the first postwar governor, was favorably impressed with
the services as he found them, but he thought certain changes were
needed.® The separation into straits and FMS cadres was outmoded and
incfficient. It was unfair to make straits ofticers pay income tax when their
brothers in the FMS did not. Salaries wanted raising everywhere, not least
because natives would find it hard to respect men whose way of living
scemed to suffer by comparison with that of other Europeans. In particu-
lar, he thought that cadets ought to be selected by interview and careful
investigation into background and character. Written examinations could
not identify the desired qualities for work that involved human relations
as well as ordinary office dutics. “Although mysclf a product of the
competitive system,” he wrote, *I am not convinced that it secures the
best results. ™S A second advantage of recruitment by interview was that
more Malays could enter that way.
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Some of these changes would take time. Meanwhile, there was one step
that could be taken fairly casily and with measurable improvement in
morale. In 1920, the governor got Milner's approval for adopting the
name “Malayan Civil Service™ to cover all officers of the straits and FMS
administrations regardless of the terms and procedures of their original
appointments.® This had long been desired as a means of bringing the
Malayan scrvices a recognition and prestige comparable to that of the
empire’s leading overscas corps, the Indian Civil Service. Officers them-
selves had wanted it. So had their friends among the unofficials and the
business commmunity generally. Since federation, the name had been
used occasionally and informally. From 1921 onwards, the initials MCS
were increasingly used after officers’ names, and the designation began to
appear in official documents. During his governorship, Clifford made a
point of placing MCS after his name, ahead of his GCMG and other
honors, to emphasize the importance he attached to esprit de corps and his

own pride in having rejoined his original service after a long absence. A
single-volume civil list replaced the separate straits and FMS ones. The
combined scrvice was regraded. and an all-Malaya standing committee
was appomnted to deal with stafting. Guillemard succeeded n getting
salaries raised—an act that brought him a good deal of criticism later on
and a reputation for protligacy—and in defending the MCS from charge:
that it was too big. The latter was of long standing. Criti

n Londonand
in business circles pointed to the heavy burden of taxanon needed to
support services that were considerably larger than most other colonies
had. Per capita of population, Malaya’s were far larger than India’s.
Defenders, including Swettenham, answered that Malaya's revenues
were greater duc to export duties on her extraordinarily impressive ship-
ments of rubber and tin, and that salaries actually used up a smaller
percentage of revenues in Malaya than in India. The country’s relatively
advanced economy and society put a heavier work load on officers. In the
light of all this 1t could be argued that the MCS was not big cnough.”

For scveral years immediately following the war, examination recruit-
ment of the usual type was set aside. Instead, applicants took a much
shorter and less onerous written test and were interviewed. The verbal
part carried more weight than the written one in determining an appli-
cant’s suitability, the aim being to recognize war service by giving de-
mobilized of!
university education and since all were far removed from formal studies at
any level, 1t would not be fair to subject them to the ordeal that prewar
candidates had prepared for at university or ata crammer’s or both. Losses
due to normal atrrition and to casualties in the war had created unusual
needs. The result of the two factors operating together—the desire to
accommodate veterans and the need for more recruits than usual—was

crs priority of access. Since many had had to forego
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considerable overstaffing by 1922, when it was decided to resume the
prewar selection system.

Another cffect of taking ex-soldiers was a reopening of the classical
question that had exercised nineteenth-century residents and governors:
which system of recruitment was better, one that tapped the same body of
applicants which supplied the home civil service and the ICS, all of them
sitting the annual examinations in Burlington Gardens, or the method of
interviews and investigation of backgrounds and schooling that was used
for the African colonies? After three years' cxpericnce of waiving the
former and using a variant of the latter the question was not academic. Sir
Edward Brockman, an MCS officer then in charge of the Malay States
Information Agency, knew from his experience on the Civil Service
Commission’s interview board that many applicants in the postwar
stream had been brainwashed against Malaya.? Its reputation as the least
desirable choice in the whole range from home civil through ICS to
Eastern cadetships continued to filter back to schools and universities
even when salary revisions in Malaya and the decline of career prospects in
India had made that reputation undescrved. Brockman thought a cam-
paign ought to be mounted to correct this and Collins in the C.O. agreed.
He discussed the matter with his colleague Major R. D. Furse, who for
several years had conducted exactly the sort of recruitment work Collins
wanted—visiting public schools and Oxford and Cambridge colleges to
drum up interest in the African colonies. Furse was more than willing to
extend this system to Malaya and was sure that he could counteract the
unfavorable publicity, having come upon it himself and knowing that its
baselessness could be exposed in talks with schoolmasters and dons.

During the next few years, the fecling persisted in the C.O. that
businesses were draining off many of the best university men—exactly the
sort who would have entered government careers before—and that others
were going to Africa in order to avoid examinations. Furse and the under
secretary, Ormsby-Gore, both visited Malaya in 1928, They came away
more than ever convinced that examinations were discouraging young
men of the desired kind and that some of those who did pass and came to
Malaya, conversely, were of a mental stamp that was unsuited to work
among peoples of tropical countries.'® Furse later wrote that he had
detected a certain mandarin quality and complacency in the MCS, an
intellectual superiority feeling that reminded him unpleasantly of White-
hall. ! Neither was especially convincing in fact, partly because cach took
a pronounced and preconceived bias to the task of appraising the MCS on
its home ground. Both had the traditional ari ic prefe e for
intuition in judging human beings and a suspicion of academic abstrac-
tions and of those who got ahead by mastering them. Morcover, itis to be
doubted that their study was more than aonce-over-lightly, quick, spotty
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and superficial.'* H that may be, c ition to change was strong
Y PP B g

enough in the Far Eastern Department of the C.O. to prevent abandon-
ment of examinations at this stage. In that office, the mystique of the
Eastern cadetships was still enough to withstand questioning from above
and, a few years earlier, from a governor who was the embodiment of the

successful examination wallah.

What brought change was unmistakable evidence over the years that
examinations were unpopular with the Oxford and Cambridge under-
graduates whom the C.O. wanted to attract. Visits by MCS officers to
those universities and to others left no room for doubt.!* The 1930
governors’ conference opposed examinations and called for asystem that,
at the very least, combined the virtues of written tests and personal
intervicws. In the same year, more ominously from the point of view of
those who favored examinations, a high-level committee chaired by the
head of the home civil service, Sir Warren Fisher, gave its blessing in-
directly to Furse’s system by endorsing his sclection criteria and noting
that there was “'no calculus by which these endowments can be assessed. "1
For several years, the C.O. and the committees that met during the
governors’ conferences had struggled with the question of unifying the
far-flung, autonomous services that ran the colonies. Real unity on the
French model proved elusive, largely for financial reasons. But it was fele
that at lcast London could bring a basic uniformity to the administrative
cadres by establishing a common system of recruitment in England and by
taking other steps, such as institutng preliminary training courscs thatall
recruits would take regardless of their respective destinations. Since the
Eastern cadetship dependencies were the only eccentric units as regards
method of appointment and since their system had been found undesirable
in the eyes ofc
the others as of the summer of 1932

The timing was opportune in thac recruitment had to be cut back
drastically in these years anyhow because of the slump. Savings had been
effected through retrenchment and through the reclassification of certain
Jjunior posts that would be reserved from then on for Malay officers. This
too had the effect of temporarily de-emphasizing the whole subject of
there was bound to be continuing

1didates, the secretary of state brought them into line with

recruiting Europeans. Nevertheles
discussion of pros and cons, if only because so much had been made—and
for such a long time—of the lofty standards by which applicants for the
MCS had been judged. Clementi, the governor of the time strongly
disapproved of the change and was only partly reconailed when London
agreed to his proposal that no applicant be accepted in future unless he had
at least a second-class honors degree. Speaking for the unofficials in the
federal council, Savage Bailey agreed. The old system had produced “the
finest type of officer in the empire.”'S He was worried by the news that
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the administrative services of the colonies had been officially unified,
which would presumably mean that officers would become interchange-
able parts, subject to transfer from onc arca of the world to another. If this
took place, what would happen to that vital human sympathy and close
local knowledge that allowed European officers and native peoples to
work together in mutual understanding and respect? Some members of
the MCS felt that the innovation simply reflected C.O. jealousy of the
civil service commissioners and a desire to get the whole selection me-
chanism into their own hands.'® Would the new procedure swamp the
MCS with ““rugger blues and governors’ nephews"?17

Others thought there was something to be said for the new methods. .
M. Barron, though he had come in by examination, considered that
system only moderately successful.'® Many who had done well on their
papers proved mediocre at administrative work later on, while veryone
knew of men who had done poorly in school or university and then gone
on to brilliant careers in government or business. The magazine British
Malaya, always a reflector of the views of what might be called the
business-civil service establishment, favored the change as an improve-
ment by means of which Malaya would fall into step with the rest of the
colonial empire where selection by interview had proven its worth.!?
Interviews would identify both mental qualitics and character, the latter
being difficult, if not impossible, to demonstrate on written tests, To this,
H. A. L. Luckham, a 1928 cadet, added that in fact the civil service
commissioners did conduct interviews as well as written examinations, all
candidates being marked on both.? These were not as systematic as those
of the C.O., nor were they accompanied by extensive personal inquiries
into family background and educational performance, social, athletic, and
academic. In any case, could it be said with certainty that there was a
correlation between method of entry and career success? Malaya had hada
wide variety of systems since 1867, Officers of long experience, such as
Sir George Maxwell, could sce both sides. If good scholars did not always
make good administrators, the 1896 to 1914 in-take, all of whom, unlike
himself, were examination men, were a *'good average lot, " very like the
patronage appointees who had preceded them. 2!

As for the other innovations of the 1930s—training courses and the
formal proclamation of service unity throughout the empire—the effect
cannot be said to have been very great. There was a general fecling that
language instruction should start in England as part of the one-year
introductory course that all colonial service recruits took at cither Oxford
or Cambridge. Even old-timers like Clifford who had learned everything
on the job spoke in favor of maxi advanced prej ion.*? Recruits
themselves often had doubts about the ultimate value of some lectures,
thinking that there was no substitute for practical experience and that




266 BRITISH RULE IN MALAYA

there was likely to be a hothouse quality to Oxoridge in the best of times.
It was obvious that men bound for Africa stood to get more than MC
cadets from courses on surveying, field engincering, geography, and
medicine. The latter should take Malayan law and colonial regulations
instead, together with anthropology and economics courses aimed at
Malayan conditions. **Above all,” wrote one officer after nine years in
Malaya “get someone really good to teach the cadets,” such as an MCS
man on leave.?* He added a whimsical aside: what he himself had enjoyed
most about the course was the leisure it gave him to read whatever he liked
after the rigor of his tripos.

Unity remained largely a paper thing. In the C.O. lawyers and perma-
nent officials debated fine points, such as whether or not an MCS man,
being subject to colonial regulations in the Straits Settlements and also to
the general orders of the FMS, could be considered a member of a wider
colonial service. Transfers to other colonies had always been possible and

had often been arranged by means ofa new contract with another colonial
government. But in fact, MCS officers could not be sent elsewhere if they
did not wish it. Most did not, and, for them, the MCS's legal incorpora-
tion into something called the colonial service remained an abstraction.

During the average year in the 1920s and 19305, the MCS totaled some
200 men. A glance at their profile reveals a group that was representative
of what may be termed the **public-service class™ of Britain.** Most were
the sons of clergymen, army officers, doctors, members of overseas civil
services, schoolmasters, and lawyers, with rather fewer coming from
monicd or business familics. The big majority had been to public schools.
Oxford and Cambridge claimed about three quarters, with Trinity Col-
lege Dublin, the Scottish universitics, and London trailing behind, fol-
lowed by a scattering from Sandhurst and redbrick and a handful who had
gone to war instead of taking up their scholarships in Oxbridge colleges.
In 1939, there were twenty-two Malay officers out of a total of 184. Of the
162 British, 101 were in the Malay stream, 33, in the Chinese Protector-
ate, and 28 in the Labor Department.

Though times had changed in many respects and Britain was not the
same place she had been earlier there remained much similarity in motiva-
tion between the interwar in-take and their precursors of the years before
1914. As before, there were some who ended in Malaya for lack of
anything better. H. C. (later Sir Harold) Willan would have liked to stay
in England, but as a recently demobilized officer with no prospects, he
could not afford to pass up a surc thing.?* Bryson, also just out of uniform
and casting about for somcething to do, was not attracted to the idea of
going back to university and was bored by the thought of the family linen
business in Ulster. While the notion of serving native races in the tropics
was beyond him at that point, “a free and casy life in different surround-
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ings” did appeal.?® An exception to many rules was T. P. Cromwell. The
grandson of factory workers and the son of a manager of a small soap
works, he had done well in the Bradford City Corporation Sccondary
School. He had won a scholarship at Cambridge and taken a first in the
modern language tripos and a sccond in English.?7 His year, 1930, was
one of the worst for finding jobs in. Malaya, though completely unknown
territory, offered security, further language study, and perhaps some
interesting work at a time when nothing was to be had in England. Two
years carlier, Norman Ward, also from Bradford where he attended the
grammar school before going on to Queen's Oxford, was offered a poorly
paid job with Lloyd's Bank. He toyed with the idea, put forward by his
tutor, of going to Cairo University as a lecturer, and also thought of
becoming an insurance actuary. Finally, a friend who wanted to enter the
ICS suggested the civil service examinations, in which he did so badly that
he was astonished to be offered Malaya.?® C. H. Whitton, on the other
hand, came from the sort of background that made some kind of public
service a logical aim. The home civil would have been nice, but he did not
place high enough and he sailed for the East (about which he knew
nothing) in the thought that one must “accept the race that is set before
us.""** Having taken a first in history at Oxford, R. N. Turner naturally
thought of a fellowship in one of the colleges. None was immediately
available in the carly 1930s, however, and he could not afford to hang
about. His high academic standing gave him entree to the C.O., where he
chose Malaya over Africa.®

At the ather extreme were men who knew exactly what they wanted.
A. B. Cobden-Ramsay had a father and an uncle in the ICS.3! While no
one would have advised going to India in 1927, Malaya offered a compar-
able career. To J. M. Brander, also the son of an ICS officer, an Easter
cadetship was the obvious objective.3? His father had always urged him to
opt for a life of adventure and interest, having loved his own years in
India. The consular service was considered too soft, and Africa was not
highly regarded. J. F. Hannyngton, the son and grandson of ICS men,
wanted India despite the known risk or, failing that, the home civil or the
diplomatic.** Malaya was very much a last resort. R. N, Broome, another
cadet with an Indian background, was indifferent to Malaya. **I had never
heard of [it] at the time and went for the home civil, India and Ceylon in
that order. ™ He nearly got Ceylon because the man above him on the
list, who eventually did choose that colony, seemed about to be medically
disqualified. But in the end, the man’s somewhat delicate problem was
solved, and Broome went to Malaya.?$ On the other hand, W. A. C. (later
Sir William) Goode paid Malaya the supreme compliment of choosing it
over the home civil. His father, Sir Richard, was in the service of Rhodesia
and wanted him to have a career in the colonics, while his uncle, Sir
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William, urged that he follow him to Whitchall. Offered both the home
civil and Malaya because of his high marks on the examinations he
thought decply about what he really wanted to do with his life—a
ponderation that most did not have to indulge in, much as they would
have liked it.*® After much agonizing over whether he could getinto the
C.O. rather than the inland revenue and if, once there, he could arrange an
overseas posting, he did the common-sense thing and joined the MCS.
Some had very special reasons for wanting a colonial carcer or at least 3
general attraction to 1t, whether or not this was backed by particular
knowledge. J. 5. (later Sir John) Macpherson had read Conrad and knew
about Stamford Rattles. He had friends in the IC and picked Malaya after
war service because he was told that India was no longer feasible.?” A

professor of geography at Liverpool University convinced W. L. Blythe
that life in Malaya would suit him perfectly ** Asa schoolboy at George
Watson's. R. B. (later Sir Robert) Black learned of the tradinon, dating
back to Henry Dundas, of recruiting Scots for John Company and even
before his facher had implanted in him an absorbing interest in the ex-
pansion of Britain from the sev nteenth century onwards.?? It was also
from an enthusiastic father that E. C. G. Barrett got the idea of going
abroad, though in his case the information came not from books but from
enthralling leteers written home to a young son by an officer of the Indian
Political Service posted to such exotic-sounding places as Aden, Muscat,
Bahrain, Kuwait, Bushire, and Meshed. some of which he himselt re-
membered from carly childhood . **

For others—perhaps. the majority—a specific impetus was not ne
sary. Growing up in England, the world’s most impenally minded and
imperially expenienced country modern times, one could not help
noticing alien mfluences in all sorts of otherwise domestic institutions, At
Marlborough. boys were vaguely aware of a tradition of public service
stemming from the

hool's beginnings as a place for the sons of Anglican
clergymen and, more speaifically. of overseas service. 3 later and more
tangible tradition.*! J. G. Black’s tather. 4 schoolmaster who was also a
classical and Oriental scholar, had his son thinking about a civil service
carcer in childhood; no other aim was even considered.*? By the same
token. one could not be at Brasenose College, Oxford, in the twenties and
thirties without being conscious of the imperial interests of its principal,
Dr. W. T. 5. Stallybrass, whosc casual suggestion pointed C. W. Dawson
in the direction of Malaya.** At Balliol, the college chosen for the future
sultan of Perak. onc was likely to be exposed to Kenneth Bell or Sit
Reginald Coupland, both lecturing onimperial subjects. Talk of India and
the colonies was common. Furse and other Balliol men from the C.O. and
from the overseas territories turned up regularly.** Cambridg; though
its preoccupations with imperial affairs were noton quite the same scale as




THE CIVIL SERVICES: THE INTERWAR YEARS 269

Oxford's historically, did provide its undergraduates with a similar back~
ground and atmosphere. It was there that H. G. Turner heard a lecture by
an MCS officer on leave. This, and the advice of a friend in the ICS, caused
him to think again about trying for India.*S Purcell had no thought of a
career outside England and, in fact, would have liked to stay in Cam-
bridge, whose charms remained irresistible all his life. But the very
cosmopolitanism that drew him to the place also opened up other vistas
and gave him the perspective he needed for a rational choice when the time
came.* [t was people he met at Cambridge who persuaded J. A. Harvey
to abandon carlier plans for a teaching carcer and opt instead for service
abroad.*7

The service that interwar recruits found on arrival in some ways re-
sembled comparable organizations in England more than it did the nine-
teenth-century cadres that preceded it. There had always been expressions
of discontent with conditions of service: some made individually; others
by deputations that waited on the governor or memorialized the secretary
of state. By the twenties there was a standing MCS commiteee, with
branches in the main centers, whose concerns and work amounted to
administrative trade unionism.*¥ The group that called upon Guillemard
in 1920 spoke for the whole servic powerfully and in detail. Salarics,
which they compared with those of the ICS and other overseas corps,
were grossly inadequate. The governor listened sympathetically to a
point-by-point presentation of the case for reform or amelioration in
cvery category, including pensions, allowances, widows' and orphans’
fund, and leaves and passages. He telegraphed Milner that the cost of
living had gone up 50 percent since 1918 and that relief was “absolutely
necessary.”"*? Raises did come. Later, Guillemard was to be criticized for
squandering the large surplus that he had inherited and leaving the coun-
try in debt. More would be heard later on about inadequate pay. But there
can be no doubt that, in the Guillemard years, the MCS became one of the
best-paid services in the empire, so much so that senior officers were
reluctant to accept higher-ranking posts clsewhere. This did not come
about casily, nor was the C.O. ever entirely reconciled to it. When
immediately after salarics had been raised, the MCS association pushed
tor better pensions, the under secretary of state protested against the habit
of “lavish expenditure™ on government services in Malaya—a state of
affairs that was resented in other colonies.*® He doubted that living
conditions in Malaya were anywhere nearly as bad as they were in West
Africa, and he demanded figures on suicides and deaths in harness so that
the point could be backed by hard evidence. To this it was replied, with
more passion than consistency perhaps, that such comparisons werc in-
vidious. The plight of the MCS should be seen, not by contrast with that
of services in other colonics, but in its own local context. Busin

and
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professional men lived far better than government servants. Yet they
were the very people the MCS was expected to live on close terms with in
arder to de its job.

During the late twenties and early thirties, the C.O. tried o gain
perspective on such questions by holding governors’ conferences in
London and by means of special inquirics such as that of the Warren Fisher
Committee, and by the visit to Malaya of the permanent under secretary,
Sir Samuel Wilson, who was the C.O.'s representative on that commit-
tee. In these days of a more self-conscious empire, there was impatience
with the casygoing ways of the past when administrative arrangements
were made haphazardly in response to ad hoe needs. The great depression
accentuated this, causing old anomalies and duplications to be questioned
on financial as well as scientific grounds. At the same ume, the country
received a new governor, Sir Ceal Clementi, who noticed, as Anderson
and Guillemard had before, that the organization of the civil services was
neither coherent nor economic. He tried to prepare the ground for politi-
cal unity by reducing the differences among political units. If this presented
obstacles, he thought the rationalization of the MCS would be casier to
bring about. Unification and fard of the ad strative corps
that ran the whole country would surely make cultural, regional, and legal
individuality less objectionable. The governor instructed Caldecott,
acting chief secretary FMS, to prepare plans for the abolition of his offic
and tor its replacement by structures better suited to integration with the
colony and the unfederated state
tions was that a new central office be set up and charged with managing
personnel matters for the whole country. The Malayan Establishment
Office came into ¢
by grading all posts according to a common standard, regardless of
location, thus ending once and for all the lingering remnants of separation
between the colony and the FMS. It would also provide the unfederated
states with officers as needed, which was already being done, but would
now be arranged more centrally and systematically. Though the new
office would be in Singapore, the rulers would be assured that postings of
European officers to their states would be made in an overall way, with-
out reference to the government of the colony. Hyman Weisberg, a 1914
cadet with much experience in treasury work, chaired a committee that
reviewed the orgamization of the MCS and issued the so-called pyramid
report on structuring and operations. He would have taken charge himself
if the governor had not wanted him in another position.*? Instead, the first
head of the MEO was J. A. (later Sir John) Hunter. 3

The importance of postings would be hard to exaggerate. Though a
good deal of what the MEO and its precursors did was subject to objective
rules and to unarguable exigencies of the moment, there were points

A1 One of the resulting recommenda-

istence in 1934, Its purpose was to coordinate staffing
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during every officer's career when options were available to those in a
position to decide where he would go next. Personalities and luck did play
a part. With the best will in the world, unfortunate assignments would
sometimes be made, unreliable information would be acted on, and men
would get reputations, pro and con, that were not entirely deserved.
Reducing the possibility of unfairness and giving everyone an equal
chance became a constant aim, one that was more efficiently served as
time went on. The MCS was divided into time-scale and super-scale
grades. The former included all but the very highest posts. Officers
advanced through the time-scale grades more or less automatically on
good performance after passing examinations in languages and law and
in colonial regulations. Extraordinary merit was recognized by promo-
tion into the super-scale and, occasionally, by advancement over the
heads of one’s peers. Care was taken to find out how men had done in their
work so that when the time came to make a new assighment, it would be
possible to match an officer's qualitics and capacity with the known
requirements of a particular job and the special requests of senior officers
asking for staff. Whilc junior and middle-ranking officers were not con-
sulted about their next posts, most found the MEO sympathetic to ap-
peals for consideration of unusual circumstances and needs, 4 By thesame
token rulers and senior officers were listened to on the subject of men
whom they had high regard for or about whom they had reservations.
Generally speaking, everyone served at one time or another in both
secretariat and rural posts, the theory being that knowledge of both was
necessary and that a good man could manage either without difficulty. It
was thought that too much or too little of cither would leave men's
records improperly balanced. Andrew Gilmour, who had two consecu-
tve postings to Ulu Kelantan,which he loved, was warned not to become
typed as a latter-day Captain Berkeley.*$ Goode, when he too begged for
a sccond tour on the cast coast, was told by Caldecott—that shrewd
calculator of the coordinates of success—that “only dogs return to their
own vomit."'*¢ Neverthcless, Malaya was not immune to the prevailing
mystique of the colonial empire, that the romance and the morality of
European rule in tropical countries was centered on outstations run by
omnicompetent district officers, whereas the secretariat was the home of
the cffete, the ambitious, and the not quite respectable. Inveterate ulu
types like Charlton Maxwell could be depended on to pour scorn on
bureaucracy and all its works. Saddled on one occasion with a hopelessly
mcompetent young assistant and asked for his advice as to where the
hapless junior's talents could be more advantageously employed, he
replied, “'In the secretariat or the muscum.”*? Even Winstedt, with his
quite different, scholarly temperament, could not help smiling at those
who got on in the service by staying in secretariats and writing equivocal
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dispatches to London. ** And Clifford, who knew from personal experi-
ence the whole range of jobs from the most junior to the highest, could
defend sccretariats as necessary and undervalued, yee sternly insist that the
essence of administration was to be learned only in districts. Shortly after
arriving as governor, he gave orders that new recruits were to be posted to
outstations, well away from the lures of European society in bigger

towns, even though he knew that secretariat needs were great and that
some young men would not like being deprived of the “loav and fishes
of Singapore, Penang or Kuala Lumpur. ™

Others felt very differencly. There were always classical DO types who
thrived in the countryside and hated paper work. “I like men and not
figures to play with,” moaned Nairn ata ime when he was burdencd with
customs and harbor duties in Port Dickson.*® Richards remarked philo-
sophically to Kempe that “we all have our particular bents and
_lines to which we are not suited. I think I was the worst magistrate
who ever sat on the bench . secretariat work requires an atatude of mind
which does not come very readily to you . . . your road to a residency will
come more easily through district and land work than through the secre-
tariat. ! Praising a newly arrived cadet in the thirties Sheppard lamented
the “deplorable waste™ of keeping such a manin the secretariat.

Perhaps more typical of the whole service year by year were officers
who saw the potential of secretariat duty, whether or not they preferred
life in districts. **1 had had my fair share of working in secretariats,” said
Harvey, “which was notalways well recerved by the MCS; but there was
no better way of coming to grips with the system of government, the law,
and the proper way to set about [doing] a pet project. 63 Jarrett, who
delighted in his time on the cast coast, could hardly be called a natural or
willing bureaucrat. Yet he was intrigued by the jigsaw puzzle of personnel
work under Pepys. Later, as under sceretary FMS, he found his Job as
many-sided and interesting as it was arduous. He met and corresponded
with heads of protes
yeas and nays of complex problems, and submitted recommendations.®*
The task gave him a wide view of important developments in every
branch of government service and brought him into contact with Astan
leaders who were not encountered in outstations. If he sometimes feltas
though he were working in a blindfold and wished he could getaway from
the paper into the sunlight of workaday reality, he realized, from his
extensive district experience, that the counterpart to this was a feeling of

jonal and technical departments, weighed up the

being lost and’ forgotten in a backwater. Goode had much the same
reaction when he was yanked away from blissful Kuantan and made
secretary to the retrenchment commission in Kuala Lumpur. “*Here Tam
living . . . this appalling suburban life, wearing a collar and tie; if [ really
wanted this . . . wouldn't [it] be better to stay at home?"¢% Yet he saw that
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the job was good for him, providing an overview of the whole govern-
ment structure and how it worked and forcing him to consider it all in a
critical way,

An MCS officer who had service in Africa and came to Malaya with the
military government in 1945 saw colonial secretariats as sui generis, differ-
ing from ministries in England in history, make-up, and work. Whereas a
Whitchall department included both policymakers and men who carried
out the resulting decisions, colonial secretariats did the planning and
coordmation but left implementation to specialist departments such as
public works, medical, police, customs, and education.* This state of
affairs had come about naturally as residents and governors gradually
gathered about them the staff needed to deal with their steadily increasing
otfice work. In this process, which continued all the way through to the
end of the prewar period and to an extent afterward, a much greater
measure of power accrued to the generalist administrative officer than to
his opposite number in England, where ultimate authority rested in
popularly clected legislative bodies. [fhigh-ranking sccretariat officers sat
in different offices from those who put their plans to work, they nonethe-
less had far more discretion than home civil servants did. They had no
special training and relied on experience, common sensc, and the support
of superiors who were, like them, appointed from England and who

were, in effect, r to th Ives. In the ni h century, the
power they wielded was not all that great because the scope of govern-
ment was relatively restricted, ications were rudi y. and

considerable latitude was left perforce to magistrates and collectors over
wide areas. By the 1920s, great changes had take place. Secretariats had
grown in size, in complexity of work, and in control over events, As-
sumptions about qualifications for high office had changed as well. In the
old days, an officer was said to be qualified for a residency if he had had
many years of experience in districts. Now, it was secretariat service that
counted.*” Virtually everyone had had at least some of that and the
majority more than a little. Officers with service in other colonics,
particularly in Africa, noticed that the traditional distinction between
secretariat and district men was of much less account in Malaya with its
small size, thriving economy, and urban socicty.*®

As they talked and wrote about the bureaucratic work they had done in
Malaya—usually long after retirement—officers revealed many of the
reasons why seemingly routine jobs had held considerable fascination for
them and why some preferred secretariat to districe work. Willan’s fecl-
ngs were grounded in social tastes. **You don't live in the ulu; you merely
€Xist.”"® In a very full career, Cator had had all manner of postings,
ending with the senior residency, Perak, followed by a lengthy stint as
agent for Malaya in London. Yet he remembered customs and opium
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control as the most enjoyable work of all—endlessly interesting, human,
and varied.® For seven years, Peel was municipal presidentin Penang—in
ct, mayor of a big, attractive port city with a bustling, multracal
population. Though the job was unquestonably burcaucratic in nature,
he was intrigued by it precisely because he **. . had to deal with people
..much more than minute papers.””! He headed the secretanat, true
cnough. But subordinates saw to details while he presided over large
public mectings, dealt with the press, and tried to sort out the competing
claims of departments as varied as health, electrical, water, engineering,
veterinary, police, fire, and vehicles. With Shelley, the attraction was
greater sull. His lecters present a man who was as muLh drawn to the clubs
and card games and dinner partics of high socicty as any suburban-based
aivil servant or businessman in England, onc who reveled in the pomp of
cryday bureaucracy in order
to enjoy it. Treasury work in Singapore was sausfying because money
was power. He loved his uniform and sword, his intimacy with the
governor, the deference and the prefix “honorable™ he received as a
member of the federal council, and his close association with merchant
princes. When he acted as director of education during Winstedt's leave,
he liked the big house and the respect shown him by office underhings and
teachers in the schools and was only slightly worried that the very
thorough new governor, Clementi, might ask him a question that, as an
amateur in a specialist job, he might not be able to answer.”* When,
towards the end of his career, he became acting chief secretary he was as
thrilled with life in the federal capital as Goode had been irritated by it.
Living at Carcosa, wearing his CMG, inspecting his visitors book, and
then for a few days acting as governor were more than ample recompense

office and gladly suffered the minutiac of ev

for decades of paper work in the sweltering offices of Singapore and Kuala
Lumpur,

When H. G. Turner asked for a transfer out of Ulu Kelantan in 1938, he
was not thinking of anything so grand or ¢ven a secretanat position as
such. He and his wife wanted another baby. Kuala Krai in the back of
beyond was no place for dependable midwifery or for European children
in need of occasional pediatric care. He had mixed feelings on being told
that he had broken half of the golden rule—never ask for a transfer and
never refuse one—and that he was posted to Singapore as fourth assistant
sccretary, a slight demotion.” At first, the work was exactly the sort of
thing that devotees of district postings lived in dread of: the docketing of
papers in the m of file: 1
were secret, there was also a good deal of cyphering. In addition, Turner
was given responsibility for papers concerned with defense and with
honors. The former proved intenscly interesting and demanding as the
war approached. For this reason, and because he had a natural flair for

that acci

¢ in such places. As these
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detail and got on well with his colleagues, Turner enjoyed his time in the
Singapore secretariat, where he remained to the day the island surren-
dered. The community itself was full of interest, as Penang had been for
Peel. He respected and liked the Chinese, Indian, and Eurasian office
assistants and clerks whose role as the noncommissioned officers of
administration was so important in assuring efficiency and continuity.
The lateer remained a problem, constantly complained about and never
solved, due to the frequency with which officers were moved from postto
post. During the ten-ycar period beginning in 1922, Shelley was DO
Klang, acting treasurer in Singapore, acting official assignee and public
trustee in the FMS, registrar of companics, collector of stamp duty,
treasurer again, acting director of cducation, chairman of the Trade
Stauistics Committee, controller of rubber, acting commissioner of lands
in Kuala Lumpur, treasurer in Singapore again, acting director of educa-
tion again, as well as president of Raftles College, treasurer again, acting
colonmial secretary and resident Perak. He was on leave twice during the
pentod. When Raja Chulan complained in the federal council that senior
officers were moved and went on leave too often, making continuity
mpossible, Caldecott denied that in practice they took leave every two
and a halfyears as they were entitled to do. Ifthis were done, he conceded,
there would indeed be a “continuous game of general post.”"7* It was
admitted in official documents that reassignments were “somewhat
numerous. 7’ Some defended the system of never sending a man back to
the same post for a sccond consecutive tour on the grounds that it helped
avoid stagnation and the kinds of petty corruption that had sometimes
occurred in the pioneer years. But in private, everyone admitted that the
discontinuity resulting from this and from leaves wasa heavy price to pay.
The question of who was sent where and why was of burning interest.
Often it scemed to be, and indeed was, a mateer of the “merest chance, " as
in the case of Weisberg's fi 1job.” Although he was unk to the
powers at the moment and completely inexperienced in that field, he
found himsclf suddenly landed in the position of colonial treasurer, due to
the temporary unavailability of two qualificd officers, one of whom
would have got the post otherwise. No doube Weisberg's exceptional
ability would have come to the notice of higher authority sooner or later.
Butin fact, the specialty that was to bring him much deserved recognition
later on was one that he had no special training for and embarked on quite
by accident. In other cases, men were destined for certain posts because
they had reached their forties without having distinguished themselves.
When a man got a customs job late in his carcer, it was nota good sign. If
an officer of the Malay stream was clearly not residential timber and could
not be entrusted with a high secretariat position, the chances were that he
would finish as DO of one of the more important Perak districts, which
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therefore became known as “stable for old horses.””” Men who had done
well enough, on the other hand, had to be given final posts that pos
a dignity appropriate to that fact—the resident councillorship of Malacca
or Penang, for example—which meant a fairly steady stream of short-

ssed

term incumbents on the eve of retirement and correspondingly heav
burdens for their subordinates. Winstede held the ttle of general adviser
Johore in the early thirties and drew the salary. It was S. W. Jones who did
the work, first, as legal adviser, then as commissioner of lands and mines.
Occasionally. a governor refused to go along with this sort of thing.
When Guillemard went on retirement leave in 1927, he insisted on being
relieved by Peel, whom he considered the most able man available,
though the regulations provided that the colonial secreary should act in

such instances and though a royal warrant had to be gotin order to legalize
the governor’s wish. ™ Rarely the reason behind a posting was frivolous,
perhaps suggesting the need to cherchez la femme.” But for the most part,
seniority, capability, and common sense prevailed. Year in and year out
officers got the postings their performance ficted them for, the jobs they
expected to get.

When it is asked who got on in the service, who did not, and why m
both case
diversity. For most the key to success was the same quality of gregarious-

. the answers present a similar picture of generalization and

ness and ability to work happily with one’'s fellows that opens doors in any.
field. Horse sense was more importanc than incellectual brilhance. Socal
acceprance in all the mynad interracial and governmental-commercial
of character,
not to mention particular qualifications such as language facilicy or mem-
bership of the bar. Reviewing the comments of governors on MCS
officers through the y
impressions that men were good, bad, or indifterent, and that these were

settings of Malaya counted for more than speaific attnibute:

cars, one finds that in all cases there were general

based on an intuitive sense of what a man was and how he had done.*® As
the careers of Sir Ernest Birch and Captain Bloomtield Douglas showed, a
man with patent limitations could go far if he was hked by his sultan,
among others. Cunyngham-Brown's quip about the formula for advance-
ment—"bowing at the doors of the nighty, marrying a nice girl. secking
a post in the central secretariat, and becoming a free mason”—was not
totally lacking in point.®! Government service, mused Bingham, was
**...somewhat of a soporific. . .originality or special ability is not of
much use.”® Conversely, everyone knew that debts or alcoholism could
bring a man down and thata single unfortunate move, such as abandoning
one's district, might leave a blot that proved icradicable.®?

One way to get ahead was to catch the eve of the C.O. This might
happen without any effort on the part of the officer in question, who could
be noticed by a member of the staff on a visit to Malaya.* Some were
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spotted as rising rockets at the time of their recruitment and for that reason
were posted to the C.O. at the outsct of their careers, being marked men
from then onwards. Orthers, not content to leave the matter to chance,
made a point of calling at the office when on leave. In fact, everyone was
expected to sign a form reporting their presence in the coumtry, and
occasionally, one would look in on a friend temporarily serving there.
Most men left it at that, viewing the C.O. as a mysterious place that had
little to do with them, or as a hotbed of intriguc that any self-respecting
MCS officer would instinctively avoid. The few who did go there for a
disinterested purpose tended to have their prejudices confirmed. While in
the office to fill out his form one time Broome asked ifanyone wished to
talk with him about recent developments in Malaya. No one did. 5 Those
who actually entered the premises on their own and formed friendships
with people who worked there were not regarded favorably in the MCS.
It was not thought possible that such visits could have any bur a self-
serving aim.

A process that unavoidably and mercilessly identified officers with
lackluster records was retrenchment. A small number fell by the wayside
in 1932-1933, some of them being kept on in other capacities, and others
being rehired later.*¢ The fact that newly arrived recruits were kept on,
though untried and at that point unjudgeable, made the evaluations of
retrenchment committees all the more damaging to those affected. The
number was not large since normal attrition reduced the service by four-
teen that year and since recruitment was suspended for a time.

At the other extreme were men whose qualities were shown when th
voluntarily left the administrative branch of the service, when th
accepted offers of employment out of the country, or when they received
honors. There was a small number of transfers to the colonial legal
service, where most did well. Willan, Gibson, and Worley were knighted
and reached high positions elsewhere. Many men qualified for the bar,
most of them remaining in the MCS but specializing in magastracy rather
than administration. Transfers to other colonies or to London were more
frequent after the turn of the century than before, duc to Malaya's grow-
ing prestige. But several officers refused these, mainly for financial
reasons. Among those who did leave, receiving knighthoods and lofty
responsibilities, were: A. F. Richards, A. S. Jelf, G. E. London, John
Huggins, J. A. Hunter, R. E. Turnbull, J. S. Macpherson, Andrew
Caldecott, E. B. David, T. S. Adams, R. B. Black, W. A. C. Goode,
William Peel and hs son W. J. Peel, and two, John Martin and John
Fletcher-Cooke, who served in the C.O. before coming to Malaya and
were in the country for very short periods. While they did not rise quite as
high as the others, R. N. Turner, George Hemmant, and A. M. Dryburgh
should also be mentioned.
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Some officers—only a handful in later years—put their talents to ex-
tragovernmental use by joining the boards of companies. Swettenham'’s
connections with the rubber industry have been noted. Oceasionally,
someone would be approached during the career years and asked if he
would like to leave the service for a salaried position with a firm in
Malaya. Duff and Macfadyen departed carly, the former to start his own
enterprise. William Pecl, with some seventeen years of service behind
him, was sounded on accepting the general managership of a large block
of rubber companies. It was pointed out to him that administrative ability
rather than specialist knowledge was what the organization needed.?” At
first, he was inclined to take the job. But he (hnuhhx better of it when the
circumstances altered following several years' delay. On completion of
their careers, a tew—Taylor, Brockman, Cator, Marks, Jarrett, Bryson,
and Corry come to mind—accepted positions in London wich either the
Malay States Information Agency or the Association of British Malaya,
both primarily commercial in orientation. From 1913 onwards, everyone
understood that if they accepted company directorships after retirement
they would lose their pensions. When some joined boards despite this the
C.O. made clear that it frowned on the practice, whether or not the giving
up of a pension was seen to have freed an officer from formal ties to the
government.® The number of men involved was never large, providing
little or no justification of charges that the MCS was guilty of impropricty
in its relationship to business. Like the other cadres throughout the em-
pire, it was remarkable for its imperviousness to corruption.*®

The number of Malay officers in the MCS was nev
period. In the absence of anything like a nationalist movement, this is
hardly surprising. Still, the seeds of a native service had been put down
early, and the plants prospered. There was a certain amount of talk about
preparing the country for self-government, a series of policy statements

er large in the prewar

which, if read in sequence, might make it scem that there had been a
coherent, long-range plan. In fact, these represent a chain of ad hoc ex-
pedients together with a fairly consistent fecling that Malays, should
participace, especially in clerical work and rural tasks such as were donce by
settlement officers. Occasionally the recruitment of Malays, usually by
promotion from the Malay Administrative Service, would be given an
impetus by crises—the 1914 war, the slumps of the twenties and thirties—
which brought retrenchment of Europeans in their wake and reminded
the government that Malay officers were less expensive. A new scheme
was introduced in 1921 whereby the chief secretary would advise the
board of governors of the Malay College as to how many probationers
were needed cach year.% Candidates could come directly from the college
or from English schools elsewhere in the country. All had to pass the
Cambridge seventh-standard examination and be interviewed by a selec-
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tion board appointed by the board of governors, itself made up of the
residents and a Malay member for each state. Malay assistants could be
transferred into the MCS. Meanwhile, a growing number of junior posts,
suchas those of ADO in Rompin and Pekan, were reserved for Malays. As
chief secretary, Maxwell urged the MCS to make a point of “‘bringing
out” Malay officers.®" They tended to be diffident and lacking in self-
confidence, and it was the duty of European officers to accepr responsibil-
ity for their education on the job. By teaching office work to Malay
juniors, they would provide needed training at the same time as they freed
themselves from burcaucratic chores that would otherwise keep them
from getting about their districts and exercising the personal touch that
was vital. “But the matter has a much more serious aspect,” said
Maxwell.*? If young Malays were not properly trained at an carly stage,
they would be ineligible for promotion later and in mid-carcer could
become discontented and troublesome. Instead of remaining solid and
loyal to the empire, Malaya could fall into disaffection “‘as rabid and
pestilential a growth as it has been in India, Burma and Egypt.”?* Others
were talking the same way. As chairman of the 1922 Retrenchment
Committee, Adams criticized his colleagues for failing to sympathize
with their Malay brother officers. In its obsessive concern for economic
development, said Mecadows Frost, the government had lost sight of the
Malays. And E. S. Hose, resident Negri Sembilan, told his MCS juniors
that preparing the Malays for self=rule was their primary raison d'étre.**

Now and again, Malay voices were raised in support of what came to be
called “*Malayanization.” Raja Chulan, a former administrative officer,
allowed himself a quip at the expense of the MCS in the federal council.
After praising Clifford, who had just retired, and noting that they had
been boys together under Low in Perak, he said that the Malayan tiger
could not stand any more European officers:

Big fleas have litcle fleas upon their backs to bite ‘em
And lite fleas have lesser fleas and so on ad infinitum, **

But he showed himself ill-informed on training schemes for Malays and
more interested in scoring debating points than in any systematic harass-
ment. More down to carth was the request of the undang of Rembau for
information on the transfer of administrative posts from the MCS list to
that of the MAS.* The answer—that the posts of ADO Larut and Krian
had recently been transferred—was as matter of fact as the question, a
striking contrast with similar exchanges in India and elsewhere in these
vears.

After the creation of the Establishment Office in 1934, more thought
Wis given to promotions of Malays to the MCS.%” Though the total was
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still small by the time the Japanese came, a healthy start had been made.
There were many more in the MAS and in clerical posts, and the habit of
sharing in responsibility for their own affairs was deeply ingrained in the
ruling classes and among many commoners as well. IF she was behind
India and Ceylon, Malaya was ahead of Africa.

Still, the training of native officers was a minor theme. In every impor-
tant respect, it was the British who ran the country in the interwar ycars.
By the late thirties their instrument of rule—the MCS—was one of the
most scasoned and self-contident in the empire, secure in its local ac-
ceptance and in its reputation at home.
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11 Residents and District
Officers: Life and Work in

the Federated States

Between the Wars

FROM THE earliest days when Captain Light and Sir Stamford
Raffles dickered with Malay chiefs in the interests of trade, the British had
proceeded on two assumptions about their own aims and the nghts of the
Malays: first, that Europe’s superior civilization, including cconomic
development, was paramount; and sccond. that as that civilization spread,
no violence should be done to native culture and the country’s natural
rulers should be treated with courtesy and consideration. Sir Hugh Low,
the founder of the administrative system in the Malay states, knew that he
and his officers had to rule directly; Malay incapacity dictated that. But
the sensibilities of the royals and their subordinates should always be
deferred to on grounds of both expedicncy and protocol, and every effort
should be made to integrate the natives and their admimstrative ma-
chinery into the new Bricish hegemony. Low, Swettenham, and Clifford
saw clearly that this would involve considerable posturing at first. Rule
by advice—that pious nostrum of the C,0.—was not a practical possibil-
ity. But appearances had to be kept up. It was hoped that in ume the
Malays would become more competent in exercising responsibility for
what was, after all, their own country. That assumption, too—that
Malaya belonged to the Malays—was a hardy perennial which survived
the time when other peoples outnumbered them. If members of the
Chinese Protectorate had their doubts, most senior MCS officers did not.
As time went on, certain fundamental strains encountered by the carly
residents seemed to remain constant: there were tensions between the
reality of direct rule and the myth of rule by advice, and between the
demands of development and those of Malay rights. The resulting incon-
sistencies and conflicts showed themselves in gyrations of policy and in
the mixed feelings of officers who saw contradictions but were powerless
to do anything about them. Occasionally, a man became the creature of
the very forces he had struggled against in his carly carcer or found himself
pursuing a course of action, with the best intentions, that ended in
damaging his own cherished objectives. Sir George Maxwell railed
against the conglomerate of Kuala Lumpur and went on to become the
most intransigent federalist of them all. Sir Theodore Adams, the proto-
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type Malayophile, destroyed his own MCS career while helping to deal a
further blow at the pretense of royal prerogatives. Despite the pro-Malay
policies of every important governor, development steadily undercut
traditionalism, drawing the Malays into a social milicu in which they had
to compete at a disadvantage.

Officers serving during the interwar years may not have given much
thought to such questions day to day. Even the more reflective, of whom
there were many, had entirely too much to do. State and district admini-
stration had grown immensely more burcaucratic over the years since the
casygoing, personal rule of the pioneers had first taken hold. As they
struggled with rising mountains of paper, officers were hard pressed to
keep up with daily work. One was aware of the complexities of race
relations, of the competing claims of Malays in their kampongs, Chinese in
mines and shops, and of Indians on rubber estates. Meanwhile, there was
the daily drill of dealing with applications for land, of tax work, of
surveys for boundaries and roads, of talking with penghulus and planters
and officers of the technical services, of hearing cases in court. There were
outlying areas to be visited by river or jungle path in remote parts or by
road elsewhere.

Organization and systems in the FMS differed from those of the un-
federated states in that the four federated units had been under European
administration longer, populations were larger, and development was
more advanced. Residents and rulers did not live in the same towns, as
advisers and rulers did in the unfederated states. The resident’s main job
was to preside over the state burcaucracy in a place that was originally
selected for convenient access to principal lines of communication, mines,
estates, and commercial centers. Therefore, relations between residents
and rulers were not as close and as continuous as were those between their
counterparts in the unfederated states, though a resident posted to one
state for an unusually long time could and occasionally did come to know
the ruler well. Sultan Iskandar of Perak was spoken of with affection and
respect by more than one former resident. Cator, who was resident in
Perak for nearly seven years, called the ruler “a great gentleman and a
great friend.”™ It would be inaccurate to say that FMS rulers were com-
pletely lacking in power or influence. The establishment office consulted
them religiously about the posting of European officers to their states.
This was no mere formality, though it sometimes appeared frivolous. De
Moubray was posted to Kuala Kangsar in the twenties because Iskandar
knew he played polo.? The sultan was allowed to have his way in certain
local matters such as relations with penghulus, especially those with tradi-
tional ties to the districts where they held office. When he was ADO Kuala
Kangsar, de Moubray was stopped from breaking an unsatisfactory
penghulu because the sultan defended the man, and the resident did not
choose to make an issue of so delicate a question in the sultan’s home




Platc 17, Sir Hugh Clifford (high commissioncr), left, and Sultan Alang Iskandar of
Perak, Kuala Kangsar, 1928 John (later Sir John) Huggins behind and between the
sultan and the umbrella bearcr. Courtesy of Tan Sri Mubin Sheppard.
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base.? In their state councils, which they chaired, rulers often wiclded
considerable power. The sultan of Pahang did his paperwork ahead of
time, showed keen interest in what was going on, and took his leadership
role seriously. But, like many of his fellow aristocrats, he was improvi-
dent and unrealistic about money, making it necessary for residents to
watch all expenditures with special care, including his highness's personal
accounts.*

Generally speaking, council meetings were dull performances that had
“little effect on bureaucracy.” It was rare for a ruler to show continuing
interest in the kind of administrative routine that occupied so much of
European officers’ time. Even Iskandar, with his English education and
profound understanding of British ways, was bored by the minutiac. To
Harvey, who had brought him the latest batch of enactments from Kuala
Lumpur, cach calling for his signature, he remarked with a sigh, “You
people make too many laws."® The other side of that coin was British
interest in and respect for Malay culture. Though they worked hard to
train everyone from rulers to office clerks in the rudiments of govern-
mental organization as conceived in Europe, officers did not want Malays
to lose their traditions in the process. Maxwell and Iskandar agreed on the
importance of bolstering religious faith. *“There is reason to fear,” wrote
Maxwell to all MCS officers, “'that the Malays will deteriorate morally if
their religion fails to maintain its hold upon them.”? He urged DOs to
cooperate with kathis so that, with the support of chiefs and penghulus,
they would be able to overcome the laxness of the people in religious
observances and thwart seditious actions by disaffected members of the
community. When royals went on visits to England, their British guides
were more attentive to the strict demands of Islam than the Malays were.

The resident’s own office work became more and more stereotyped
with the passing years, less concerned with initiating and ruling than with
carrying out Kuala Lumpur’s orders. For many senior men in their last
tours of duty, a residency could be little more than an honorific post, a
gloss on one’s carcer, or a matter of filling in for somcone on leave.?
Residents came and went rather quickly in most instances, making it hard
for them to get more than a superficial grasp of affairs, much less to exert
an influence. They were overscers of a burcaucratic apparatus rather than
movers and shakers as their precursors had been. Cator found little Brunci
in Borneo incomparably more demanding and absorbing than mighty
Perak at the other end of the spectrum of MCS glory.? Much of what one
did was perfunctory. When Thomson visited a Perak district in the late
19205 accompanied by Pecl, the chief secretary, the DO had a hard time
getting them interested in anything. They did not bother to inspect the
office, let alone the files. '® There was a good deal of committee work and
much that was ceremonial. Begging off from attending a meeting of onc
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of the governor's innumerable committees, Marks told H. E.'s sccretary
that as resident Selangor he had to chair a gathering of the State Council.
run a session of the Malay Regiment Committee, and confer with his
opposite number from Perak.!! There was a stream of visitors from the
town, from nearby estates, and from heads of professional and technical
departments. Social demands were many and unrelenting. None of this is
to say that residents were unimportant in the interwar years. Quite a few
stamped their personalitics on the states they served in and provided
vigorous leadership. But that quality had to be demonstrated in an in-
creasingly complex administrative framework, with residents coordinat-
ing at the top rather than playing a personal role on the firing line of
everyday work.

To help hold the mechanisms together and provide a linchpin of con-
tinuity, cach state had a chicf of staft called the “'secretary to resident.”
Usually held by a man of some ten to twelve years service, the post gave
good across-the-board training for higher responsibility. It was the SR
who got all of the resident’s donkey work, seeing everything as it came in,
drafting summaries and suggestions for his superior, and taking action
after the resident had considered these. He functioned as a coordinator for
all administrative ofticers in the state and, in the resident’s name. as a link
between them and Kuala Lumpur.'2 He was the custodian of secret and
confidential papers, clerk to the state council, and, very importantly.
coordinator of postings. As the resident was usually ex officio president of
the local club, so the SR served as secretary—a job that called on even the
more gregarious to summon up all the tact they could to keep mtense local

socicties from undue strain. SRs alsa did some of the same kinds of general
factotum jobs for residents that ADCs did for governors. Most residents
were considerate enough not to overload their SRs with excessive dutics
after hours. But it was not always so. A well-known Pahang resident.
who went the standard colonial caricaturc one better, gave his SR many a
trying and overheated evening. The resident insisted that everyone dress
for dinner, as he himself did no matter where he was. On one occasion
when he and his party were visiting Pekan, his juniors hoped that the great
man would relent and allow a measure of comfort to his sweating sub-
ordinates at the end of a long day. The SR, H. G. Turner, was prevailed on
to approach the resident with a request to this effect. It was no use. “You
cannot have dinner without a dinner jacket,” snapped the resident. '
Jarretd's relations with his resident, Elles, in Perak, were better and
were more typical, though Elles's modus operandi was a bitstrange. The
resident deale with business by inviting his SR to the residency in the
Waterfall Gardens at 12:30 every weekday and going through the agenda
over two large gin tonics.'* It was Elles’s last tour. He left nearly every-
thing to Jarrett, while keeping a practiced eye on important matters and
bringing his own long experience into play whenever he felt so inclined.
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Jarrett loved Taiping, though he wondered if the capital should not have
been left at Kuala Kangsar, where Low had lived within a stone's throw of
the sultan. There, the resident and his staff would have been closer to
Ipoh, the main commercial center. But Taiping was pleasant, and its
mixed society of planters, miners, and officers of the Burma Rifles gave
one a representative picture of the economy and life of the state.

Relations between residents and district officers varied greatly from
state to state and according to personalitics and styles of work. Some
residents left supervision to their SRs, while receiving visits of DOs when
they came in on regular business and seeing them on tour. They would
read reports from the districts and would ask questions and exert disci-
pline if necessary. Luckham, when DO Rembau, looked on Caldecort,
resident Negri Sembilan, with a mixture of respect and apprchension.
The resident was always casy, pleasant, and helpful. But he was a highly
mtelligent and thorough officer who knew local peoples intimately and
had clear idcas of what was needed. An appeal had been made against
Luckham's decision in a land case. Caldecott heard the appeal in person.
He listened patiently to the young officer’s rather spirited presentation
and then wrote a beautifully composed and brilliantly argued opinion
recognizing the merits of what Luckham had said while finding in favor of
the Malay official who had lost the first round. 'S It was a matter of s ing
the human side, thought the resident, and not being too tied down by
precedent or literal interpretations of the law. Caldecott emerged with the
regard of his ADO and the gratitude of the Malays, neither side bearing
the other a grudge. This stood in contrast to Elles's handling of Hugh
Fraser in Perak a year or two later. It had been found that a clerk in Larut,
where Fraser was DO, had mishandled land officc monies. Neither Fraser
nor his immediate predecessors had caught the man. Elles promptly
censured Fraser and his ADO, Raja Aman Shah, without going into the
circumstances in any detail.'® Though Fraser, an excellent officer, was
rescued by Pepys, the under secretary to government, the case left a bad
taste in many mouths.

During the interwar years, there was endless discussion of whether or
not the old days of district autonomy were gone forever. Men who had
served before the war naturally tended to think so. Peel recalled his
omniscient DO in Kinta, E. J. Brewster, in 1910, who had been locally
recruited in 1878 and had remained on the Perak coast in one capacity or
other ever since. As DO Jelebu in 1913, Stark toured by buggy, did
everything himself, and was upbraided by Aldworth, the resident, for
asking permission rather than going ahead with the disciplining of planters
who had violated the land codes. And M. C. Hay, thinking back to his
days as ADO Lipis in 1916, was sure that the informal methods of
magistracy were unbeatable. “With everyone in the kampong sitting
round, one was more likely to arrive at the truth than by standing up in
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court and swearing oaths.”!” Others denicd that things had changed all
that much. W. D. Barron, with one of the most intensive and continuous
records of district experience in the MCS, thought that change was more
apparent than real. The DO was still in command, seldom bothered by
interference from above. He knew everybody in his district, Malay and
other, was himself familiar to all, and completely approachable. Profes-
sional and technical officers visiting his parish invariably consulted him as
the sure possessor of needed information.'® If bureaucracy in Kuala
Lumpur had grown, so had the DO’s staff.

Nevertheless, there was concern that paperwork had in fact burgeoned
to such an extent that the DO was in danger of losing touch with his
people. Would it be possible to restore the old balance by setting up a
single board in cach district, that would replace the many existing bodies,
cach with its own tie to Kuala Lumpur?!® Responses varied. Most officers
vehemently denied the alleged loss of touch and insisted that they were as
close to their parishioners as cver. It was feared that the creation of yet
another committee would only add to the paper. Caldecott. actng chief
secretary at the time the question was raised, predicted that some sorc of
localization would come about eventually. The aim should be approached
gradually, step by step, in an experimental way.

In the meantime one functioned within the structure as it was. Districts
were classified according to the MCS time-scale grades, from the most
important, II, to the least, V. postings being made accordingly. In Negn
Sembilan the capital district, Seremban, was a class-1I post. Kuala Pilah
was a [II, being relatively large and diversified and including the royal
family's seat at Sri Menanti. Tampin and Port Dickson were 1Vs, and
Rembau and Jelebu were Vs. Newly arrived cadets of the Malay stream
were sent up-country immediately, usually to an important FMS discrict
where, ideally, they could be supervised by experienced officers and
where they would be exposed to a broad range of duties, In the days before
there was an establish office. ¢ had shown the way. In
1911, T. P. Coc learned that he was posted to Lower Perak where he
would serve under the legendary “Tom’ Fleming, a locally recruited
officer who had begun in 1890 in the Pahang police, having been in the
Canadian mounties before that. As the train slowed for Telok Anson
station, Coe had no trouble spotting the DO, all twenty stone of him.
seated ina special deck chair waiting for his new cadet. Fleming's kindness
and willingness to help matched his formidable appearance. He took Coe
in as a paying guest in his own house, there being no separate quarters. He
taught him the ins and outs of treasury work straight away and sat hum on
the bench in court to learn by watching. A few days later, having made
him read hard at his law books, he left him to it. ** You'll make mistakes of
course. But there’s always the appeal . . . you are gazetted a second class
magistrate. Don’t exceed your powers." "2
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Plate 18. Kedah, c. 1929. Seated third from left, front row is T. W. Clayton, with T. S. Adams standing behind him. Seated behind Clayton and
to his right is Tunku Badhishah (later sultan, and uncle to Tunku Abdul Rahmn, first prime minister of Malaysia). To Adams’s right is Syed
Mohammed Idid. Seated third from right, front row, is Tunku Ibrahim (regent). Courtesy of Royal Commonswealth Society.
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Bryson and Corry also lived with their first DO, T. S. Adams, the
former at Batu Gajah in 1921, the latter in Larut two years later. Adams
was a very different officer to Fleming. A public school and Oxford man
with a distinguished carcer ahead of him, he was already, at thirty-six, a
well-known and somewhat awe-inspiring figure. Highly intelligent, hard
working, a fanatic cricketer, he was notoriously the most pro-Malay
officer of his generation. He was a lifelong bachelor, ry courteous to
ladics in company but seldom willingly sceking this."! Some thought
him rather a snob. Bryson saw no evidence of unfair treatment of non-
Malays by the DO, though he knew that senior Malays in the MCS
regarded his excessive tolerance of Malay lapses as dangerous. Later,
when he himself dealt leniently with a Malay officer accused of a mis-
demeanor, Bryson wondered if Adams's carly conditioning was not
partly responsible.

Some DOs were not terribly interested in green cadets.?? But most
were considerate, perhaps recalling their own days as beginners. At
Tampin in 1928, G. M. Kidd saw to it that Luckham carried a relatively
light burden of office work so that he could study for his language and law
examinations. 33 He arranged a thorough introduction to district atfairs,
taking the cadet with him on tour from the start, and allowing him to
share in the work of inspecting lodging houses and shops, supervising the
town board, and auctioning offlots in outlying arcas. More than one cadet
found himself hearing cases a day or two after arrival, sometimes under
supervision, and sometimes not. Court interpreters, usually old cnough
to be one’s father, could be counted on to guide the first steps. In Province
Wellesley in 1929, Whitton was put on the bench in a hurry because the
DO, Captain Edward Prate, was himself bringing suit and had to appear
as a witness, ¢

If DOs found less time for new men than they would have liked to give,
the reason is not far to seck. The central position a DO occupied and the
multiplicity of his jobs kept him at full stretch. On bigger and medium-
sized stations, he was first among a number of equals usually including a
police officer and perhaps one or two other Europeans of comparable
seniority to his. If there was a garrison or a training unit, there would be
soldicrs about. During their junior years, officers in various branches
tended to be great friends, joining together in sport and club life and
cooperating on matters of common concern under the direction of their
respective superiors. Later on when all were senior, they would usually be
in agreement once more, sharing the perspectives that long expericnce
provides. In between, when they were in their thirties and working in
places where everyone knew cveryone else, and where projects of widely
varying kinds were going forward, relations were not as easy. The DO
was in charge. There were times when the rules or his own judgment
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compelled him to say no to a colleaguc or to give instructions that did not
sit well. It was then chat the phrase “heaven born"—borrowed from India
and applied to the MCS—might be used as an epithet, implying an
attitude of arrogance on the part of administrative officers towards their
fellows in other branches. DOs scemed to go by the book, said a police-
man, sometimes opposing what one wanted to do, and we “*hated the guts
of the MCS" on those occasions. s There was sometimes bad feeling too
between MCS ofticers and members of the legal service, particularly at
state and federal headquarters. The latter tended to resent the fact that
administrators were at the top of the heap, taking precedence over every-
onc regardless of professional qualifications. For his part the officer
whose pet schemes had to be vetted by a member of the bar would
understandably bridle at legalisms that frustrated his plans.2¢

In his office the DO was chief burcaucrat of the district, assisted bya
clerical staff that was quite sizable in the bigger places. These included
Malay assistant collectors in land offices, chicf clerks who were often
Chinese, and hosts of subordinates drawn from all three of the main racial
groups. MCS officers with African service invariably remarked on the
comparatively high competence of Malayan office staffs.?” Luckham
learned more about land office work from his Chinese clerk and his Malay
assistant in Lower Perak than from anyone above him. Their detailed
knowledge, years of experience, and long service in one place made such
men invaluable. In smaller posts, one got to know them better than in the
large Perak and Selanger districts with their major land offices. Cunyngham-
Brown had unqualified respect for Jack Fernandez, his chief clerk in Jasin
and one of the most able and devoted of the Malacca Portuguese in the
service of that old seetlement. A half step higher was Roy Power Lewis, a
Eurasian who had the rank of ADO in the straits civil service and who
cpi ized the acute, hyp itive NCOs of Malaya. Proud and em-
bittered, such men sometimes felt that they stood on the soil of a country
thac would never accept them as its own and that there was no hope of full
recognition from the cadre of Europeans above them. One could learn
from such men and try to be a friend to them. It was never possible to get
round their tortured ambivalence about the lords of the world and their
helpless resentment at having to live out their lives in a cultural and social
twilight zone. At Seremban a few months before, he had met Ramasamy
Iyer, a chicf clerk in the general clerical service of the FMS. Having just
returned from India, Cunyngham-Brown knew his job as assistant con-
troller of labor. What he got from Iyer was a superb conditioning in the
“rules and regulations, the ctig of correspondence, i proto-
col, and official procedures. "2

The DO who spent more time in his office than out of it was not
unknown. Nor was he esteemed. Nothing was more essential to sound
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administration than constant touring throughout one's district, acquiring
intimate and comprehensive knowledge of the people and their lives and
devoting thought and time to their welfare. Idle moments there were,
especially in one-man outposts. “'Spent [the] morning cleaning shells,”
noted Kempe one day in Upper Perak.** More typically, men felt that
there were not enough hours in the day. Coming to Alor Gajah on the
west coast fresh from his Trengganu experience, Sheppard soon saw that
the people expected him to do everything, quite simply because the DO
always had done, as far back as anyone could remember.® He ran the land
office, heard cases in court, worked hard on the encouragement of appro-
priate crops and animal husbandry, on hygiene, rubber restriction, road

maintenance. school inspection, irrigation, and on the siting of public
buildings. He broke in a new ADO. His social obligations as head of the
district administration were heavy and constant: attending weddings and
funerals, calling in at the Chinese Club for an orange squash, attending a
Christmas Eve dance in neighboring Jasin, presiding over the celebration
of the King's twenty-fifth jubilee, introducing the people toa traditional
wayang kulit theatrical performance by players from the east coast, chair-
ing a debate by clerks in the recreation club, on the proposition that it is
better to be stationed in a town than in the country,” and observing
fatalistically that virtually everyone supported the affirmative. Matters of
Malay custom and even religion were by no means beyond his scope. He
instructed a penghulu to make announcements in the mosque about candi-
dates for local oftices. heard an appeal by a kathi on a divorce case, refused
to appoint an Afghan to a sidang's post because this would put him in line
for a penghuluship. both of which offices he thought should be reserved
for the locally born, spoke with an ousted imam about not holding
services in the district, and instructed his penghulus to see to the carc and
preservation of ancient Malay monuments. He arbitrated among the
Khehs, Cantonese, and Malays who were arguing about order of prece-
dence in public ceremonies and took charge of a mass mecting of the
Better Living Society, a Malay social reform group, at which he approved
restrictions on wedding-days, on numbers of cows and buffaloes to be
slaughtered, and on the scale of dowrics and presents of rice and eggs
There were innumerable talks and joint inspections with fellow European
officers of the Chinese Protectorate, the labor, medical, and public works
departments, the police, and the legal service, and regularly with his
superior, the resident counallor in Malacca. He did what he could to
cencourage the Boy Scouts, and he boosted the agricultural show and
nterracial football and badminton

At the center of his universe were the kampong Malays—the people
whom Clifford and Adams had found so maddeningly attractive and
whom Morkill, over the border in Kuala Pilah, called “nature’s gentle-
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men."" On his tours, Sheppard had ample opportunity to speak with
them directly in fields, in padis, in villages and schools, in police and
military units, and in chance encounters. One morning, he meta boy with
an ulcerated foot and ordered his father to stop using a home remedy and
take the boy to the hospital. He was often called on to provide protection
tor people notorious for their easygoing ways and their improvidence,
though onc time, he was surprised and delighted to learn that a Malay
butcher had done so well that his Chinese competitor had gone out of
business. “*For once, a really hard-headed Malay!"32 Over the long run, it
was through penghulus that his main efforts were made. On first taking
over the district, he gave high priority to the jacking up of these crucially
placed headmen. Having lcarned to read Jawi in Trengganu he was able to
plow through their monthly diaries and find out what cach was up toand
how he saw his job. Now and again he could do one of them a favor,
enhancing his own prestige with both the penghulu and the people he had
authority over. In one kampong, he settled a land dispute that had dragged
on for years despitc many attempts by the penghulu to resolve it. The
district was small enough so that he could come to know the people well
and not have to depend on penghulus for infc ion. His dards for
Jjudging their performance were so well known that the head penghulu, a
famous incomp , resigned vol ily rather than undergo the public
disgrace of being removed by the DO.

There was always a tendency for some Malay officials to backslide,
reverting to the bad old days when peasants were little more than slaves.
In the early twenties Morkill discovered that a recently installed young
ungku in Kuala Pilah was abusing his privileges by sending policemen on
private errands and having peasants brought before him on artificial
charges. When reprimanded, he came to the DO’s office accompanied by
a friend and hit Morkill on the shoulder with a heavy stick, “*for which he
was carpeted and made to apologize in the presence of the . . . resident. "
Throughout the British years the gap between the rulers and the peasants
had widened, being filled by alien men and methods. In the process
everyone had changed and adapted. By the interwar years, no onc could
remember a time when there had been any other system than the Anglo-
Malay one they saw in operation every day. The governmental mechan-
isms ticked along quictly, so much so in fact that minor ruffles of the kind
Morkill experienced were seen as curiositics. >

Since the Malay stream in the MCS was so much larger than the other
two, in spite of the Malays being a minority, the question was raised
rather often whether the service in general was biased in favor of the
Malays and against other races. One obvious answer, that the other two of
the three main racial groups had special government departments to look
after them and that the work of officers in the Malay stream was never
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confined solely to Malay affairs, did not entirely satisfy the critics. One
Chinese Protectorate cadet went so far as to say that in the whole period
from Pangkor to 1942, the Chinese and Indians were considered *“beyond
the pale of administrative interest or responsibility.”* There was no
doubt that some ofticers had strong preferences. Haynes, C. C. Brown,
and Adams stood out, perhaps, though they were not the only pro-
Malays. Yet the very intensity and extremism of their views draws atten-
tion to the moderation of the majority. Occasionally someone would
make an intemperate remark that might have scemed to reveal decp
prejudice. When the Chinese were rioting in Perak and Sclangor in 1912
and there was talk of calling out the Malay States Volunteer Reserve,
Kempe, then a green cadet, thought “it would be gorgeous to have to go
at those Cantonese. "¢ Morkill had a run-in with a protectorate colleague
during the rubber slump of the twentics after he arrested gangs of un-
employed Chinese who were roaming his district committing robberies
and breaking into lodging houses. When the protectorate officer com-
plained that he was stretching the law by dealing with the coolies as
vagrants, Morkill answered, *'I was responsible for public safety in the
district and he was not.”?” But neither Kempe nor Morkill showed
himself to be anti-Chinese or unreasonably pro-Malay year by year. That
the Chinese and Indians remained separate from the Malays—and from
cach other—and did not receive representation in governmental bodics in
proportion to their numbers is undenable. Yet, the two communitics
hardly protested. And they were secure in the equal treatment they got
from DOs and magistrates. If officers of the Malay stream—the “old
suffs,” as one of their own number put it—failed to understand the
Chinesc and Indians as well as protectorate and labor men did, that did not
causc them to be unjust.*®

In the meanume. there was the never ending job of trying to protect the
Malays against themselves. Cooperative societies—begun in 1922—were
onc means of add g the problem of Malay imp dence as well as
their victimization at the hands of Indian chettiars and Chinese shop-
kecpers. Over the years. 2 new kind of debt slavery had come into being
Thousands of peasants had lost their land or fallen so deeply into debt that
thev had littde chance of ever improving their positions. The pioneers of
the cooperative idea were Alexander Cavendish, Robert Boyd, and L. D
later Sir David) Gammans. Boyd started in the labor stream, and the
other two m the Malay. The movement eventually won support from Siz
George Maxwell, from Malay royals, and from planters, and 1t made 2
strong sppeal to Indians on cstates as well s to kampong Malays. Ies firse
superintendent under Cavendish was Leo Vaz, an Indian, who workes
masnly with members of the Malay Admunistrauve Service in the itz
stages. *¥ Progress was slow. Mohamed Noordin, 2 Malay cooperanve
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officer in Negri Sembilan, reported that one of the local socicties he had
helped to start was soon liquidated and its residual funds used to repair a
mosque.*® Hawkins, propagandizing for cooperatives a few years later,
spoke of being greeted with the “usual blank expressions as he tried 1o
explain how the socicities worked and what benefits they could provide if
people would only become more thrifty. ! Slowly the notion caught on
and by the early thirties it had become enough accepted to survive the
rubber slump. The socictics were looked on by some MCS officers as
socially divisive forces, driving a wedge between the Malays and the
Chinese who had dealt with one another in a mutually satisfactory way for
generations. Most scemed to feel that the principle was rightand that in
time Malay peasants and Indian estate workers stood to gain. 4

Such efforts were marginal. At the center of administrative life was the
many-faceted work of the land office, by which the government defined
and exemplified its basic position on cconomic development, on race
relations, and, to a considerable degree, on the rationale of districe ad-
ministration as such. An effective officer, one who stood a chance of rising
to the heights, was first and foremost an experienced and successful
land office man. To European businessmen, to Malays entering govern-
ment service or engaging in agricultural work, and to Chinese whose
enterpnises, from humble shops to great estates and thriving mines, were
all subject to regulations and rates, the land office was controlling
mstrument of incomparable imy e. In the ni h century, a
political unit was reckoned successful—Penang and Malacca were so
considered at one point and Singapore was not—according to the revenues
produced by its land office.** Sir William Maxwell's 1891 enactment was
perhaps the most compelling single picce of legis) 1o be passed in the
whole period from Pangkor to the wrn of the century, and its major
revisions in 1903 and 1926 were comparable in their effects on the country
atlarge. Conversely it was in the reports of land offices that the impress of
2 great cconomic crisis or trend would be most accurately and compre-
hensively reflected 44

The instructions given w land officers show the scope and importance
of the work.** In the cases of companies applying for land, they were 1o
make sure that cach firm was properly registered and that its land descrip-
tion had been checked. On their own authority they could approve appli-
cations from Asiatics for up to ten acres of agricultural land, which was to
be alienated in tracts, notin isolated blocks, Mo land was u 20 1 Madays
who were not natives of the mukim concerned, 3 regulation designed
discourage people from wandering from place w place. In areas wisere
there were big estates, enough Vand was o be reserved so that simal) ey
scttlements would be protected, Farming on hugh ndges was o be
avoided 23 st led Lo erosion. Land suitable for wet rice was 1o be reserved
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for natives. There were instructions about fees, mining leases, the duties
of penghulus, and temporary occupation licenses, access roads, auctions,
reclaiming of land not properly used, and mvestigations and reports to
higher authority, Through it all ran a central theme: the competing
demands of Malay rights and economic development, involving large
forcign enterprises as well as smaller ones, usually Chinese. Ifat times it
scemed that nothing would be allowed to stand in the way of rubber and
tin. the record also shows a constant concern for the peasants. It was the
land officer who kept the balanc

In most districts, the main task was dealing with Malays who were
asking for permission to undertake various kinds of farming schemes.
These ranged from minute, individual plans through family efforts to
good-sized projects involving large numbers. A peasant wanted a loan to
buy a butfalo, which the DO refused atter talking with the penghulu and
satistying himself that the purchase would be unsound at that point. Two

Malays applied for a small plotin a Malay reservation where they wanted
to plant rubber and were told they would have to bid for it at public
auction. Others wanting land for padi were granted permuission after the
DO got the agreement of the forests department m whose reserves the
land was situated, and after reference to the state counal. Another padi
application was held up because the penghulu knew that the desired land
was a good source of firewood and if too much of it were used for other
purposes, the local Malays would be in the hands of Chinese merchants ¢

In their dealings with Chinese applicants, DOs and collectors of land
revenue sometimes found the going relatively casy and straightforward.
An established miner with a large work force wanted more land in 3
section that had already been approved by the warden of mines.*” Other
ally those involving squatters, could drag on for years and

cases—espe
saddle land offices with a volume of paperwork that was wild
proportion to their importance. DOs were continually discovering that
actual occupants were not the ones who were hsted on office registers. and

also that cjection of unlawful inhabitants was not a pracucal possibility.
particularly when nobody objected or when le; al tenants cooperated with
the offenders.** Even more ume-consuming were cases of “conversions’
in which historical information had to be collected on land being used for
purposes other than those that had been approved Similarly demanding
were cases in which rubber and tin companies wanted land close
agricultural plots that could be damaged, by tailings from munes for
example, if investigations were not thorough enough. or cases in which
DOs had to weigh up the conthcung claims of kampong Malays and 2
hydroclectric scheme, a road-building proje
ment reserve.® Where Malay reservations were concerned, there was also
the question of whether or not it was good for the Malays to be kept apart
from the mainstream of social development for lengthy periods. A cor

. or a public works depart-
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ference of Perak officers ined the question in detail, agreeing that, in
principle, “a reserve is a place where Malays can live together and pre-
serve their customs.™$® But what if reserved land was found suitable for
rubber? Apart from the argument about Malay rights versus develop-
ment, should Malays be barred from Jjoining in the prosperity of the
country? Charles Wilson, scrving in Kinta at the time, thought that
*“rubber to the Malay ought to be like the pig to the Irishman—what pays
the rent.*! A similar discussion in Selangor, centered, this time, on tin,
ended in a rough concensus that gave mining a clear priority.$? Rescrya-
tions should consist of agricultural land mainly. If tin was later found
there in quanity, the state government would have to decide whether or
not to take back the tin-bearing arcas from the reservations. Everyone
knew that if lands werc not reserved speculators would start an unwanted
trafficking in land, whereas, if too much was reserved, the tin economy
could suffer. By the late thirties most DO felt that Malay rescrvations did
have their uses, especially as guarantors ofadequate agricultural land. On
the other hand some thought that, in the aggregate, they could become a
kind of national whipsnade, stunting the social growth of the Malays
without protecting them from the curse of indebtedness. ?

Though kampong Malays scemed to change slowly, DOs were in touch
with others who were becoming more involved in European ways every
vear. Land offices in the bigger districts all had settlement officers or
Malay assistants who were members of the Malay Administrative Service.
Winstedt took a rather patronizing view of them in the carly years. They
did not seem to be all that well motivated or efficient, and their existence
meant that fewer European officers came to know the people and the
language as well as their predecessors had done. Morcover, Malay as-
sistants, unlike British officers, were apt to be deaf to the complaints of
the common people. This would be bad enough with a vigorous, self-
reliant peasantry. It was that much worse with kampong Malays, who
were usually content *'to lic in the cradle of custom and [not] grumble if it
[was] not a bed of roses.”'s* The DO Port Dickson blamed the MCS, in
part. for not being serious enough about the recruitment of competent
Malays and for putting Malay assistants into any old job rather than
giving thought to what kinds of work they would be suited to. %5 Morkill
was sympathetic, but he caught two assistants mishandling funds, and
had praise for only onc on his station. 5 Conditions slowly improved. By
the late thirties there were refresher courses for assistants, most of whom
were by then much-valued members of land office staffs.®” The main
trouble was that the work was boring and the prospects dim. Few had
much chance of rising into the MCS itself. 5%

One who did and who proceeded on to a brilliant career crowned bya
knighthood and high office in independent Malaya was Mahmud bin Mat.
Born in Pahang in 1894, he was the son of an impecunious courtier who
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enjoyed the favor of the sultan but lived in a style not far above that of the
common people in his home district a few miles upstream from Pekan.*”
The family’s dict, housing, dress, and sanitary arrangements were much
like everyone else’s; nor were they any more immune to disease than their
peasant neighbors. Education was the principal divider. Mahmud and the
village boys started out together, taught by a haji from Perak who came to
the family house for the purpose. Some of his friends went on with him
afterward to a village school that had been started only a few years before.
But Mahmud took the only prize given in his ycar, and this together with
his family’s position, won him entry to Malay College in Kuala Kangsar
in 1909—an honor and an experience that sec him off from his village peers
from then on.

Even before leaving home, however, Mahmud had begun to question
the values and habits of traditional life. Though the Briush had officially
put an end to slavery, it persisted under another name. Peasants were
pressed into service whenever the royals and the local chicfs of Pahang
wanted their labor. Waste and frivolity scemed to characterize the e
istence of the upper classes. There was a constant round of celebrations,
gambling partics, and other indulgences that overburdened the peasantry
at the same time as it corrupted and enfeebled their rulers. The Chinese he
looked on with ambivalence, respecting their industriousness and fearing
its cffects on his own people. As for the British, they were Olympian
figures with everyone's destinies in their hands.

At college one realized that a watershed had been passed and that there
would be no turning back. Parents, even of the well-born, did not favor
this foreign cducation, sceing clearly that it would cut their children ot
from the home base forever and transform them into alien beings or, at
best, into men with a divided allegiance. Mahmud's eyes widened when
he reached Singapore on his way to the west coast: noise, crowds, rick-
shaws, gharries, motor cars, dozens of ships at anchor, a muluplicity of
races and activities that made Pekan, and even Kuantan, seem parochialin
the extreme. In college, everything was strange at first. Mr. Hargreave:
the headmaster, spoke no Malay and the new boys no English. Yet the
head was such a commanding personality that with his thin voice and
gentle ways he was accorded an instant and spontancous obedience. There
were daily prayers led by an imam. Otherwise, Europe dominated. The
food was strange and mediocre;

ports were obligatory. Everyone rode

bikes. There were sham military exercises and signaling practice. School-
work was incessant, and so was an unsubtle and thoroughly effecuve

moral pressure from the masters, backed by Sultan Idris, that slowly and
surely turned them all into new paths of thinking. Mahmud was made
responsible for the cleven-year-old son of the sultan of Pahang, called by
the DO Pekan *“the spoilt darling. 89 He admitted that the description had
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been accurate at first. Bue after a year in Kuala Kangsar, the boy had
shaped up along with everyonc else.

Again Mahmud stood first in his class, passing the seventh standard in
1912. He was sad to lcave the Malay College with its “happy corporal’s
life [and] many friends.™®' But in 1915, the year of his departure, there
was an exciting prospect—a scheme for Malay subordinate officers, While
waiting for a posting to settlement work, he volunteered for duty in the
Pekan office. The routine was intolerably dull. In a few months, however,
he was sent to Kuala Pilah under Winstedt, where he gained an immediate
sense of the importance of his position duc to its legal powers in land
purchases. Already he was aiming higher. By passing the law examination
and the other tests given to cadets, he hoped to move up in to the MCS, a
possibility that the war had brought into the realm of serious discussion
for the first time. It took nearly a decade to achieve this. Meanwhile, he
worked in the secretariat in Kuala Lumpurand held district posts compar-
able to those occupied by junior Europeans, acquiring practical experi-
ence of exactly the right kind and a healthy measure of self-confidence as
he went along. One of his DO paid him the compliment of asking for his
help in drawing up a plan for the mechanics of bringing Malay officers
into the MCS.#2

After entering class V of the service in 1925, Mahmud spent sixteen
vears in the districts, ending as DO Batang Padang at the outbreak of the
war. The striking thing about his account of these yearsis that it sounds so
much like what Europeans cadets wrote in the same period. His ties to
home and family remained strong, though cven in that part of his life he
continually took a different course from the one his boyhood friends were
taking. He married a girl of his choice rather than accepting a bride
sclected by his father. His tastes in sportand recreation were increasingly
European. Above all, his judgments have a familiar MCS ring. He dis-
liked tough, inconsiderate superiors and stood up to them in a way that
called for courage and could have damaged his career. When a DO in
Pekan wanted him to follow Malay tradition by picking a headman from
his own family, he refused and won the point. A tactless DO in Klang
asked why he kept both his wives in the same house—the other lady was
actually his sister-in-law—and he replied with dignity that he could not
tmagine what would make the officer ask such a question. “'I thought to
mysclf thatif that was the kind ofthing . ... this old DO concerned himself
[with] it was not surprising that he could not tackle his own work
properly.”® He saluted officers he liked and was grateful to a DO who
saw that he got a houscboat for rent-collecting. The secretary to resident
Lipis, Gerald Hawkins, he considered *'a man with a golden heart,” who
looked solemn and was taciturn but worked hard and was utterly self-
less 84 He never forgot E. V. G. Day and J. S. Macpherson, who insisted
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that Mahmud and his wife move in with them when their own house was
flooded out.

He drove a car of his own, went on shooting parties with European
fellow officers whom he called by their first names, and got a *home™
leave to England, where he was warmly entertained by MCS friends and
where he attended the Oxford summer school on colonial administration.
“A wide varicty of topics was discussed, including indirect rule, which
seemed to me to be quite intriguing. 'S His remarks on the Chinese and
Indians, and even on his own people, were very like what European DOs
were saying. From his writings and from the comments of men who knew
him, there cmerges an impression that this was so because he had become
a genuinely bicultural man. His Europeanism was more than skin deep.

Nor was he unique. Hamzah bin Abdullah, several years his senior, was
much esteemed throughout the MCS as a thoroughly dependable, steady
and capable man. His correspondence sounds in no way different from
what his European colleagues wrote. When he was in charge of Ulu
Selangor in the late thirties he treated his Bratish ADO exactly as the
junior had been treated by Hamzah's European predecessor. 1 want to
see the penghulus when they come in for their monthly salaries . . . please
tell [the] new penghulu of Kuala Kubu that I expect better and more chatty
reports from him in the future .. .why has [he] not submitted any report
for October and November?™*®

Not cvery British officer approved of having Malays in the MCS or
thought their performance respectable. Cobden-Ramsay harked back to
Wilkinson's views at the turn of the century, criticizing the government's
assumption that only Malays of good family should be recruited. Too
many members of the ruling classes were lazy and intellectually inferior.
insisting on their privileges rather than excreising the responsible leader-
ship that theoretically entitled them to their rights.®7lt was hard to shrug
off cases of blatant corruption.®® S. W. Jones was not hostile to the 1dea of
having Malay officers, but he felt that few of them could achieve the
independent-mindedness of their British colleagues. They lacked the
necessary character and drive, and under them district administration
tended to lose its salt and its cssential elan.®? Others had praise for
particular officers. Not surprisingly. Mahmud stood high on many lists
“A very fine chap,” wrote Bingham: “an outstanding officer’” added
Dawson. his BA in Perlis. 7 As always, there were some who blamed ¢
MCS for doing too little to bring the Malays along. Hayward thought that
there was no more important task than watching out for Malays of
promise, men who had the imaginanion to be cultural brokers, interp!
ing their people to the Brtish and vice versa.”! It was impossible for
Goede to forget that 2 Malay officer. Dato’ Hussein, the father of a futw
prime minister. had initiated him into the mysteries of court work 73 Te
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some, the clinching argument in support of recruiting Malays was that
nationalist feeling of the Indian kind was virtually unknown in the years
before the Japanese conquest.”®
The question of how much social mixing there was between the MCSs
and non-Europcans is a complicated one. There was great informality in
i h-century Selangor, with Malays, Ei P! . Chinese, and, toa
lesser extent, Indi Il of them male—sceing one another in clubs and
on playing fields, as well as in meetings of the state council, in business
houses, and out in the districts where daily work brought them together,
Even in those days, however, it began to be felt rather carly that Euro-
peans needed places where they would be able to fall back on their own
habits and ways of thought in leisure time. This was especially true when
wives appeared. "It became politic,” wrote Swettenham, ** ., .to supply
at the headquarters of every district a reading room where all Europeans
could find journals and books and where they could meet on common
ground.™”* The government constructed the clubs and contributed an
annual subscription, the remaining costs being met by membership dues.
Later on, hill stations were built, as at Simla in India, to provide places
where short local vacations could be taken, away from the oppressive heat
and inscct-borne discases of the river valleys and coasts where most officers
were stationed. Bukit Fraser, just inside Pahang above Kuala Kubu in
Selangor, was small. In the carly twenties plans were made for a larger
development in the Cameron Highlands at the northwestern tip of Pahang
overlooking central Perak to the west.”s
Such places helped relieve the tedium of the daily grind and offered a
change of air and outlook. By the interwar years, clubs and hill stations
had become focal points of European social life, making it seem at times
that people could live almost as their families did in England, in socicties
made up of their own kind during all but office hours. For children this
was not possible. If they were not sent home at carly ages they faced
disadvantages in health, ed and social develop by contrast
with their peers in the United Kingdom. But the departure of the children
and of men going to their jobs cvery weekday created a problem for the
women. Many had resources of imagination and drive that allowed them
t0 create interestung and useful roles for themselves in a scrange land. For
others, boredom was more oppressive than it would have been at home.
Many did not respond happily and with interest to the new culture as their
husbands did. having language examinations to pass and being deeply
mnvolved with local peoples all day. Without comparable challenges wives
were often hard put to fill their hours with anything but trivia. “'In the
house the cook does all the culinary work, houscboys do the cleaning,
syces drive the car or groom the horses, the gardener does all the hard
labour in the garden and an ayah or amah looks after the baby.""7* Bridge,
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tennis, and golf went only so far. Not every wife had the qualifications or
the inventiveness to find some sort of job. In such circumstances it was not
surprising that familics would be subjected to strains, added to by flirta-
tions and alcoholic excess that are found everywhere but can be more
troublesome than usual in the tropics.

Clubs and sport were important to most officers. providing the athleti-
cally inclined with opportunities to keep fit and offering comfortable
meeting places where one’s friends in business, the professions, and the
ather services could be seen in a relaxed atmosphere and where the litde
games of status could be played out in ways that often appeared less rigid
than in the workaday world or that emphasized different criteria. The
kings of sport, of whom Malaya had more than its share, were not, after
all, the same men who guided the destinies of the great firms in Singapore
and Kuala Lumpur or whose cars flew little union jacks in Taiping, Lipis,
and Seremban. On the padang, junior officers could remind themselves
and onlookers, too, of glorious days at university. Much as one loved the
country, the people, and the work, cricket and football were English. So
were the beer or the gin that came after, the billiard table, the magazines,
the prints on the wall. Clubs held Malaya together in a way *A good
story or a flash of wit originating in Ipoh would be in Penang. Kuala
Lumpur and Singapore next day. Some members were bound to be
travelling north or south and clubs were inevitable ports of call. Govern-
ment business was occasionally transacted in them. Caustic minutes from
the top led in one state to a regular mectng on Friday in the
club . . .to draft a suitable reply. The combined talent and wit was quite
deadly.”"?

But some found the club resistible. Rituals became a bore rather soon.
especially in smaller places. 'l can now quote verbatim the [sports|
organizer's concluding speech before he has made it."7® Newly arrived
juniors, fresh from university, might sce the intellectual attractions of a
planter-dominated club as somewhat limited.”” Not a few of the older
DOs looked on them as fit places for children and planters rather than for
busy men like themselves. It was possible to discover wives who were
bored by them.#® Those who disliked the racial bar that came down from
carlier times—especially young cadets, but also a number of their seniors
—tended to be critical of exclusively European clubs on that account. As
chief secretary, Maxwell told FMS officers not to bring Malays into clubs,
assuring them that natives did not wish it anyhow, a notion that was not
entircly lacking in foundation and may have made scnse in the memo-
randum it appeared in. but which conflicts with what Mahmud bin Mat
wrote in the same time period.*! In the early 1930s Whitton was discreetly
told that he had committed a gaffe by including in a dinner party at the E
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Plate 19. Lake Gardens, Kuala Lumpur, 1916. Left to right: A. W. Just (collector of
land revenue, Kuala Lumpur), W. A. White (superintendent, posts and telegraphs),
E. M. Baker (assistan treasurer, FMS), A. (later Sir Andrew) Caldecott (assistant

secretary. federal secretaniat), Mr. Griffith, Courtesy of Royal Commonwealth Society

and O Hotel in Penang two ladies “whose antecedents included a slight
non-European element."® In fact, however, the bar was never totally
effective throughout the whole country. In the unfederated states, inter-
racial clubs were sometimes the first to be founded, Sultan Ibrahim of
Johore was not the man to tolerate social or other institutions that ex-
cluded the ruling class, not to mention himselfand his family, and, in fact,
he was notabove closing the door to Europeans of whom he disapproved.
Malay members of the MCS were welcomed to FMS clubs in the twenties,
and royals before that. Sport brought the races together from the first and
did not go through a segregated phase as some clubs did. One of the
reasons Morkill loved Tampin in the twenties was that the cricket team he
played on included Eurasians, Indians, Ceylonese, a Sikh bowler, and 2
Japanese wicket keeper.
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Towards the end of the twentics officers who had been disturbed by
what they saw as a widening gap of understanding between the British
and many of the younger men—Malay and other—began to ponder ways
of bringing the races together again. Malays, Chinese, and Indians who
had been to Europe for higher education, somewhat ironically, were the
ones who scemed most disaffected. Gilman and several of his colleagues
formed a committee in Kuala Lumpur and decided to start a Rotary Club.
There was some hesitation about employing that instrument since it was
alien and had a reputation which in some respects was not entirely ap-
proved of. Whatappealed was its secular, nonpolitical approach, stressing
unity within communities and joint efforts of social service without
regard to members’ origins. The clubs opposed cliquiness, issuing tckets
with place numbers at cach meeting so that one never knew whom one
would be scated next to at table. A quota system was used in order to
assure that all major trades, professions, and callings would be repre-
sented, and the balance thus provided was kept by accepting new members
only when openings occurred in the appropriate categor 3 Caldecott

was the first president of the Kuala Lumpur club, and several successive
residents were members. Blackwell was  founder member of the Taiping

club and served as its secretary for a number of years. Programs varied.
Whitchouse spoke to the Malacca club on horse racing in Kelantan. A year
or two later, when Sheppard was president, the same group heard a paper
on Shakespeare’s Brutus.* A Chinese member, Hock Huat, entertained
the club on a tour of his pineapple-canning plant. Eurasian and Indian

members lectured together on the history of tennis. The resident council-
Jor. W. M. Millington, jomed, and Tan Cheng Lock, the sectlement’s
most distinguished public man, became the club’s new president. The
Kuala Lumpur club supported a home for vagrant boys, who were trained
in useful work and were visited by priests from their respective racial
groups

An even more down-to-carth way of mecting people from other races
and working with them closely for cxtended periods was to join one of the
volunteer military umits. There was considerable democracy in this, many

European MCS officers serving in the ranks under men whose civilian
standing was lower than theirs. Mahmud bin Mat joined as a private in
Tampin under Tengku Abdul Rahman, a friend of Malay College days.
was later commussioned a second licutenant when posted as ADO Lipis
and afterwards served under a bank manager and ex-captain who com-
manded the unit at Kuantan. Sheppard found that Malays in Alor Gajah
were glad to join because the law of female succession meant thac there
was nothing to hold them in their mukims. Young Eurasians in Malacea
enjoyed serving in their own special company, usually commanded bya
Eurapean MCS officer with the ex officio rank of captain. When he held the
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office, Whitchouse cheerfully admitted that the NCOs and most of the
men knew more about Lewis guns than he did. Morale was excellent, ¥ |
joined the force partly as a means of getting to know the scattered planters
in the district better,” wrote Tarner, “and because in the event of
[trouble] I should be heavily involved in .. .administrative

for the protection of familics."8¢ Many commented on the masonic
solidarity of the volunteers—a sort of throwback to the time when
Malays, Europeans, Chinese, and others slogged along together through
the daily drill, took meals together, laughed and groaned at the same
things, and werc brothers under the skin. As war clouds gathered across
the bay in Cambodia, this was thought to be a good thing for the future as
well as a happy circumstance of the moment.
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12 Looking Back

THROUGHOUT THE interwar years time scemed to stand
still. Malaya was a contented place. The system went casily and well in its
time-worn grooves—familiar, tried, efficient, and therefore complaisant,
as such systems are bound to be. Its success and its acceptance made a
closed circle. The great slump of the 1930s and the troubles stirred up by
Chinese and Indian agitators were taken in stride, bringing less turbulence
to Malaya, perhaps, than was caused by similar difficultics in other coun-
tries.

Despite the cuphoria however some officers were concerned about the
activities of Japanese nationals in various parts of the country. Though
Japan was a traditional ally and had joined Britain agdinst Germany in the
great war there were disturbing signs quite soon afterwards. Whitchouse,
when posted to southern Johore in the early twenties, learned that Japanese
businessmen, of whom many villages had one or two, were compiling
lists of notables in the arcas where they worked. A directive forbidding
clearance of hilltops above a certain height had been ignored by the
manager of a large Japanese rubber estate, whose high ground com-
manded an excellent view of Singapore.! In the same years, the C.O.
wondered if Britain's open-door policy in the Pacific meant that Japanese
oil-exploration teams had to be admitted to Labuan. By the carly thirties
after Japan had taken Manchuria, it was widely assumed in the MCS that
Malaya would be an eventual target. A British general gaveagloomy talk
to the Europeans of Taiping in 1932. In Ulu Kelantan, Gilmour was
helplessly aware that his district contained far more strategic points than
there were men to defend them. Japanese seemed to be everywhere, and a
war book was maintained in the Singapore secretariat, with guidelines on
what was to be donc in the event of an emergency.?

When Britain went to war in Europe, Malaya scemed hardly affected at
first. As in 1914 there was a rush of young men to join the forces at home
or at least to get into the local volunteers. Some succeeded, causing an
ncrease in the work of officers who remained behind. Prices rose. For
MCS men and their families the home country filled the conscious mind
more than heretofore. There was a reversal of roles in correspondence,
with those in the far outstations of the empire expressing concern for the
safety of relatives and fricnds in Britain.*

Then in December 1941, the blow that many had expected fell atlaston
Malaya. Hardly anyone thought the whole peninsula could be held, the
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cast coast being lightly defended and wide open to attack from enemy
bascs Cambodia. Assuming that international law required civil
authorities to keep essential services going when their areas were occupicd
by invading forces, de Moubray, BA Trengganu, wanted to stay on under
the Japanese and there was heated discussion of alternatives until he and
his statt were ordered to fall back.® The speed of the withdrawal and the
ineffectiveness of the defense were surprising. Many officers and their
familics had to leave homes and offices on a moment’s notice and take part
in what proved to be a general and continuous retreat southwards. The
stary of the collapse and the surrender of Singapore in mid-February 1942
is well known. As with the French i Indochina, the Americans in the
Philippines, and the Dutch in the East Indies, Britain's vulnerability in
Malaya was a minor function of gecat-power politics from Versailles
onwards. Though straits governors had always been designated com-

manders-in-chicf as well as heads of the civil government, and some had
been professional soldiers, the job that they and their officers had been
called on to do was concerned with preserving law and order and enhanc-
ing trade. Once Britain was involved in fighting Germany, Malaya’s task
was to support the war financially by concentrating on the production of
rubber and tin. At the last minute, immediately following the Japanese
invasion, London sent a minister of state to Singapore and, in cooperation

with her allies, appointed a supreme commander for Southeast Asia.
Inevitably, the hastily assembled military and political hierarchy and the
long-cstablished. traditional colonial government found it difficult o
work together since they had very d lar backgrounds, p

and preoccupations. Confusion was great. There were recriminations and
the nominating of scapegoats. the most prominent being S. W. Jones,
colonial sccretary at the time and one of the most able of the senior MCS
officers. He was removed and sent home, thereby missing incarceration in
a Japanese prison for three and a half years. In view of the undeniable
facts—mastery of air and sea by the Japanese, their overwhelming superior-
ity in armor, British reluctance to subject the civil populace to the horrors
of a sicge, and the hopelessness of the position over the long run—this was
as self-defeating as it was unedifying.*

H. G. Turner's first-hand account of the last weeks is vivid and down to
carth, providing a picture that his collcagues would recognize as typical in
many respects.” In January, on return from leave, he was transferred from
the Singapore secretariat to Alor Gajah as DO. He soon moved on to Jasin
as Cobden-Ramsay, who had had previous experience in Alor Gajah, had
just arrived from Trengganu after having been driven out by the Japancsc.
A few days later, all the Malacca DOs were called in by the resident
councillor and the colonial secretary and told to destroy everything usctul
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in their districts and prepare to pull back into Johore. Exhausted British
troops were pouring into the district from the north. He paid the staft
their last salaries, did the , and dispatched the ining funds to
Singapore, along with the stocks of chandu. In accordance with instruc-
tions from the resident councillor, the native police discarded their uni-
forms and went home, leaving Turner to collect their arms at the police
station. Two British sergeants helped him drive looters from an Indian
shop and restore a sense of order that had departed with the police. As he
drove out of Jasin on the road to Singapore he had the guilty feeling that he
was deserting his people, leaving them to the unknown mercies of the
advancing enemy.

In Singapore he resumed his former job in the secretariat and took on
extra duties in the air-raid precaution service when bombing became
more severe in late January. Transportation was difficult and so he and a
number of others camped in the office, living close to their work day and
night. By carly February, all troops had retreated to the island. Shelling
was then added to the discomfores of life in a crowded city. When Japancse
landings were made the defenders set fire to stocks in compliance with a
scarched-carth policy, blanketing the town with a huge pall of smoke.
Evacuation of nonessential people proceeded apace, as did the shipment of
important records, including the files of the ecmbassy in Shangai, which
Turner talked the captain of a tramp stcamer into taking with him to
India. The office routine went on. He felt there was an air of unreality to
the sending and receiving of the usual telegrams, especially as the C.O.
clearly had no idea how near the end was. Despite the shelling, the
governor kept up appearances to the last, living on in Government House
with his wife, who was ill with dysentery, until two days before the
surrender, when he moved to rooms in the Singapore Club.,

During the last week, everyone worked full time on preparations for
the collapse that all now saw as incvitable. Furnaces had been specially
built and used for the destruction of files and currency. Plans were made
for the cutting of the telegraph cable at the last moment. On Saturday,
February 14, the day before the surrender, the oil reserves were set afire.
Sunday morning, as Turner was working at his table in the secretariat,
General Percival, the army commander, came in looking for Hugh Fraser,
the colonial secretary, whom he wanted to accompany a senior officer of
his staff in approaching the Japanese. The general “had been at a com-
munion service at Fort Canning and was so smart that he looked as though
he had come out of a bandbox."* With capitulation at hand, permission
was given for some MCS men in uniform to attempt escapes in small
boats. Harvey and Hay, then serving in the FMS light artillery, were
among those who managed this, making their way to Ceylon. Cunyngham-
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Brown gotas far as the Dutch islands, where he was captured and brought
back. Several removed their uniforms, preferring to be interned as civilian
members of the government rather than being taken as prisoners of war.

Events had followed cach other so fast that on the day of the surrender,
the Japanese were not ready to run the city. They therefore ordered certain
officers to remain at their posts for the time being. For a week, Turner
lived in an extraordinarily odd world of freecdom within captivity, doing
routine tasks for the conquerors and meanwhile being allowed to visit
shops to buy such things as razor blades and sewing materials that would
be needed in camp. It was not pleasant to have to watch the rest of the
European population queuing up by the padang two days after the sur-
render. A body of some 2,000 men and 300 women and children walked
from there to a temporary camp near the sea view hotel. “The local
population at that stage was not cowed as it was in later years by instances
of Japanese brutality and it did make gestures of sympathy with the
melancholy pracession.™

In Changi camp, great efforts were made to use time constructively.
There were lectures and courses of study in languages. biology. mathe-
matics, astrology, and other ficlds. Arts and crafts were cagerly taken up.
A few months after the surrender, Bingham wrote that there had suddenly
burst upon him full force “'that curiosity about life and the world, civil-
izations, religions, in fact about everything, which should have happened
more than twenty years ago” when he had been in school. ' Some officers
formed discussion groups, one turning its attention to administrative
improvements for after the war and emergency arrangements that would
have to be made to reestablish British rule the minute Japan was defeated.
Naturally enough one's thoughts ran to the immediate past. Few doubted
that an cra had ended with the fall of Singapore and that however strongly
British authority might be reasserted in the future, things would never be
the same again. The old days of an unself-conscious government going its
plodding way with no particular thought for ulimate aims, much less for
timing. were gone forever. Though many of the same men would serve
again after the war, doing many of the same kinds of things in a similar
atmosphere, a line had been firmly drawn across the path. The core period
of MCS history was over.

To the question of what can be said about the avil services of British
Malaya in the seventy-five years beginning in 1867 two kinds of answers

suggest themselves: those given by various outside observers, and those
of the MCS itself. In the foregoing pages, much has been said about
relations between the MCS and its client peoples—Malays, Chinese, and
Indians—and the views of such peoples on the men of the service. The
attitudes of the resident European community similarly have been mani-
fest in countless situations in which officers played roles as facilitators,
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friends, or disciplinarians. To these may be added the comments of the
local press, which expressed itself on the subject frequently and in great
deail, usually taking a critical line that had its origins in the carliest days
when Light and Raffles tried to please both the straits traders with whom
they lived and their own distant masters in India. A fre press is seldom
pro-government. Malaya's papers called for maximum support—a garri-
son for protection, improved communications, health services, and
chaplains—with minimum interference or demands such as taxes. Occa-
sionally, an officer was singled out for praise or blame. Senior men known
to be friendly to business were invariably culogized on retirement. Swet-
tenham and the other famous leaders could usually count on respectful
and sometimes extravagantly favorable treatment, though even he was
gently taken to task long after retirement, when it was thought that his
pronouncements were outdated.'! Adams was criticized over the Selangor
succession case, not because he personally was disliked by the press, but
because he had dared to question one of business's sacred cows, the
prerogative of rulers, that had become entangled in the decentralization
controversy. Rarely there would be some generalized comment by editors
who were trying to see the service in the broad context of a changing
socicty. G. L. Peet of the Straits Times, later head of the department of
information, saluted DOs for staying in close touch with their people, but
wrote that officers in the towns knew too little of other races and that by
the end of the first war the MCS as a whole had lost the cultural initiative
to more vigorous clements, especially the Chinese.'* Much the same sort
of comment came from Egmont Hake, a member of the federal council
and a prominent spokesman of the agency houses, who lashed the MCS
for being *“a colourless burcaucracy, whose chief admirer was itself,”"3
Sir Bruce Lockhart, briefly a planter in his youth, disagreed entirely. His
best friends were MCS officers, and he thought his fellow planters neither
as civilized nor as much fun to be with as civil servants were, 14

Writers from farther afield had more to say about the MCS perhaps than
about colonial civil servants elsewhere in the world because Malaya was
on the main communication line castward. All sorts of people fetched up
in Singapore at one time or another. Most did not remain long enough to
make their observations especially worthy of note.!s However, one brief
sojourner, Alec Waugh, managed to see beneath the surface, possibly
because he stayed with an old friend in the MCS and because he was
tolerant and open-minded, more interested in learning about a new place
than in being smug about the unfamiliar. ' Some who had no direct
experience of colonial life were inclined to condemn it at a distance as
somcthing intrinsically wrong, an existence that only megalomaniacs
would be attracted to, and one that automatically corrupted the rulers by
giving them too much power over people who were in no position to
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insist on a healthy sharing of that power.!” Being disembodied, such
comment is hard to evaluate. More useful, potentially at least, are the
remarks of writers who made repeated visits, got about the country, and
spoke at length on what they saw and what they thought of it. Of these,
W. Somerset Maugham is undoubtedly the best known and most widely
rcad. Maugham was not the kindest and most gentle of social critics,
eventually being ostracized by much of London socicty for what was seen
as caddish behavior. But the very force and mercilessness of his thrusts,
his unmistakable and fulsome exposition, make it relatively easy
to judge what he has to say in relation to the record as revealed by others.
His fundamental line was that the colonies were dustbins for failures from
the United Kingdom, that too many of those who came out to the East
were from the lower social orders, and that these did not do as well there
as did the few who were of higher birth. ' People gave vent in the Orient
to the lusts they did not dare grarify ac home. At best, the British colonial
was decent and dull, All that was shallow and stereotyped about suburban
socializing at home was that much more boring in the tropics, where,
being at several removes from the vacuous original and sct in exotic
surroundings, it was yet more contemptible. A fellow novelist said that
Maugham, being from a minor public school himself, was right at home
in the Malaya he satirized as socially derivative.!® Be that as it may.
Maugham hit hard at the philistinism he thought he saw everywhere, the
scarcity of cultural interests, the enthronement of all that was low and

superficial in England: a society based on clubs, on sport, and magazines,
on the pursuit of other men’s wives, on the consumption of more alcohol
than anyone needed or enjoyed. In Malaya, there was the further debility
of having servants to do work that might have kept people in touch witha
wholesome reality, and of the casy availability of natives to share one's
bed, resulting in a form of racial ming that was to exploi
and exploited alike. In short, to borrow a phrase attributed to Noel
Coward, Malaya was a “first-ratc place for second-rate people.’20
Although Swettenham said he admired Maugham'’s work, it is not easy
to find other MCS men who did. especially in the generation of the
cwenties and thirties when the writer was visiting Malaya and Borneo.!
Many knew of the heartbreak that had come to the MCS families who had
entertained Maugham and confided in him, only to see themsclves bent
out of shape and scorned in his stories later on. High on the listof tales that
were bitterly resented was, “The Letter,” written after Maugham and his
companion, Gerald Haxton, had gone to Kedah to collect gossip and
background material for it. 2 Raja Brooke of Sarawak forbade Maugham
his country after reading “The Force of Circumstance’ and “The Out-
station.""?? What bothered people was not that Maugham told unpleasant
truths—many admitted that often there was substance in what he wrote—
but that the end resule of his efforts was caricature, a picture that was
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distorted and partial, giving the knowledgeable reader much more of
Maugham and the tastes of his homeside clientele than of Malaya, The
writer was, in any case, primarily concerned with the British and their
foibles, not with the complicated interracial situations in which the MCS
lived and worked. His characters were cardboard figures, all labeled and
manipulated by the writer to achieve a desired effect. If the average officer
had been like Maugham's players—weak, neurotic, boozing, woman-
izing, insecure, brutal, and pathetic, by turns—he would not have been
able to get out of bed in the morning, much less survive the daily round.

Work by professional scholars has been more informative. The Anglo-
Canadian, Lennox Mills, produced a volume in the mid-thirties that
brought up to date an earlier study in the old style—wide-ranging,
descriptive, and calm—noting matter-of-factly that Malaya was an un-
ruffled country with no signs of nationalism.* This was followed soon
after by Rupert Emerson's book, Malaysia, a mine of information on the
MCS and its work.?$ An American on the Harvard faculty, Emerson
found the scrvice just and efficient but not representative of British
socicty as a whole or able to rule in such a way as to promote the interests
of any but the upper classes in Malaya. From what he said about govern-
mental institutions, it would appear that he was Jjudging by the standards
of American democracy in a country where the preconditions and social
forms of that phenomenon had never existed. Though he was not able to
examine official documents of the kind he would have liked to sce and
gave more attention to policy questi particularly the d izati
i han to gr. dmini . his book was fair-minded,
rich in detail, and a landmark in the study of a neglected subject. Purcell,
who became a friend of Emerson’s, disagreed with many of the author's
Jjudgments while hailing the book as an important work that made the
MCS think, something they were normally disinclined to do unless
prodded.?¢

As has been often noted, the 1914 war was a major watershed. Since
then, colonial regimes have not had a good press. Beginning with Lytton
Strachey's Eminent Victorians, published in the last months of the war,
there has been a steady stream of critical work that has tended to keep
colonialism psychologically off balance and on the defensive. More
polemics have appeared than descriptive books written to provide in-
formation on exotic arcas. This is not to say that such writing cannot be
Instructive—much of it is—but that the spirit of the age has been anti-
colonial and that some authors have begun with the assumption that the
thing they were looking at was not respectable. Just before the second war
Leonard Barnes published Empire or Democracy under the acgis of the Left
Book Club. While he had little to say about Malaya as such, he did
describe all British colonial civil servants as sensible, untheoretical types,
honest and hard working, unconcerned with spreading European civiliza-
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tion, and blind to the fact that cconomic development was undercutting
the paternalistic regimes they served so loyally and well 27 During and
after the 1939 war, scholars inclined to accept the firmly established view
that colonialism was morally indefensible were able to hold that, in
Malaya's case, it had now shown itself to be frail and inefficient as well.
Virginia Thompson's Postmortem on Malaya, issued in 1943 by the Insutute
of Pacific Relations, said that the country had fallen because, inter alia, its
prewar government had been inadequate.?® Studies by Robert O. Tilman,
an American political scientist, have provided usetul statistics on both
British and Malay members of the MCS, without concerning themsclves
as much with normative questions as some carlier books had done.?* The
works of Khoo Kay Kim, Philip Loh, J. M. Gullick, and others have
examined the roles of individual members of the MCS and have evaluated
the performance of the service in various contexts. The best-known study
focusing directly on the subjectis |. de V. Allen’s article, *Malayan Civil
Service, 1874-1941: Colonial Burcaucracy/Malayan Elite,” which ap-
peared in 1970.° Arousing more comment within the ranks of the service
perhaps than anything since Emerson's baok, this short treatment by a
scholar from an Australian family who had extensive experience in
Malaya as well as in England and East Africa is by no means the out-and-
out condemnation some have considered it to be. Much of it is devoted to
unexceptionable background description, to helpful figures, and to bio-
graphical information. Some of his points will not go unquestioned: for
example, that the MCS never modeled itself on the ICS or made heroes of
such as Raffles and Brooke; that the ending of examinations in the thirties
was an important event in the history of British Malaya and that there was
a social distinction between men who became castern cadets and those
who passed higher on the examinations and went into the home civil
service or the ICS. What some MCS men have taken exception to is a
tendency to harp on social origins and their supposed influence on admini-
stration and, in general, a sceming disapproval of the whole idea of
Europeans ruling non-Europeans.

As they themselves look back on the years of their service, the officers
of the MCS provide a rich panoply of inside views that can be weighed in
the scales with what has come from observers who were less intimately
involved. They discuss their own country’s attitudes, the conditions in
Malaya during their time there, the choices open to them, the things that
were done, and the results. Many offer final judgments on the record of
the service and present an cnvoi in which one sces how they fele about
their lives and their careers.

For the British public's knowledge of the colonies and concern for their
welfare, few have anything good to say and many express considerable
bitterness. *In the course of one’s own lifetime there has been a complete
change in the minds of the British public . . . the gulfis enormous between
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the attitude towards the British in India adopted by Kipling and the
portrait of the white official in the far east as painted by Somerset
Maugham . ... the [official] having lost his moral superiority as a result of
the wars."™3! As for the C.O. and the House of Commons, neither was
thought to have done much to counter the abuse heaped on the MCS by
hi i d and papers, especially after the fall of Singapore
and again in the troubled years following the liberation.?? In their dismay
at London's ignorance and lack of appreciation of what conditions were
really like in the East and what British officials were doing there, MCS
men of the 1950s echo their predecessors of the 1870s. Both gencrations
had much the same complaing, a feeling of being misunderstood and
abandoned. England did not know and did not care. One looked else-
where for the approval and reassurance that could help sustain morale.

Turning to the great issues of the colonial era, nearly everyone speaks at
one time or another of racial divisions, of the growth of immigrant
populations, and of the resulting social problems. Was it right, for
cconomic reasons, to allow and even to greatly assist a long-term influx
that would eventually produce “national indigestion"'?3 If Clementi's
attempt to plan for future social unity had been defeated mainly by big
business, was it not truc nonetheless that pro-Malay and pro-Chinese
views within the MCS had never been reconciled? Could the predomi-
nantly rural Malays have been persuaded against their deepest instincts to
change their way of life enough to compete with their Chinesc and Indian
neighbors? Did the MCS make enough use of its popularity with all
segments of society and capitalize on the comparative absence of the
“we-they™ outlook that was to be found in the Netherlands Indies and in
India? Enjoying the trust of all peoples, could they not have pushed for
more unity? It was not easy. They were constantly being reminded of
their legal and moral obligations to the rulers, which assured the primacy
of the Malay upper classes and the rights of the peasantry to their tradi-
tional habits.>* The passivity of the Indians was well known, as was the
disclination of the Chinese to take partin government, preferring to leave
that to the British while they devoted themselves to making money.
Purcell thought this was the nub in fact: Malaya’s undeniable ecconomic
success had been completely dependent on the profit motive, the impetus
that had brought Chinesc and Indian hordes to Malaya at the same time as
itattracted European capital and dictated government policy.?s The MCS
held the ring and it all worked. Hardly anyone thought of a situation in
which the British linchpin would be removed.

The issue of Europeanization was part and parcel of the development
question. Swettenham never tired of emphasizi g the prior imp of
prosperity. He understood that it could not be achieved without great
changes in native life. But he warned against any attempt to alter the basic
character of Asian peoples and believed that they could take on the
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externals of morally and technically advanced civilizations without sacri-
ficing their own cultural attributes in the process.*® To Clifford this was
doubtful. By the 1920s, Malaya's past was dead. Europe had won.3?

MCS opinion on this enormously complex subject was a kaleidoscope
that never ceased to fill the tropical air with its multicolored light. Writing
of his impressions shortly after the turn of the century, Winstedt doubted
that East and West would ever meet. Comparison of the two was not
profitable. Repelled by European society in Malaya, he plunged deeply
into studies of Malay civilization, into the ways of a people whose lives
retained a certain romance at a time when Europe was wallowing in a
materialistic sameness and conformity that did not answer the needs of the
soul. The Malays had .all the glamour of sportsmen, aristocrats and
cynics."** With Swettenham, whom he did not admire, he believed that
changes in native life would be superficial. As educators he and his
colleagues would do well to keep this in mind and not atctempt the
impossible. Malays cared more for their own culture than for British
efficiency, wrote S. W. Jones, and even when some of them took ad-
vantage of European education, the result was often frustrating since the
carcers that boys had been trained for were frequently unavailable.*”
“You've educated me; now where's my job?"" said onc young Malay to
Morkill.* For that matter, the prosperity of which developers endlessly
boasted was not an unmixed blessing. The kampong Malay in the carly
days was in no danger of losing his orchard, said Helps, whereas later on
there was the fatal combination of title deed, lawyer, and promissory
note, and Malay reservations did not completely offset this.*! As for the
paraphernalia of parliamentary democracy, he went on. it did not work
twenty miles across the channel, yet London was bent on introducing iton
the other side of the world. Some felt, however, that this did no special
harm since it was only the tnmmings and not the essence that got trans-
ferred abroad. 'l am happy to say there was no damned nonsense about
democracy in Malaya; members of both legislative and exccutive councils
were the best men available and werc appointed by the governor; so in the
matters which could be decided by the local government the constitution
was an aristocracy. "4}

Hayward vicws it all in deep historical perspective, looking with philo-
sophical detachment on his own country’s efforts, on the nature of Asian
socicties, and how Europe and the Orient reacted to onc another. For
Swettenham's notion that Europe came to the East with a superior culture
and the moral obligation therefor to confer its advantages on nauve
peoples he has hittle sympathy. Each avilization is sui generis. Like trees
and plants, they differ, but cach has its own integrity, and such terms as
“higher” and “lower™ have no organic meaning. > The remarkable thing
about Malay. Chinese, and Indian peoples was that they stayed so much
apart, cach community hving its own life, cooperating to an extent, even
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intermarrying a bit, but remaining for the most part separate and self-
contained. Though cach experienced a modernizing impulse from the
Europeans there was great variety in response and in neteffect, the Malays
changing least of all. This was not surprising, People who live on the land
and get their livelihood from it are not usually in a position to greatly alter
the pattern of a life that is governed by soil and climate. But change of a
sort had to come. The question was how to control it 5o as to keep
discomfort to a minimum.

It was the tradition of southern Asia, unknown in Europe since the
days of Rome or carlier that totally different, self-sufficient, small
communities should subsist side by side; but if new technology from
the west was to lead to an industrial system [then] closer common
political, cconomic and social unities would be necessary. How was
that to be gradually achieved without conflict and cultural sacrifice
or . . .loss of identity, and how and at what pace should these unitics
be furthered by a protecting power? One justdid not know, It could
only be played by car.44

The Malays would survive without great damage to their way of life. Of
that he was sure.

Did the MCS feel a responsibility to prepare Malaya for self-govern-
ment? There was a vague official policy to this effect, though Macpher-
son, who began in Malaya and ended as head of the C..0)., was frank to say
that nobody thought much about it day to day.** Running the country
keptonc too busy to take much notice of such abstractions, which were in
any case the playthings of M.P.s, C.O, officials, and the occasional
governor. Now and again, a newly arrived cadet would notice that the
general orders mentioned an obligation to bring the Mala ys forward. M.
C. Hay asked a sccretariat officer what this meant and was told, *Your
punka puller must be a Malay. "¢ It was not unlike the policy in educa-
tion, where “getting a boy a pen-pushing job” was the actual if not the
stated aim, wath ¢ q es not all that diffe 47 What was being
turned out by English schools—apart from an occasions) Malay recruie
for the MCS—was an incipient class of babus, half denatured youths who
were dissatisfied with tradition and also with the meager opportunities
open to them in a European government. So Harrison thought at any
rate. The plain fact was that “no one wanted w be brought forward "+
There was no effectve pressure from the rulers, nonc from the common
people of the Malay community, and, until very late in the day, nose from
the Chinese and Indians. Even then it was likely to be of foresgn ongin.

Reflecting on their lives as a corps of career admunistrators, the o
of the MCS present a composite self-image of 2 kind that is not often
found, since autobiographics are seldom written by any but the few who
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reach high office. How did the more typical officers sce the essential
functions of the service, its special characteristics, its spirit and morale?

All realized that they were a band of amateurs who yet managed a
regularized organization and had, in Winstedt's somewhat ironic and
jaundiced phrase, a “strong sense of disaipline...and...no profes-
sion.""*® In later years, some would talk approvingly of formal training
courses, regretting that they had had none. In the core period, most saw
the value of assuming responsibility at a young age, learning by doing,
with or without the tutelage of superiors, making mistakes, gaining
experience, secing the guts of mulufaceted tasks from the inside. and soon
fecling a self-confidence that might otherwise take years to come by.
There was far more variety than beginners in other lines of work were
exposed to. And once a cadet had been conditioned in the school of hard
knocks 1t was taken for granted by his seniors that he would be able to
acquit himself well in any assignment they sent his way. Unlike civil
servants in England, they were a ruling rather than a bureaucratic group. a
contrast that was brought home to Gilmour with partcular force when he
held United Nations appointments after the war.%° Evenasa young DO it
was easy to see the way one’s decisions and instrucions affected people’s
lives directly and immediately. Though they had not prepared the foun-
dations of self-rule in any systematic fashion the framework, example,
and habit of their regime became so familiar to natves that when the time
came many in the MCS and outside it thought that Malaya was readier
than her neighbors. Meanwhile one of the service’s chief prides was the
competence of 1ts Malay members. *You'd hear officers boasting of how
well Mohammad or Ahmad was domg." recalled an MCS wife, and
outdoing onc another n confident predictions about their future carcers.*!

All was not sweetness and light. Though corruption of the more ob-
vious and unsophisticated sort disappeared early. along with the primitive
conditions that gave rise to 1t, one or two officers criticized the system for
allowing more subtle kinds. It was said that certain governors engaged in
favoriusm to the detriment of the public good and that semior officers
were not above using their positions to angle for company directorships
after reirement.** Men who came into the MCS after the war sometimes
thought that some of the prewar generation tended to be a bit stodgy.**
Arrogance and stagnation were occasionally spoken of.

Bur these kinds of comments seemed to be mainly in the realm of
ordinary grumbling. an indication. if one were needed, that the MCS was
made up of men, not samnts. What cmerges more often is a quizzical,
almost unbelieving backward glance at the uprightncss of the service. *l
do not think I can recall 3 single casc of a scnor officer treating me
unfairly; there are precious few walks of life in which this would be
said. "% W. D. Barron thought 1t would be ridiculous to say that the MCS
was motvated by a sense of dedication.** Yet, he quickly added that the
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average officer was a man of good conscience and sometimes of consider-
able vision who felt he was doing a worthwhile job and who gave of his
best in the interests of all the communities he was there 1o serve, trying
always to temper justice with humanity, The British were naturally
reserved, even athome, he said, and therefore were not nclined o talk of
such things. Agrecing, Falconer noted that although it was not custon-
ary to give fine verbal expression” to these feelings, they were there all the
same, especially in the middle and later years when a man had gothold of
his job properly.$® The only one who had alluded to it openly with him
was G. E. (later Sir George) London, secretary to resident Pahang, who
murmured rather shyly that the young man had come 1o 4 worthy posi
tion in which he could be of service to the people. Morkill was not so
reticent. He knew he was doing “a thoroughly useful job, one which fit)
was Britain's destiny to do; from school days the prospect had attracted
me, partly Kipling—dominion over palm and pinc—partly some family
associations with India and the East, perhaps mainly because, having lived
all my life in the country and being devored 1o sport, it offered 4 marvel-
lous opportunity of combining business with pleasure., .. """ Blackwel)
was even more specific:

At tmes cynics have portrayed the administrator 45 2 ridiculous,
bombastic, self-important, unfeching and most nefficient being
who simply holds a safe government job. But this is surely 4 shallow
and stupid conception. Thousands of youny Britons have entered
the service ... with enthusiasm and ideals and maintzined them in
spite of long years in lonely and unhealthy  tropical
outposts . . . [they | have brought w their work their education and
culture, their humor, good spirits and kindliness. Most of them
realize that they hold their positions of authority in trust, s they
strive 1o know their peoples and their languages, customs and preju-
dices, and to p the general wellbeing of the ¥

checking abuses and injustices, without bribery, fear of favour #*

Addressing himself 1o the subject of what made his ALY D Giat
way, of the peculiar clam of the Bruish 10 suitabiliy for work snony
dependent peoples, . V. G. Mills speaks in 4 way that brsngs Whdes 1o
mund, or Milner or Cromer. The men of the MCS

were the (ones| whom you had met 25 undergraduates a  rlord

not outstanding beiders of 1men, but otherwise typicdl producs
of the English public schools—yoddeanng, moral, Geantinsicwny,
truchiul, uprght, fair . interested 19 Spnts, Cansgh) 5 ostand
sngly skalful (ot them)  #
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Perhaps they were not always the most imaginative or witty or artisti-
cally inclined. The type evolved, he thought, through both heredity—
*good sound stock"—and environment—family life, religion and school
and university teaching”—an atmosphere that had come into being
gradually from Elizabethan times onwards and then faded rather suddenly
in the decades after 1918.%° Caldecott in his faintly cynical way made the
same point. “It's blood that Malays and planters respect, not brains. ¢!
Country and schooling mattered:

What other education is the same
As discipline engendered by a game?”

Yet will I not forget thee [Oxford] in the day
That severs me from England, youth and thee 2

And if one felt pride in the profession, it was best to cover it with a
veneer of irony:

We sons of heaven here agree
Not to appear too fervent;
Each has the honour just to be
God's most obedient servant.*?

The aristocracy they were thinking of was not, of course. a social thing.
No one pretended that the MCS had ever been recruited from the highest
orders at home. By contrast with pukka sahib India, Malaya was a relaxed
and humane place, run, in Purcell’s typically abrasive phrase, by a “dersy-
made socicty.”"® Nevertheless, he thought it absurd for people like
Maugham to patronize, coming as they did from the pretentious sophisti-
cation of Chelsca and the Riviera with its pscudointellectualism. Unlike
those in Kenya, Malaya's Europeans were a fairly b social
collection, both commercial and administrative, and this made for casier
living.®$ In speaking of public schools and other institutional contributors
to a ruling spirit, officers had in mind the challenges of the job in Malaya,
not Burke's or the right hounds or polite conversation in the West End.
Remembering the reason for providing the ICS with 1ts own special
curriculum at Haileybury carly in the nineteenth century and the thought
given in other schools to the sorts of carcers their boys mighe have
Hayward felt that there was a sensible connection between what the
schools stood for and what had been done in the East. Boys could receive
“a discipline and esprit de corps calculated to provide, if any schooling
could, [men] fitted to stand up in solitude to the social strains of service
outside Europe and more particularly in the lands of intelligence and
thought which are Asia."®®
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Clifford put the accent on the need for government to be “‘autocratical”
because of the social conditions it worked in and on the advantages and
responsibilities this entailed.®” Only men of the highest moral integricy
could be trusted with the burdens of rule in such circumstances. The
success of Low, Swettenham, Weld, and Paul had shown the way. By the
same token, Winstedt despised the unsure American regime he saw in the
Philippines, with its utterly wrong emphasis on a democracy that man-
aged to be corrupt without being efficient. He found the Dutch in Java too
intellectual about their task looking on natives as museum specimens
rather than human beings.®® He was sure that the unabashed authori-
tarianism of Malaya was more appropriate, that it worked better, and that
other colonialists in the arca this. Coming out a generation
later, Hawkins was equally averse to theories and grand policies. What
sustained British rule in Malaya, he wrote, was an inbred sense of “duty,
implacable, unmentionable," that caused businessmen to sec MCS of-
ficers—rightly—as a Braham caste.%® Guided by honor and pride of
service, they ran a system that was feudal in the best sense. Because the
MCS was large and its job was so varied, it was not the highly placed and
most visible that were later looked on as giants and heroes, but the unsung
dozens who went their quict, effective way year by year, earning the
regard of the peoples they ruled over and, very importantly, of their
brother officers, the men who were hard to fool and who had the most
inflexible, work-tested standards. Reginald Crichton, a 1900 cadet, who
retired early at his own request, was remembered for especially valuable
and unrecognized work in Malacca. Leslic Forbes was excellent as DO
Lipis, hated paperwork and replied to the numbered points raised in a
three-page letter from his resident, 1. no; 2. no;3.n0." A. V. Aston was
such a gentleman that he gave every possible assistance to a lady official in
his district even though he completely disagreed with the spiric and
substance of the mission that had brought her there. W. E. Pepys, men-
tioned most often of all perhaps, scemed to have been the most admired
superior of cadets in the interwar years. And H. W. Thomson, a York-
shireman and good all-rounder whose service on the cast €oast was espe-
cially esteemed, did not get as far as his subordinates thought he should
have because, as they saw it, he could not be bothered to do what was
necessary to impress the mighty. The list is long.

After the 1941 war it seemed to many in the MCS that the old spirit had
gone. Some thought that London was now apt to send out just anyone,
including mere carcerists. Bingham did not like the atmosphere at the
highest levels in Singapore, the false bonhomic and back slapping, which
was bad cnough among Europeans but was impossibly embarrassing to
prewar ofticers when indulged in with Asians looking on. He lamented
the “undresssed way of going to the office, ™ the “slack morality of some
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in the military administration who acquired the property of others in
ways that were no less reprehensible for being within the bounds of the
law.”® This contrasted with what some of his recently retred brother
officers were doing. Jordan became a clergyman and de Moubray, a lay
preacher. J. V. G. Mills engaged in scholarly work on China that won him
a D.Litt. from Oxford. Wolters, also a sinologist, took a doctorate at
London and later joined the faculty of Cornell. Winstedt lectured for years
at London and became a fellow of the British Academy. Purcell acquired a
doctorate and a fellowship at Cambridge. Others, including Gilman,
Barrett, H. G. Turner, and Gray, were also associated with academic
institutions. Gammans went into Parliament and became a baronet, while
Richards reccived a peerage and entered the upper house as Lord Milver-
ton. Many published lcarned articles in journals or produced books. The
number that took on unpaid positions in public service, many at the local
level, was large. Whether or not the comparison with their postwar
colleagues was fair, the pride of the carlier MCS gencration in these
honorable pursuits is an accurate gauge of their values,

When all was said and done, Bryson asked his brother officers how
would they sum up their years in Malaya? Onc or two professed to sceitas
a job of work, a matter of getting instructions from senior men and
carrying them out.”! Others made laconic references to something of
modest value that they hoped Asian peoples might have approved of.
Perhaps, said G. E. Turner, some “still think kindly of the service.”"?
Band was surprised by the question, which was put to him in more or less
the same form several years before by a friend in Malaya. “*But it didn’t
take me any time to answer: ‘ wouldn't have changed it for anything.™"
*“Dedicated to the hilt; loved it,” wrote Gates.”™ Hawkins suggested that
the history of the MCS that he hoped would someday appear might have
the subtitle, *The Happy Breed of Men."”* Mementos of Malaya, dis-
played in the houses of retired officers bore mute testimony to lasting
affection, as did strange names on cottages in the English countryside:
“Perlis,” “Kinabalu." Morkill, keenly disappointed at being made to
retire carly for medical reasons, consoled himself with the remark of a
gamckeeper friend: “*But they can't tck away ¢ memory on it.” And he
quoted his favorite lines of Belloc:

From quict home and first beginning

Out to the undiscovered ends

There's nothing worth the wear of winning
But laughter and the love of friends.™®

W. D. Barron, a 1911 cadet, musing on his service fifty-cight years
later, confessed to a feeling of nostalgia “for the rustle of the wind in the
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palm trees on a Malayan beach, the kindly caress of the carly sun on a
Malayan morning, that most exquisite period of a tropical day."?7 If he
had his life to live over again, he said, he would have it just as it was.
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